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AN INQUIRY

STATE OF MIND
W. F. WINDHAM, ESQ.

By virtne of a Commission de Lunatfico, issued by the Lords Justices, an inguiry
nto the state of mind of Mr. William Frederick Windham, of Fellbrigg-hall, Norfolk,
was commenced in the Court of Exchequer, Westminster, before Mr. Samuel
Warren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury, on Tuesday,
December 16Gth, 1861. The commission had been granted on the petition of
General Windham, the uncle of the alleged lunatic, and other members of the
family. The public interest in the proceedings was manifested by a crowded
«court-room on the oceasion.

* Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. H. Williams, instrncted by Messrs.
Field and Roscoe, of Lincoln’s-inn-fislds, appeared for the petitioners; Mr. Charles
Rusgsell, instructed by Mr. Chappel, of Golden-square, for Lady Sophia Elizabeth
Ginbilei, the mother of the alleged lunatic; Sir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake,
Q.C., and Mr. Milward, instructed by Gregory and Co., of Bedford-row, for Mr.
William Frederick Wirdham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for MrpWindham,

FIRST DAY'S PROCEEDINGS—Moxpay, DECEMBEE 16.

The commission having been read, and the Master having addreased the jury,

Mr. M. Chambers rose to open the case for the petitioners. He said : I have gone
through a great mass of information relative to the state and condition of mind of
Mr. Windham, and I have done so for the purpose of endeavouring to place before
you as briefly and as simply as possible the history of the alleged lunatic from
early life, in order that yon may decide, after hearing the evidence, whether he
is, or is mot, unfit to govern himself and his affairs. Mr. Windham, who is
- «described in the commission aslof Fellbrige-hall, Norfolk, attained his majority on
the 9th of August last,and the object of.the present inguiry is to ascertain and
decide whether, upon the lst of August, a very short time before he came of age,
he was fit and competent to manage himself and his affairs. He is the only son
of the late William Howe Windham, who was a nephew of the Mr. Windham
whose name must be familiar to all persons acquainted with political or even
historical matters, and whose estates were inherited, ory in ordinary circumstances,
will be inherited by the alleged lunatic. Those estates consist, in the first
Pplace, of Fellbrigg-hall, Norfolk, with the park and grounds annexed thereto; and,
8econdly, of other property to which I will presently direct your particular
attention. The late William Howe Windham was married to Lady Sophia Hervey, a
sister of the present Marquiz of Bristol. The alleged lunatic, therefore, is
eonnected with the Bristol family, and in the .course of my narrative yor
will find that those conmections have been parties to the present proceeding®
&8 petitioners. William Frederick Windhal was born on the 9th of Aungusi,
4840, and, as already stated, attained his majority on the 9th of L:’Lugﬂﬂh
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in the present year. Tis father died on the 24th of November, 1854. having
appointed by will General Windham, bis brother, and Lady Sophia, his widow, as hia
executors and the testamentary guardians of hisson. At the age of twenty-one the
son would become entitled to Fellbrigg-hall, with the park and timber, and a rental
therefrom of about £3,100 per annum. That sum, however, would be reduced by
certain deductions. In the first place, it would be subject to a deduction of
£1,500 a year, the amount of his mother’s jointure; and, secondly, according to
calculations, about £350 would be required to be laid out upon the property itself,
g0 that, in point of fact, the young man would have an income of between £1,200
and £1,300. But there were certain other estates which were not to come into his
possession until the year 1869. The object of so delaying his possession was that
certain incumbrances upon the property might gradually be paid off; but is
appeared that, although he would come into a nominal income of about £9,000
per annum in 1869, there would still remain so large an incumbrance not paid off
that the real income would not exceed £4,000 or £5,000. That income, according
to the settlements, was to be an income for his own life. From earliest infancy
he was not like other children ; he had not the usual intellectual powers; in fuct,
his case was one of mental deficiency—not of absolute raving mania, or anything of
that kind, but of simple imbecility. It was matter of common knowledge that the
deficiency of mental power in persons who were next to idiots was not unfrequently
accompanied by a sort of cleverness which, if the mind were sound, would
unquestionably be an exceedingly valuable intellectual possession, but which was
acknowledged to be not at all inconsistent with such a state of mind as rendered
the party utterly incompetent to take care of himself or his own affairs. The father
of the alleged lunatic early in his life noticed the weakness of his intellect, and he
was so concerned and anxious about it that he consulted Mr. Nichols, a surgeon in
Norwich, whose skill and koowledge as a medical man were known far and wide.
Mr. Nichols would tell them how William Frederick Windham was brought to him
by his father when he was not more than four or five years of age, how he examined
him carefully, and how he predicted that, instead of the defect being removed,
and the mind coming to a healthy state by the progress of time, the malady would
increase as time went on. In fact, Mr. Nichols gave the father so hopeless an
opinion that the latter did not again revert to the mental condition of his son,
although he remained on intimate and friendly terms with the surgeon. While
quite a boy the alleged lunatic, owing no doubt to his want of mental power, was
exceedingly fond of low company and low pursnits. He went among the servanta
and did acts inconsistent with his position as a young gentleman. He wished to
wait at table, and even to wash the dishes. At one period of his life his father,
indulging him as he would indulge a person of admittedly unsound mind, actually
purchased for him the livery of a footman that he might act as the menial he
desired to be. The first school he went to waa that of Dr. Badham, at Blackheath.
He was then about nine years of age. His manners at Blackheath were deseribed
a8 having been peculiarly childish. He was very feeble in his mental powers, and
then were exhibited to the observation of the whele school, what afterwards
increased with the progress of time—peculiarly dirty and nasty habits with respect
to his person, and a strong propensity to express himself in filthy language. In
1854 he was removed to Eton, where it was hoped that the discipline of a public
school, and the opportunity of mixing with others of his own condition and age,
would effect an improvement both in his mental eapacity and in his manners and
habits. At first, and for a very short time, he was in the house of Mr. Balston,
one of the masters; but his conduct there was so extraordinary, and so inconsistent
with the power of taking reasonable care of himself, that it was deemed desirable
to put him into the hands of a private tutor. He was, accordingly, placed
under the care of Mr. Cheales, a man of great experience in she educa-
tion and management of boys. Mr. Cheales soon found that he had undertaken &
most difficult and disagreeable duty. He tried in a variety of ways to deal with the
unfortunate youth who had been intrusted to his care. Mr, Windham was now a
young man about sixteen years of age, but Mr. Cheales discovered that very little
could be done with him in the way of education. He could introduce only a very
small amount of knowledge into his head. He adopted successively various modesa
of dealing with him. First he tried kinduness, then he tried reasoning, and then he
tried punishment. The result was that the only means of operating upon him, and
then only for a short time, was found to be actual personal chastisement—ther
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‘influence of terror. Among other characteristics, Mr. Cheales discovered in him an
extraordinary deficiency of mental power. He found, too, that the youth did not
seem to know the difference between truth and falsehood ; that he was in the habit
of telling the most transparent lies, unconscious, perhaps, of their real character ;
and that, in showt, it was utterly impossible to place the slightest reliance upon
anything he said. That was a characteristic which had followed him up to the
present day. Mr. Windham also exhibited at Eton and elsowhere the greatest
posgible delight in gorging himself—in eating an enormous quantity of food, and in
devouring it more like a brute than a rational being. He geemed to have no control
over his appetite, and would sometimes eat until he was obliged to go out of the
room to be sick, or until he actually vomited in the presence of the persons at
table with him. At Eton he played the part of buffoon, and his manners were so
extraordinary and irrational, that the boys christened him by the name of “ Mad
Windham,” frequently amusing themselves by setting him to perform strange antics.
He still retained the unfortunate habit of associating with low people. He visited
the kitchen whenever he poseibly could, and when there he insulted and abused the
servants, calling them by the worst and most offensive names. Another habit which
he fell into was that of screeching and howling both within and without doors, in a
way to alarm every person who heard him. He was also subject to extraordinary
fits of passion, flying into a violent rage with little or no cause, and abusing all who
approached him in filthy and profane language. Shortly after the death of his father,
while on a visit to Fellbrigg-hall, he was guilty of great cruelty to animals, without
any adequate cause. At one moment he would appear to be exceedingly fond of
Jiis pony or horse, but the next instant he would whip and kick it in the most
eruel manner. He was taken into good society at Eton and elsewhere by Mr.
Cheales, but his behaviour waa always offensive, particularly to ladies, and was
frequently made the subject of complaint to his tutor. At an evening party in
Lorquay, he suddenly, without any provocation, broke out into a wviolent passion,
Beized a strange gentleman by the whiskers, and ran him up against the wall,
screeching and howling all the time. Upon being remonstrated with by Mr.
Cheales and others, he merely uttered a loud unmeaning langh, which showed at
once that he was not responegible for his acta. It was curious that, while fond of
gorging himself with food, he was never addicted to drinking. Hence his acts could
not be ascribed to the effects of drink. It had been observed that the excessive use
of intoxicating liguors led in him only to increased dullness and stupidity, and never
to irrationality of conduct. There was, however, a degree of cunning about him
which few would suspect. For instance, although he wae inconsequential in
the extreme, and had no reasoning powers, yet he was able to put a
sort of proposition which, at first sight, many persons would think indicated
& glimmering of reason. When it came to be examined, however, it would be found
to have nothing to do with the matter in hand, to be words, and nothing more. At
Etoun, after he had reached the age of geventeen, when spoken to sternly he used to
ery and blubber like a child, allowing the tears to roll down his cheeks, and never
‘abtempting to wipe them away with a pocket-handkerchiefl. After consulting Dr.
Ferguson, who gave him an opinion intended to congole him for his ill-success in his
-attempt to cultivate a barren soil, Mr. Cheales resigned his tutorship in despair, and
Mr. Windham was transferred by Lady Sophia to the care of Mr. Goodwin, at
Torquay. The latter gentleman would describe to them his vain efforts to improve
‘the pupil, and would in all essential respects confirm the statement of Mr. Cheales.
| In 1857, General Windham, who had distinguished himself in the Crimea, was ordered
| eut to India, Before leaving England he thought it necessary to make his nephew
& ward in Chancery, and that led in 1858 to Lord Alfred Hervey and another Mr.
Windham being associated with the original testamentary gnardians, Lady Sophia
and General Windham. The position of the young Mr. Windham was then brought
under the notice of Vice-Chaneellor Wood, who, secing what his manner and habits
were, thought he should have an opportunity of travelling. Colonel Bathurst, who
had been in the Guards, was induced to take him abroad, but he had no sooner
landed on the Continent than he found that he might as well have taken charge of
a wild animal. The conduct of the youth was guite outrageous, and upon one
occasion the Colonel was absolutely obliged to strike him to keep him in anything like
order. At Spa he went about with his clothes unbuttoned, and exhibited an utter
wnconsciousnese not only of the value of money, but even of itz use, by throwing it
#bout at the gaming-table and elsewhere. When Colonel Bathurst returned to
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England, at the end of three months, Mr, Windham was placed under the charge of
Mr. Horrocks, a tutor, who tried every possible means to work upon his mind, but
in vain. Mr. Horrocks, like Mr. Cheales, found that he could be acted upon
only by extreme severity, and Mr. Horrocks was occasionally extremely severe. For-
that reason Lady Sophia was not guite gatisfied with Mr. Horrock®, though in poink
of fact his conduct was unexceptionable. Ie also observed in Mr. Windham a
propensity for lying, amounting to & want of knowledge of the difference between
truth and falsehood. On one occasion the wretched youth actually swore an oath to-
Mr. Horrocks' that he had become a Roman Catholic, though there was not the
slightest foundation for the statement, he having, in fact, ne notion of the differenca
between Protestantism and Roman Catholicism. While on a visit at Fellbrigg-hall

- with Mr. Horrocks he drove at a furious rate into o neighbouring village, and told
. the innkeeper that he had his rents in the dogcart with lum, protected by a braceof

i

pistols. He repeated the same story in the market-place in N orwich. There was
1o foundation for it. About the same time he became very military in his ideas, and,

althongh he held no commission, he assumed the title of captain, maintained he was.
the greatest man in England, and required every personto address him as ¢ Captain
Windham.”’ The police at Norwich and Yarmouth were obliged to comply with that

requisition, and even in London, among the police and others, he was called by no other
name than Captain Windham, One of his fancies was to go with railway trains and
swork the break asa gnard. He even attempted to get upon the engine without the
permission of the engineer, and to put the steam on. Upon the occasion, in
consequence of this unfortunate propensity, he very nearly cansed a frightful
accident at the Cambridge station. He suddenly snatchad a whistle from the

guard and blew it to scart the train, The engineer, not knowing who had blown

the whistle, actually started the train, and if it had not been stopped in time it

would have run into either an approaching train, or a train which had passed on &
minate or two before. He had a guard’s uniform made for him, with all ita

appendages, belt and whistle complete, and dressed in this guit he would go to the

platform, take the lugzage from the passengers as they came out of the ticket-office,
put it in the luggage van, and then, jumping into a geeond-class carriage, would
travel with the train as far as he pleased, repeating his performance at every station
where a stoppage took place. Upon one oceasion he travelled with a gentleman
who was going down to Yarmouth and who knew him well. He left the carriage ab

Norwich, and upon the gentleman asking him why he was mot going on to.

Yarmouth, “ Oh,” he said, “ I am goiug to work the six o'clock Parlismentary train,"
meaning that he was going to London with the six o'clock Parliamentary traim
during the whole of that week. Upon another oecasion he returned to his lodgings

one morning, after being out all night, covered with smoke and dirt like a stoker §

and, in point of fact, he was permitted to work as a stoker upon the engine. ile
gtaying at Felbrigg-hall heran off with a mail cart, pretended to be an officer in the
service of the Queen, drove furiously into a crowd assembled in front of & menagerié
of wild beasts, wanted to go into the menagerie, with horse, cart, and all, and wound
ap by fighting one of the showmen, who gave him two black eyes. From Mr. Horrocks.
he passed into the hands of Mr. Peafield, of Cambridge, who took him & tour through
Scotland and Ireland. In Secotland he continued his screeching and howling, ﬁﬂﬁi
in fact, proved quite unimprovahle. In May of the present year General Windham
returned to England, having .sen written to by his sister. His conduct :

his nephew had always evinced the utmost affection and a desire to consult s |
interesis only, and to prevent the necessity of any publie inguiry or exposure.
proposed that the young man should go abroad with some person of position, whow
might assist him in governing himself and his affairs. Mr. Windham assented, OF '

 geemed to assent to go, and his uncle thonght it was all arranged ; but, anfortds

nately, other persons intervened and entirely frustrated the anxious object of thes
family. Somebody had impressed upon his wind that his uncle was one of his
enemies, and that the real object was to prevent him from marrying and havm
children, so that General Windham might succeed to the property. The fact was
that General Windham would not so succeed ; but such was the idea suggested 0
the alleged lunatic. Subsequently young Mr. Windham went to live with Mr
Peafield at Mr. and Mrs. Lewellin's, in Duke street, St. James's. He was thered
from May to the 29th of August. His conduct continued the same as hefores
Upon one oceasion, becanse his dinner was mnot ready the moment he orderé

it, he threw open the window, and howled and screamed so thut the whole strﬂ_ﬂ:
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“might hear him. His gormandizing propensities were exhibited in many eunrions
ways. Once as many as 17 eggs were served up to his breakfast ; upon another oe-
casion 12 ; and frequently when he came home without notice the cook had to poach
an incredible number for him. He would eut up joints and throw the pieces about
the room, and in eating he made a naise like o pig. One day he ate until be was

gick, and vomited on Mrs. Lewellin's dress. It was sometimes extremely difficuls to

get him to wash himself, and his bed was often found in a filthy state, indicating a

~common symptom of imbecility of mind. He also got into the habit of calling
everybody “Old Bob Ridley,” and would frequently, while at dinner, Iay
down his knife and fork to beat that tmne upon the table. Occasionally he

.wonld order dinner for a large party, and then, going out, mot appear

again till late at night, when he would return alone. He ordered several pairs of |

boots from a bootmaker in the Opera Colonnade, and told the tradesman to send
home for every pair of boots two pairs of boot-trees. Had his orders been executed
to the letter he would have received somewhere about 40 pairs of boot-trees. When
the bootmaker called with his account he abused him in the most violent language,
and then all at once offered to treat him with champagne. He became well
known to the police in and about the Haymarket, and exhibited a desire to act as
a policeman himself. He had a particular propensity to give women in charge, but
he would attack other persons without cause, and order the police to take them to

the station-house. At Norwich ke assumed the character of a detective. While at”

Yarmouth he ran after a party of seldiers in the streets, saying he was their captain,
and ordering them off to the guardhouse. In July he met with a woman who
passed by the name of Agnes Willonghby, but whose real name was BRogers. It
was in the Aseot week, and judging from his own statement, he saw her first with
a person named Roberts. This Roberts lived in a handsome house in Piceadilly,
had a brougham, made a splendid appearance about town, and was a well-known
man in certain circles. He and Miss Agnes Willonghby, alias Rogers, had been for
some time, according to the statement of the alleged lunatic, upon close and

intimate and improper terms.  Miss Willonghby was not the chastest of the chaste; |

her favours in love affairs were not few ; she was known to the police. On the 30th
of August, having come of age on the 9th, Mr. Windham was married to Miss
Willoughby, alias Rogers, although both he and the lady knew at the time that he
was suffering from a fonl and infections disorder. Hastily and hmrriedly marriage
settlements were prepared by Mr. Bowen May, a soliciter in Russell-square, giving
the lady £800 a year at once, to be increased to£1,500 in 1869, when Mr. Windham
came into the settled estates. The date was the 29th of Augnst, and the settlement
was one in perpetuity, so that Mrs. Windham, withont pecaniary loss, might get rid
of her husbhand-—whom she admitted she loathed—whenever she pleased. Nor was
this all. Those who had now got possession of the unfortunate young man were not
satisfied with £800a year ; they took him to a jeweller's, and there, with an income
of £1,250 per annum, he ordered jewellery to the value of £12,000 or £14,000 for

. his wife. Moreover, Roberts went down to Fellbrigg-ball and represented to the
woodman that he had bought all the timber on the estate for £5,000 for three years,
and he would have cut every stick of it if he had been allowed. While staying at
Fellbrigg-hall with his wife Mr. Windham was taken ill. An old family doctor was
sent for. Mrs. Windham asked bim, speaking of her husband, whether he did not
think his relations were poisoning him. The doctor said he did not entertain any
such idea. He was not allowed to see Mr. Windham again, but was told, on calling
at the hall, that Mrs. Windbham had sent for her own doctor. On his return to town
a short time ago Mr. Windham waa visited, under an order of the Lords Justices, by
Dr. Mayo and Dr. Forbes Winslow. They found him cccupying a sunite of apart-
ments in Roberts’ house in Piccadilly. Dr. Winslow talked to him of the relations
which existed between Roberts and his wife both before and after her marringe, but
he failed to perceive in the unfortunate man anything like a notion of decency or
propriety, or a seuse of honour. All that could be got from him was, ¢ Oh! Bawdy-
honse Roberts is a very good fellow, and I like him.” The learned connsel then
read a placard written by Reberts, but signed by the alleged lunatic, calling upon
the * people of Great Britain” to protect him from a conspiracy to defrand him out
of his property ; and concladed by expressing his belief that the statement which he
had just submitted to the jury would be in every respect confirmed by the witnesses
whom he should call before them,



* idiotic langh. I endeavoured to get him into conversation, but his replies were quite

-

. I formed as to his mental incapacity vvas fonnded not only upon the symptoms I 4§

The examination of witnesses in favour of the case of the promoters of the in- |
quiry was then proceeded with. N

MRE, NICHOLS, SURGEON, NORFOLE. i

Mr. Nichols, who was examined by Mr. Field, Solicitor :—

I am in practice as a surgeon in Norwich, and have been for more than 30
years, During the last 25 years I have had between 100 and 200G cases of insanity
under my care. Iam the proprietor of alarge private asylum in Norfolk, and am
chief surgeon to the Bethel Hospital, in Norwich. I bhave been for many years ]
acquainted with the Windham family at Fellbrigg-hall. I knew the late Mr. Wind-
ham up to the time of his death, which took place in 1854. I know William
Frederick Windham, the subject of the present inquiry. My professional attention
was drawn to him by his father when the son was about four years of age. I found
him to be a child of infirm mental organization. He was unable to speak, was
slavering from the mouth, and presented other indications of mental deficiency
which induced me to believe that in all probability he would become an idiot. He
has not become an idiot, which I confess haa surprised me, but he is the next
thing to it. 1 was not afterwards econsulted by his father., About two years
gince I saw the son at a ball in Norwich. I was introduced to him asa friend of
the family. He shook hands with me, and immediately burst out into a violemnt

incoherent and convinced me thet the malady I bad warned his father of had mani-
feated itself in an extraordinary degree. During the evening he shook hands with
me geveral times, not remembering, I believe, that he had done so before. He wore
a military nniform. According to my jndgment, he was in an extremely feeble con-
dition of intellect, in a state constituting unsoundness of mind, unfit to manage
himself or his property. _
Cross-examined by Sir Hugh Cairns.—My attention was first directed to the con-
dition of Mr. Windham in 1843 or 1844. He was then about four years of age, and
was scarcely able to articulate. I have no note in my diary relating to my examina-
tion of him. I speak entirely from memory. At that time I did not keep any
memorandum of my cases. I was not consulted about anything relating to his
physical health, nor did I prescribe for a weak knee. One of the grounds of my
conclusion as to his defective mental organization was, that he was unable to articn-
late perfectly. Another was slavering at the mouth. There were other indications
of a congenital malformation. One was inattention to anything said to him. I
could not draw his attention to his playthings; in fact, he took no mnotice of any
object. I have no doubt I endeavoured todirect hisattention to my watch, and I
have as little doubt that I did not succeed. I noticed a defect in his upper lip, which
was drawn up, leaving the gum exposed. I observed no defect in the upperjaw. I
recollect making an affidavit in this case to be used in the Court of Chancery. If T
stated in that affidavit that William Frederick Windham was between five and six
ﬁﬂrﬂ of age when [ examined him, I must have made a mistake ; for he could not
ve been more than four yearsof age at furthest. The ball in Norwich at which I met
Mr. Windham took place in the autumn of 1858. It wasan assembly ball. His laugh
was very unlike that of a person of sound mind, and was calculuted to attract the
attention of the bystanders. He wore a military uniform. At that time he had a
commission in & militia regiment. Later in the evening he shook hands with me a
second time, and talked, as I thought, incoherently. -
Re-examined by Mr. Chambers.—When I saw Mr. Windham as & child the opinion ,

e e

have mentioned, but also upon the formation of his head. Theslavering at the month
did not arise from the defect in his upper lip, but, as I believed, from his defective
mental organization. His laugh at the ball in Norwich attracted the attention of
the bystanders. It was an idiotic lnngh—Iloud, shrieking, unmeaning. He did not
conduct himselflike the other ¥Youug men in the room. His maoner was E-E‘DBI‘H].]I
cbserved and commented upon. It was that of an imbecile.

t ']éty the Master.—What I saw at the ball could not be accounted for by mere eccen-
TICILY .

THE REV. H. J. CHEALES, LATE TUTOR TO W. ¥. WINDHAM.
The Rev. H. J. Cheales examined, said :—I recollect being engaged at Eton as
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ivate tntor to William Frederick Windham. He was at that time at the house of
ﬁr. Balston, one of the masters. Inthe autumn of 1854 we went to Chesterfield,
and afterwards to Fellbrigg-hall. The Christmas holidays we spent in London. Iy
was my duty to take care of him in everyway. His power of learning was very
small. He could read and write English, but not well, He was decidedly iuferior to
boys of his age generally, His habits were not cleanly. His hands and face wore
constantly dirty, and he seemed to have no wish to keep them clean. It was ne.
cessary constantly to order him to wash himself. He showed great glattony, and
would it with the saliva running from his mouth at his meals. He ate voracionsly,
and used to sleep heavily after his meals. I do not remember any sickness resalting -
from his gluttony. I frequently remonstrated with him on the subject, telling
him to eat more sparingly and with greater decency. His glnitony continued, I
also spoke to him about the slobbering at the mouth, but it likewize continned. He
made no answer to my remonstrances. His habit was to sit with his mouth wide
open, the saliva running from the corners, and he would sometimes not use his
pocket-handkerchief until I told him to doso. When scolded for any fault, he used
to cry far more than boys of his age generally do. The tears ran profusely from his
eyes, and sometimes he would let them run down his cheeks without attempting to
wipe themaway. His langh was unlike that of a reasonable person. He would
sometimes langh without any apparent cause, and in a loud boisterous manner., He
made other noises—screeching and yelling—both in and out of the house. He was
g0 addicted to lying that he could not be believed. I endeavoured to correct his
habit in this respect, and repeatedly punished him for it, but I met with no success.
The untruths he told were sometimes cunning enough, but sometimes they were
quite transparent. I think he had a very imperfect sense of the difference between
right and wrong, truth and falsehood. His lies were generally intended to protect
himseli from punishment, and occasionally were exaggerations of what he had seen.
They were usually such as were easy of detection. He was much given to low
company—the lower servants at Fellbrigg and the porters at railway stations. A&
Eton and elsewhere he would always be in the kitchen when he could, ] could nog
keep him away. He had violent fits of passion, not always with a cause, during
which he would abuse everybody who approached him. At those times he used
the worst possible language—profane and filthy. Even on ordinary occasions hig
language was coarse and nasty, interlarded with oathe. I have seen him dance
about the house, moving his head and limbs in a peculiar manner, and screaming
in & loud voice. I once punished him for brandishing a poker in the kitchen. At
Fellkrigg he had a pony and horses. Sometimes he tgeated them savagely. He
~would get off his pony, and kick it and beat it, and jerk its mouth with the reins.
Generally there was no ground for beating the animal so. He rode recklessly and
cruelly. I puonished him en one occasion for swearing at and beating one of the
maid servants. I took him into society at Eton and elsewhere. He behaved noisily,
riotously, and was rude in his manner to ladies. One evening, at a party in Tor-
quay, he seized a gentleman by the whiskers and held his head againgt the wall.
There was not the least provocation. 1t was one of those ontbursts of excitement
to which he was accustomed. He uttered a loud laugh, I was obliged to release
the gentleman. There were ladies present. Ladies have frequently asked me to
protect them from him—to take him away. When he lived with me I have been
obliged to speak to him about going among the servants and washing up dishes. I
~have forbidden him to carry trays. My remonstrances had no effect. He was in
the habit of sleeping in the daytime—much oftener than is usual with boys at his
~age. He bought himself a railway whistle, and would use it in his own room, shut-
ting the door as if it were the door of a railway carriage, and acting as if he were a
railway guard. When trains arrived at the Windsor station he used to open the
doors and assist the passengers to alight. Complaints were made to me of his
conduct at the station more than once, but nothing I could say or do had any effect.
On one occasion I told him I had heard he had been imitating a steam-engine, and
moving about as if he were one, lamp and all. He did not seem to gee the harm
ofit. Owing to my want of success with him, T took him to Dr. Robert Fergusson
in the early part of the summer of 1856. Dr. Ferguson gave me an opinion upon
his condition, but not in his presence. I remained his tator fora year after that,
but there was no improvement in his mental power, though he eould then do school
work—Latin and Greek—Dbetter than he could have done it twelve months before.
1 gave up my tutorship in 1857 without having eucceeded at all in improving his
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‘habits. T thtnk his intellect was lower than any I had ever seen in a boy of his
age. I treated him on that footing. '
At this stage the inquiry was adjourned. g

SECOND DAY.—WepxNespay, Dec. 17, I

The inquiry in this case waa resumed this day before MaatBr+Wmen and a special 4
jury. The parties were represented by counsel as on the previous day. i
THE REV., M. J. CHEALES. ¥

The Rev. H. J. Cheales, cross-examined by Sir H. Cairns—I was engaged to act ]
as private tutor to Mr. Windham by Mr. Ba-lﬂt_-on, who engaged me on behalf of his
mother on 27th April,;1855. 1 was the first private tutor he had at the school. He
was at that time inthe fourth form. He had then been at Eton more than half a *
year. His school work would have been Latin, Greek, and verses. Idon’t know
that he was the oldest boy in the fourth form. It is very seldom thatboysas old as
15 are in the fourth form, though it does so happen occasionally. His epelling was
bad all the while he was withme. I did not complain to the “dame” in whose
house he was at Eton about his dirty habits in not washing his dirty hands and face.
I did make representations to his mother on the subject when we were at Felbrigz,
and she said, “ You must try and cure his dirty habits.” When I complained to |
him about his glattony and his habit of slobbering he merely grinned. The defeet
in his lip did not prevent his closing his mouth. He did not slobber at all times,
but only when he was sitting still at his lessons, or when he was at his meals and
not actually eating. Mr. Windham was my first and only pupil. When I caw him
laugching without apparvent cause, I have occasionally asked him why he langhed
and he would sometimes reply that it was what he was thinking of, and sometimes
that he could not help it. I never saw other boys langh before their masters in the
wild way helanghed. It was a meaningless laugh, asifhe were laughing at nothing.,
It waslike the laugh of a person who was without reason. He wuas a boy of very |
wild spirit. When he screeched and made a noise without reason, I have asked |
him what it was for, and he could not or would not tell me. He would screech and
dance about the room and langh wildly. Sometimes he would do thisin the presence
of other boys for their amusement to make them langh. I never reported his
untrnthfulness to the head master, but I reported his riotous conduct in
the house to Mr. Balston, who reported it to the head master, and he was
flogged for it. That sometimes happens with other boys at Eton. The habits of &
boy as to truthfulness ang cleanliness would, no doubt, much depend upon the
manner in which he had been brought up. Young lir. Windham was, 1 understoo
brought np with his father and mother at home. I never heard, whileat Noxf
that the father had been in the habit of swearing and using bad language. On
first occasion I was at Fellbrigg Mr. Windham, the father, was there. I saw nothing =
to lead me to suppose that he was a passionate man, or that he was in the habit of *
using oaths or profane langnage. Young Mr. Windbam was very fond of going into
the stable and mixing with the stable boys. He was not very fond of horses. While
I was at Fellbrigg there was nobody but his parents and myself for him to asso ]
with. He wasthe only boy I knew, at Eton or elsewhere, who showed a taste for
being about arailway. I have heard of young men who were fond of getting upon an
engine, if they were allowed to do so, to understand about the mode of driving railway,

ings. That would not indicate weak intellect. When I saw him in the kitchen
making a noise with the servants, he was jumping about and langhing. That was
in 1855, when he was fifteen years old. I gave him impositions for misconduet,
gﬁnemli]r 100 lines of Latin to write out. Sometimes I was obliged to resortto ]
corperal punishment. I have seen the Highland fling danced, but though it
noisy and there isa goood deal of jumping in it, I do not think it barbarous. Whe
I punished Lim for brandishing the poker, swearing at the servants, beating the
maids, and other faults, he did not deny that he didso. He did not tell an untruth
about it, because he knew that I had got information from persons who umri-
saw it. When he rode out on his pomy at Fellbrigg he as scarcely ¥
ever alome. I usually went with him on horseback. When he got off
and beat the pony, which he did frequently, he appeared to be dissatisfied.
he with the pony. What I mean by his riding recklessly was that
would ride with a loose rein over rough ground, and sometimes that
ride very fast. The pony wasa sure footed anima. He went occasionally inte
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gociety in the neighbourhood of Fellbrigg. It wag:gﬂn&r&]ly to cricket parties. He
had no opportunity of going out to evening parties, or dining out at gentlemen's
honses. He had no sisters. It was at Christmas, 1855, and at Easter, 1856, and
again at Christmas, 1856, that we were at Torquay. I believe it was at Christmas,
1856, that he assaunlted the gentleman at the party. His mother was with him at
Torquay. Mr. Campana was the person he assaulted. He was a foreigner, an
Ttalian. I had met Mr. Campana before, and so had young Mr. Windham. I don’t
know that any conversation took place before the assault. My attention was first
directed to the eircumstances by hearing his laugh when I was at the other end of
the room. His mother was in the room. I did not complain to his mother about it.
y the Master)—Mr. Campana was between thirty and forty years of age. (To
ir H. Cairns)—I told Mr. Windham's mother that 1 was dissatisfied with my pupil.
“When I have been called upon to protect ladies against his rudeness he was about
gixteen. The rudeness was following them about the room and shouting. What the
Jadies said to me was, “Take away this disagreeable boy.” I remember Mrs.
Jeffries, the housekeeper at Fellbrigg. 1 have compluined to her of the conduct of
my pupil. ‘I had his mother's consent when I took him to Dr. Fergusson. I think
3{}; Windham had an allowance paid through me when he was under my care at
Eton. He was extravagant, and got into debt. I don’t remember what was the
amount of his allowance. I paid his debts—ome of them was a debt of 18s. at a
pastrycook’s.

Sir H. Cairns—Was there ever much cordiality between you and your pupil #—
We were very good friends at times—not so at other times. I left my pupil finally
at Easter in 1857, when we were at Torquay. I did not see General Windham nor hear
from him while his nephew was with me. I first made his acquaintance a few
weeks ago. He asked me to call at his house at Eaton-square. He expressed a
wish to see me. I did not see him from that time till yesterday, when I met him in
counrt.

Cross-examined by Mr. Coleridge (on behalf of Mrs. Windham)—When Mr. Wind-
ham left Eton he was in the fifth form. I don’t reccllect what part of the form he
was in. Yon may assume, for the purposes of a question, that he was in the middle
division. While there he wonld have to do, Homer 75 lines ; Virgil 75 lines; Satirea
and Odes of Horace, Livy, or Tacitus, Lucian, Xenophon, the Greek Testament, the
Odyssey, or Telemachus, 24 lines of verses, Latin exercise, and Greek exercises and

mathematics. He got through his work with my help. I cannot undertake to say’

be was in the fifth form. I donot know that he did Homer. There are trials at
. ‘the school ; I don't know how many in the year. I believe thers are trials twice in
‘the year. Mr. Windham was there two years, and was treated like the other boys.
I never saw any other Eton boy make the noises he did, or conduct himself in the
same way. I never heard the Ethiopian Serenaders. I never heard the way in
which they imitate a steam engine and end with a howl. (Langhter.) I have not
seen my pupil since I left him at Torquay, at Christmas, 1856. I resigned my
charge from ill health. I left on my own accord.

Re-examined by Mr. Field—If my pupil was in the fifth form it was only for a very
short time before he left. He was ill and not at school in the antum of 1856, so
that he could not have done fifth form work for many months. His capacity for
the work he actually did was very emall. T think his capacity slightly increased as
he went on. His illness was caused by an injury to his finger, arising from his
putting his hand in the lifting machine, and turning the wheel, which caused a cog
wheel to come on his finger and crush it. I did not report his untruthfulness and
noisy conduct to the head master, because I thought it better to treat him privately.
His jumping and yelling was nothiug like the Highland fling. I mean by riding
recklessly that he rode in a way endangering his own safety. He got into debt to
‘the extent of some few pounds.

By the Jury—The help I gave him in his studies was to see that he prepared hia
lessons, and put him right when he was wrong. I had to help him considerably
more than private tutors usually help pupils. The removal from one form to
another is by merit, the character of the boy being taken into consideration. His
removal was the result of the school examination. In his case I believe favour was
Bhown. He got flogged for not construing his lessons, but not often when I was
with him. His allowance was about the same as other boys in the school. 1t was, I
believe, about 1s. or 2s. a week. He went to the kitchen because he liked the
company of the servants. His principal amusement there was washing up dishes,
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EDWARD HALE, ETON, TUTOR TO MR. WINDHAM. L,

Edward Hale, examined by Mr. Williams—I am a clergyman and mathematical
master at Eton, and have been so since 1850. I took part in the instruction of Mr.
Windham. He was up to me in school in 1855, and he was my privale pupil in the
election and Easter, 1856. Part of the time I resided in the same house with him,
Mrs. Voyse's, When he first came up to me I was obliged to have him it close
by me, and work separately from the other boys, as he could not keep up with them.

The boys in the fourth form in Windham's time would be generally from eleven to four- :

teen years of age. I never could teach him Euclid. We got through a certain amount
of vulgar fractions. He could do any sum when I showed him the way to do it,

but he conld never work out anything like a problem himself. He was the densest

pupil I ever had. I don’t think he made any eensible advance while he was under
my care. When he first came up to me he began to make arow. I made him come
up and sit by me and told him I would put him in the “bill,” which means that ha
would be reported to the head master. He was amenable to discipline then, or to nse
another Eton word, he rather * funked.” He was very dirty, and had indecent
habits. I advised Mr. Cheales to consult a medical man about him, in consequence.
He would get the boys round him, and make faces and dance for their amuse.
ment. From what I saw of him I considered him ineapable of mental exertion,
or of managing himself.

Crogs-examined by Mr. Karslake—Mr. Cheales was never present when he did
his lessons in school. The coaching of Mr. Cheales was, therefore, so far effective.
Other boys are coached in the same way by private tutors if they are backward.
He did not make a fool of himself in school after I put him in the bill. I did put
him in the bill, and he was no doubt flogged. When he cried the noise he made
was peculiar. It was a sort of “boo, boo,” and he ghed tears plentifully. I do not
know that he was ballied more than other boys. I observed a malformation of his
mouth. I did not know that he wore an ivory palate. In the fourth form we began
with compounsl division and went up to vulgar fractions. He conld not do a rule
of three snm without assistance, but he conld do a som in vulgar fractions when he
was shown how. He could do compound addition. He was my private pupil till he

left at Christmag, 1856. I think Mr. Windham was never in my room with other

private pupils. What I told him to do he did. He was utterly unable to under-
stand the terms of any proposition in Euclid. I have never seen him since he lefs
Eton. I believe he got as far as the fifth form, and that he was allowed to be

presented to the fifth form withont examination, becanse of the accident to his hand.

Cross-examined by Mr. Coleridge—I formed my opinion that he was incapable at
the fourth form trials before he was my private pupil. !

By Mr. Chambers—He was not fit to pass the examination necessary to go into
the fifth form.

By the Master—I am master at Eton now, and have been so between elevan
and twelve years. During that period I have never had a boy go low mentally, or
80 odd in his habits.

By a Juror—I have a distinct notion that he knew the first four rules of
arithmetic, simple and compound. I never tested him with mental arithmetic.
He was looked upon by the boys as a buffoon, and he was generally called by them
“Mad Windham.” I have heard of another boy being called mad, but that was
before I was at Eton.

DR. DALRYMPLE, SURGEON, NORWICH.

Dr. Donald Dalrymple—I am a surgeon, and have long practised at Norwich., I
was for more than twenty years proprietor of a lunatic asylum ; Iam also one of the
governors of the Bethel Lunatic Hospital. I have known Mr. Windham from his
childhood, having been intimately acquainted with his father. I lost sight of him
from his birth to 1848. From that time I noticed him till 1854. My opinion of
young Mr. Windham is that his intellectual powers are very much below par. I
think he is fit to manage himself personally, but not to go into the world with
reference to his own safety and the safety of the public. I think he is eertainly unfit
to manage his own property and money. He was subject to sudden fits of passion,
and while under their influence I do not believe he was sensible of the distinetion
between right and wrong. In July or August, 1850, he staid two nights at my
house with his mother, A horse was hired for him, because I did not like to trust him

|
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with one of my own. He did not bring the horse back, but it was found the next
day at thelower end of thetown. The saddle came back at the end of a week, but
the bridle never cameback. I was at Norwich on the day of General Windham’s
ovation. There was a dinner at St. Andrew’s-hall. Before dinner he rode in a
carriage with his mother, my wife, and myself, and I had the greatest diffienlty in
keeping him to his seat in the carriage. He shouted and yelled, making a great
noise which we could not stop, and when in the hall he jumped upon the chairsand
the table, and he was continually interrapting the speeches. 1 can't say that he
had not been drinking, but he was not drunk. His noisy conduct was not the effect of
drink. He slept at my hounse that night. I went into his room to see if his light was
- ;nt ; it was not, but he was asleep and stark naked, without any bed-clothes on
im.

Some other evidence was given by this witness as to certain habits of the alleged
lanatie, which habits, the witness said, were both symptoms and causes of mental
disease. The witness further spoke of various eccentricities of conduct on the part
of Mr. Windham on several occasions down to the beginning of the present year.

Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake—I was intimate with the Windham family.
Young Windham was a spoiled child. The late Mr. Windham was a very hot
tempered man. His mother was also an excitable person. Young Mr. Windham,
aa a child, was allowed to have his own way. I think he would have been better if
more restraint had been put upon him. He was irregularly restrained, and he
would be blamed at one time for what would be passed over at another. 1 was a
frequent visitor at the Hall. Young Windham was very fond of the servants' hall
and the stable, but was more in the servants’ hall than the stable. He was brought
down to his father’s funeral, and he was very much affected while in the church, but
after the funeral I was painfully struck with the little emotion he displayed at his
father's death. When he was stopping at my house in 1856 his mother wrote to
me two or three days before to get him a horse. She never asked me to lend him one
of my horses. The occasion on which the horse was hired was that of General
Windham's ovation. It was guite a gala day. There was a procession, flags, and
carriages, and people on horseback going about all day. I do not know of his
having a peculiar defect in the mouth, or that he ever wore an ivory palate in his
month. His speech is pecualiar, but not so much so as to attract attention. The
dinner at St. Andrew’s - hall was about half-past four in the afternoon. There wers
many gentlemen and many of the Norfolk farmera present. Young Mr. Windham
was noisy at every toast. There was wine ad libifum, and the proceedings lasted
until nine o'clock. There was great noise when the general's health was drunk. I
never heard more noise in St. Andrew’s-hall. Mr. Windham eame home to aupper.
I have seen him, wheun a child of five or six years old, fling himself down on the
floor and howl and blare, and bite the carpet, because he was told that he must not do
something he was doing. 1 remember an oulbreak at a later period, between 1848
and 1854, when he came howling into the room and complaining that one of the
‘gservants had done something to him. I have never visited him at Fellbrigg since
he became of age.. I never, since he was of age, saw him deal with a tradesman or
pay money. I have never shot with him or rede with him since; and God forbid I
ghould dine with him. (A laugh.) I never saw him do anything in reference to
the management of his affairs—buy, sell, or communicate with his steward, or any
thing else in the way of business, since he came of age. Mr. Ansell, the solicitor,
(formerly the receiver), employed me to make an affidavit in this case. I never saw
Mr. Windham transact any matter of business. I never saw him fire a gun, Yet L
said in the affidavit that I considered his mind so entirely inconsequential that he
could not see the effect any course of action might have upon his aflairs, and if he
were to shoot a dog or a keeper insanity might be pleaded in his defence. What I
stated in the affidavit and in my evidence to-day as to the habits which nﬂ'ﬂl}te‘d.
his rind, was from what I saw on the night he was at my house, and from his
drinking, gormandising, and mingling with low company and low women. 1 believe
he is able to take care of himself so far, that he would take good care that he would
- mot get himself into danger ; but I believe if he did injure anybody wilfully, insanity
might properly be pleaded in his defence. '

Re-examined by Mr. Chambers.—I do not consider that he is able to take care of
himself in society, but that he is able to take care of himself personally.
‘When he came home from the dinner he did not exhibit any signs of baving drank
to excesa. )

T
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By the Master.—I have had twenty-five years' experience in casges of insanity.
I consider Mr. Windham's case to be one of imperfectly developed mental
power, and I believe it to be congenital in him. What I mean by his being able
to take care of his person is, that he is physically able to defend himself.

DE. JOHNSON, PHYSICIAN, NOMWICH.

Dr. James Johnson examined by Mr. Field.—I have practised as a physician in

Norwich for thirty years. I have had a great deal of experience in mental
diseases. I have known BMr. Windham from childhood personally, and more
intimately since his uncle’s return from the Crimea. At the ovation of the
Fellbrigg tenantry on the occasion of his unele’s return 1 saw him on his pony,
riding at random. He rode into the crowd, and as the pony was frightened by the
discharge of artillery, he got off and tried to draw the pony into the crowd after
him, through the horses, and carriages, and people. Lord Suffield interfered, and
took him by the collar and dragged him out. 1 was at the Norwich sessions ball,
in 1859, and saw Mr. Windham there. He behaved very strangely, jumped about,
walked backwards, beckoned to the ladies to come down to him ; he trod upon Sir

John Boilean's toes, and instead of apalogising, swore, and when somebody after-
wards trod upon his toes he took up his foot in kis hand and hopped across the

room howling. (Laughter.) At the subscription ball his behaviour was equally
strange. He forced his partner through the dances, tore the ladies’ dresses, and
committed other absurdities. He did the same at other balls. He langhed :zm
these occasions in the strangest manner.

Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake—I cannot give yon an idea of the kind of langh
unless you go to Colney Hatch. (A langh.) I was never introduced to Mr.
Windham., What I mean by being personally acqnainted with him is that I knew
him by sight. When he pushed his partner throngh the dancers they were waltzing,
I refused to allow my daughter to dance with him, becaunse I considered him to be a
person of unsound mind.

REV. T. GOODWIN, OF TORQUAY.

Rev. Thos. Goodwin examined by Mr. Williams—I am a ol anof the Church
of England. I was residing in Torquay in the early part of 1857. [ was applied to
to take charge of Mr. Windham during the time I remained in Torquay. I did eo,
and he remained with me a fortnight or three weeks. He lived with his mother,
and I went to the house each day. I attempted to instruet him. His eduocation
was exceedingly deficient. While I attended him we conld do no more than get
through two chapters of Prescott's * History of Pern.” I found it almost impossible
to fix his attention upon any subject, and when he did fix his attention upon any
subject he had not the capacity to master it. 1 found him dirty in his habits,
mntruthful, and boastful. He would tell untruths without any other object than
that of boasting. He was very excitable. I have seen him jump over chairs, jump
on his mother’s shoulders and try to ride on her like a horse, and when reading he
would snddenly jump up and run three or four times round the garden as fast as he
could. T have seen him fly into a violent passion becaunse his mother, Lady Sophia,
refused him permission to go out hunting. He gorged very much. I have seen
him at an evening party bring ina large dirty dog and let it loose among the Jadies.
I have no doubt from what I saw of him that he is of unsound mind.

Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake—I judge of his deficient intellectual develop-
ment from my conversation with him.,

Re-examined by Mr. Chambers—He was quite unable to keep up a conversation,
however simple. .

COL. BATHURST, MR, WINDHAM’S CONTINENTAL COMPANION,

Colonel J. P. Bathurst examined by Mr. Chambers—I was formerly in the Cold-
stream Guards, Inow command the 29th Middlesex Volunteers. I was introduced
to young Mr. Windham in May, 1857, for the purpose of taking him abioad. I
was appointed by Vice-Chancellor Wood to travel with him for about six mouths.
We first. went to Brussels, and then to Spa, where we remained a fortnight.
We then went to Wiesbaden, to Baden Baden, and the usual tour through
Switzerland.  On our return we revisited Spa, and remained there a little
while. We were away from Lngland from the 19th of June to the end of
September. I wasconstantly with him all that time. With the exception of looking
at a newspaper occasionally, and at a novel I got for him, I do not think he applied
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‘himself to anything while I was with him. Before we went abroad I got him the
% Ingoldsby Legends,” which he read part of I believe, becanse he remembered, and
often afterwards repeated one couplet about the modern monk getting jolly drunk.
(A laugh.) I observed that he was cruel to animals and was very fond of flogging
horses severely. On one occagion at Spa he flogged a horse he rode so badly that I
had to give asum of money to the owner to settle the matter. He was = glutton at
eating. He had a great fancy for speaking in the dialect that the common people
of Norfolk use. He was very noisy, and wounld run up and down stairs at the hotel
shouting at thetop of his voice. The noise was usunally a sort of hunting * halloo.”
He was constantly laughing, and I could at any time have set him off langhing
for any length of time; the only difficulty would have been to stop him. He
appeared when langhing, which he would do for no reason at all, to be unable to
stop himeelf, andall the while the saliva would run down from the corners of his
mouth. Sometimeshe wounld ery equally without cange. While travelling on the
continent he woulde ndeavour to make acquaintance with the railway guards, and,
by giving them a swmall douceur, get them to allow him to work the breaks
with them. At the hotels he would langh and romp with the waiters. I remon-
strated with him, but my remonstrance had no permanent effect. He was always
falling in love with the ladies wherever he met with them, and I beard that he
proposed to some of them. Whilst I was with him at Plymouth he got excited ab
a dinner, and shouted out to a lady at the other end of the table repeatedly so aa
to attract attention. It was something more than want of manners. It was com.
plained of to me that he used foul ]ang;_]t:afe in the presence of ladies, and I spoke
to him about it. At my snggestion he e an apology. Hig behaviour in society
generally was rude, boisterous, and unmanly. He would not be five minutes in a
room without making himself conspicnons to all present. I have had repeated
complaints made to me of his conduct, and have spoken to him about it. He was
very careless in his clothes and person. 1 suppiied him from time to time with
small sums of money, which he wasted foolishly. He frequently told untruths, and
was in the habit of making exaggerated statements. Many of his statements were
such obvions nntruths that I was almost led to believe that he scarcely knew the
difference between fruth and falsehood. I have seen him fly into passions go violent
that I believe had he a weapon in his hand while under their influence he wounld be
unable to control his actions. We returned before the time intended, becanse I
felt I could make no improvement adequate to the remuneration I was receiving,.
My impression from what I saw of him is that he is decidedly of weak intellect.
I believe he could manage himself; but if he went into society he would make him-
self very soon disagreeably conspicuous. I consider him decidedly unfit to manage
his private affairs.

At the conclusion of the witness's examination in chief, the inqniry waa forther
adjourned till next day.

THIRD DAY.—Wepxespay, Dec. 18.
_ The adjourned inguiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resnmed this day in the Court of Exchequer, Westminster, befors
Ar. Warren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury.

Ar. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams appeared for the
petitioners ; Mr, Charles Russell, for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of
the alleged lnnatic; Sir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward,
for Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, ().C., for Mrs. Windham.

The Master said I am seriously distressed at the length to which it is almost
inevitable this inguiry will extend. I have already signed and sealed about 200
Bummonses to witnesses, It may not be necessary to serve all those summonses,
%ﬂt I have issned them to all parts of England, to Beotland, to Ireland, and even to

ussia. The expense of such an inquiry is necessarily frightful. All parties have an
%ﬁtﬂrﬂt in keeping it down as much as possible, and I will do so. It is impossible

r us to sit on Monday next, the day of the faneral of the late Prince Consort: but
after that, with the exception of Christmas-day and Sundays, you may sit every day
until three o'clock in the afterncon, up to the lst of January. 1 understand that
General Windham, a very distinguished officer, will have togo to India soon, in order

resume his command, which has been suspended by the Horse Guards solely for

e purpose of enabling him to attend to this matter. Nevertheless, with every dis-
Position to accommodate General Windham, I have other public duties which will
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take and kecp me away after the 1st of Jannary until the end of the week. T hops
that every effort will be made, consistent with justice, to shorten the inguiry, and
meanwhile I trust that the arrangement which I have just announced will give
general satisfaction. ;

Sir H. Cairns was snre that everybody engaged in the case would respond to the
feeling which actuated the learned Master in proposing not to sit on Monday next.
He was somewhat alarmed at hearing the great number of witnesses whom it was
proposed to eall on the oiher side, but he was not without hupe that things wonld
clear off a little as they proceeded with the inquiry. For his own part, he was pre-
pared to do all he counld to shorten the inquiry, but his course must be in a great
measure regulated by what was done on the other side.

Mr. Field said that no effort wonld be wanting on the part of council for tha
petitioners to bring the proceedings to a close as soon as possible.

Colonel Bathurst, cross-examined by Sir H. Cairns.—I was a brother officer of
General Windham in the Coldstream Guards. I was rather more than three months
with young Mr. Windham. I was abroad from the 18th of Juneto the end of Sep-
tember. We were moving about during the whole of that time. Mr. Windham
picked up one or two words of French, but he could not speak the language; he
was therefore obliged to confine his conversation to those who understood English.
I took him to church, but I was obliged to get him out of bed for that purpose.
He purchased some clothes on the Continent, but they were not suitable to his con-
dition as & gentleman, In that instance he may be said to have thrown his money
away. While we were abroad I gpent for him at the rate of abont £200 a-year.
That included clothes and pocket-money. I gave him money when he asked me
for it. I have spoken to him once since I parted from him on our return to England.
At the time I was travelling on the Continent I did not enter into the Ro-
man Catholic Church, nor have I done so since. There was a paragraph in the
paper to that effect, but it related to my brother. I gave Mr. Windham up to his
guardians.

Re-examined by Mr. M. Chambers.—The clothes he bought were not such as one
sees Englishmen of conditibn wearing abroad. They were not ridiculous, but they
were ill-made and of very inferior stuff. He had never anything to show for the
money he spent. 1 therefore conclude that he wasted it.

By the Master.—While with me he ate more than he ought tohave done. I have
seen him tipsy, but I cannot say that he drank to excess. Drink made him sick and
dull. His rude and boisterous conduct could not be ascibed to the effects of drink.

MR, PARRAR, REGISTRAR OF THE COURT OF CHANCERTY,

Mr. Farrar, examined by Mr. Field.—I am one of the Registrars of the Court
of Chancery. 1 met Mr. Windham at Spa in Angust, 1859. I saw him at the
gaming-table two or three times. He was playing—uot paying any attention
to Fha gamo, !mt. throwing his money abount recklessly. I had frequent conver-
sations with him. His talk was idiotic. I gathered from him that he preferred
living with a class below his own station in life. I saw him acting as a
railway porter at the station. His dress was put on negligently, as if he had
come out in a hurry. It was unbuttoned. His conduct was the talk of Spa.

Sir H. Cairna.—There is not much in that. I dare say Spa is sometimes sadly in
want of eomething to talk abont. (A langh.)

Mr. Chambers.—And Mr, Windham was m ive i i
i S the very man to give it somethiag to

The Master.—The newspapers of this morning report with at accn
certain bursts of langhter which took place yeatgrdaj'.lwl hope ﬂhiﬂg of r:g '
kind will take place again. The inquiry is a very painful one, and I trust that out |
of respect for public deceney, if for no other raason, we ghall in future have no such .
unseemly ebullitions of feeling.

Cross-examined by sn- H. Cairns.—I did not notice what sums Mr. Windham
put down on the gaming-table. He staked, I think, two or three pieces at & |
time. I can state p-nmtw?lj' that he put down more than a five-franc piece at !
one time. I have suan‘h:m stake three five-franc pieces. I was playing myself. .
Ibcnnunl; ‘stut.a tll:m particulars of the conversation I had with him. I can only r
give the impression l}m talk produced on me. He talked and acted like &
person of unsound mind. He was particularly fond of thrusting himself upon
Iadies, and at the gaming-table he used to sit with his arms stretched out &
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looking into their faces, instead of attending to the play. I, on the other
hand, paid more attention to the play than to the ladies; that was the difference
between us. (A langh.) I cannot say whether when he won money Le teck it
up or not. He told me he liked to on the railway, and to be with the
people who worked the engine. He also told me that he liked to work the
engine himself. I do not think I ever saw him on the engine driving. He was a
slovenly dresser. ' ;

Re-examined by Mr. Chambers.—The ladies into whose faces he gazed at the
gaming-table might not have been of a very particular class. It is possible,
therefore, that they may not have felt annoyed by his conduct. I have seen him
opening the doors of the carriages at the railway station, and acting in all respecta
like a porter. I regarded him asa person of no mind at all.

MES, M. A. WILEINSON OF LEAMINGTON.

Mrs. Mary Alicia Wilkinson, examined by Mr. H. Williams, said :—TI am a widow,
and reside in Leamington. 1 was residing at Spa between two or three years ago.
During my residence there I met with Mr. Windham. Ifwasin 1859. He was slaying
in the same hotel with me. I had no knowledge of his family, except from hearsay.
I saw him every day for more than a fortnight, and several times each day. I had
frequent conversations with him. He cunducted himself in those couversations like
a child. My general object was to improve his manners, and to teach him the
difference between truth and falsehood. I took an interest in him, becanse I con-
sidered him to be a person of a weak intellect. He could not control himself in
erying, and would seek my assistance to get him out of little scrapes. He used to
thank me for my kindness and promised to behave better in future, but he never
kept his promise, because he did not know the value of promiges. He would eryon
every slight oceasion. I remonstrated with him about his rude conduct in society.
I have observed him at the fable d'lote. On one occasion he obliged me to say I
wonld leave the fable d'hote unless he would conduct himself as a gentleman. He
was indulging in extraordinary laughter, and seemed incapable of controlling it.
He was urged to leave the table, and afterwards to leave the hotel. He did not

: leave because an explanation was given to the company. There was no eause what-
ever, as far as I am aware, for his langhter on that oceasion. I have frequently
geen him on other occasions indulging in gimilar fits of laughter. The explanation
made at the fable d’hofe was, that he was a person incapable of controlling himself.
He was unable to speak French, and I had to make the explanation on his behalf.
In general society in Spa he conducted himself in so extraordinary a manner that I
was obliged to explain to my own personal friends that he could not be held responsible
for his acts on account of the weakness of his intellect. At a quadrille party a
young lady, to whom I was acting as chaperone at the Spa, and to whom I had
introduced him as a partner, brought him up to me and told me in his presence that
she did not like to leave him in the middle of a dance, but he had threatened to box
her ears because she would not dance fast enough to please him. (A laugh.) On
another occasion I remonstrated with him about his going to the station and acting
as guard. He told me he had gone as a gunard to the next station to take charge of
some jewels and a pony carriage. I told him that he must not do so again ; that it
was only on account of his eccentricity that he had been &llowed by foreigners to do
it- The only reply he made was that he knew how to take charge of a train, and it
amused him. I found him to be untruthfal.
' Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake.—He was perpetnally uttering falsehoods—in
- fact, did not know the difference between truth and untruth. I do not recollect any
tance of n direct falsehood, but he was guilty of exaggerations so extraordinary
that I did mot believe a word he gaid. He would relate incredible stories with
respect to himself. He told me that he had been in the habit of carrying pistols
aboat his person and using them when necessary; that he eould drive any kind of
@arriage or any nomber of horses; that he was a remarkably brave man, and, in
tact, feared nothing, To try him I asked him to drive me, and got a pony carriage
for him, but he used the ponies so cruelly that the owner said he would never allow
Mr. Windham to Hrive them again unless I became responsible for their safety.
Was not dressed like a widow at Spa. I knew Colonel Bathurst. I had met him in
Bociety, and regarded him as a friend. When Mr. Windham misconducted himself
at the tabl: d’hote in the way 1 have deseribed, Colonel Bathurst was not present.
If he had been present I should not bave interfered or made any Ezplﬂuﬂtiﬂgﬂ to the
B
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company. In passing throogh the rooms I have put down a five-franc piece on tha
gaming table. Itis customary to doso. I did not play habitually, nor was I a
ever a severe loser. I once saw Mr, Windiam put down money on the table; it
was the evening before he left, when everybody is expected to stake a little. Colonel
Bathurst asked me to look after his pupil as much as I could, and I introduced him
to all my personal friends. He was very fond of dancing, but very few ladies would
dance with him. Colonel Bathurst was always with him at the balls. My maiden
name was Horrocks. I am a sister of Mr. Horrocks, who at one time was tutor to
Mr. Windham. At Spa Colonel Bathurst told me he intended to give up bis charge
of Mr. Windham, and asked me whether I knew anybody who would take care of
him. I mentioned my brother's name. I returned to England in May last, but
have not seen Mr. Windham since he left Spa, in the autumn of 1559. One of the
serapes about which he consulted me was his having been ordered to quit the hotel.
I do not recollect any other at the present moment. He told me that he was afraid
he would get into a scrape with his travelling tutor, Colonel Bathurst, about his cruelty
to the ponies. When I told him at the tabled hote that the company wanted him to leave
the room, and translated what one of the waiters said tohim in French to that effect,
he gaid * Oh, nonsense; I don't care for anybody ; I will do what I like.” Even
tually he promised to behave better, and upon my interposition he was allowed to
remain at the table. Afterwards, however, he brought a note in French to my
drawing-room, which proved to be a request from the landlady that he would leave
the hotel. I translated it o him, when he befrged me to intercede for him, and said
he hoped Colonel Bathurst would not hear of it. I explained to the landlady in
French that he was mal timbré—a person of wear intellect. He often cried in my
room, sometimes without any apparent cause. I offered to read to him, but he
seemed to be incapable of understanding the simplest subject.

By Mr. Coleridge—I was not acquainted with any member of his family.

Re-examined by Mr. M, Chambers—He talked like a vain, silly ehild—boasting of
his pergonal achieyements and about what he could do. When I rode out with him
in the pony carriage he drove in a reckless manner. I told him he was endangering
my life, and threatened to speak to Colonel Bathurst. He beat the ponies cruelly
about the head. The presence of Colonel Bathurst seemed to act as a restraint upon
him, There is no foundation whatever for Mr. Windham, or any one else, saying
that I have been in the habit of playing. I have never done more than put a piece
down when visiting the rooms with a party of friends. When Colonel Bathurst told
me he was going to leave Mr. Windham I wrote to my brother, at Mr. Windham's
own earnest request that I should do s, Mpr. Windham =aid he wounld like to con-
tinune under the charge of an officer, and, as my brother at that time held a commis-
sion in a militia regiment, I thought he would be a proper person to succeed Colonel
Bathurst.

By the Jury—DMr. Windham was very untidy in his dress, and I often refused to
admit him to my drawing-room until he had washed his face and combed his hair. '

MRS, WINDHAM'S RIGHT TO APPEAR BY COUNSEL AND EXAMINE EVIDENCE.

Before the next witness was called a conversation took place between the Master
and Mr. Coleridge as to the right of the latter, as counsel for Mrs. Windham, not
only to cross-examine thogvitnesses and address the jury, but also, if he thought it
neceggary, to adduce evidence of his own. Mr. Coleridge maintained that the order
{:f_t.l?a Lords Jnatmesl under which he appeared invested him with all the rights and
privileges of a party in the case, including the right of calling witnesses, and at the
present stage of the inquiry he refused to pledge himsell not to exercise that right
among tlhq rest. The Master intimated his intention to write to the Lords Justices
on the subject, asking them to explain the meaning of their order relative to Mrs.
Windham, and directing their attention to the eircumstance that it did not contain
the wcu]"ds which, in the order igsned with respect to the mother of the alleged lunatie,
nut-'l'!l;:rlserl that lady to adduce such evidence as she might think proper to lay before
the jury. Mr. Coleridge protested against any consnltation with the Lords Justices
as to what they meant by their order; but the Master said he would exercise his
own discretion in the matter. Later in the day the learned Mastey intimated to Mr.
Coleridze that he had Wri!-l:ﬂn to the Lords Justices, and had received from them B
reply to the effect that, in their opinion, the counsel for the lady alleged to be
the wife of Mr, Windham should be allowed bLoth to address the jury and to call |
witnesses. :
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MRE. E. HORROCKS, ME. W. J. WINDHAM'S CHANCERY TUTOL.

Mr. Edgworth Horrocks examined by Mr. Chambers.—I was formerly a lien-
tenant in the Laparkshire Militia, and suobsequently held a commission in
the Highland Bowlerers. Mr. Windham was piaced under my charge in
October or November, 1859, after Colonel Bathurst gave up his tutorship.
He remained with me until June, 1860. We went first to Fellbrigo:hall.
We were there some months, when we returned to London. I then
endeavoured to get him abroad, but he refused, and we went to Folkestone. We
afterwards visited Sandgate, St. Leonard’s, Ryde, and Shirley, near Southampton.
I left him in London. I had ample opportunities of noticing his state of mind,
his manners, his habits, and his conduct., The conclusion I came to was that he
was a person of unsound mind—that his mind was not in a healthy state. He
seemed to be unable to fix his attention upon any subject for more than a fow
minutes at a time. If [ were very severe with him he would read with me for a
longer period than usnal, but it appeared to be a punishment to bim, and he did
not understand what he was reading. He would read newspapers. I could not
sncceed in teaching him anything. I tried to get him.to read and spell properly,
and I offered to teach him some of the modern languages. My efforts were not
successful. He wonld learn nothing. The more I tried, the more obstinate he
became. I conld not induce him even to try to learn French or German. At times,
but very seldom, he talked reasonably. I found him to be untruthful, and his lies
were g0 palpable that it appeared to me he could not distinguish between truth and
falsehood. I conld not believe a word he said. I observed his boastful disposition,
but donot remember any particular instance of it. At St. Leonard’s he told me tha$
he had become of the Roman Catholic faith, and was going to marry a lady of that
persuasion. His words were, * I swear to God that I am a Roman Catholic.” I had
never gone with him to a Roman Catholic chapel. He had told me that he
intended to go to one with the yonng lady; but I am not aware that he went.
Upcn one oceasion, at Fellbrigg, he drove me in & dog-cart to a peighbonring
village so as to endanger my life. He drove furiously into the inn yard, and I was
Jerked ont. The shaft of the dog-cart was broken, but I escaped without bodily
injury. Ithwas after dinner, but I do not think he had dronk encugh to make him
tipsy. He was in his usnally excited state. On the same day he told persons in
Norwich and elsewhere tbat he had been collecting his rents, aund that he had the
money in the dog-cart with him, protected by a brace of loaded pistols. There was no
foundation for the statement. I remonstrated with him about this, and after I had
done epeaking he merely said, ** So you say,” using the Norfolk dialect, which he was
in the habit of doing. He was very slovenly in hia person and dress. 1 told the servants
to kt;ep his clothes clean, but he liked to go to the farmyard and make them as dirty as

" possible. Almost every day I had - to tell him to ge to his room and make himself
¢lean. He would smell very badly. One day I canght him carting manure from
the farmyard like a common labourer. There was nobody with him at the time :
he was by himself, and when I canght him he was talking to the horse in the Norfolk
dialect. He would eat like a brute. He would pull meat about when cutting it in
such a horrid manner that atlast I said I would not take my meals in the same
room with him. He ate a great deal. and was particularly fond of Norfolk puddings.
On one occasion I endeavoured to eat one myself, but it was too much for me. (A
laugh.) His manners in society were rude and boisterons. His laugh was peculiar
and disagreable, sometimes ending in a sort of squeak. It was not like the laugh
of a reasonable being. His conduct attracted attention everywhere. I allowed him on
one geeasion to go with a party of officers at Shorneliffe. They told me afterwards
that his conduct was rude and boisterous, and that they had considerable diffculty
in getting him to be quiet. At dinner partiez he would attract the attention of

- everybody, and put a stop to general converaation. He was very cruel to animals.

I have freqnently seen him ill-use horses. He wonld beat them savagely with his

whip without any adequate cause, and the next moment he might be be seen putting
his arms round their neck, and kissing them —euddling them as if they were his
children. Sometimes he was extremely kind to his servants; st other
times extremely harsh. He was always very mnoisy and boisterous,
rouning about the house and shouting. He was quiet only when he was
asleep, and then he snored. (A langh.) He slobbered at the mouth when eating.
The saliva would run into his plate and over his food; nevertheless, he would

e ————



continue eating, which sometimes made me sick. He did not often drink to
excess and the only effect which ligunor seemed to have upon him was to make
him duller and more stupid than uwsual. After meals he generally fell asleep.
He was fond of romping with the female servants, who would tréat him like
a child. He wounld often get them to carry him wp to bed. He
wns very vain, and by flattering him I sometimes got him to do what I wished.
Whenever he was introduced to a lady he began to make love to her, and in a fow
weeks, or sometimes days, would make her an offer of marriage. It made no
differance whether her chracter was good or bad. (A langh.) He was happiest in
the lowest company, and used to boast to such persons of his great property and
expectations. He also told them that there was a conspiracy on foot to defrand him
of his property—for that was an idea. whjch he entertained when I was with him.
One day he went into the Shades at St. Leonard’s and told the landlady that he
had something under his coat—which on that ncn'::aaion was a military great coat—
with which he wonld kill those who wers attempting to take his property from him.
At 8t Leonard’s he rode about in a reckless manner, so has to frighten the ladiea.
At one time he was very anxious to go into the army. I told him he wonld have to
undergo a very severe examination. He said he thought he could pass in the
classics, but he never could do anything with Euclid. I told him in that case he
might give up the idea of entering the army. He never mentioned the subject to
me afterwards, but he continned telling others that he was going into the Guards.
Upon one occasion I told him that if he did not alter his habits and conduct he
would be putintoa lunatic asylum, and all his property would be taken from him,
He began to ery like a child, and said he would become a guard or a porter on a
railway, “ and so0,” he added *“ get my 18s. a-week.” I could not control him in
any other way than by threats and severity. I was compelled at last to thrash
him. He was never quiet for a moment either in or out of the house. I do not
think he is capable of managing himself or his property. Unless restrained by a
companion constanfly at his side he would commit the greatest follies and eeccen-
tricities. His intellect is that of @ child, but he is not altogether without cunning.

Crosg-examined by Mr. Earslake—I am 32 years of age. I was educated partly
at the Charterhouse and partly in Germany. Iwas appointed tutor to Mr. Windham
by Vice-Chancellor Wood, but I do not know whether I was discharged by that
learned judge. A fow weeks after my appointment I boxed Windham’s ears, and he
flung himegelf down upon the floor. I was afterwards requested to appear before
Vice-Chancellor Wood. I cannot swear whether Mr., Windham did or did not tell
Vice-Chancellor Wood that I had struck him. I think he stated that I had
threatened to strike him. When asked by Vice-Chancellor Wood what answer I had
to make, I said ** None,” because I wanted to get rid of Mr. Windham, and did not
care what he said abont me. Mr. Windham counld read and write but indiffereptly.
I had not seen Mr. Windbam before he was placed in my charge in 1859. W:aia.nt
to Fellbrigg immediately. - While there we rode together almost daily. Sometimes
we rode to Norwich, and sometimes to the different houses in the neighbourhood.
My. Windham liked to ride and drive very fast. I like myself to go at a good pace
in the country. We did not agree very well. He occasionally pretended to be very
fond of me, but my own private opinion is that he hated me thoroughly. (A langh.)
The horse which he drove in the dogeart when I was thrown out was a rather bad-
tempered animal. It had been hired in Norwich, and Mr. Windham treated
it very savagely. Windham was fond of farming, and I told him the best
thing he could do would be to learn it, but not to go among the labourers. There
is a Roman Catholic convent at St. heonard’s. 1 did not find there were
people whom he had known at Torquay staying at St. Leonards when we were
there. I remember him telling me there was a family at St. Leonard’s whom he
had seen at Torquay. I told him I had known the same family abroad. One of the
members of it, a young lady, spoke to me in the street, and renewed our
acquaintance. That young lady was a Roman Catholic, and was the person whom
Mr. Windham said he was in love with and wanted to marry. I know that Mr.
Windham was frequently in her company. Before leaving London with Mr. Wind-
ham, I had a particular conversation with her and her mother, and during that
conversation something took place which might justify the observation—* The
young lady whom Horrocks knew would very soon gshut him up.”’ On the occasion in
gquestion she did “shut me up.” (A langh.) Windham swore to me that he had
become a Roman Cathelic. He did not merely say “I would become a Roman
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Catholie to marry that girl.” He attended church during the whole time he was
with me. He behaved quietly, and seemed to know how to conduct himself in
church. We had some shooting at Fellbrigg. Windham amused himself a good
deal in that gvay. He was a very bad shot, and I think we were about on a par in
that respect. (A Jaugh.) He was a very early riser, and took a great deal of
outdoor exercise. He was coarse in his language, I uum-atlmeﬂ swore at him myself.
(A lnugh ) He was very aggravating, and upon one or two occasions I could not
help using strong language. When I boxed his ears he threw himself down upon
the floor, buried his face ina mat, and screamed and yelled at the top of his voice.
His mother was in the house at the time. He drank a good deal of Norfolk beer
but did not smoke. When I threatened him with a lonatic asylam, I said, * Youn
must take care, for your unclé is coming back from India, and you will be put
under restraint if you do not mend your ways.” I knew that General Windham
had made his nephew a ward in Chancery. I left Mr. Windham on one or two
occasions. On one of those occasions I took him to my mother's house, and left
him there for a few days. When I returned I found he had gone away. I
traced him to Yarmonth. He was very fond of Fellbrige, and I remember telling
him at Folkestone-that if we went back to Fellbrigg I should soon die there. I left
him for one night at Rhyde. He was a month in the militian at Yarmouth, while I
was his tutor.

By Mr. Coleridge.—When I was before the Vice-Chancellor Lady Sophia produced
some letters, but I did not see them. I do not remember whether the Vice-Chan-
cellor, after reading those letters, said to Mr. Windham, “I am very glad your
mother has allowed me to read these letters, for they show that you have very much
impruveﬂ.”

By Mr. C. Russell.—Lady Sophia did not authorise me to box her son’s ears.

By the Jury.—I often spoke to Mr. Windham ahout the events of the day, and he
would give ms rational answers, but generally he would try to tu.m everything he
read in the newspapers into ndmula.

The inquiry was then adjourned,

FOURTH DAY.—THURSDAY, DE‘E‘- 19.

The adjourned inguiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. . Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed this morning in the Court of Exchequer, Westminster,
befnm Mr. Warren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury.

Mr. M. Chambers, Q. G Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams appeared for the
petitioners; Mr. Charles Rnsseli, for Ladjr Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of
the alleged lunatic ; Sir Hugh Cairns, .C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward,
for Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C.. for Mrs. Windham.

Mr, Windham, the alleged lunatie, was present during a ]:mrh::muf the examination
nfhm uncle, Lurd Alfred H'Ervﬂy Hﬁ gat beside his counsel, and conducted himself
with the utmost propriety and decornm. At some passages of the evidence a faint
emile passed over his features, and he oceasionally communicated with Mr. Karslake
while that gentleman was cross.examining the witness. Heappeared to be a young
man of considerable physical strength, about the middle-height, of a full habit of
. body, with an inclination to corpulency. He has 8 dark complexion, and wears his
hair parted down the middle. The defect in his upper lip, to which so many allusions
have been made, is partially mncmlud by a momstache, but it is still plainly vigible,
exposing some of his teeth.

ME. HORROCKS' EXAMINATION CONTINUED,

Mr. Horrocks, re-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Mr. Windham rode and drove in
a furious manner habitually, and mot only occasionally. He was also habitually
cruel to animals. I do not know whether the horse which he drove when I was
fitched ount of the dogcart was the ill-tempered animal from Norwich ornot. What

wished to convey yesterday was thatit might have been that horse; but, whether
it was so or not, I am certain that the accident arose from the furions driving of
Mr. Windham, and not from the bad temper of the horgse. Mr. Windham read the
newspapers, but he could talk about nothing he saw in them except prize fights and
gimilar occurrences. Lady Sophia on one oceasion showed me a phﬂtﬂgraph
representing her son and two railway porters, as they appeared to me, in a group.
They were standing close together. Mr. Windham was in private dress.

Crose-examined by Mr. Karslake—Lady Sophia was laughing when she showed
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me the photograph. The two strange men wore a railway uniform, and were either
guards or porters. It did not shock me to see Mr. Windham in such a photograph,
though I thought it rather eccentric. I haveseen a view of the fizht beuween Sayers
and Heenan. I cannot say that half of the younger members of the Epglish aristo-
eracy are represented init. All I know is that it contains none of my acquaintances.
(A laugh.) I do not recollect whether I read Bell's Life regularly when staying at
Fellbrigg-hall, _ _

By the Master—If I were to hear Mr. Windham conversing rationally for a short
time that would not alter my opinion as to his mental incapacity. I have seen him
behaving himself well enough for a short time. I think I did take in Bell's Life at
Fellbrigg. Mr. Windham told me he knew Tom Sayers personally, but I never be-
lieved anything he said of that kind. He certainly knew nothing about fighting.
He seemed to fear and care more abont General Windham than anybody else, and
took great interest in his unele’s services in the Crimea. - .

By the Jury—I have seen letters written by him, but do not recollect at this
‘moment whether they were expressed in a coherent manner or not.

THE MARQUIS OF BRISTOL, ME. WINDHAM'S UNCLE.

The Marquis of Bristol, examined by Mr. Chambers—Mr. Windham is my nephew.
1 am one of the petitioners. I have seen Mr. Windham at different times ever since
he was a boy, and I know his general character. When he was about seven or eight
years of age Lady Sophia wasa on a visit to my father’s house in Brighton. Her son
was with her. She seemed very anxious to keep him in order. When she came
down with him to luncheon her constant practice was to carry a little whip in her
hand. Young Windham never associated with me. I only saw him occasionally.
Shortly after Easter in the present year he called on me at my honse in London. I
invited him to dine with me. He did so twice. He behaved himself very well on
‘those occasions. He had a foolish way of langhing, and shortly after dinner he fell
‘asleep and snored. rather londly. Otherwise he conducted himself remarkably well
for him. In Augustlast I saw him twice riding in Rotten-row. The last time he
-dined with me I gave him a general invitation to lancheon, in order that, if we had
anything to propose to him, we might do so without the trouble of making a special
appointment. When I saw him in Rottén-row he had a very remarkable appear-
ance. His face wore an expression of mingled fun and folly. He was riding alone,
and bad no servant. He seemed to have a childish pleasure at being on horseback
in the Park, where there were so many people about, but I also detected an expres-
sion bordering on idiocy.

Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake—When I saw him as a boy in Brighton he was

not in petticoats. Lady Sophia and he were there for about a fortnight. The late
Mr. Windham was not with them. I do not remember whether I saw my nephew
between that time and the period of his father’s death. 1 saw him at the funeral.
The next time I saw him, to the best of my recollection, was in the spring of the |

present year. He called on me, as already stated, either in April or May. He

dined with me, for the first time, a f2w days after his visit. It was a small family
party—seven or eight. e joined the ladies in the drawing-room after dinner. He

left rather early. I do not know what he had been doing before he came. He

dined with me again about a fortnight afterwards. The party was the same as on !

the previous occasion. He went to the drawing-room after dinner. His articulation
is very peculiar, so is his laugh. I think I observed a defect in his upper lip
There was something foolish in his expression when speaking or langhing. He did
not act upon the general invitation I gave him. I mever saw him to speak to again,
nor did I ever afterwards send him an invitation to dinner. When I met him inthe
Park I was accompanied by other persons, and he passed me alone. We were both
on horseback, and recognised each other, going in opposite directions. He did
not turn back and join me. Onee or twice during the summer I saw him driving
a phaeton about town. e was driving himself.

By Mr. Coleridge—I received a note from General Windham acquainting me
with his intention to proceed in this matter, and requesting me to consult with my
brothers on the subject, and let him know the result. That was a few weeks ago.
I am not personally acquainted witih Mr. Giubilei, my sister's second husband. I
have seen Lady Sophia since her second marriage, but I think only once to speak
to her,

Re-examined by Mr. Chambers—I did not know my sister was going to be
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married to Signor Giubilei. I am not aware that when the marriage took place
Signor Giubilei was twenty-five years of age, and Lady Sophia abont forty-five.
After I had made inquiries and obtained information I comcurred in this petition,
but not befores There can be no doubt that the formation of my nephew's mouth
must have something to do with his expression, but the impression which his con.-
versation and langh made upon me was that he is not a very wise person. The
present proceedings have my entire sanction,

By the Jury—When my nephew dined with me he entered into general conversa-
tion, and, as far I recollect, talked rationally. There was nothing in his conversa.
tion to attract the notice of the servants waiting at dinner.

LORD ALFRED HERYVEY, UNCLE TO ME. WINDHAM,

Lord Alfred Hervey, examined by Mr. Chambers : —I am an uncle of Mr. Windham,
and one of his gnardians. I have known him from his birth., Before he went to
Eton I recollect his being one day at luncheon at Lord Dristol's, St. James’s-square,
Lady Alfred was present. He wanted some tart, and, instead of using a knife or

, he thrust his hand into the dish and pulled away crust and fruit together.
(A langh.) I did not see the occurrence, but he was remonstrated with about it by
Lady Sophia, his mother, in my presence. Lady Alfred told him he should have no
tart, wherenpon he seized a carving knife and rushed at her. He ran after her,
brandishing the knife. I took up the hearth-broom and hit him on the legs, not a
very hard blow, upon which he dropped the kuife, began yelling, and ran out of the
room. Lady Alfred was exceedingly alarmed. My impression was that he wanted
to strike her with the knife. I was at his father’s funeral. He was present. Before
the funeral complaints were made to me of his odd conduct. He was showing all
the tenants into the room where the coffin was and making himself very conspi-
cuous. At the faneral I thought his conduct very peculiar. In the church, if I had
not seen him, but only heard him, I should have said he was very much overcome by
grief. He cried very loudly, but instead of trying to hide his face, he stared about
him all the time. He was about fourteen years of age at that period. When I
became one of his gnardians, which was in 1848, he was allowed money from time
time, but he never seemed to have a sixpence in his pocket. His monthly allowance
—&£5—would be all spent in the first day or so, and he never could give any account
of what he had done with it. About May, 1858, I remember him staying at Lord
Bristol's, in St. James's-aquare. At dinner he behaved himself with perfect pro-
priety for him—so much so, indeed, that he gave me hopes that he was improving ;
but immediately weleft the dining-room he disappeared instead of joining the ladies
in the drawing-room. He did the same thing for two or three days running,
and we could not discover how he disposed of himself, At last I returned
to the dining.room after dinner, and there I found him with my father's
footman. He had his jacket off and his shirt-sleeves tucked up quite
high, and was helping to clear the things away. (A laugh.)) 1 never saw him
washing up the dishes. I immediatelly called him out of the room, and was v
angry with him. He did not seem to see any impropriety in what he had dome.
From his earliest years he was in the constant habit of telling falsehoods. His
untruths were always transparent, and often without an object. He gave one an
impression that he was unable to distingnish between truth and falsehood. He
always cried on very slight occasions. At Torquay, when he was 17 years of age,
it was deemed prudent to vaccinate, for the second time, every person in the house.
He cried like a child the whole morning, and we had the greatest difficulty in
inducing him to submit to the operation. We were compelled to threaten him. He
| eried like a boy of five or six when Viee-Chancellor Wood proposed that he should
be taken abroad. He never used a pocket-handkerchief, but wiped the tears away
with the back of his hand. His laugh is a silly, foolish laugh, and is often without
apparent cause. The saliva rons from his mouth and he never does anything to stop
it. He is notamenable to any influence except that of fear. In my conversations
with him he was generally rational. Indeed, while talking on common subjects,
nobody not intimately acquainted with him would be struck by anything peculiar
im his manner or conversation. I have never seen an irrational letter from him
—that is, a letter showing that his intellect is deficient. He would come to my
brother's house and behave something like a gentleman, but immediately after dinner
be would go away somewhere else and conduct himself in the most outrageous
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manner. When it was proposed that he shonld go abroad he had an idea that |
General Windham was urging the ?im-ﬂh&qcallur and 'I'Ifl]?BE]f Ll'.: get him out of the
way by poison or otherwise, in order that his uncle might obtain possession of the
estates. I attempted to disabuse his mind, but in vain. He was always on his
better behavionr with me, for I was strict with him, and he was afraid of me,
When T became his guardian there was something very peculiar in his whole com-
position. Ile was not open to the same influences as other boys. He had no idea
of the value or the use of money. I believe him to be totally lm.'::ﬂ.pablﬂ of managing
his property. His general habits and l.‘;r:mﬂuct- are such that, if not placed nnder
restraint of some kind or other, his life will be Ehnrtaljaﬂ.‘l 4

Cross-examined by Mr, Karslake—DIy opinion of him is formed, partly upon my
knowledge of him, and partly upon the affidavits submitted to the Court of
Chancery. [ do not believe that every person who has a habit which tends to
shorten life should be placed under control. I think my nephew is able to converse
about common topics—the weather, the members of his family, and so I"'-..
a few hours without exposing himself. There are many people in the world whose
tastes are few, and who do not care for book-learning. I bave never shot with my
nephew, and I haye ridden with him only once. I never heard him discuss a
matter of business with his tenants or his servants. To my own knowledge ha ¥
has been extremely peculiar from his childhood, incapable of application, restless, : |
utterly unconscious of the difference between truth and falsehood, and apparently =
not amenable to any influence except that of fear, especially of late years. When
out driving with him I have seen him change his seat from one side of the carriag
to the other more than a dozen times. 1 cannot say that I was stern with him.
concurred in the propesal of Vice-Chancellor Wood that he should go abroad, and
was vexed by his refusal. I believe he is very fond of Fellbrigg. It is possible that
I wrote to Mr. Horrocks, saying that if my vephew did not go abroad he shoe
not be allowed to stay at Fellbrigg. Itold him that if he persisted in going agai
the wishes of the Vice-Chancellor he would be sent to a tutor insome distant p
of England, and be kept there uutil he came of age. He told me that he wished
Join a militia regiment, in which he had a commission, and that it might bs
embodied, so that he might go to Canada or elsewhere. He did not com-
plain to me that hiz allowance was not sufficient to enable him to keep up hia
appearance among the other officers. I was not likely to hear of that,
There can be no doubt that he was a spoilt. child, and was badly educateds
His father was a passionate man. His mother has always petted him. A stricter
management might have been more successful. When my nephew dined at Lord
Bristol's and helped to clear the table, I am not aware that 1here was a footman im
the house who had been brought up at Fellbrige. I do not knew that he was al-
lowed, when at home, to go among the servants and do what he pleased. General
Windham and his children would come into the property if my nephew were to dia
without direct heirs. My nephew was in the habit, after he had spent hisallowanee, +
of borrowing from other persons. I have no doubt he has asked that his allowance
should be increased, but he never acknowledged having borrowed, or stated that he
wanted an increased allowance that he might not be compelled to borrow. His arti=
culation is peculiar, especially when he is excited ; and there is a defect in his upper
lip. Ido not know how old he was wheu he ran after Lady Alfred with a knife.
He was not in petticoata. 3
_ By Mr, Coleridge.—I first beeame aware of these procsedings against my nephew
in October last. The commaunication was made to me by General Windham. 'Y

By Mr. C. Russell—From 1854, up. to the time of his coming of age, my nephew -
:mt: occasionally with Lady Sophia, but he was chiefly under the government of hid |

utors.

Re-examined by Mr. Chambers—I never could get any account from him of the
way in which he spent his money. There was no reason why he should conceal his 1
expenditure, except, indeed, that he might not like to tell me how he squandered his
money in low public-houzes and such like places, IHe was continually telling me »
untruths. He was exceedingly restless, as if he had no way of oecupying his mind |
Lady Bophia often said to me that she was unable to manage him, and asked me to »
assist her. B

'Ey the Jury—General Winflh_nm has invariably treated him with great kindness. .
His parents were very fondof Lim, aud he was too much indulged.
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MR. FEATFIELD, TRATELLING TUTOR TO ME. WINDHAM,

Mr. Peatfield, examined by Mr. Field—I am.a graduate of Cambridge, and now
occupy the position of a private tutor in St. Petersburg. T was appointed tutor and
companion to Mr. Windham in J une, 15860. I travelled with him in Seotland. and
Ireland. We subsequently visited the Channel Islands, We passed several months
at Fellbrigg-hall. In consequence of something which took place there I bronght
him to London in May last. He took rooms for himself at Mrs. Lewellin’s, Duke.
- Bireef, St. James's. According to directions received from his guardians, I joined
him in Duke-street, and remained with him until the 10th or 12th of Aungust,
While in Edinburgh we lodged in-a private honse in Hope-street, Charlotte-aquare,
We staid there for about a week. His conduct was noisy and boisterous. Com.
plaints were made to me by the landlady that the neighbours had been annoyed by
his opening the windows and shouting and shrieking at the top of his voice, Com-
plaints were also made of his irrational conduct generally. T remonstrated wjth
him, but in vain. I saw him myself jumping about the room and heard his loud shonts
and yells. The landlady asked us to leave, We did so. We then went to Mrs.
England's, in Castle-street. His conduct there was the same as in Hope-street. I
Speke to him about making a noise in his bedroom, He was caterwauling in the
middle of the night. (A langh.) He said, “Well, governor, if Tom cat will bave
his sweetheart on the leads, I can’s help it.” (A langh.) T had to go to his room
“wice on that particular occasion. Mrs. England complained to me of his conduct,
and in a day or two afterwards we were obliged to leave Castle-street also. We then
proceeded to different parts of Scotland. He behaved in the streets in a way I can
scarcely describe. He would hiss, spit, shout, scream, laugh, roar out foolish re.
marks, such as, * You're a duffer,” and  I'm all there when I'm wanted” (alangh),
finishing up with what he called, « chaffing the bobbies,” meaning the policemen,
(A laugh.) He would imitate cocks and cats, the latter especially, and jump about
violently. All this would be mixed up with snatches of negro songs, such ag,—
“I'm off to Charlestown
“Bo early in the morning ;™
or,—
** We're all off to Dixie’s Land.”
(A laugh.) He never went further—a line or two at the top of his voice, and then
off to something else. These things ocenrred in the streets of Edinburgh and other
towns. On one ocecasion at Ballater he almost surpassed himself before the hotel
door. He attracted great attention in Edinburgh, where we were followed by crowds.
E& went throngh the same performances in Ireland, The landlord of the inn in
I ildare complained of his conduct. He was singing in a very lond voice snatches of
songs which he had heard in the theatre at Edinburgh during the performance of a
burlesque, called, I think, * Fra Diavolo,” at the same time dancing in & very violent
manner, and altogether making a great noise. On some of these occasions I have
geen his month positively in a state of froth. Sometimes he would, to a certain ex-
tent, be uuder the influence of liquor; at others not, I should say that liquor had
i exciting effect npon him. He drank malg liguor and wine—very little whisky.
Upon the whole, however, he drank very little when with me. He was subject to
¥iolent fits of passion. His face wonld flush, and he would use the grossest langnage.
He wonld break into these passions without apparently any cause, and while the fit
lasted he seemed unable to control himself. I was induced to leave Fellbrigg by
certain occurrences, I told Windham that he must prepare to go to London. He
agked “ What for ?” I replied, I shall not enter into a discussion with you; yon
w very well what yon have been doing, and you must come to London with me.””
® then said, “ You may go to — if you like; I won't go with youn.” Eventually
was persuaded to accompany me to London, While at Fellbrige he drove me
t frequently. His manner of driving was furions, At church he sometimes be-
hiaved well, but sometimes he would attract my attention and aunoy me. He often
eried out “ silence” to the children by way of showing his authority. On one ocea-

ks

, immediately upon entering the church door, he exclaimed, * It’s a —— fine
tng,” hurried up the aisle in a blustering manner, and slammed the pew door so
48 to make a loud noise. In the Channel Islands his conduct was nearly as bad as

8 conduct in Seotland, While lodging in Duke-street, St. James's, I was requested
¥ hie guardians to let him be his own master. On many oceasions he behaved in
&terrible manner—shouting, gwearing, jumping about, opening the windows, and
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yelling into the streets. e ate with great voracity. I have seen him choke from
his mode of eating, and he has told me he has been sick. He invited me to dinner
on a certain occasion, saying that General and Mrs. Windham were coming, but no.
body came. I do mnot think he had any idea of religion. In my opinion, he is not
capable of governing himself or his affairs. I do not think his mind is sound.
Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake.—My definition of & sound mind is a mind which
will cause a man to act in 2 rational manner. 1 was told to come from St. Peterz-
burg on last Sunday fortnight. It was General Windham who communicated with
me. I first met the General when his nephew and I came to London to join him on
his arrival from India. I went tothe Lewelling’ a day or two after Mr. Windham took
lodgings there. I engaged a bedroom for myself, and we used the same sitting-room.
His conduct there was not more hoisterons than I had seen it before. 1 was
appointed as his travelling tutor. ‘I have read very hard at times. My set at
Cambridge was not a noisy set. I have never followed the hounds in my life. If T
have heard the Ethiopian Serenaders, it must have been when I was at school. The
noise which Mr. Windham made was not intended to represent the cry of men in
the hunting field. When I said that he liked to * chaff the bobbies” I used his own
langnage. I do not think I ever heard the term before. (A langh.) He could
imitate cats very well. (A langh.) He took a great delight in * Fra Diavolo ™ and
we saw it several times when in Edinburgh. The passage which he was so fond of
repeating, and which causzed the row in Kildare, was not a song, but rather hurlusqmi: 1
lines, It ran in this way:— 4
¢¢ A hanghty ruffian sure I am "
A dab at the stiletto ; <
If any one disputes my law,
Or saysthat I aint pleasin’,”"—

here there is a line which I forget, but the whole winds up with }
¢* Pop goes hig weasand.” ¢

(A langh.) The “haunghty ruffian” danced on the stage, and at Kildare Mr. Windham
danced too, out-heroding Herod. (A laugh.) We generally took onr meals together. .
There was usually wine on the table at dinner. He took as many glasses as he
pleased. He was very fond of beer. The performance at Ballatar took place after -
dinner. At Fellbrige he drove almost every day. He was an early riser, and spent ;
& great deal of time in the open air. I cannot savy that his tastes were all for outa .
door exercises and amusements. His taste after dinner was generally for dancing uf}'l
the billiard-table. (A langh.) When he swme in church he was angry with the
clergyman for having commenced the service before his arrival. The church stands s
in the middle of the park, and Mr. Windham is the owner of almost all the pmparh'j‘i'
in the parish. Sometimes he spoke to the children when they were making only au
very slight noise, and when there was no necessity for his interference. Thas
gecurrence which induced me to take him away from Fellbrigg was his having:
been fighting with a showman. That offence, however, was only one of many whﬁﬁ
he had committed. He called me a “spy " and a * speak,” and hardly opened his s
lips to me all the way to London. From the time he went to Lewellin’s he cast
Lis allegiance to me, but T am not aware that he made noises and did everything he
could to get rid of me. He continued the noises, although I complained that they
annoyed me. I did not go to the Lewellins' for the sole purpose of watching him. .
One of my objects was to try to induce him to read. He used to read the news- -
papers, especially at Fellbrigg-hall, and he would occasionally make a comment ¢
upon their contents. When I went to the Lewelling’ I was told to keep my eye oma
him. My duty was to see how he was getting on, and to endeavour to get him ton
read, I u-ﬂLBﬁ him to read once, but once only. I did not make it my business
every morning to ask the people belonging to the house at what hour and in what
condition he had come home the night before. It is very probable that I made such &
inquiries frequently, but not every morning. 1 saw General Windham five or six
times during my residence in Duke.street. I was not in the habit of reporting to
him or to Mr, Hn?ku what Mr. Windham was déing, though I may have spoken to.
them on the subject. I left the lodgings, I think, on the 12th of Augnst. Mr.r
Windham had come of age on the 9th. I am not aware that the Lewellins are old
friends of General Windbam. I do mot think I ever said to Mr. Martins, ab
Fellbrigg-hall, that Mr. Windham had plenty of ability if he chose to apply:
himself. I may have said that he had plenty of brains if he chose to apply himself. ©
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By the Jury.—I have played whist with Mr. Windham, but only once. I do not
recollect any revokes, but he followed suit.

HKe-examined by Mr. Chambers.—In some things—railway times, for example—
Mr. Windham showed a wonderful memory. The whole time I was with him [ felt
myself in some degree of peril. He wasted his money., I have seen him act
rationally, but his conduct generally is irrational, and I am still of opinion that his
mind is ungound. When I went to the Lewellin's, General Windham requested me
| to try to induce his nephew to read, with a view to his obtaining a commission in
the army. There is not the slightest foundation for the statement that he made
his extraordinary noises at Lewellin's for the purpose of driving me away.

By the Jury.—While travelling I paid the bills. IHe took an interest in the
expenditure, and understood fully that the money was coming from his own estate.
He always said he liked me.

The inguiry was then adjourned.

FIFTH DAY—Fripay, Dec. 20. _

The adjourned inquiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed in the Court of Exchequer, Westminster, this day, before
Mr. Warren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury,

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams, appeared for the
petitioners; Mr. Charles Russell, for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of
the alleged lunatic; Sir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward,
for Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mra. Windham.

Mr. Windham, the alleged lunatic, was again present during the greater part of the
afterncon. He paid clese attention to the evidence.

ME. PARTRIDGE, A VISITING FRIEND.

Mr. Partridge, examined by Mr. Field.—I am a B.A., and graduate in medicine of
Cambridge. I now reside in Edinburgh. In June last I was residing in London.
At that time I was intimate with Mr. Peatfield, who was tutor to Mr. Windham.
Mr. Peatfield was then lodging at Mr. Lewellin's, Duke-street, St. James's,
I frequently visited him, and on those wvisits I saw Mr. Windham, and had
many opportunities of conversing with him. He langhed in a very peculiar manner
and slavered atthe month. On twooccasions he threw up the window and shrieked
out of it ; "it was not a single shriek but two or three continnous ghrieks. There was
no canse for hig shrieking. He seemed to act on a sudden impulse: The window
did not open into the street but into a yard, and I am not aware that his shrieking
attracted attention. There were windows belonging to the same house opposite.
Afier shrieking he returned to table. He assigned no reason for getting up and
acting s0. We bad no conversation about the shrieking, but we talked to him npon
other subjects. He conversed coherently. I did not observe anything very remark-
able in his talk. While eating he bent his head very much over the table, and made
a great noise in chewing and swallowing. He used te help himself to a very great
quantity. He took me out on one occagion in a mail phaeton with one horse. He
drove in a very impetuous, reckless way. We went to .Sydenham, and 1
visited the Crystal Palace with him. He got into conversation with a
| policeman there. He stood in a conspicucus part of the Palace, and

his speaking to a policeman in such a place seemed to attract a good deal of
attention. He had told his groom to meet him at the Palace door at a certain hour,
but the groom failed at the appointed time. He swore very violently when the latter
came up, and foamed at the mouth. I returned to town with him in the phaeton.
He drove back in the same reckless way. I thought from his general behaviour that
liis condition was one of imbecility.

Cross-examined by Bir H. Cairns.—I consider % condition of imbecility to be
indica‘ed by a peculiar laugh, sudden fits of passion without cause, a slovenly habit
of dress, a great desire to attract attention, and a vacancy in the expression of the
features. Mr. Peatfield was not with us at the Crystal Palace. When I say that
3r. Windham desired to attract attention, I refer to his standing with a policeman
in a conspicoous position in the Palace. It was in the centre of the transept,
where the greatest number of people were assembled. He stood with his hands
behind his back and his head stooping. His attitude \vas peculiar. I do not recollect
at what hour he had appointed thegroom to meet him. The groom did not come,
and I went to the stables to find him. Mr, Windbam bad told him to go to certain

L
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gtables. There wasno room there, and he had gone to other stables, where I fonnd
him. I had not been more than half-an-hour away when I returned to the Palace
with the phaeton. I do not remember whether Mr. Windham told me he had an
engacement that afternoon in town and was afraid he should be too late. He swore
at the groom, but I do not remember tae precise oaths he used. He drove very fast.
Two or three times we nearly came into collision Tjril'-h carriages in the road. 1*':’0
collision actually took place. I never rode in a mail phaeton before. 1 am not in
the habit of driving. My visits to Duke-street were usually at luncheon time. I
went at the invitation of Mr. Peatfield. There were only the three of us present. I
did not ask Mr. Windham what he was shrieking abount. I do not know where the
kitchen was, or whether he was making a noise to attract the attention of the
gervants. We had wine at lonch—champagne and sherry—and we all drank. Mr,
Lewellin joined us oceasionally and partook of the wine; but I never saw him take
more than two glasses. He very seldom sat down at table. He generally waited.
1 have heard he is & wine merchant. I do not know whether he supplied ths
champagne. e o
Re-examined by Mr. Chambers,—Mr.Windham alarmed me by the rapidity of his
driving. He did not appear to me to be calling to the servants when he threw up
the window agl shricked out. He attracted the atfention of the people in the
Crystal Palace. All who passed him turned round and looked at him.
By the Jury.—Mr. Windham never started a conversation with me.

MES. ENGLAND, ME. WINDHAM'S EDINBURGH LANDLADY.

Mrs. England, examined by Mr. Field—I am a widow, living in Castle-street,
Edinburgh. I recollect Mr. Peatfield and Mr. Windham coming to my house in July,
1860. They took lodgings with me. Mr. Windham behaved in such a strange man-
ner—jumping about and dancing in his room—that I thought he was not in his right
mind, and I told my husband so. He opened his portmantean and threw all his
things about his bedroom, which he left in a perfect litter. That was the first day
he was in my house. I noticed him at his meals. I waited on him, contrary to my
usual practice, in consequence of what I had seen him doing. The morning after he
came I saw him at breakfast. He was eating and foaming about the mounth in such
a way that really I was frightened at him. Mr. Peatfield asked him what he would
have for dinner. He would not tell, but langhed and jumped about the room. His
laugh was not like the laugh of any human being I ever saw. At dinner he behaved
in the same manner. He was with me a fortnight, and his conduct was the same
all through. He laughed and jumped about the whole day. On one occasion he
opened the window, almost threw himself out of it, and laughed and screamed in
his usual way, attracting the attention of the people in the street. The noise he
made was a roaring or a howling. He made a great deal of noise almost every night.
Sometimes he eried like a cat. I was at last obliged to tura him off, for I counld nob
put up with him any longer. My opinion was whenever 1 saw the genileman that
he was not in his right mind.

Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake.—I formed that opinion the first moment I
saw him, and I have not changed it since. I have kept lodgings about six years,
and the people who lodge with me are very quiet people. Mr. Peatfield and Mr.
Windbam took their meals regularly. When Mr. Windham was asked what he
would have for dinner, I dare say he said, *“I don't care a rap.” I did not langh

at him; Iwas frightened at him. At times during the fortnight I may have
smiled at his antics, but I did not langh until I was like to die. I have heard him

sing—
- ]ém off to Charleston

3 : 0 early in the morning,”
and recite the lives commencing *uu-:-il-,h-E 4

i * A hanghty roffian sure am 1.”
But I did not l_n.ugh on thoee oecasions—far from it. (A langh.) Mr. Peatfield and
he were occasionally out late at might, and I complained to Mr, Peatfield on the
subject. I told him t-hn.r: he must leave the house it they did not keep better hours ;
but the noise w;ras my principal c-!.l,}eutmn, They sometimes did not go to bed until
T,hw:a or four o'clock in the morning, and noises were made when Mr., Peatfield was
in the room as well as when Mr. Windham was alone, I generally go to bed

between eleven and twelve o'clock, but when they were with me I bad to sit up
much later.

L4
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_ Re-examined by Mr. Chambers.—It was Mr. Windham who made the nolges T

bave described. He wsed to leave his bedroom in the middle bf the night, and make
noises in the sitting-room. These noises annoyed me very much. I have heard
Mr. Peatfield remonstrating with him and asking him to be quiet. He would be
iet for a few minutes, and then go onagain. I do not think Mr, Poatfield h ad any
uence over him—not, at least, for any length of time. Mp, Windham not only
- eaterwanled like a cat, but howled like a dog, and continued doing so during the
| whole time he was in my house. My chief object in wishing them to leave wag to
| get rid of the dreadful noises. Mr. Peatficld conducted himsell with perfect pro-
priety, but Mr. Windham was very unlike any other lodger I hawe ever had.
By the Jury.—I should not have cared how late they sat in their own room if
there had been no noise. They seemed to be on very good terms.

MES. LEWELLIN—MR. WINDHAM'S LONDON LANDLADY,

Mrs. Lewellin, examined by Mr. Chambers,—I and my husband live at No. 85,
 Duke-street, St. James’s. My husband is a wine importer and agent. His office is
\in Duke-street, but he has business at the docks, In May lagt Mr. Windham came
to lodge with me. A person named Skelton, living on the opposite side of the way,
asked me to accommodate a gentloman with apartments during the races at Epsom,
I had not then seen General Windham, who had nothing to do with his nephew
coming to my house. T learnt from Mrs. Skelton that old M. Windham had
fortherly lodged with her. With the exception of certain intervals, young Mr,
Windham lodged with me up to the 29th of Augunst. I had, therefore, full oppor-
tanities of noticing his conduct, habits, and manners. I formed the opinion
that he was not in his right mind. He had a bedroom and a gitting-room at my
house. The first day he was alone, but afterwards his tutor, Mr. Peatfield, had
|another room. Mr. Windham was dirty in his habits, and would not wash himself,
My husband used to put him into a bath in a room on the ground floor. His hands
and face were frequently vefy dirty. At times, when he has been in the bath, I
have known him jump out of it and run as far as the dining-room door without any
clothes on, perfectly naked. The dining-room door is quite close to the street door.
While running along the passage he made a very peculiar noise—catealling and
howling. There were three female servants in the house, but when this happened
i€y were upstairs in the bedrooms. My husband generally got him into the bath.
room again. Upon one oecasion, at the latter end of June, I spoke to him about
coming out of the bath in the way I have described. I told him I would pot
allow such conduct in the house, and would insist on M, Lewellin sending him
away. I also told him I wonld report his conduct to General Windham,
J; that he nsed very bad language, as he had done on several previons
dbecasions, and, taking up a very large carving-knife, said he would rip me up.
(A langh.) There was nobody present except ourselves, but Mr. Lewellin was close
it hand. His exact words were, “If you dare to dictate to me I will rip up your

i I have seen him take money from

——."" Tleft the room as soon as I could.
lis pocket and throw it about in a reckless manner, as if he did not know the use
fic. On one occasion he gave his money to Mr. Lewellin, saying, ‘ Here, Bob
idley, you take this.” My husband took it, and locked it up in a separate cash-
ox. I was present on another occasion when he asked my husband for some
loney. He said “ Old Bob Ridley, lend me a sovereign.” My husband told him

8 had £30 of his. His reply was,  All right, Bob Ridley.” He unsed to buy a zood
deal of jewellery, but he generally lost it. He was in the habit ot eating with the
arving knife and fork instead of those which had been laid for him, and never took
‘meal without beating the time of “ 0ld Bob Ridley " several times on the table.

®ate a great quaniity in very large pieces, and while eativg would draw the knife
Bross his throat, as if he were cutting it, at the same time making a gurgling noise.
Miave seen him eat at luncheon until he has been sick over the table. While playing
Wid Bob Ridley” his face had an idiotic expresgion. He would cut a leg of
Mitton into slices and throw the pieces upon the cloth. He generally breakfasted at

Ml past nine or ten and would spend two hours over the meal, His favourite dish was

fiched egos, of which he consumed a lurge number. I never knew him take less than

“88t. The largest number I ever saw him eat was 12, During breakfast he would run
bey e passage, throw open a window, and make his peculiar noise. He did not dine-
Shome very often, but he invariably ordered dinner. When he dined at home ho ate
I8 same ravenous manner ag at lungheon, though not to the same extent, and
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with the ends of his knife and fork beat the same tune of * Old Bob Ridley” on the L
table. He called almpst everybody by the name of *Old Bob Ridley.” I always 1
t dinner for him when he ordered it. Sometimes he came home at 7, sometimes |
at 9 or 10, sometimes he staid out all night. I have spoken to him about ordering |
dinner and not coming home for it. His reply nsually was, “I forgot it.”” On four -
or five occasions he ordered dioner for a party of guests, but nobody came. fe told |
me on one of those occasions that he had invited General and Mrs. Windbam, Mr. .
and Mrs. Baring, Colonel Broughton, and Mr. Peatfield. At another time he eaid he »
expected Lady Sophia and Mr. Giunbilei. Mr. Windham did not come home i re. .
ceive the guests. On one occasion he returned about nine o'clock. I said to him, ,
¢ )My, Windham, nobody has come to dinner.’ Hia reply wae, “ Never mind, Boly ;
—he always called me Bob—(a langh)—*I forgot; let ns have dinner. Where i8
0ld Bob Ridley om__meaning my husband. We sat down with him. He started up
in 10 minutes, rushed out, called a ecab, and went away to the Eastern Counties
Railway. 1 do not believe he ever told me the truth doring the whole time he was
in the honse—nobt even on the most trivial occasion. I feel confident he did not
know the difference between truth and falsehood. - The luncheon time was between
half-past two and three, but if he came in at one he would say that he had ordere 1.
Juncheon to be on the table at that hour, and would stamp and swear and pui himsef§
into s violent passion. When he has said he had ordered luncheon at one o’clock TN
have sometimes contradicted him, but it was better nos to do so. He would call me
# old hog,” “old 2’ and other mames of that description. One day he took “me
down to the kitchen, and said he was willing to put his hand and arm into the fire
if T would do the same. (A langh.) He was very. fond of running down to the
kitchen and making a noise. L have seen him sitting on the kitchen table with the
ving of a toasting-fork up to his eye, like an eye-glass. On that occasion he called:
himeelf © Agnes.” He moved about on the edge of the table as if he were riding
ke a woman on horseback. He aried ont, * My dearly beloved Agnes—Agne 5,
and pretended to be riding in the Park. (A langh.) - He once or twice complained
of having lost money. He was out ab nights a great deal. I recollect his comings
nome one morning with only one sock on. _He waavery dirty, covered with soot au
dirt, and told me he had been driving an engine. Omne of his feet was cat, and e
cnid it had been done with a woodman's knife.. He was very ill; and I sent
doctor. He was as black as a sweep, his tlothes were all nobuttoned, his shiré
was open at the breast, and he was without a cravat or collar, I meves
saw him in such a state. He had been absent five days or a week. He came bach
1 think, on the 27th of Angust, about the middle of the day. He told me he ha
been down at Norwich. Mr, Lewellin pub him into a hot bath, and i
got him to bed. - He came home in Agnes Willoughby's carriage. 1 kuew it Wi
Agnes Willonghby's carriage, because it msed to come to the door and take hi
out ; and, in fact, he told me it was her carringe. I have seen him sick from ove
eating more than once. On one occasion he vomited his dinner into my lap. (4
laugh.) He used his bed like :a child, and I have often found it in a filthy state
Upon one occasion, when 1. entered his bedroom, he threw off the bedclothes 4
exposed himself. He did that first in -July, but he repeated it once or twice It
August. 1 threatened to speak to. Mr: Lewellin. He said: * Don’t do tha
don’t get me into a row; it won't happen again.” - Upon one of these occasions e
enid - # 1 will horsewhip Old Bob Ridley.”. When he came bome in the statd
T have described, he told me he had breakfasted off pickled cabbage, had eaten |
great quantity of it, and was afraid it wonld kill him. He said Agnes had rive
him the pickled cabbage, but I think that was & mistake. He wag very restess™
always on the fidget, and seratching himself in a nervous manner. He was alway
goiug to the door and following the servants, as if he were afraid of something
coming upon him. He was never quiet—constantly screaming and shouting, DIEHEH
~ and day. It was an indescribable noise. He was subject to violent fits of passSiofs
withont cause, and when in a rage used the grossest language, foaming ab e
mouth, After the excitement was over he would ery like a bellowing, noisy chiltas
and never used a pocket-handkerchief, but wiped the tears away with the back of
his hand. He snored very loudly when asleep. I found the best mode of dealing
with him was to flatter him, telling him he was a very handsome young man, & maLa
of great promise and strength. When I praised him thus he seemed pleased
laughed in a silly sort of way, and strutted about. At table sometimes he salt '
would be a very great mau, an influeniial man, a county magistrate, and a Membe

s .
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of Parlinment. By way of showing his snperiority he drank his beer out of a larger

- glass than was used by any other person at table. It was a soda-water glass., Some-

times he requested me to call him Captain Windham ; at others he said, * I ghall
thauk you to address me as ‘ My lord.'” He teld me that when he came of age he
would make great improvements on his estate, and get rid of many of the old
tenants. He was fond of being with the police, and said that as he would one day
be a county magistrate he might learn a good deal from them. He also told me he
meant to have a railway from Cromer to Fellbrizg. He would have it, he eaid,
almost up to his own park gates. He told me he knew all about the railways in his
own neighbourhood, and used to drivethe engine. He said he was particularly fond
of the guards, and was alwoys with them. He had a guard’s uniform, with ticket-
bag, whistle, belt, and ponch for a watch. Occasionally he went out in this dress,
and would be absent for some days. He made no disgniseon his return that he had
been driving the train. He sometimes talked to me about Agnes Willonghby. I
had heard of her character, I think he met her at Ascot. At first he spoke of her
as he did of other persons of light character whom he had got acquainted with in
the park. Some time afterwards it was reported he was going to marry her. On
the morning of the 28th of August, the day before he left my house, 1 had some
conversation with him on the subject. I said it was a shocking thing for him to
marry such a person, to which he replied, “I never intend to marry her, nor any
gnch I have had all I want of her, and she may stay on with Jack —*
He told me on a former occasion that Agnes Willonghby had informed him that she
was a very respectable person; that her father was a clergyman named Rogers;
that he had left her by will £600 a-year, and also money to bring up two younger
gisters; and that Mr. Lewellin conld go down to Doctors’.commons, see the will,
and so test the accuracy of her statement. She had forther told him, he said, that
she had been seduced by Lord Willoughby, and that that was the only wrong ack
ghe had ever committed. '

Mr. Chambers.—It may be ag well to state that there is not the slightest founda.
tion for this statement.

Witness continned.—I told him that I liad heard from my husband that she was
a very bad girl, to which he replied that he was the only gentleman besides Jack —
who had been intimate with her. (A langh,) I also told him that I had heard hLe
was going to settle his property npon her. He said it was ntterly false—" a pack
of lies."” He left my house on the 20th of August. I was not aware he was going
away. He did not tell me he wasg going to be married. I left town on the morn-
ing of the 29th, but before I went away I had a long conversation with him. He
assured me he had no intention of marrying; he said, *Is it likely, when I have
taken your rooms for 12 months P I have seen him once since he left me, He
came to supper at my house about five weeks ago. I thought him worse than ever.
He cried gquietly, but seemed more silly and more stupefied. He expressed hia

- regret at his marriage, I introduced the subject. I said, ‘ How could you run

away and hehave in the manner you have done ?’ He replied, “I wasdrawn into
it ; say nothing more about it.”” He was with us abont an hour. He was much
more subdued, more melancholy, and seemed not to have stremgth to make his
usnal noises. While with me I regarded him as a person of nnsonnd mind, incapas
ble of managing himself or his affairs. .

Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake—My haosband gells wine. I have not the
least idea what sum Mr. Windham has paid my husband for wines from first to
last. I thought from the first that Mr. Windham was incompetent, and yet 1
allowed him to enzage my rooms for twelve monthe, Mr. Windham had a setting-
room, a bedroom, and a lumber-room. His bedroom was changed. When he
became rather riotous we gave him a room at the back of the homse. He slept
there three nights, and then went back again to his original room. When Mrs
Windham came I had a sister staying with me. Her name is Eliza Sophia. Ehe
ia more than twenty years of age. In the early part of June I sent her to school,
with the view of qualifying her for a governess. I saw General Windham for tha
firet time about a month or six weeks after his nephew came to my honse. My
husband had known old Mr. Windham, but I never heard him speak of the General,
The General came to remonstrate with his nephew about his keeping company
with the police. I heard the General eay, *I will not allow you to keep low
company. I have given you the reins three months before your coming of age,

and I trust you will behave like a gentleman.” 1 have seen the General 2& dozen
I
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times since. T saw him three times between the day when Mr. Windham left my
house and the day on which I went to Mr. Field's office to make an afiidavir. My
sister accompanied me to Mr, Field’s. She offered to make an affidavit for General
Windham, but Mr. Field, after hearing her statement, said it was so like mine that
it would he unnecessary to put it down in writing. General Windham was present.
He did not say, when 1 had finished my statement, I am glad you have put it
that way.” When we left Mr. Field's office my sister did not say to me, * How
came you to make such false statements as those ?'’ nor did I reply, *“I have given
him it pretty strong, and his lady-love ton.” She merely said to me, “What
terrible things you have had to say! 1 am glad they did not waut poor little me.”
My husband and I swore to a joint aflidavit. i

. Here the learned Connsel handed up two letters to the witness and asked ber to
reud them carefully. After she had done so, she said they were letters which she
had addressed—one on the 30th of October and the other on the 20th of November
Inst—to her sister Eliza Sophia, who had been the destroyer of her happiness. They
had no reference, she added, to the present inquiry, but related to family matters of
& very painful and distressing character, and she begged that she might not be gnes-
tioned respecting them. Nevertheless, Mr. Karslake proceeded to interrogate her
with respect to the meaning and application of certain expressions contained in
them, but as those expressions, consisting of only a few words, could not' be made
inte'ligible to the Court and jury without a previons acquaintance with the context,
it was at last resolved that at least one of the letters should be read. Accordingly,
the witness was requested to read the letter dated the 20th of November, and she
did so with visible relnctance. The greater part of the letter was devoted to a
strictly private affair, and one, too, of a remarkably delicate nature, but towards the
close the following passage, which probably relates to the present case, o curred :—
* I hope the report is correct about youog W.'s woman having gone on with a rail-
way guard. I see the General very often, and he would like to call on you. The
trial comes on on Friday next. 7Tbe poor General is very ill. The other lotter
was not read, but from one or two words which Mr. Karslake quoted from it the
Court and jury inferred that it was similar to the one dated November 20. Mr.
Karslake, resuming his cross-examination, repeated the questions which he had
before addressed to the witness, and which related, not to the passage just cited
'bearing vpon the matter under inguiry, but to those portions of the correzpondence
which seemed to be as foreign to the Windham case as they were extremely painful
dn their character. Ananswer to one of the guestions was at length dragged from the
witness, but it was of 8o extraordinary and delicate a nature, and had apparently so
flittle to do with the real subject of inquiry, that the jury interposed and requested
that no further questions of the same kind might be put. Mr. Karslake said, that
out of deference to the jury he would not press the witness further; but he stated
that however things might look at present, it would eventually be found that every
dquestion he had wished to put was material to the case. The cross-examination was
then continued as follows :—It was in a passing conversation that General Windham
gaid he would like to see my eister. I did not go to her with Colonel Broughton to
fry to get her to give evidence agaiust young Mr. Windbam. We did go for thac
purpose to a charwoman who was in my service when Mr. Windham lodged in Duke-

street. Colonel Bronghton lodges with me. Gevneral Windham saw him sometimes,

but not often. The General never asked me to get evidence. I have said to.day
that Mr. Windham told me he would have a railway close up to his park-gates. In
my affidavit I say * bang up to his door.” The words he really used were * bang in.”
The glasa which Mr. Windham unsed at table was not a valuable and rare article
which he had brought from the Continent. It was a sodu-water glass of my own.
I never saw Mr. Lewellin putting Mr. Windham into a bata. 1 am not aware that
Mr. Windham ordered his baths to be got ready. He had a buth almosi every day,
but now and then he would not have it. I have eaid in my atfidavit that my
_ husband used to take Mr. Windham into the bath.room and get him to wash himszelf,

I say so still. Mr. Windham would not Fave taken the bath of his own accord. He
used to jump ount of bed and throw on a dressing-gown, and come down to breakfast
unwashed and uncombed. When Mr. Windham lelt the bath-room, and ran along
t.E: passage naked, | am not aware that he had scalded himself; on the contrary,
the month being June, I should say the bath wos almost cold. I saw him act thus
four times. Mr. Windham gave my husband money to keep for him three or four
times. The largest sum he ever gave him in this way was about £100. Wken Le
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‘wanted any of it back again he used to say, “ Give ns some money, Bob.,” e told
me on more than a dozen oceasions that he had lost jewellery. He has lost some of
mine. Mr. Windbam ordered divner for a party when nobody came three or four times,
He did not tell me on one of those occasions that tho party had been put off because e
was obliged to go to the country. Mr. Lewellin supplied Mr. Windham with wine—
champagne and sherry.  Mr. Windham paid the bills.  He never objected to any of the
items. I never heard him say, * Well, Bob, this is sticking it on rather too thick.”
(A langh.) He would turn over the leaves of the pass-books in a hurried manger,
but he never examined them with any degree of attention. His bed was found in
a filthy state eight or ten times. It began at the latter end of June, and in the
begioning of July was pretty frequent. Hewas not suffering from diarrhea at the
time, but was in good health. He was gober; indeed, I never saw him tipsy. He
exposed himself to me twice. When I heard that he was going to be married I sent
to the General, who said that his nephew, who was then in the country, should be
telegraphedjfor. I may havetold the General previously that his nephew was going
about with Agnes Willoughby. Everybody knew that. The General used to ecall
at my house to see his nephew. He never eame except for that purpose. We have
served the General with wine for several months past. We commenced to do so
before the marriage. Mr. Windham did not tell me that he had borrowed the rail-
way uniform from one of the guards. When he supped with me after his marriage
he looked like & man whose feelinga had been greatly injured. Formerly he was a
man of exuberant spirits.
The inquiry was again adjourned.

SIXTH DAY.—Barvrpay. NEec. 21.

The adjourned inguiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed this day in the Court of Exchequer, Weatminster, before
Mr. Warren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury.

Mr. M, Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams appeared for the
petitioners; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Bophia Elizabeth Giubile1, the motheér of
the alleged lunatic’; Bir Hughb Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward
for Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, .C., for Mrs. Windhawmi.

Mr. Windham was present nearly the whole of the day. He joined in the langh
which oceasionally arose in court, but at certain parts of the evidence, to which it is:
unnecessary to make any more particular allusion, his face slightly flushed and he
dropped his eyes to the ground. Generally, however, he kept them steadily fixed
on the witness, except when he cast a glance at the jary or whispered a remark in
the ear of his counsel. He seldom, if ever, looked round to the andience, though he-
by no means evinced any anxiety to avoid observation from that quarter. Once or
twice he seribbled a note—writing very fast—and handed it to his solicitor, who

~ was sitting below him. Perhaps it would not be incorrect to state that more than
one guestion was put 1o the witness in cross-examination at his suggestion. -

MRS, LEWELLIN—COXTINUED.

Mrs. Leweliin, ecross-examined by Mr. Coleridge.—While Mr. Windham wag
with me I occasionnlly made his bed myself. It was sometimes made by the:
honsemaid, Sarah Raymond, sometimes by a charwoman named Partridge, and
sometimes by a girl named Kate Babbage. It may also have been made, thongh
not often, by my sister Eliza Sophia. The sheets were given out to wash. Onpe of
the washerwomen—23re. Brown—would not wash Mr. Windham's linen upless [
gave her a double price. There was champagne drunk at luncheon. I do pot
know whether my husband drank any of it. My husband ie a most sober man,
and never behaved as if he were drunk after luncheon. He is a passionate man—n
Welehman—and generally showed his bad temper after breakfast. (4 langh.) We
were continually quarrelling abont the conduct of Mr. Windham, but we never
quarrelled about my husband's conduct to that gentleman. 1 never said to Mr.
Lewellin, * You are sucking the poor boy dry, and as long as he has any money left
yoan will stick close to him.” 1 went to the charwoman, Mra. Pritchard, about this
case twice, once with Colonel Broughton and once with Mr. Wood, a clerk to the
attcroeys to the petitioners. When I saw her with Mr. Wood I asked her whether
she recollected that Mr. Windham was in the habit of making a mess in his bed.
Bhe replied, “ No, I did not see it.” 1 then said to her, I nsed to set it straight
before yon eame up.” BShe did not say to me, *“Oh, no; you could not have done



38

anything of the sort. What she eaid was, “0Oh, did you?’ I did pot the bed
straight by changing the sheets. The dirty sheets of course went to the wash. I
changed the bed myself three or four times while Pritchard was in my service.
On those oceasions I made the bed as far as the under sheet, and then left it so.
The rest was done by Pritchard. When I saw Pritchard with Colonel Bronghton I
told her we had a large dinner party, and asked her to come to assist. I did nof
eay to her, “ That blackguard Windham has married & worthless woman, and she
is going to bring him a child, and we want to do what we can for the General.”
Nor did I say “If you will come and speak against Windham, and say
he is a pgorger, the General will put you and your husband into a
good position; but you must keep it quite quiet.’ I pever said anything
approaching to that. I did not even say, “The General will put me and my
husband in a good position.” When I went to Mr. Field’s ofiice to have my
evidence taken down, my sister accompanied me. The General came in for about
five minutes, spoke to Mr, Field about business, and then went away to write
letters. He did not gay to me, * I am much obliged to you for the capital evidence
you have given ; I have never heard half of it before.” He said nothing of that
kind., My sister did not say, *“ No, nor I;* in fact, she did mot open her mouth.
The General did not say, pointing to my sister, *this little woman wounld help us
too, but she is nervous, and might break down in cross-examination.”” He did not
utter any words conveying that sense. Mr. Field did not thereunpon say, * It does
not at all matter, because one is enough.” What the General said was, * You see
this Girl has been at the Lewellin's so short a time, and I think it so unpleasant
what she would have to say, that I will dispense with her.” Mr. Field replied, * Oh,
yes. That is what passed, there was nothing mere. My sister was prepared to
state all she knew.” She had =aid, as I was making my statement, * Yes, that is all
correct, as far as I know.” She offered to state all ghe knew, and it was then the
General interposed and said he would dispense with her. After writing his letters
the General returned to the room to speak to Mr. Field, but he did not stay all the
time I was giving my evidence. 1 was present when Ir. Windbham came to my
hiouse to supper after his marriage. I think it was in November, but I cannot say
whether it was before or after I made my affidavit. My husband is agent to Barnes
& Co., Wine merchants, Lincoln’s-inn-fields, and also to John E. Liberty, 3, Spring-

rdens. I do not know that he sold to Mr. Windbham wine to the amount of £30

r Jokn Edward Liberty in August last; nor am I aware that on the 16th of
September he sent to Mr. Windham at Fellbrigg-hall wine to the value of £260 for
Barnes & Co. I know nothing about the wine business. I do not remember
mentioning to Mr. Field anything about my husband sending wine to Mr. Windham.
Myr. Windham never ordered me out of his bedroom or sitting room. He never said,
*“ Come, you had better go away to your dear old baby.” I have no claim against

1

Mr. Windham, bat my husband has. I have no idea what the amount of that

claim is. y
Be-examined by Mr. Chambers,.—T discharged Kate Babbage, one of my servanta,
becanse she went to bed with Mr. Windham in my house. 1 think I know how the
counsel for Mr. Windham have got possession of my letters to my sister. The fact
is that Roberts has got hold of my sister for a bad purpose. I sent her to a school
with a view of qualifying her for n governess, but she left it without my knowledge
or consent. I have called on Loberts three times. The first time I went to hmm
was early in November. My sister was with me. Mr. Windham was there at the
time, I saw Roberts. DMr. Windham came out into the hall, and Roberts followed
him. Roberts said,* What is it? What is it, Windbam ?* Mr. Windham replied,
“ Oh, only my landlady from Pall-mall. I bhave told her that her account was left
with my sgolicitor.” He meant my husband's account against him. Roberts said,
“Oh, oh, all right.” Roberts and Windham then turned into the dining-room, and
we came away. On the second occasion I went along with Mr. Wood. I saw
Roberts and J lr. Windham together in the hall. They both eame out when the
strect-bell w 8 rung, without waiting to see who it was. Mr. Windham said,
“ Your husband's account is at my solicitor’s, Mr. Davis,” and he gave me Mr.
Davis's address, Clifford-street, Bond-street. He then began putting on his driving
coat a8 if he was going out. The third and last time I went to Piceadilly by my-
gelf. I wished to see Mr. Windham. Ag first Roberts refused to allow me to sea
him. I told him my business was with Mr. Windham, and see him I must. He
gaid, *“ You shall not come dunning here.,” I said, % I have not come dunning, bub
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' ‘zo ask Mr. Windham a question.” After some altercation, he said, «Well, if yon

~don’t want money, you may see Windham.” Previous to this he had locked the
- street door. I asked him to open the door and ecall some one in to hear what I waa
~going to say; but the page-boy still kept the door locked. At last Roberts went
~apstairs and brought Mr., Windham down, as if he were a keeper over him. [ then
~went into the dining-room with Mr. Windham alone; the door was half ajar. I
~asked him to come to Duke-street, as' Mr. Lewellin wished particularly to speak to
‘him. He said, “I will come; bubmy wife has run away. - The Jews have got hold
of hev, and she is now locked up in Glasgow gaol.” That was all he said. There
is not the slightest fonndation for saying that General Windham ever offered me a
‘single sixpence. He has charged me most particularly to speak the truth correectly,
and has never made me an offer of any kind. ;
By the Jury.—Mr. Windham was not beset by duns and people with unpaid bills
‘at my house.  Henever added up the accounts. I gave him; never objected to any
of the items ; never evenlooked at them. I neversaw any written invitations issued
by Mr. Windham for the various dinners he ordered. He seemed to suppose him-
self almost the richest man that ever lived; in fact, according to him there was no
‘end to hiz wealth. He never entered with me into the particulars of his income.
I did not luse any of my lodgers in consequence of the riotous conduct of Mr. Wind-
‘bam ; but I had complaints irom them. I did not show Mr. Windham's accounts
to the General or anybody else. When Mr. Windham ordered dinner for a party
‘of gussts he did not tell me what to provide. I prepared whatever I thought neces-
‘sary. Althongh no gunests came the dinner was not wholly lost. We used the ma-
“terials in the house, and made a corresponding reduction to Mr. Windham. f
By the Master.—He was not in the habit of breaking things. He was always
wvery gober, and would never touch spirits. When he told me the Jews had got hold
of his wife, and she was in Glasgow jail, he spoke of it in a casual and indilferent
“sort of way. :
ME. D. LEWELLIN, THE HUSBAND OF THE “ LANDLADY."

Mr. David Lewellin, the husband of the last witness, was examined by Mr. Field.
He said, the behaviour of Mr. Windham while lodging in Duke-street was not like
that of a person of sound mind. It was at times unbearable. Mr. Windham vsed
to whistle, scream, howl, caterwaul, sing, and jump about like'a madman. He was
& most excitable being, and during his meals would soddenly start up and rush oub
~of the house as if he had not another moment to live. On those occasions he wonld
rush down the etairs to the imminent danger of his neck, leaping from one landing-
place to another like & madman, and sometimes falling flat on his back. His habits
were very dirty, and he could with difficulty be persuaded to wash himself. He was
also very passionate, and in his fits of rage, which were often withont any adequate
cause, he would foam at the mouth, swear, stamp on the ground, and otherwise act
more like a wild beast than a hnuman being. The noises I have described were heard
in the night as well as during the day. For several nights I was annoyed by a
peculiar noise which I was unable to account for. It was like that which might be
produced by a cat shutup in a room in great distresa. I inquired of my neighbonrs,
richt and left, bot conld get no information on the subject. At last, to my profound
astonishment, I discovered that the noise was oceasioned by Mr. Windham, who had
shat himself in the bath-room, opened the window, and amused himself by eater-
wauling like a cat in the middle of the night. (A langh.) His conduct was other-
wise very eccentric. Sometimes he would have his bath warm, at others cold.
Often while in the bath he turned on the hot water until the temperature was much
higher than it ought to be. I have seen him come out of the bath-room perfectly
naked. On one occasion I took up a carriage whip which was hanging in the hall
and used it on his person. He threw about his money in a reckless manner. One
day he would have £20 or £30, and the next day he would not have a shilling.
He has borrowed money of me frequently. Whenever he had any loose money,
which he did mot want to take out with him, he used to give it to me to take
care of it for him. Sometimes when I had money of his in my possession he
would ask me for a loan, as if he had forgotten all about it. He would say on
these occasions—** Come, Old Bob, I must have a pound or two."” On one occa-
gion, when he asked me for the loan of a sovereign, I told him I had £30 of
his, which he had given me the day before, IHe said, “Oh, old Bob is very
Bouest ; all right.” IHe lost a good deal ofjewellery, and smetimes in the middle of
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the day. He seldom, if «¥ r, spoke the truth. e once iold me that a hurdle had
been placed across the ru.u to upset him while on his return to Fellbrigg-hall from
Norwich, whither he had taken his tenants fora treat ; that he himeelf arrested the
offender “like a London detective ;" that he proseeuted him at the Assize Court in
Norwich, addressed the jury in an eloguent speech, and wus complimented by the
Judge ; and that the prisoner was sent to prison for fonr vears. (A langh.) 1 bhave
geen Lis bed in a filthy state once, and have had to sapply him with clean shirts
twice. He was in the habit of using rery bad langunge—profane and obscene. He
foamed at the mouth in bed, and while sleeping looked like a lomatic. (A langh.)
He was extremely vain, and wished to be called Captain Windham. He told me
that he first met with Agnes Willonghby and Skittles in Rotten-row.  8kittles” ia
the sobriquet of a notorions woman. Oneday he came home and said he had had a
Jolly row with Skirtles about Agnes Willoughby; that he had ordered Skittles to be
turned out of the Park ; that he had bullied her well, and let everybody know who
and what she was. He also told me that he had known Agnes Willonghby, and
that on going to her house by appointment on one occasion he had found another
man there. He has had his clothes sent to her house, intending to sleep with her, buot
when he has got there he has been obliged to return home again, somebody else being
with her. Once, npon my telling him what a bad char :cter Willonghby was, *“ Oh,” he
said, * Agnes is not the woman you mean : the person you refer to lives at St. John’s-
wood.” T replied, * There is no mistake about it ; Agnes is the woman.” He told
me that her father, who was a clergyman, had left £500 or £600 a-year, and that I
could see all avout it by going to Doctors’-commons. I assured him I had known
her myself on the town for years, and that she had ruined many aman. He told me
that only two gentlemen besides himself had been intimate with her, one being her
sedncer and the other a visitor. When I beard that he was going to marry Agnes
Willonghby I spoke to him on the subject. He laughed and said, “I only want her
for a time.” Shortly before he lefc my house I told him I had heard that he was
going to settle his property upon her. He replied, It is o —— lie; I have had
enoungh of the ——."" I am positive, from all I know of him, that he is not eapable
of managing himself or his affairs.

Cross-examined by Sir H. Cairns.—1 have occopied the honse in Duke-street for
about twelve months, It was built for me, I bave kept chambers for gentlemen
for about five years. T have been in the wine trade since 1846. Before that date T
wag butler and steward at Sir George Cayley's, in Yorkshire. I kuew old Mr.
Windham about 1850. 1 was sent to him by Mr. Barnes, the wine merchant,
to receive payment of a bill. When I first became acquainted with yonns Mr.
Windham I did not know any other member of his family. I statedin my aflidavit
that T koew all the members of the Windham family for many vears. What 1
meant was that I knew them by name, and on the books at Barnes and Cos,
Lincoln's-inn-fields.  Mr. Windham agreed to give me two guineas a week for his
apartments, an additional charge of 7s. beinz made for attendance. While he was with
me there was four different male servants in the house. They slept on the premises,
brushed the clothes and shoes, cleaned the plate, waited at table, and did every-
thing that was reqnired of them. I waited at table when there was more than the
servant could do. T often brushed Mr. Windham's clothes, and, in fact, may be
said to have acted as hig valet. The first agreement he made with me lasted till the
firest of July. Mr. Peatfield came immediately after Mr. Windham. He asked
whether there had been a room taken for him, and I replied * Yes,” for Mr. Wind-
ham had spoken to me about it. That room was not included in the two goineas
a week. 1 charged Mr. Peatficld £1 4s. a week for his bedroom, and about 3s. 6d.
for attendance. Oun the 1st of July Mr. Windham took his room by the year. The
terms were £100 a vear, exclusive of Mr. Peatfield’s bedroom, which, however, ¥
have charged to Mr. Windham. The baths were charged separately—a shilling
each. It was agreed that whatever wine Mr. Windham wanted he shonld have it as
the wholesale price. The champagne was charged 60s. per doz. 1 attended Mr. Windham
in the bathroom. He never talked to me of experiments with a Turkish bath, but he
would sometimes take a hot and cold bath in quick succession. Ihave seen him make
the bath so hot that nobody could bearit. I never saw him Jump out on account of tha
extreme heat of the bath, but T have seen him do so when the room was full of
steam. 1 have seen him come out of the bath-room half a dozen times with nothing
but his shirt on, and once or twice quite naked. My office is on the same floor
with the bath-room. Mr. Windbam sometimes left his clothes in my office; but I
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pever engoested to him to leave them there in order to save him the trombla of
going upstairs. 1 have suggested that some of his clothes should be leit in my
woffice. The clothes he put on in my office were part of those which he afterwards
‘wore during the day. 1t was not necessary for him to come out of the bath-room
to call for towels, or for me. There was a bell inthe room. He has frequently
left the bath-room naked, or only with his shirt on, when the street bell was rung,
/dn ovder to see who it was. He did that repeatedly, as often as twice a weelk, during
the latter part of the time he was with me. His conduct at last became quite
mnbearable. If I were to say that I have seen him come out in this condition a
‘hundred times I should not exceed the truth. He was exceedingly indelicate. He
was on very good terms with me. He told me all his affairs; he was very familiar
with me, and we joked nnd langhed together a good many times. He had one horse
of his own, and I hired others for him from a person named Robins. He drove
about in a phaeton until he smashed it. He did not get into a passion when I
whipped him, I did not wish, of course, to hurt him. He took it very quietly. I
did not flourish the whip over him by way of joke. I am not aware that he treated
it as such. I did not. 1 believe he got money sometimes from a banker, but I
never saw him with a check-book. He never paid me with a check. He frequently
borrowed money from me when I had none of his in my hands. I remember
supplying  Mr. Windham with wine at Fellbrigg-hall. I did so on
different occasions, but I did not supply him with any large quantity
until he came of age. He ordered a large quantity from Barnes and Co., on or
about the 20th of August. Agnes Willoughby waa with him. I was present, and
introduced him to the elerk. I neither gave nor shall I get a commission upon that
order; but I shall probably be remunerated by a reduction in the price of some
wine which I have had for my own house. The wine sent to Fellbrigg-hall has
not been paid for. 1 believe the amount s wpwards of £200. The cellar at
Fellbrigg-hall was perfectly empty when Mr. Windham came of age. 1 have
myself supplied Mr. Windham with champagne direct from the docks. It was sent
to Fellbrigg-hall. He asked me for it, considering it very cheap and good. OUn one
occagion I gent him twenty cases; and 1 have supplied him with small guantities
at other times. I also supplied him with some cases of claret and brandy. He
has likewise had wine from Mr. Liberty. The money he got from his banker was
generally gone in an hour. When he was in a passion it was almost daogerous to
go near him. He would stamp and sweoar and threaten to kill any person who
gpoke to him. I have seen him bite his nails and lips until the blood has come.
I am quite positive he told me that he himself addressed the jury down in
Norwich, and that he was complimented by the judge. If there is a statement in
my affidavit to the effect that he told me what his counsel said to the jury, all [
can say ig that it is not true, and that I do not know how it got there. I have no
doubt I read my affidavit before I swore to it. I was not aware it was made for
the purpose of enabling proceedings to be taken against Mr. Windham. My opinion
was that the intention was to protect him from the vilg bands into which he and
his property bave fallen. All the letters written by Mr. Windham to me I have
given to General Windham, or rather to his solicitor. I may possibly, also, have
given some letters addressed to Mr. Windbam. 1 delivered up all the documents
and papers which I could find in hisrooms. I have supplied General Windham with
wine three times. The first time was in July last, when I sent him, by the erder
of his nephew, a dozen of champagne on trial. Afterwards [ sent him eight dozen,
and about six weeks ago I sent him six dozen. He has also had a dozen of
| brandy. These are all the dealings I have had with him. Ido not know who
brought the General to Duke-street on the might when his nephew came to sup with
me after his marriage with Agnes Willoughby. I did not send for him on that
occasion. My impression is that he was brought by Mr. Corbellis, one of my
lodgers, for the purpose of giving him an opportunity of eaving his mnephew.
Young Mr. Windham never objected to any of the items in his bills. He mnever
gaid, when I showed himthe entries in the pass-book, “Come, Bob Ridley, this is
laying it on rather too thick.” He always acted liberally with me in everything.
During part of the time Mr. Windham was in Duke-street I had a sister-in-law
named Eliza Sophia staying with me. I do not remember her taking charge of the
house while my wife was at Ramsgate, but she was found sitting on the bed with
Mr, Windham, and I remémber turning her to the deor.
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EE‘FEHTE DAY —THurspay, Dee. 26.

Thva mi]nm'naﬂ inquiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. . Wmtlham of Fal,]bﬂgg,.
finll, Norfolk, was resnmed this morning, in the Court of Exchequer, Wautmmabmg
hafara Mr. Warren, (Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury. 1

Mr. M. Chambers, Q. 'D Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams appeared for the partp
tioners ; Mr. Charles Russell for La&y Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of the
alleged ]ﬂ.tlﬂhlﬁ Sir Hogh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, ().C., a.ml Mr. Milward for
Mr. Willinm Prederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windham.

The Master zaid—I am mcreu.amgly anxious about the lﬁngth to which this in-
quiry must inevitably extend. The present ia the seventh day of sitting, and we
have not yet averaged more than three witnesses a day. I hope we will get on
quicker in future, and I for one will do everything I can to shorten the inguiry. I
bave made arrangements which will enable me to sit de die in diem until the case ig
concluded, and, if the parties wish it, I am prepared to sit every day from 11 u'cimk
in the forenoon till 7 in the evening.

MR. LEWELLIN'S EVIDENCE—CONTINUED.

Mr. Lewellin, cross-examined by Mr. Coleridge.—I was at one time waletto Mr.
Barnes, wine merchant, Lincoln’s-inn-fields. Some years ago I had two houses in
Pall-mall—one at No. 45, and one at No. 16. Mr. Barnes occupied the first floor at
No. 16. * Other apartments in the same hounse were let to Mr. John Henry Smith, of
Smith, Payne, and Smith’s; and to Mr. Price, M.P., for Gloucester. 1 have nine
sigters-in-law. Several of them visited me occasionally when I lived at No. 16.
One—Caroline Priscilla—stayed with me about six weeks before she died. Whila
she was there nono of my apartments were occapied by a young man who is since
dead. None of my lodgers furnished any part of the house. After leaving Pall-
tnall' T went to Gilston-lodge, Brompton. Mr. Parsons, an old gentleman, lived with
me there. DMy sister-in-law, Eliza Sophia, visited us occasionally at Gilston-lodge:
Sometimes she would stay a fortnight, sometimes a month, sometimes six weeks, or
two months. Mr. Parsons kept two carriages. One of them was occasionally used
by my family. Blizn Sophia sometimes went ont in it.

Mr. Coleridge.—Was she in the constant habit of using it? :
- The witness.—I refuse to answer any more of these questions. I am here to give
evidence in the Windham case, not to speak abont my family affairs.

The Master.—The jury arg apxions to know, Mr. Coleridge, whether your gues-
tions are relevant to the ease before us.

Mr. Coleridge.—They are most relevant. : ¥

Mr, Chambers.—Yet none of them were put to Mrs. Lewellin.

The Master.—The jury are satisfied with your statement, Mr. Coleridge, and ]on
may proceed with Iﬂnrﬁ: -examination.

. M. Coleridge.—It is important that the credibility of the witness should b-E
thoroughly tested.

Cross-examination resumed.—Eliza Euphm was not in the constant h.a'i::t of gmng
out in the carriage. She went only when I allowed her to doso. Now and then
she may have gone out with Mr. Parsons. She did not go to dinner with him aé
Richmond. Mr. Parsons died when I was at Gilston-lodge, but he was not living
with me at the time. When he went away he touk his furpiture with him, with the
exception of some things which I bought. He had some pictures, but he took them
all away. IHeleft my house through Eliza Sophia. She did not leave at the same
time, but I sent ber away. From Gilston-lodge I removed to Duke-street. I have
#old wine for Barnes and Co. for twenty years. I do notget a commission, buk
the wine I require for my own hounse is supplied at butt price. 1 have also sold
wine for Mr. Liberty, Spring. gnr&eua On the Gth of August Mr. Liberty supplied
Mr. Windham with 36 dozen of wine. On the 16th of September I gave Barnes and
Co. an order to send to Fellbrigg-hall wine to the value of £260. About the 20th
of Aungust 1 supplied Mr., Windbam with ehampagne to the value of £80 direct from
the docks. I wasa defendant in anaction, * Smart v. Lewellin.” A set of swindlers
had robbed me of £100 or £500, and they concocted a suit against me while they
were in Whitecross-street prison. The jury found for £150 damages. It was &
common jury, and my counsel sold the case. (A langh.) I was not asked to cive
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, but T insisted .upon going into the box and being heard. The damages
paid for me, and I did not lose a single farthing. 1 was also defendant in o
( ty Court suit, “ Dignam v. Lewellin." There was a claim made against me for
*}_ I was sworn, and gave my evidence. The judge decided the case agninsg
l“_;, but that was becanse I told him I would pay the money. e did not say he
wougzht I should be indicted for perjury.  The plaintif’ was my sister-in-law, Elim
hia. She was put ap to it by her brother, and did it out of spite becamse L
tarned her out of my bouse. Afterwards I got a letter from her; saying she waa
mad when she raised the action against me. Isaw Dr. Babbington at my house
once. He was brought by Agues Willoughby, who called him her family doctor (a
langh) ; and he saw Mr. Windham, who was then suffering severely from diarrhoea.
I did not sny anything to him about Mr. Windham's state of mind. When I tele-
graphed for Mr. Windham I did so at the request of Mr. Chappel, hie mother's
golicitor, who told me it was most important that he should be in London. I may
have informed Mr. Hook that I had sent for Mr. Windham, but I am certain that I
did not communicate the fact to the General. :
. Ro-examived by Mr. Chambers.—Mr, Windham was in the constant habit of
leaving the bath-room partially naked when the street bell was rung. On one
occasion he came out quite naked, and ran as far as the dining-room door, which is
close to the street door. Sometimes I had great difficulty in- persnading him to
re-enter the bath-room. When using the bath, part of his elothes—coat, vest, and
hat—were left in my office, but his shirt and trounsers were always taken into the
bath.room. I had known Mr. Parsons since my boyhood. No claim has ever been
made against me in respect of any furniture which I have of his. 1 turned Eliza
Sophia ont of the house because she would not attend to what I said to her. It was
then she proceeded against me in the County-court. -
By the Jury.—Mr. Windham never added up the entries in his pass-book to
ascertain whether the sum total was correct. - I may have shown hia bills to his'
relatives, General Windham and Mpr. Hook. I never saw Mr. Windham the worse
for wine except once. He was very seldom visited by gentlemen of his own age
and condition in life. T supplied Lhim with wine at the wholesale price. 1 had no
licence for the sale of wine. He was not in the habit of ordering things in from
shops. He was not beset by duns. When he came out of the bath-room in the way
I have described he wusually had his shirt and trousers on, but the latier were
unbuttoned. About a fortnight or three weeks after he came to my house I told
Mr. Hook, one of his guardians, that in my opinion he was not right in his mind.
By the Mastes.—Mr. Windham never complained of the amount of his bills. I have
no doubt I conld have overcharged him with impunity if I had been inclined to do so.

i THE REV. T. J. BATY, AN OCCABIONAL YISITOR.
« The Bew. T. J. Baty, examined by Mr. Huome Williams, eaid he was a clergy-

education and management of boys. He was requested by Mr. Hook to iake
charge of Mr. Windham, but he declined, and recommended Mr. Peatfield, an old
dollege companion.  He visited Mr. Peatfield in Duke-street and had many oppor-
tanities of seeing and talking with Mr. Windham. On one occasion, in May, he saw
Mr. Windham alone. The latter came into the room with nothing on except a
dregsing-gown, which was very loosely thrown about him. He was in an excited
state and told witness that he was engaged in a serious business with the detectives.
He said it was impossible for him to mention it, as it was a private matter. He
then sat down and wrote a note. After he had done so he told the witness in a wild
way that Sergeant Joy, of the detective force, was following the steps of a lady
with whom he was engaged. He said he believed she was unchaste, and he had
employed Joy to discover the truth. He mentioned the lady's name; she was a
lady of position, and had since been married to an officer in the army. Witness saw
Mr. Windham on several other occasions. His manner of eating was most offensive ;
g0 much so, indeed, that witness was once unable to remain at table. ' One day Mr.

Windham jomped up from the table, and, with a shriek, drew a knife rapidly across

his throat, at the same time making & horrible grimace. His talk was wild and
incoherent, and his language coarse; he was an habitnal swearer, and seemed
‘unable to distingnish between truth and falsehood. Witness reproved him for
swearing, but, though he was excessively cowed for the moment, the reproof had ne
ufrther effect upon him, He was in the habit of running about the house, throwing

s

man and resided at Roehampton. He had considerable experience in the'



44

up the windows, and hooting and howling like a madman. Witness believed him
either Lo be insane. or at least to have a very weak mind. Some of his lies werg
useless, causeless, objectless, Witness heard him relating to Mr. Lewellin how ha
had arrested a man down in Norfolk, and how he had been complimented upon the «
fact by the magistiates, who told him that he was evidenily a London policeman
and not a common country one. (A laugh.) 0
Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake.—I have been in the Church since 1555, and |
have known Mr. Hook for about three years. The first time I saw Mr. Windham s
to speak to him was after he went to Duke-street, when I saw him with nothing §
but & dressing gown on; he apparently came from his bed-room. Hes
spoke of the lady as a person to whom he either had been, or was at that time »
engaged—] am not certain which. He was much excited. At the end of aboug
twenty-five minutes he left the room for a short time. When he returned he was s
partially dressed. Some time afterwards I was in his company for about an hour, |
but I do not recollect anything particular happening on that occasion. He was in
the habit when at lunch of beating the tune of “ Old Bob Ridley "' on the table with
the ends of his knife and fork. I do not know the song of * Old Bob Ridley,” nor dos
I recollect him singing—
¢ Oh, the first time that I got a licking,

1 was in the field at the cotton picking

It made me dance and made me tremble—

By golly it made my eyeballs gingle.” ¥
(A langh.) I never heard those lines before. I can give you no instanee of what I !
have called his useless, causeless, objectless lies, He told me so many that really 4
forget the details of any one of them. During the time I used to visit in Dukes «
street T saw Mr. Hook once. I met himin St. James's-street. After the marriage
of Mr. Windham in August Mr. Peatfield stayed with me at Roehampton for a
six weeks, and then went to Russia.

ELLEN MOORE, ME. LEWELLIN'E COOE.

Ellen Moore, examined by Mr. Chambers, said I was in the service of Mr
Lewellin as cook and kitchenmaid when Mr. Windham lodged in the honse. One
day about noon I saw Mr, Windham running along the passage guite naked, and
making a great noise—shounting and catealling. I used to poach from four
eight eggs for his breakfast. He ate more like a pig than auything else. Emrargl
times 1 have cooked dinners for himself and a party of friends when nobody came. .
I didn't think him in his right mind.

Cross-examined by 8ir H. Cairns.—Mr. Windham was the only person I ever saw *
ont of hiz mind. I never heard any one who could imitate a cat so well as Mr. |
Windham. (A langh.) Mrs. Pritchard, the charwoman, was not in the house af
the time I saw Mr. Windham running along the passage naked. I did not look
eee whether the bath-room was full of steam.

MR. CORBELLIS, A LOLGER AT ME, LEWELLIN'S.

Mr. Corbellis, a clerk in the War-office, was examined by Mr. Field. He said 1
have been lodgiog with Mr. Lewellin since January last. I have mever spoken
Mr. Windham, but have heard him shouting, swearing, and laughing in & vacanb
gort of way. His langh was that of a luuatic. On one oceasion I heard
Lewellin saying hie would take the horsewhip to him. There was a noise in t
passage as of some one running about at the time. When Mr. Windham went 0 |
Duke-street to sup after his marriage, I volunteered to go for the General. b ofe

Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake.—I had never been at the General's residenes
in Eaton-place before. I have never been in the same room with Mr. Windham |
when he was Hhﬂuting and ]aughing; nor did [ know him by ﬂight. Mj' notion of |
& lunatic 18 a man who cannot be allowed to go about with safety, A man ng
be able to read Horace and Virgil and pay his bills, and yet be a lunatic. I have 10 |
doubt, from Mr, Windham’s laugh, that there is something wrong in his head. -

By the Jury.—The Lewellin's house was generally well-conducted, and no attempt
was cver made, a8 far as I know, to impose upon the lodgers. e

M. SCOTT, SOLICITOR, AYLESHAM,

Mr. W. H. Beott, solicitor, in Avlesham, Norfolk, was examined by Mr, Williamas.
«He gaid, I have known Mr. Windbam since 1845, and have occasionally acted pros
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fessionally for his father. I early formed the opinion that he was a boy of weak
intellect. That opinion was founded upon his extraordinary excitement in play, his
sudden and unreasonable fits of passion, and the peculiarly vacant expression of his
face when in a state of repose. Iwas at old Mr. Windham's funeral, and saw the
gon going about among the people, welcoming them almost in a joyous manuer,
and asking them with a delighted expression of conntenance whether they would
like to see the coffin. In the church during the reading of the lesson he gave a cry
which resembled the cry of an animal in distress. It was a manifestation of grief
uncontrolled by reason. At the mansion-house, after the funeral, he was as cheerful
and careless as ever. I spoke of his conduct at the Windham ovation in Norfoll:,
and related the particulars of his fight with a showman in Aylesham, as described
by the postmaster of that town. 1 saw him himself shortly after the fight, and
described him as sitting on a chair with his hands on his knees, crying, the tears
running down his face unchecked, and his whole expression denoting utter mental
prostration. I have no doubt that he is a person of deficient intellect.

- Cross-examined by Sir H. Cairns.—I believe that in Mr. Windham instinctive
impulse when excited is not under the control of intelligent reason. Arp animal
might have reasom, but men only have or should have, intelligent reason. The
reception of ideas throngh the senses and acting upon them is a process of reason,
but intelligent reason deals with a higher class of ideas, such as comparison, which
may be wholly independent of the senses. Thus, an intelligent being ean compare
the intellectnal powers of two men without seeing or touching them. The writing
of a letter stating facts which have occurred, and drawing inferences from them, is
& process of intelligent reason, provided the inference were rational. Mr. Windham
might write a letter of that kind, for he is not totally devoid of intelligent reason,
but he is not capable of any sustained thought. He has enough of reason to form
a conviction, but his conviction, so to speak, has no memory. It does not fix itself
in his mind, or influence his conduct. For example, he might be convinced that he
ought to baoy a certain article on account of its excellence and cheapness ; but just as
likely as mot, instead of acting upon his conviction, he would parchase anything else
which might happen to catch his eye. For the same reason he would continue
dealing with a man whom he knew was cheating him.

By Mr. Coleridge.—I have comparatively recently noticed the peculiarly vacant
expression of Mr. Windham's face when in a state of repose. On one oceasion, when
Mr. Peatfield and myself were engaged in a discussion about the state of the soul
after death, Mr. Windham's face became quite idiotic in its expression. (A laugh.)
He evidently did not understand a word of what was said, and at last fell asleep in
an arm-chair. (A laugh.) The discusgion continued for a considerable time, and
Mr. Windham did not awake until it was finished. (Great laughter.)

. By the Jury.—If Mr. Windham has asked me to transact business for him he
would not have done so except under pecunliar circumstances. Mr. Windham is not
a mun to be trusted. I would certainly not have made his will without taking the
advice of medical men. ;

The inguiry was again adjourned.

. EIGHTH DAY.—Fripay, Dee. 27.
 The adjonrned inquiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed this day in the Court of Exchequer, Westmiuster, befors
Mr. Warren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury.

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hame Williams appeared for the
petitioners ; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of
the alleged lunatic; Sir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward
for Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, ).C., for Mra. Windham.

ME. ATKIY, BOOTMARER, OPERA COLONNADE.

Mr. Thomas Atkin, examined by Mr. Field—I am a bootmaker in the Opera
Colonnade, and have known Mr. Windham since the 28th of May last. Siuce that
date I have made seventeen orsighteen paira of boots for him. On one oceasion he
ordered two sets.of trees for every pair of boots. I did not comply with %the arder,
because I thought it was unreasonable. His conduct, as far as it came under my
observation, was of a rather random character. He used to shout aud howl and
utier bad language in my presence. When I refused to supply him with two sets
of trees for every pair of boots, he got into a violent rage and exclaified, © You ——
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old fool, can't I have what Ilike?' On one océasion I gave £4 toa servant in
Duke.street, with directions to hand it to Mr. Lewellin. She gave it to Mr. Windham

in mistake, He sent for me to talk over the matter, and when I had explained how ¢
the mistake had arisen, he said to me, *If yon don't stand a bottle of sham'— .
meaning champagne—* I will shoot you.” I implored him not to do so, for I wished 1
to live a little longer. He then presented a pistol at my breast, but I do not s
think he intended to do me any mischief; it was a mere frolic. In the month of f
November last I saw him with Roberts in Piceadilly. Mr. Windham had ordered a s
pair of boots from me, end I took them home. As scon as he saw me hes
burst into a furions passion, and called me bad names. Roberts was even worse tham s
Mr. Windham, and told me that he would not allow me to come dunning there. At
length Mr. Windham suddenly broke into a laugh, and said, addressing me, *
right, Bob; all right.” I believe, from all I have geen of him, that he is inca
of managiog himself or his affairs.

Croszs-examined by Mr. Karslake.—I have not brought my beooks with me, bu
can easily get them, Mr. Windham was recommended to me by Mr. Lewellin as
good customer. Shortly afterwards I called of my own accord on Mr. Windham
and at that first interview he gave me an order for a pair of Balmoral boots, for
which I charged him £1 18s. Since then I have supplied him with Wellington boo
shooting boots, top boots, and cricket shoes. After his marriage I had a bill agai
him of about £37. It was paid by a soliciter in Golden-square, to whom [
referred by Mr. Windham himslef. Before Mr. Windham gave me any order for
I had supplied him with three or four pairs of boots. When he ordered two sets
trees for every pair of boots, he did not tell me that he lived sometimes at Fellbri
hall as well as in London, and that he wanted one set of trees for each place.
made four sets for him, but if I had executed all his orders I should have snppli
him with about forty sets. (A laugh.) Mr. Windham, in fact, had trees for alll
kinds of boots, ekcept dress boots. The latter heing of patent leather did not re--
guire trece, and Mr Windbham did not order any. 1 made an affidavit in Linceln’s-+
inun-fields, but I do not recollect whe asked me to do so. I think I received a letter =
from the solicitors to the petitioners. I see the following passage in my affidavit :—~
“He burst into a violent rage without any provocation on my part, swore at mes
furiously, presented three different pistols, one after another at me, and =aid he»
would shoot me.” That refers to the scene which I have already described. Imu
point of fact 1 only saw two pistols, and the statement in the affidavit that thersy
were three is a mistake. oo |

lie-examined by Mr, Chambers.—When Mr. Windham threatened to shoot me if1
did not stand a bottle of champague, I complied with his demand. (A langh.)
requested Mr. Lewellin to give us a bottle of champagne, and paid him 5s. forit. ¥
was frightened at the time, althongh I think it was only a frolic on the part of Mr. .
Windhar, becaunse the pistol might have been loaded unknown to him.

By the Master.—1 have had, unfortunately, too many young men of fortune
fashion as customers, If oue of them had ordered two sets of trees for one pair ol
boots, I should have regarded such an order as very strange, even though I mig
not have had any reason otherwise for suspecting the sanity of the person giving t
order. A gentleman might, of course, very reasonably order two sets of trees, pro-
vided he intended to use one set in the country and the other in town. Asa matter
fact, however, I never made two sets of trees for one pair of boota. '

RICHALD ROBINS, GARDINER AT FELLBRIGG-HALL. |

Richard Robine said, I have been a gardener at Fellbrige-hall for forty
One Sunday in October last, upon returning from the grapery with Mrs. Windham,
I found Mr. Windham in the pantry with two of the men-servanis; one of t
latter, who did not appear to be sober, said he was determined to leave; and Mr. .
Windham, as far as I could observe him, did nothing but laugh. Mr. Windham J
took me np to a room, and, instead of giving me a glass of sherry, which Mre. .
Windham had ordered for me, insisted upon my taking o glass of brandy, which he ™
gaid would do me more good. &t

‘ MR. J. BREESE, LANDLORD OF THE BLACK BOY, AYLSHAM. ::‘;

Mr. James Breese, the landlord of the Black Boy Hotel, in Aylsham, said, I saw ¢
portion of she fight between Mr. Windham and o showman in the market-place of {
that town. It occurred on a Sunday, Mr. Windham drove into the market-place »
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lkI a post-cart, and zoon got invelved in an altercation with the men belonging to a
Eanagaria of wild beasts., I saw him throw himself into a fichting attitede.
One of hig antagonists was a woman, who brandished a tin pan over lis head, and
when in the act of retreating, overpowered by mumbers, Mr. Windham thrast his
elbows throngh a window, He eventually took refuge in tho post-office. At one
time Mr. Windham often hired horses from me. He always rode and drove
furiously, and at last I refused to let him have any of my animals. On the
occasion of a ball in Aylsham Mr. Windham had a squabble with the police, and,
in describing the occurrence afterwards to me he gaid, * The peelers wanted
to prevent me from getting intothe inm yard, but I would have driven over them

il they had not got out of my way.” I do mnot think Mr. Windham capable of
| managing his own affairs.

- Cross-examined by Sir H. Cairns.—I bave still a claim against Mr. Windham
for the hire of horses, The account has been sent in. I never drove with Mr.
Windham. :

MRE. JAMES HOLDEN, INSFECTOER OF THE C DIYVISION, METROPOLITAN POLICE.

~James Holden, examined by Mr. Chambers.—I am an inspector in the C
division of the metropolitan police, and have known Mr. Windham for about two
yearz., 1 have seen him about in the streets and elsewhere. From the manner in
which he conducted hifnself I have formed tke opinion that he is a man of weak
intellect. I do not mean to say that his mind iz unsound, but he is weak and
imbecile. I have heard him shouting in the streets, pretending to be a policeman,
and trying to move people off. He was fond of associating with the police, nnd,
especially within the last three or four months, has often tried to force his com-
pany and conversation upon me. I have seen him walk up to a group of persons
in the street and say, in the voice and manner of a policeman, ** If you don’t move
off from here, I will lock yom up.” The parties have moved away, principally I
suppose, becanse they saw me with him. (A laugh.) No complaints have ever
been made to me about him. Two or three months ago he teld me that his
mother had married a young man, and that they and the old General wanted to rob
him of his property. He was crying at the time, the tears flowing from his eyes,
and a sort of froth or foam running from his mouth. He did not nse a handker-
chief, but wiped his face with the cuff of his coat. I told him to go home—it was
in the Haymarket, about twoo’clock in the morning—and then left him. At the
end of June or the beginning of July he told me he wes about to be married to a
Miss Windham, a consin of his. One evening in October he uccosted me in
Stafford-street, Bond-street, and requested me to ask the soperintendent to allow
me to go down to the country toyapprehend his wife, because she had robbed him
of diamonds to the value of £30,000. He was crying like a child, and =aid every-
body was trying to rob him. I did not believe him, of course, and told him ho had
better speak to the snperintendent himeself. He was slobbering at the mouth, and
looked very dejected. '

Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake.—It was part of my duty to visit the night-lonses
in and about the Haymarket. Mr. Windham never accompanied me on those visite,
but I have often seen him in the houses when I went to them. He liked to assume
the authority of a policeman when walking with me in the streets. I have heard
hira ordering people to move off two or threetimes. I have been eleven years in the
police force, and never knew any of the Windham family. I have always lived in
London. There is not a noisier place in London at night than the Haymarket, with
the exception, perhaps, of the Ratcliffe-highway on certain occasions. Most of tho
night-housea are in that quarter, and they usuvally *keep it up” till three or four
o'clock in the morning. It was in.the Haymarket, between one and two in the
morning, that he told me he waa about to be married to a Miss Windham. I may
have stated in my affidavit that he told me he was actually married to Miss
Windham. I am not quite eertain which version is the eorrcet one, but my
ympression is that he told me he was about to be married. -1 see it stited in my
aflidavit that he wanted me to go down to apprehend his wife in Norfulk, becanse
ghe had run away with jewellery to the walue of £13,000. I do not know how tue
statement came to be ingerted. What he really said was that he wanted me to go
down to the country, not mentioning any particular place, to apprehend his wile
becanse she had robbed him of diamonds to the value of £30,000. :

_Lie-examined by Mr. Chambers.—If Mr. Windbham had given me a charge I should
hiave taken no notice of it, unless his statement had been corroborated by other




upon him. He was always different from the other young men in the Haymark :

His conduct was childish. I have seen him in night-houses with prostitutes and

gentlemen ; but he always behaved himself pretty well in those places, at least when

1 was present. '
By the Master.—Mr. Windham never appeared to me to be under the influence of

lignor. I am not aware that he ever put on a police uniform. i
By the Jury.—He never attempted to obstrunct me in the execution of my duty.,

48 |
f—eons. He is a person of such weak intellect that no dependence can be p\ﬂt% :

™ The police do not allow shouting in the Haymarket at night, but Mr. Windham isa

privileged being on account of the state of his mind. I generally saw him in tha
company of prostitutes. I formed the opinion that he was a person of weak intellecs
almost from the first moment I saw him.  He introduced himself to me by taking
hold of my arm and asking me to have some champagne, -addressing me as “old
fellow,” and “jolly cock.” (A langh.) All of a sudden he changed his tone and
appeared as if he were about to ery. I never had any champagne with him. ;

MR. H. WHEATLEY, DETECTIVE OFFICER IN NORWICH.

Henry Wheatley, examined by Mr. Field.—I am a detective policeman in Norwich,
Before I joined the police I was a railway inspector on the Eastern Counties line,
and sometimes acting as gnard. I have known Mr. Windham for six or seven years,
and for a long time saw him constantly on the platform of the railway station. Ha
was generally called “ Captain,” because, I suppose, he was known to be a nephe
of General Windham. (A laugh.) I have frequentls seen him ronning up and down
the platform, shutting the carriage doors, and telling the passengers in a loud ton
of voice to take their seats or they would not get on with the train. I have often
seen him get into the break-van. His manner was always very wild. After T.
became a policeman I saw Mr. Windham at a ball in Norwich. It was on the 20t
September, 1560. He conducted himself very badly, shouting and bawling. He
came up to me, said that he would give me half-a-crown for my whistle, and that if
I would let him have it he would blow it in the ball-room, “ which,” he added, * will
eanse a jolly spree.’”” He has often stopped me in the streets and shaken hands with
me, generally asking me whether I had seen his faney girl. When Blondin was
performing in Norwich I saw Mr. Windham walking up and down the road in front
of the place set apart for the performance, and heard him tell the people he was a =
London detective. In his conversation he would wander from one subject to another.
1 have often travelled with lunatic patients, and from what I have seenof them and
of him my opinion is that Mr. Windham is not in a sound state of mind, or fit to
manage himself or his atfairs, - ; '

Cross-examined by Sir H. Cairng.—The patients I have referred to were alwayas
quite quiet, but Mr. Windham was jost the reverse. (A langh.) I do not know:
whether he was * chaffing” when he told the people at Norwich that he was a
London detective. What he said was, *I am a London detective.” Since I
left the railway I have seen him on the engine and in the break-van, but not when
the train was in motion. I never saw him actually drive aa engine. He was very
fond of being at the railway, and I have seen him acting as porter. I cannot gi
you an example of kis wanderings in conversation.

By the Master.—I am not aware that either the police or the railway authorities
remonsirated with him at apy time. I never saw him intoxicated, or dressed.in
raflway uniform.

BARAH RAYMOND, MR, LEWELLIN'S HOUSEMAID,

Sarah Raymond, examined by Mr. Field.—I was in the service of Mrs. Lewelli
a8 honsemaid for five weeks in July and August last. I did not see much of Mr
Windham, but I often heard him shouting, swearing dreadfully, and jumping about™ |
the honse. Once I heard him make a noise like a cat after all the people in the |
house had gone to bed. I used to collect his things for the wash; they wers
always very dirty. Sometimes I made his bed. I often found it in a filthy state, as
if a child had slept in it. i

Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake.—Mus. Pritchard, the charwoman, was in tha
house for about a week when I was there, and she helped me to make the beds
during that tim2. Clean sheets were not put on Mr. Windbam’'s bed every
night. When the sheets were removed, they were stained a little, and his shirta
and drawers were etained in the same way. I know he was suffering from
a very bad disease at the tiare, and, except on three or four umsiaus”

A ————
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..?ﬁe stains were from that canse. On those excepted occasions he had nsed the bed
“like a child. I believe he was taking medicine in large quantities.

MR. W. BUTCHER, LAND SURVEYOR, NORWICH.

Mr. W. Butcher, examined by Mr. Williams.—1I am a land surveyor and valoer in
Norwich. InOctoberlast Mr. Chappel, the solicitor, who told me he was acting in tho
matter for Mr. Windbham, employed me to value the farms on the Fellbrigg estate.
I was told, at the same time, that large sums of money were due by Mr. Windham,
and I was directed to mark all the trees which might be felled withount injuring or
disfiguring the property. The survey occupied four days, and at the fourth day I
#poke with Mr. Windbam for the first time. I asked him whether the bailiff or
woodman had pointed oat to him the trees which I had marked. He replied in a
very hasty manner, “ You have been too quick; I have sold all the trees for
£5.000, and am to get £500a month.” He said he had sold them to a Government
contractor, and had signed the contract the day before. 1 told him that he shounld
not have done any such thing, and that he had ruined the Fellbrizg estate. He
shrugged his shoulders and said, in an extroordinary sort of way, “1 have made a
very good job; don't you think so?" I told that there were not £3,000 worth of
trees on the estate which ought to be felled. ** Ab,” he said, * You have not been
in the Runcton valley ;" referring to a portion of the settled estates with which L
knew he could not meddle. He did not say anything to me about the price per
foot, nor did he seem to understand in the least the nature of the contract he had
entered into. He suddenly called for two bottles of wine, and I drank a glass
and then left him. BSince then I have not spoken to him, but I have seen him
frequently at the railway. He appeared to act as a goard, and [ actually saw him
on one occasion tnrning the steam on at the Windham station, a few miles from
Norwich. He seemed to be delighted at what he had done. I have often seen
him opening the carriage door when the train arrived at the station. The oak on
the Fellbrige estate is very fine timber and should bring an average price of about
2. Gd. per cubic foot. October is not a proper month for cutting cak. In taking
the girth of a tree it is not usnal to measure it at two-thirds of the length from
the butt-end. By that mode of measurement the purchaser would get an advantage
to the extent of about 25 per cent.

Croes-examined by Sir H. Cairns.—In July or August last, land near Sudbury
which belonged to the late Mr. Windham was sold by the trustees for £65,000.
There has not heen much timber sold of late years off the Fellbrigg estate. 0ld Mr.
Windham was very particular about the trees, and would not allow any to be cut.
When I went over the estate in Oclober, I found aegreat many trees lying on the
ground which had been blown down. I did not take any account of them. Alto-
gether, I marked 536 oak trees, and estimated their value at £2,586. I also marked
a number of ash trees, chestnuts, beeches, limes, and sycamores, estimating their
value at £306 53. Mr. Windham gimply told me that he had sold the timber; he
did not particularise the oaks. SBome of the oak trees I marked should have been
cut long since; thirty years ago they would have fetched double the price they will
now. There is a large quantity of sweet chestnuts on the estate, some beeches, and
a few sycamores, and a great deal of fir. The beeches would not fetch more than
from 6d. to 8d. per foot; the chestnuts might be worth 1s. Gd. per foot, the syca-
mores from 6d. to 8d., and the fir from 8d. to 10d. There is a considerable number
-of young oaks on the estate; they are ot included, of course, in my estimate ; in

fact, it would be a great sin to cut them. They are from fifty to sixty years old,
and, with the exception of some to the north, don't want thinning. In Norfolk
timber iz generally sold for ready money. I made an affidavit at the request of Mr.
Hansell, a golicitor in Norwich. I do not know whether he acts professionally for
General Windham or the Marqguis of Bristol. p

By Mr. Coleridge—I know that Mr. Hangell is receiver of the estate, acting for
Caprain Henry Windham. 1 do not know for a certainty that General Windham is
one of the trustees. 1 am not aware that Mr. Hansell and General Windham were
over the estate the day before Mr. Windham came of age. -

se-examined by Mr. Chambers —1 carefully marked every tree, onk and others,
which I thooght onght to be cut down. A contract which stipulated that oak
timber trees should be paid for at the rate of 12d. per cubic foot, string measure,
for all above 13 inches square, and 8d. per cubic foot for all under 13 iuches
&quare, would not be a reasonable agreement. The sum to be paid for trees above
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13 inches sqnare would be 1s. 6d. per foot below the average market priee, and the
sum to be paid for trees under 13 inches square would be about 10d. per foot below
the average market price. I should say that 6d. per cubie foot for all other kinds of
trees about 14 inches square would be rather too little. The market price wonld be
about 2d. per foot more. [It was understood that Mr. Chambers in asking these
auestions was quoting from the contract signed by Mr. Windham.] 1 marked alk
the small trees which T thonght ought to be taken ont. When I went over tha
estate I did not find that other persons had marked any of the trees.

Ey Sir H. Cairns.—I cannot tell you what a fair average price per foot wounld be,
supposing a purchaser were to bind himself to take all the trees of every kind on the
cstate, The Fellbrigg estate consists of about 3,000 acres. All the timber is in the
park, and at the back of the hall.

By the Jury.—So that, if all the trees had been ent down, Fellbrigg wonld have
been left a barren spot near the seashore. I think Mr. Windham is very incom-
petent to manage a property.

H2

BERGEANT OLIVER OF A DIVISION, METROPOLITAN FPOLICE.

sergeant Oliver of the A division said, I have known Mr. Windham for about eizht-
een months, and have frequently seen him in night-houses in the Haymarket
and its neighbourhood. He was generally in the company of prostitutes, screeching,
shouting, and making merriment for the bystanders. He used to address me
as “old fellow,” and once serionsly invited me to a champagne dinner. He
told me that when he came of age he wounld give a grand treac to the police. He
always appeared very excitable, and I treated him as I would a scheolboy. At the
volunteer dinver at Wimbledon in July last Mr. Windham got on the top of a posé
uear the principal entrance, and shouted and swore, and uttered cther kinds of
offensive langnage while ladies were passing in their carringes. I remonstrated with
him, and persuaded him to go away. On one oceasion, about ten o'clock at nighi,
while a section of police were crossing Jermyn-street, Mr. Windham drove apin a
phaeton in a forious manner, and the men were obliged to scatter themselves as
quickly as possible. He cried, *—— your eyes ; geb out of the way, orl will
sun over you,” and kept straight on. I saw him alight in Duke.street, but npoa
being asked for an explanation of his conduct he merely said, * Oh, it's all richt,
old fellow ; it's only me.” (A langh.) He appeared much excited, and I took no
further notice of him, becanse I considered him a person of unsonnd mind and
treated him as such. One morning at three o'clock, about twelve months ago, I mek
him in the Haymarket. He was crying like a child and slavering at the month.
Some givls were following him, and I took him down a by-street, and wiped his
eyes, checks, and mouth, which were all in n slobbering state. All he said was,
“ My girl has run away from me,” or something to that effect. I did not think
him eapable of managing himself or his affairs.

In cross-examination” Sergeant Oliver said, to the best of my recollection T first
met Mr. Windbam in the summer of 1860. At that time I used to gee him three or
four times a week in the Haymarket night-houses. Ilis practice was the same
during the first half of the present year. It was probably the race time when Mr.
Windham drove through the police in a phaeton. .

Re-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Mr. Windham did not act like other youngz men
in the Haymarket. Iie yelled and shounted, cried like a cat, howled like a dog, and
made himself a perfect buffoon. The women ridienled him more than others.

By the Jury.—If I had heard that Mr. Windham had committed a murder, o=
something of that kind, I shonld not have been surprised, because I have always
looked upon him as a person of unsound mind, and one who cuuld not be held
responsible for bis acts,

The inguiry was again adjourned.

NINTH DAY —Sartvkpay, Dec. 29,

The adjourned inguiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrimg-
hall, Norfolk, was resamed this day in the Court of Exchequer, Westminster, befure
Mr. Warren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury.

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr, Hume Williams appeared for ihe
petitioners; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Ginbilei, the mother of
the alleged lunatic ; Sir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Kurslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward
for Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windham.
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The Master, on taking his seat on the bench, said that {o write private letters tn
any one exercising judicial functions was most improper. almost amounting 1o a
misdemeanour. He trusted that he should not have occasion to refer to the subject

n.
Mr. W. F. Lawrence produced a timber contract, dated the 25th of October, 1861,
and purporting to be signed by Mr. Windham.

Mr. Chambers asked his learned friends on the other side to acknowledge the

uineness of the signature, but they refused to do so, wherenpon

Mr. Hansell, solicitor in Norwich, was called upon, and proved the handwriting of
Ay Windham.

The clerk then read the contract as follows :—

* Detober 25, 1861.

« William Frederick Windham, Esq., of Fellbrizg-hall, Norfolk, agrees for himself,
his heirs, snccessors, and assigne, to sell to William Francis Lawrence and Walter
Joseph Fry, of 10, New Broad-street, London, the whole of the timber which may be
«eat on his Norfalk estates duriog the next four years to the extent of not less than
#£5,000 per aunum, and on the following conditions :—The oak timber trees to be
paid for at the rate of 12d. per cubic foot, string measure, for all above 13 inches
-aquare, and 8d. per cubic foot for all cak timber trees that may be under 13 inches
sguave, and for all other kinds of timber trees about 14 inches square at 6d. per
eubic foot. The trees to be taken by the buyers as they now are and stand, the lep
and top branches and bark to be the property of the buyers in consideration of their
paying all expenses for felling, &e. . . . The measurement for the girth to be
taken (clear of the bark) at two-thirds from the butt-end of the tree, and for the
length, by two parties to be appointed, who are to choose an umpire before they
begin to work, to decide in case of dispute. Mr. Windham agrees to give free ingress
and egress to the buyers, their men, horses, &c., for the above purposes, and to let
them a piece of land of four or five acres at the rate of £1 per acre. This contract
only to be binding on the payment of £1,000 into the hands of Mr. Windham, and
the remainder in monthly payments of £350 per month, commencing from Janunary,
1862. Timber trees which may be required to be cut down, and which are under
10 inches square, to be agreed for afterwards, as the above contract does not con-
template any trees being cut down of small size unless absolutely necessary.

“W. F. WixpHAM.
“ Witness to the signature of W. F. Windham, Egq. :—
“ AcweEs Wispmaa,”

MR. H. SANDFORD, LAND AGENT AT CROJER.

Mr. Henry Sandford.—I am a land ngent at Cromer. For the last ten years I
have been in the habit of valuing timber on the Fellbrigg estate. The proper value
«or market price, per cubic foot, of cak timber trees, above thirteen inches square,
string measure, is about 3s. and not 12d. I will undertake to find a purchaser at
Ba. It is nota fair and reasonable mode of measurement for the girth to take it at
4wo-thirds of the length from the butt end of the tree. That would give an advantage
to the buyer of about twenty-five per cent. The *“lop and top,” without the barl:,
would pay the expense of felling, I believe that the effect of selling timber off the
Fellbrigg estate to the value of £5,000 per annum for four years would be to clear
dhe ground entirely, and leave the house bare.

Cross-examined by Sir H. Cairns.—I bhave bought beech and fir felled on the
Fellbrigg ecstate, but not oak. The extent of my purchases of beech has nos
exceeded £50 or £100 a year. 1 have bought fir to the value of £30 or £10 at a time,
During the lust few yeara I have gold for the owner a great deal of timber off the
Fellbrigg estate. In 1860 I sold 250 loads of cak—windfull timber—for £5.a load.
In 156GL [ sold about 30 loads at the same price. That was clean timber, or trees
glear of the bark. There is a considerable number of beeches, chestunt, and firs on
the estate. The beeches are principally in the ornamental part of the grounds.
Duaring the last two yenra the market for all kinds of timber except oak has been
glatted in consequence of the great hurricane in 1855. The Fellbrigg beeches might
be sold at Gd. per foot, the purchaser to fell and take the faggot wood. I have
known from £100 to £150 worth of beech sold off an estate similar to Fellbriz:s in
one year. That is the largest quantity I have known sold in twelve months. Some
«of it was used for piles in constructing a breakwater. I have sold £100 worth of
‘Becch per annum for five years off an estate belonging to Lord Suffield. The trees



54 %

were selected with a view to thinning the timber, and not becanse they were the besg
trees. I do not know what wounld be the expense of carting timber from Fellbrigg
to Norwich. I cannot say how many cubic feet there are of beech, of fir, or of cak on
the Fellbrigg estate. When I stated that oak could be sold at 3s. per foot, I meant
simply the market price of cak without any reference to any other stipulations of a
eontract. I cannot say what would be a fair or reasonable price per foot for all the
fellable timber of every kind on the Fellbrigg estate. Some of the beeches in the
park at Fellbrigg are over ripe, and are more valuable as ornaments than as timber.
I have not been in the habit of selling timber to Government and I am not acquainted
. with the terms of Government contracts. 1 usually sell to middlemen, and the
Aovernment contractors come and select what they want. The largest quantity of
tvimber I ever sold was off the Hanworth estats, one of the Windham settled
estates. It was all oak timber, and was sold for £5,000. The sale was made about
five years ago, when the price was about the same as at present.

Re-examined by Mr. Chambers.—If that part of the eontract which stipnlatea
that for four years, to the extent of not Jess than £5,000 per annum, timber may be
cut down, were carried out, all the beech trees on the Fellbrigg estate would be
levelled. The larger portion of the beeches are crnamental timber, and the effect
of felling them wonld be to destroy the beauty of the estate entirely. About half of
the chestnuts are ornamental. There are only o few aycamores, but they are orna-
mental where they stand in the open. 1 believe, however, that the larger proportion
are in the wood. I have never known so large a contract as £5,000 pe. annum for
four years being made in Norfolk. It is not judicious to make an agreement on the
basis of prices during a temporary glut of the market. I believe there will be a better
market in 1862 for beeches, cheatnuts, and other kinds of timber.

By the Jury.—I am satisfied that the * Jop and top,” without the bark, wounld pay
the expense of felling. There is a large number of young trees on the Fellbrigg
estate. They ouzht to stand fifty years longer before being cut down. I do mos
think the Fellbrigg estate requires a large clearing out of its timber. If the contract
signed by Mr. Windham were carried out, there wounld be very little timber left for
the ordinary estate. :

By the Master.—Fellbrigg-hall is a large house, and the trees aronnd it are
picturesquely dispersed. The park is about 700 or 800 acres in exteunt; it is
partially grazed. There are no deer. The pasture of the park is let with the arable
land. The ornamental timber stands in that portion of the park which is nearest
the mansion-house.

SERGEANT EAY, C DIVISION, METROPOLITAN POLICE.

Sergeant Kay, of the C division, said he had known Mr, Windham for twelve or
eighteen months, and had often met him about the Haymarket and its neighbour-
hood. On those oceasions Mr. Windham was in the habit of catching him by the
arm, addressing him as “ old fellow,” langhing, and throwing himself into a fighting
attitnde. He was always very noisy, and indulged in strange bursts of langhter
without any apparent cause. Scmetimes he would seize hold of persons in the
streets, and order witness to take them in charge. Witness wonld say, “Oh, non-
sense,” and Mr. Windham would then burst into a foolish langh. The men whom
he wenld thus attack knew him pretty well, and seldom took any notice of him.
On the 13th of October witness met Mr. Windham in the Haymarket between twelve
and two in the morning. Mr. Windham said, * Well, old Kay, I would treat yon,
but I have no money.” He then put his hand inte his pocket, and took out what
witness thonght was a £10 note, and immediately broke into one of his unmeaning
langhs. He attracted the attention of the people in the street, and witness, advising
him to take better eare of his money, at length induced him to go home. On another
occasion last summer, while visiting one of the flash-houses in Panton-street, witness
found Mr. Windham talking with the landlady at the bar. He pointed his finger at
witness and cried * Here are the Bobbies;” and when witness turned to leave the
house Mr. Windham struck him violently with a whip or stick on the back. Witnesa
shook his head at him, but he merely langhed at him in his usual way. The reason
why witness did not take him into custody was that he did not think he was right
in his head. None of the police ever took any notice of him.

Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake.—It was between twelve and three in the morn«
ing when witness saw Mr. Windham in the house in Panton-street. Witness did
not know whether he had dined, but he never saw him the worse for drink. When
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witness advised him to take care of his money, he put the note which he had been
flourishing about his head into his pocket, and walked away.

ME. WHITESIDE, CORNET, 18TH HUSSARS.

Mr. Whitegide.—I am a cornet in the 18th Hussavs. I was slightly apquainted
with Mr. Windbam at Eton, He used to laugh, shont, and scream without any
apparent cause or object, and the boys cailed him “ Mad Windham.” His dress
and person were always very dirty. In August, 1859, I was at Lucerne. Mr.
Windham eame up to me, slapped me on the back, and asked to be allowed to
travel with my party. His reguest, when backed by Colonel Bathurst, was acceded
to, and Mr. Windham travelled with us for rather more than a fortnight. There
were two ladies in the party. Mr. Windham was always filthy in s person. He
had a railway whistle, and used to blow it when the party started in carriages, or
on mules in the mountains. At meals he hooted, and laughed, and shouted so as to
frichten people. His manner of eating was most offensive. When laughing the
food would fall from his mouth, but he generally took it up again and put it back

g into his mounth. He slavered at the mouth. 1 have heard him shouting and howl-

ing at dinner when 100 people were present. Apologies had frequently to be made
for his conduct. He used to insult strangers—foreigners and others—by pointing
his finger at them, and making remarks abont their dress and personal appearance
at dinner. He often swore in the presence of ladies, and on dne occasion he called
out to me in a public room, “Oh! you be " 1 had been merely trying to
prevent him tripping up a waiter who was carrying plates across the room. When
travelling in the mountains on mules Mr. Windhamn frequently called the attention
of the ladies to the animals in an indecent way. The party tolerated him so long out
of sympathy with Colonel Bathurst. I believe him to be an imbecile, or idiot.

Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake.—I spoke to Mr. Windham at Eton, but we did
not belong to the same set. I do not know that Mr. Windham has a malformation
of the mouth. His voice was always loud an® peculiar. I attribute his slobbering
not to any malformation, but to his holding his mouth open. He used to swear a
good deal at the guidesabroad. I mever heard any one called “mad” at Eton
except Mr. Windham. It is not usnal for tourists in Switzerland to wear their best
clothes, but Mr. Windham was always much dirtier than any English traveller 1
ever met with. I was not aware that Mr. Windham was abroad against his will.
His offensive comments upon the foreigners were always in English.

Re-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Some of the foreigners, judging from their angry
looks, seemed to understand his remarks, although they were in English. His
observations were applied to ladies as well as gentlemen, and to English people as
well as foreigners, and they were accompanied by pointings of the finger.

By the Master.—I never saw him get into a personal difficulty abroad. Colonel
Bathorst was very uneasy about him.

JOSEFH FORD, LATE GUARD OF THE EASTERN COUNTIES RAILWATY.

Joseph Ford.—I was formerly in the service of the Eastern Counties Railway
Company. I knew Mr. Windham, who was in the habit of travelling down to
Norwich by the night mail. On the 24th of August last he accosted me on the
platform ar Shoreditch, and gave me a carpet-bag, saying there were champagne
bottles in it. He came into my van at Broxbourne, and as soon as he got in put
on a greatcoat and railway belt belonging to me. I had a friend with me in the
van at the time. Mr. Windham worked as gnavd all the way down to Norwich.
During the journey three bottles of champagne and one bottle of sherry were
drunk in the van—more ihan a bottle a-piece. Mr. Windham talked very foolish
aund low language all the way down. He showed me two rings, asking me
whether I thought they were good ones. He said * his missus as was to be” had
given them to him; he had been with her, he added, all the afterncon. He did
not meuntion her name. One day in September Mr. and Mrs. Windham and a
strange gentleman went down with me in the night mail train. All three got into
the sume carriage at London ; they were alons. At Ponders'-end, the first stopping
station from London, Mr. Windham came iato my van, and told me that the
gentleman in the carringe with his wife was a Mr. Roberts, who had a letter which
he wanted me to post. He reguested me to look after Roberis, who was “a
good sort.”  Roberts, he said, was going down to Norfolk with his wife as a friend
of hers. At Broxbourne he asked me to lock Roberts and Mrs., Windham in the

e o
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carringe, and as I was pagsing along the platform Roberts himself looked out of
the window and requested me to lock the door. I did go. I observed that Roberta
and the lady bad a large dressing-case, which they had put in the middle of the
carriage, and covered with cushions so as to form a bed. Mrs. Windham drew
down the blinds of the window. At nearly every station Mr. Windham saw the
state of the carriage, but never interfered. BSo things continued until the train
arrived at Norwich. From Ely to Norwich Mr. Windham rode upon the engine.
I have frequently seen him aeting as guard, working the train right throngh. He
had eeveral raitway whistles, and always used them. He frequently started the
train by blowing the whistle. His langnage was always very bad—profane and
filthy. He nsed to talk about the “ missus” he was going to have.

Cross-examined by Sir H. Cairns—I never saw apny one interfering with him on
the railway. I have seen him working the levers of the engine with the driver
alongside of him. He had a very good memory about the times of starting the
trains. He told me to lock the ecarriage-door, in order that Roberts and Mrs.
Windham wmight not see where he was or what he was doing. Guards are not
allowed to take passengers into their vans.

By Mr. Coleridge— People travelling by the mail train at night are in the habit of T
making themselves comfortable in the first-class carriages.

Re-examined by Mr. Chambers—Roberts gave me half-a-sovereign at Norwich
for keeping the carriage-door locked.

By the Jury—I was not discharged by the company. I left them because I was
offered, and aceepted, a better situation as railway guard at Melbourne, in Australia.
‘I spoke to Mr. Windham about Roberts and his wife being locked in the sama
carriage together. He only langhed. I have frequently got “tips” for locking
carringe-doors so as to prevent pasgengers from entering. The largest I ever got
before Roberts gave me half-a-sovereign was 53. It is contrary to the rules of the
company to allow persons unconnected with the railway to get into the guard's van
or upon the engine. L

A Juryman—I trust that after what we have heard to-day, railway companies
will in future be more careful of the lives intrusted to their charge. They cught to
gee that their rules for the working and management of trains are strietly observed
by their officers. (Applanse.)

Mr, Chambers—We have communicated on the subject with the Eastern Counties
Company, and they have informed us that they have taken measures for the preven-
tion of irregularities in futuve,

Sir H. Cairns—The company have also published some letters with reference to
thiz proceeding, which they had better have kept to themselves. '

The Master.—I hope this discussion will not be carried further. We are here to
inquire into the state of mind of Mr. Windham, and not to investigate the conduct
of a ruilway company. :

Mit. JOSEPH GOODY, INSPECTOR, EASTERN COUNTIES RAILWAY.

Joseph Goody.—1 am a district inspector on the Eastern Counties Railway. I
know Mr. Windham. On Tuesday the 3rd inst., I saw him at the Haughley sta-
tion on the Eastern Union line. It was the day of the Bury cattle fair, and I was
directing horse-boxes and ecattle vans to be attached to the rear of the traius,
While so engaged 1 heard a whistle, and, on looking up, saw a train in motion,
The same moment I noticed Mr. Windham coming up the platform, wearing a railway
greatcoat and belt, and earrying a whistle in his hand. He was in the act of p itting
the whistle to his month a second time, when I struck it away. Hud he succeeded
in blowing the whistle a second time the train in motion wonld have stopped, and
it would have been run into by an approaching train. When the guard came up I
nsked him where his belt was. Without answering me, he said to Mr. Windham,
“1 told you not to take my belt; Mr. Goody will report me for letting vou have it
oa.” 1 told Mr. Windham he had no right to be about the line, and asked him to
get into a carringe. He replied, © Oh, you be ——; I am your master.” 1t was quite
dark, and he ran down to the further end of the train, unlocked a carriage-door with
a key he has, and gotin. At Stowmarket, the same night, the teain was driven
a little a-head of the platform. Some one blew a whistle, and the driver put back.
As the people were getiing out of the carriages I endeavoured to sigoal the driver «
to stop the traiu, but before I could do s0 one or two of the passengors full and hart
themselves, thoungh notseverely. I saw Mr. Windham at the station. On the Sthof July,
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- at Colchester, my attention was attracted by a peculiar shrieking of the steam.whistle

of the engine. I found Mr. Windham on the engine. I asked kim to leave it, but

he refused. I have frequently seen him opeving and shutting carriage-doors like a
v, und on one occasion actunlly saw him turn the handle of a steam-whistle,

',Emm what I saw of him I came to the conclusion that he wus short in his iutel-

lect.

Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake.—I have known Mr. Windham for about twelve
months. 1 have seen him about a dozen times on the railway, and on the engine
twice. I am a district inspector, and if I see anything wrong it is my duty to re.
port it. When I saw him on the engine at Colchester, he refused to come off, and
rode on it all the way to Ipswich. 1 did not report the circumstance to any of the
loeal stationmasters. It was not my duty to do so, but I spoke to the superintend-
ent: at Ipswich, the end «f the journey. I neversaw Mr. Windhaw pull the lever to
gtart the train. Special ivstructions were given by the directors about Mr. Wind-
ham at the time when some law proceedings were taken. It is probable that those in-
structions were issued before the 3rd inst., when Mr. Windbam blew the whistle at
the Hanghley junction. I reported the driver who allowed Mr. Windham to ride on
the engine from Colchester to Ipswich in July. He was fined, but the special in-
structions were not issued till long afterwards. It is a common praetice for gentle-
men to carry keys for opening carriage doors.

By the Jury.—I would not allow a person whom I did not know to remain on the
engine, though I am not sure that I would take him off by force. Some have a
licence to go upon the engine. I left Mr. Windham on the engine at Colchester
becanse I thought he would get off, as he had done when spoken to on other
occasions.

William Bradley, the gnard on daty at Haughley when Mr. Windham blew the
whistle, stated thar the greatcoat which Mr. Windham wore on that occasion was
his own. It was similar to those actually worn by railway guards. Mr. Windham
took the belt from the guards’ van while witness was engaged on che platform.

Cross-examined by Sir II. Cairns.—When Mr. Windham was at Eton witness was
a guard en the South-Western line. At that time Mr, Windham was in the habit
of riding with the guards in their vans, Other Eton boys did the same.

Mi. ROBERT WHEELER, MANAGER OF THE EUSTON HOTEL.

Mr. Robert Wheeler, manager of the Euston Hotel, related how Mrs. Windbham,
accompanied by a French maid, came to the hotel on Monday, the 4th of November,
and engnged apartments; how, on the evening of the same day, Mr. Windham
called with a Mr. Gwin and insisted upon seeing his wife ; how, when Mr. Windham
was admitted to the room in which the lady was dining witha gentleman, supposed
to be her solicitor, wiiness heard a noisy altercation. After a while, all became
quiet, he proceeded, and the gentlemen went away together about 2 o'clock iu the
morning, and Mrs. Windham remained and sleptin the house. The lady staid in the
hotel three days, and during that time Mr. Windham dined with her more thun onee
along with two or three other gentlemen. One day he endeavoured to get into her
bedroom, but ghe would not allow him, whereupon he made a terrific noise. I was
at last obliged to signify to the lady by letter that I could not permit her to remain
in the house. A fracas took place one evening when Mr, and Mrs. Windham, Mr.
Gwin, Mr. Berry Hutchinson, and a Dr. Neil dined together, Mr. Windham came
running down the stairs, yelling at the top of hie voice, and as soon as he saw me he
eried ont, “* They are killing a man in the room ; they have knocked out his eyes,
which are hanging down his cheeks, and the blood is flowing from him like rain.” 1
knew Mr. Windham, and did not place mueh confidence in what he said, I therefore
taunted him with his cewardice in ranningaway while amnrder was being committed ;
wherenpon Mr. Windham began to boast of his pugilistic powers, and to relate in extra-
vagant terms how geverely he had punished the offender upstairs. When I went up
to the room I found Mr. Berry Hutchinson lying on the sofa and making a great
noise, but that gentleman immediately afterwards rolled on to the floor, and appeared
to be very much hurt. He declared that Dr. Neil had thrown a bottle or tumbler at
his head, that he had himsell' taken pieces of the gloss out of his eyes, and that ho
would never be able to see more. I became gerionsly alarmed, but upon lifting Mr.
Berry Hutchinson into a chair and examining his face and head, 1 failed to discover
the slightest scratch or the least appearance of blood. Eventually, however, Mr.
Windham brought t—ha:pulice, aud Dr, Neil was carvied off to the stationhouse. Nexb
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morning the case was compromised in some way or other, and it never came before
the magistrate. 1 spoke to Mr. Windham in very strong language akout his wifs
and her conduet, telling him, among other things, that she evidently loathed hime
and I was surprised he had not sense encugh to perceive it. Mr. Windham made*
some foolish remark, laughed in an idiotic manner, and did not seem to understand
the meaning of what was said to him. * From what Ibave seen of him,” added Mr,
Wheeler, * I believe him to be a mere child—an imbecile, with the body of a man,
but none of the stature of a man in his mind. He is not capable of taking care of
a £10-note.” .
In eross-examination, Mr. Wheeler stated that General Windham ealled once or
twice at the hotel to see either his nephew or Mrs. Windham. On the morning
afier the fracas Mr. Windham told me that he had received a note from Dr. Neil,
asking him to come to the stationhouse and bail him out, and he asked me togo
with him to the police-office to see what it was all abont. At the police-office the
General conversed with Dr. Neil, but I did not hear what passed between them,
nor did I know that Mr. Berry Hutchinson was paid a sum of movey for not pro-
ceeding with the charge. I had been told that the fracas arose from Dr. Neil having
introduced himself to Mr. and Mrs. Windham as a friend, whereas in reality he was
a epy in the employment of General Windham. The General and Dr. Neil break-
fasted together at the hotel after returning from the police-office, while Mr. Berry
Hutchinson, who bad driven to the hotel with myselfin a cab, waited on Mra. Wind-
hamin ber apartments. On the same day I accompained General Windham to
Mr. Field’s office in Lincoln’s-inn-fields, and there made an affidavit. I never heard
the General say he had told his nephew that if he wonld put his property in trust
he would let him alone. I mnever heard him utter words conveying that sense, or
anything like it. The General told me he was willing to make any sacrifice to save
his nephew, and he referred to some offer which he hud made for that purpose, but I do
not recollect what it was. All I remember is that it was intended for Mr.
Windham's good. {

JAMES HVDSON, POLICEMAN, NORFOLK,

James Hudson, a policeman in Norfolk, stated, on one occasion Mr. W:‘nﬂham@
told me he had done duty as a policeman in London. He said he had apprehended
a man for robbery and taken him to Vine-street station. I knew him to be a geutle-
man, but had heard him tell some rough chracters that he was a detcctive
especially employed. :

The witness was cross-examined as follows :— . o

Eii_;t{:la.?ﬂairna.—Surely you have not come all the way from Norfolk to tell us
so li J

Witness.—1I don't know anything about that, Sir. o

Mr. Coleridge.—Mr. Hudson, having cost £100, you may now go. n

Mr. Chambers.—Sinca theae observations have been made, [ may say that, in my
opinion, the witness Lias given most important evidence, as I will be prepared to
show at the proper time. v

The inquiry was again adjorrned. 8
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; ! TERTH DAY.—Moxpay, Dec. 30. :

Tha'nﬂJnnmeﬂ mquiry ioto the state of mind of Mr. W, F, Windham, of Fellb rige-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed this day in the Court of Exchequer, Westmiunster, before
Mr. Warren, ().C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury. s

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams appeared for the
petitioners ; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of i
the alleged lunatic ; Sir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward
for Mr. William Frederick Windbam ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windham.

MR. REYNOLDS, SOLICITOR, GREAT YARMOUTH.

1

Mr. RE}'HE{HE.—I am a solicitor at Great Yarmouth, and have known Mr. Windham
for the last eighteen months. On the 26th of August I travelled from Lundon by
the mail train at night. I saw Mr. Windham at the Cambridge-station. He was
dressed in the costume of a railway gnard, with pouch, belt, and whistle. He opened
the door of the carriage in which I was seated. I said to him, * Windham, how
can you make such a fool of yourself 2  He replied, “ I must see that these fellows
do their work properly.” Then he added, without any pause, ‘1 am going to be
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married next week." He blew the whistle for the train to start. At Ely, where the
train stopped for twenty minutes, I saw him in the parcel van; he was sorting the
1s for Ely and Peterborongh, and delivering them to the porters on the platform,
hen it was time for the train to start he called wpon the passenzers to take their
seats. He did the same thing at every station down the line. Nobody interfered
with him. At Norwich I said to him, * Windham, are you going on to Yarmouth ?"
He replied, “ No, I must turn in for an hour or two, as I have to work the Parly
train up at six in the morning"” —meaning the Parliamentary train. In April or
~ May, 1860, he called at my office at Yarmouth to make an affidavit relative to some
Chancery proceedings. I lost sight of bim for a day or two, and when I saw him
again he told me that he had been driving the trains from Lowestoft to Beccles, a
distance of ten miles. He was in a very excited state and blabbering like a child.
. Mr. Horrocks, his tutor, had come down for him, and 1 advised him to accompany
." that gentleman to London to see his guardians. They went off the following
morning. From what I have seen of Mr. Windbam I believe him to be excessively
weak in his mind. His conversation is incoherent, and I do not think he is at all
capable of managing himself ov his affairs.

Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake.—Mr. Windham swore an [affidavit before my
partner, not in my presence, but with my knowledge. 1 saw the draught of the
affidavit. It was copied in my office. That is the only business transaction I ever
had with him. Isaw him before the Vice-Chancellor on the business to which the
affidavit related. It was a private hearing I did not hear Mr. Windham tell the
Vice-Chancellor that Mr. Horrocks had knocked him down and ill treated him, nor
did I hear Mr. Horrocks say that he had no answer to make to the charge, I heard
all that passed, but I do not receollect what was said. I did hear Mr. Horrocks
remark that he had nothing to say, but that was in answer to a question from the
Vice-Chancellor, whether he was willing to remain as tutor with Mr. Windham.
When Mr. Windham came to me to make an affidavit he had been at Yarmouth for
a month, and I had seen him walking about in a militin uniform. I cannot say
whether he was doing duty as a militia officer. Before I saw lum crying in the
way I have described Mr. Horrocks had had an interview with him, but I do not
know what passed between them. The only oceasion on which I have spoken to
him since was the time when he acted as a guard on the railway. There was a
regular guard with the train. When Mr. Windham came to my ollice I consualted
with my partner, and we considered that the responsibility of the affidavit wounld
rest with the solicitor who might use it in the sunit and not with ourselves. I
once met Mr. Windham at a private musical party. He stood on the staira the
whole evening, making very absurd noises, and conducting himself altogether in a
very strange way. I never suggested that the aflidavit prepared in my office should
not be used, but my impression is that it was not used. Alr. Windbham brooght me
the heads of it in a letter from his mother.

By Mr. Coleridge.—I was before the Viee-Chanecellor from the beginning to the
end of the hearing. Lady Sophia did not produce any letters. I saw no letters
delivered to the Vicg-Chancellor at all.

Re-examined by Mr. Chambers.—1 saw Mr. Windham at a public ball in Yar-
mouth. He was very noisy in the room, rushed about in a strange way, and burst
ont laughing apparently without any cause. Ile attracted the attention of every-
body present. His laugh wasnot like that of a reasonable being. He appeared to
be unable to control it.

By the Master-—When I saw him erying I asked him the reason, but he gave me
no answer. The draught of the atfidavit was read to him. He made no remark
upon it. When before the Vice-Chancellor he was very quiet.

By the Jury.—I told the porters at Ely that it was disgraceful to allow Mr. Wind-
bam to act as a guard. That was the whole extent of my interference.

CHARLES BROWN, A DIVISION, METROPFOLITAN POLICE.

Charles Brown, 304, A division of the Metropolitan Police, said, I know Mr.
Windham, and hare often met him inthe Haymarket and its vicinity. His conduct
was always that of a man of weak intelleet or unsound mind. He used to shout in
the streets, and once or twice he wanted to lock vp women without reason.
He eaid there were too many women about the Haymarket, and he would not stand
it any longer.

Cross-examined by Sir . Cairns,—There is more shouting about the Haymarket
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than in ony other part of London. T first met Mr. Windham at Epsom races ; bug
there was nothivg peculiar in his conduct there. :

Re-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Mr. Windham was always different from the
other young men in the Ilaymarket. Ile would laugh without cause, and his lungh
was not like that of a sensible man.

By the Jury.—The women whom he wauted to lock up would say to him, “ Go
away, you fool; you are not right in your head.”

[Before the next witness was called a brief discussion took place upon a technical
point of no public importance. 1u the course of it Mr. Chambers remarked that his
learned friends on the other side bad done everything they could do to prolong
the inquiry. 8ir Hugh Cairng, with some warmth, denied the statement, and BMr.
Chambers was about to retort, when the Master interposed, and, after remindieg
counsel that they were gentlemen of great eminence engaged in u difficult, delicate,
and painful inquiry, and acting under the eye of the publie, begged that they would
carefully avoid anything like an ebullition of feeling. The upshot was that Mr.
Chambers withdrew his statement, Sir Hugh Cairns expressed himself perfectly
eatisfied, and the business proceeded. ]

ME. HANSELL, SOLICITOR FOR THE FPETITIONERS.

Mr. Haneell—I am solicitor for the petitioners, and since January, 1859, have
acted ae receiver of the Windham estates wnder Captain Henry Windbam. The
total rental of the Fellbrigg estate is £38,187, but that is subject to a charge of
£1,500 a year, payable to Lady Sophia. There are other deductions, such as rates
taxes, and repairs, amounting on the whole to about £400 & year. The net rental,
therefore, i between £1,000 and £1,200. If Mr. Windham were to let the hall and
shooting, he would get about £300 a year more. But there are other estates
which will not fall into his possession until October, 15869, they having been devised
by the late Mr. Windham to pay off mortgages amounting to £160,000. An estate
near Sndbury has been gold for £65,000, to asesist in paying off the encumbrances.
In 1869 the gross rental of the devised estates will be £9,250 per annum, and the
net rental £7,250. I calculate that in 1869 mortgages will remain to the amoont
about £60,000. The annual interest will be £3,000, leaving a net available income
from the devised esiates of about £4,000. I went to Fellbrigg-hall on the Sth of
Auvgnst with Mr. Windham and Mr. Jackson, the gentleman appointed by the Viee-
Chancellor to act as solicitor for Mr. Windham. General Wiodham, who was
living in the neighbourhood at the time, dined with us the same evening. He
returned home after dinner, but came back to the hall next morning, which was the
morning before Mr. Windham came of age. I remember a proposal being made
that morning to Mr. Windham, on the part of General Windham, by Mr. Jackson.
We were all in the library—Mr. Windham, General Windham, Captain Henry
Windham, Mr. Jackson, and myself. Mr. Jackson said that in consequence of the
emall amount of the income from the Fellbrigg estate Mr. Windham eould not live there.
He therefore proposed, provided all parties intervested would agree, that an appli-
cation should be made to the Court of Chancery, either under the Settled
Estates Act, the Enclosure Act, or a special Act of Parliament, for an order
to the eflect that Tellbrigg hall, the books, furniture, plate, and ornamental
timber should be valued and put into the same trusts as the deviced estates; that
land, part of the devired estates, should be taken out of the trusts and become the
property of Mr. Windham as tenant in tail—the same tevure as that Ly which he
now holds the hall ; and that a lease of Fellbrigg-hall and park should be granted
to Mr. Windham at a nominal rent to the 11th of October, 1869. General Wind-
ham gaid, * Anything you propose, Mr. Jackson, for the benefit of my nephew and
the estates I will agree to. I am willing to make any sacrifice myself” Mr. |
Windham did not seem to comprebend the proposal at all, and therefore Mr.
Jacksgon gaid, * Leave hum to me,” or something to that effect. We then left the
library. Later in the day I suw Mr. Windbam with Mr. Jackson, who, in his
presence, gaid to me, I can’t make anything of iim.” We told him that under the
proposed arrangement hig income would be much increased. He made no answer
except, “1 can’'t cut down my trees.” Mry. Jackson then said, “ Yes, you can, but
not ornamental timber.” Mr. Windham has only a life interest in the devised
estates. His children, if any, would succeed, but in the event of his dying with-
out igsue General Windham would come into possession. As to the Fellbrigg
estate if Mr. Windham ghould not bar the entail and should died before 1869, ig
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would become part of the devised estates, and subject to the same trusts. TUnder
the proposal mude by Mr. Jackson, should Mr. Windham bar the entail of the land
given to him, the effect on General Windham would be to reduce his ultimate in-
come in the same proportion as that of Mr. Windbam wonld be raised—viz., to the
extent of about £600 per annum. There would also be a less rental applicable to
the payment of the debts on the estate.

Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake.—On the day he came of age Mr. Windham
€ould bar the entail of the Fellbrigz estate. The propesal made to him by Mr.
Jackson would have deprived him of that power. He was to become tenant for
life of Fellbrigg, the ancestral seat, and impeachable for waste. For every piece of
property about the hall, including furniture and plate, be was to get lJand out of
the devised estates, and the valne was roughly estimated at between £80,000 and
£90,000. Under the proposed arrangement, while Mr. Windham would have be-
come only tenant for life of Fellbrigg, General Windham would have obtained pos-
gession of it for a certainty mpon the death of his nephew. I went to Fellbrigg-
hall at the request of Mr. Windham, who called at my office and told me that he
intended to take the advice of the Vice-Chancellor and his uncle, that he had
appointed Mr. Jackson his solicitor, and that that gentleman was going to take
the management of everything. I believe that Mr. Jackson was recommended by
Gener |1 Windham and Mr. Mook, but I do not know it for a certainty. General
Windham told me that he introduced his nephew to Mr. Jackson himself. Mr.
Windham drove Mr. Jackson and me over to the hall. At dinner we had, besides
the General, Mr. Rothschild, Captain Windham, and Mr. Bragg. When the pro-
posal was made no accurate estimate had been taken of the value of Fellbrige as
compared with the land to be given to Mr. Windham out of the devised
estates. On the day Mr. Windham came of age I, as receiver, had £800 in
bhand. That sum has not been paid to him ; in fact, he has never had a penny from
me. However, he has received money under the timber contract, and he has anti-
cipated his rents. The mortgages on the devised estates were accumulated
| by the late Mr. Windham. On the full sum of £160,000, the interest was £5,495,
| and the gross rental of the devised estates was £11,758. A small portion of the
| debt was paid off before the sale of the Sudbury estate. The excess of
rental over interest at present is £6,263, and I ealecnlate that, afler allowing
for repairs and other expenses, we can save about £1,000 a-year. Certain sums
arising from accomulations have been paid into conrt. I believe the £65,000 ob-
tained for the Sudbury estate hos aleo been paid into court. In 1859 the total
receipts, including some arrears, from the devised estates were £12,474 7. 1d., and
the total ontgoings, including interest and repairs, £8,041 Os. 4d., leaviog a balance
of £4,432 17s.9d. The balance in 1860 was £1,534 19:. 6d., and I have every
reason to believe that in the corrent year the excess of rental over expenditure will
be about the same. Iam just having the farms on the devised estates valned. Ido
not think they willlet for higher rents than at present. General Windham was
down in September. I do not know that he has a piece of property somehow or
other mixed np with the Fellbrigg estate. He did not tell me that he had been at
Fellbrige-hall, trying to negotiate the szle of that piece of property to his nephew.
He said he had been at Fellbrigg-hall, but he did not inform me for what purpose.

Be-examined by Mr. Chambers.—The reason why I did not pay to Mr. Windham
the £5300 which I had in band when he came of age was, becauge an order had been
gerved upon me for the payment of certain sums due to other persons.

By the Jury.—I was certain when Mr. Jackson explained the proposal in the
library that Mr. Windham ecould never be made to understand it. At the same time,
if he had nnderstood it and agreed to it, I should have accepted it as binding. It
would not have been right to make such a proposal to him if he had been quite
alone, without a solicitor or a friend to advise him ; for, as I have eaid, he could
not have been made to comprehend it. He is not capable of managing a property.

Mr. Bowen DMay, solicitor, produced a marriage settlement, dated the 29th of
August, 1861, and signed by Mr. Windham. It was not read.

MR, NURTON, PRINTER, PADUINGTON.

Mr. Nurton, a printer in Paddington, proved the printing of 5,000 copies of a
handbill sigued by Mr. Windham, and ealling upon “the people of Great Britain"
to come forward and defeat the conspiracy to defrand him of his property. The
order was given by Roberts at his house in Piccadilly, but I saw Mr, Windbawm, who
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gaid he intended to have the placards exhibited a'l over London, The printing

expenses have not been paid. . ]
Cross-examined by Sir H. Cairns—The manuscript was returned to Roberts. If

might have been in his handwriting. I have known Roberts for about 10 years.

MR. DORE, ME, EMMANUEL, THE JEWELLER'S, SALESMAN.

Henry Dore, salesman to Mr. Emmanuel, a jeweller in Brook-street, said thag
Mr. Windham first came to that establishment on the 29th of June last, accompanied
by Agnes Willonghby. He repeated his visit on several subsequent occasions,
buying jewellery to the amount on the whole of £13,785. Between the 13th and the
25th of August his purchases amounted to £4,163 18s. 6d. The account for the

period between the 11th and the 18th of October was £5,419 16s. 1d. Witness pro-

duced acceptances by Mr. Windham for £13,060 14s. 6d. Five were dated the 11th

of October, and amounted to £6,500. Five were dated the 18th of October, and

amounted to £5,408. One of these for £1,500 has been dishonoured. Two were
dated the 5th of November, and amounted to £752.

Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake.—The dishonoured acceptance was due on the
21st ingt. Mr. Windham and Agnes Willoughby generally called together. Most:
of the purchases were presents to the lady. Mr. Windham always logked carefully
at the articles before he bought them, and frequently cavilled at the price. Some-
times he said he could not afford to buy an article pointed out to him by the lady.
Onee he remarked that he wanted to lay ont as little money as possible on mere
workmanship; but precious stones, he said, were always valuable. I wanted him
to make the acceptances all for six months; but he said he would prefer them
extended over a longer period, and so the business was arranged. On one occasion
Mr. Windham wrote from Fellbrigg-hall, requesting me to go down to look ata
musical box and a self-acting organ which had got out of order, and to bring some
jewels with me. I took £12,000 worth, and Mr. Windham bought diamond and
emerald ornaments to the value of £5,000. One of the articles was a diamond
bracelet worth £2,300. Mr. Windham gave up all the jewels to Mrs. Windham to
make up a quarrel which had taken place between them some time before. I had
provided myself with stamps for bills. Mr. Windham always seemed to understand
what he was doingin making his purchases. It never occurred to me that he was
a person of unsound mind.

Re-examined by Mr. Chambers.—The only eccentricity I ever noticed about Mr.
Windham was a slight boisterousness. When he came to Brook-street he was
generally accompanied by Aznes Willoughby, but he sometimes called alone.

By the Jury.—The purchages made by Mr. Windham before he came of age on
the §th August did not exceed £211. When he paid his first visit to Brook-street
there was a gentleman, a private friend of Mr. Emmanuel, in the chop at the time,
and he told us who Mr. Windham was, and assared us that we mighy trust him to the
extent of £100 or £200. We shounld not, of course, have given to a minor =o large a
credit as we gave to Myr. Windham after he came of age. He frequently refused to buy
articles which Willonghby expressed a desire to have, on the ground that they were
too expensive. Mi. Emmanuel pays his salesmen fixed salaries, and gives no com-
mission on account of their sales. Mr. Windham would uot have got eredit to any

amount ; he had reached his limit. Of course, I presgsed him to buy, but not:

more than is usual. Mr. Emmanuel has not yet received a single farthing from
him. It is not uncommon for gentlemen to sign bills before the accounts have
been made out and rendered, provided they know the amount due.

By the Master.—Mr. Windham has not applied for any jewellery since the finall
quarrel with his wife. I knew Miss Willoughby before she came to Brook.street
with Mr. Windham. She had previously visited our establishment with another-
gentleman, who purchased jewellery for her. I always thought that Mr. Windham
and Miss Willoughby seemed to be very fond of each other. When Mr. Windham
vefused to purchase he said, “T can’t atford to be rumed for anybody.”

DR, ILLINGWORTH, ARLINGTON-8TREET.

Dr. Tlingworth, of Arlington-street, proved that at the time of his marriage Mr..
Windham was suffering from a loathsome disease, and krew, or, at least had been.
told, that he was not in a fit state to marry. Witness added, I have been present ins
court during the whole of this inquiry as far as it had yet gone, and the conclusien:
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1 bave come fo is that Mr. Windham is not a confirmed idiot, but a person of weak
mind, incapable of managing himeelf or his affairs.

Cross-examined by Sir H. Cairns.—I believe substantially the whole of what Mr.
and Mrs. Lewellin have eaid, and it is upcn their evidence, among the rest, that I
lave formed an opinion of Mr. Windham. That opinion is also formed partly upon
his appearance in court. ) '

By Mr. Coleridge.—1 believe that the imbecility of Mr. Windham is not congeni-
tal.

Re-examined by Mr. Chambers.—1f I had not seen Mr. Windham in court, my
opinion of his imbecility would not have been so strong asitis. Noeye, 1 think,
conld fail to be attracted by the vacant, senseless, unmeaning expression of his face,
especially when seen in contrast with 500 others. '

DR. JOHNSTONE, SAVILLE-ROW.

Mr. Johnstone, surgeon, Saville-row, corroborated the evidence of the last witness
as to the condition of Mr. Windham at the time of his marriage, and stated that, a
few days before that event took place, Agnes Willonghby called at his house and
had a conversation with him.

The witness was asked to state the substance of the conversation, but Mr. Cole-
ridge objected to the question on the ground that nothing which passed between
Mr. Johnstone and Agnes Willoughby when Mr. Windham was not present could
be evidence in this case. The objection was sustained, but Mr. Johnstone was per-
mitted to state, in reply to a question from the jury, that, although his conversation
with Willonghby was professional, it had no reference to that person herself,

The inguiry was again adjourned.

ELEVENTH DAY—Moxpay, DEc. 31.

The adjonrned inquiry into thestate of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed to-day in the Court of Excheguer, Westminster, before
Mr. Warren, Q.C. one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury.
~ Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams, appeared for the
petitioners ; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of
the slleged lunatic; 8ir Hogh Cairns, .C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Millward,
| for Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windham.
Dr. Buck, of Cromer, Norfolk, said—1 was sent for to see Mr. Windham at
| Fellbrigg-hall on the 21st of September. Mr. Windham told me he was suffering
| from sickness, headache, and a slight diarrheea. I preseribed for him. He followed
| me into the ball and had some couversation with me. I called the following day,
and foond Mr. and Mrs. Windham, Mr. Roberts, and two sisters of Mrs. Windham at
breakiast. Mr. Windbam told me he was better, but that his throat was alittle sore,
I asked him whether be conld see me alone, but Mrs. Windham came up at that
moment and he made no reply. I examined his throat, it was slightly relaxed, but
there was nothing wrong with the palate. Mrs. Windham asked me to call again
next day. When I went next day I was shown into the billiard-room, and Mrs.
Windham came to me there. In consequence of what she said I left without seeing
Alr. Windham, I returned at four o'clock the same aflternoon, and the servant on
opening the door, gave me a letter, which ran as follows :—

“ Fellbrigg, Sept. 26, 1861.

“ Dear Sir,—My wife prefers me having her medical man to attend me, and he
12 now here. I am sorry for this, but she will have it.

* Yours truly, “W. F. Wixpmau.”

I wrote a note to Mr. Windham in answer. [ believed that Mr. Windham was
deficient in his intellect, and was unable, without proper control, to take care of
aimsell or bis affairs.

Cross-examived by Mr. Karslake.—Never saw Mr. Windham transact any matter

of business. Ilis imbecility was congeunital. That opinion was formed from what I
bad seen and heard of Mr. Windham.

DE. FORBES WINSLOW,

Dr. Forbes Winslow, examined by Mr. Chambers.—I have given my attention for
many years past to mental diseases, and have had considerable experience in the
treatment of such cases. Under an order of the Lords Justices, Dr. Mayo and I
examined Mr. Windham in the presence of Dr. Bright on the 11th and 14th of J
December. Dr, Bright was appointed by the Lords Justices to attend and listen to /
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what might be said. Previously to my interview with Mr. Windham I had read
certain affidavits which had been filed in his case. 1 had done g0 in order that [

might be able, to the best of my judgment, to question him upon certain points. I
had not read any of the medical affidavits. The two interviews took place at my

house in Cavendish-gquare. Mr, Windham was bronght there, according to appoint-

ment, by his solicitor. The first interview extended over more than two hours, and
the second lasted for nearly an hour. Both Dr. Mayo and I put questions to him
suggested by the affidavits. The conversations were necessarily discursive in their
character, for Mr, Windham would jomp from one subject to another, and we had
great difficulty in getting him to command his attention and concentrate his thoughts
upon any one particular point. All that I can do, therefore, is to give a general
account of what passed. I tried to take notes of the conversation, but Mr. Windham
was so digcursive and erratic that I was obliged to abandon the attempt in despair.
I questioned him respecting the misconduct of his wife before marriage, and
referred to her alleged impurity. He said bhe was fully aware that she bad been
kept by several men, but he did not see why that shoald be an objection to his
marrying her, as other persons—men of rank and distinction—had done the same
thing with impunity. He menticned only one name, but it was a distingnished one.
I referred to the state of his bodily health previously to his marriage, and said I was
informed that he was suffering at that time from an aggravated form of a particnar
disease. He said the character of the disease had been mistaken. A remark was
then made to the effect that he had communicated the disease to his wife, where-
upon he referred in general terms to some compensation which he had awarded to
her. He said he had given her a large qnantity of jewellery, and mentioned the
amount—Dbetween £13,000 aud £14,000—and he said that was the compensation he
had given her for the injury he had done her. I remarked that it was an unusunal
thing for a husband to compensate a wife for ill treatment of such a desecription,
and I also observed that the amount was a very large one. He said he thought she
was entitled to it, and he had given it to her becanse he could afford it. I then
referred to the fact that a Mr. » with whom his wife had been living previously
to her marriage, slept in the same house with her the night before she was married.
He admitted that he knew that the gentleman in question had been living with Mrs.
Windham before her marriage, and that they had slept in the same house
on the.eve of the marriage; but he denied that they had slept together. I under-
stood from him that he did not sleep in the house himself, bt he admitted having seen
the gentleman's boot’s at his bedroom door: The house, he said, was in Wimpole-
sireet, and Mrs. Windham lived there. I endeavoured to impress upon his mind
the impropriety of such a proceeding as that to which I have alluded, and told him
that, sceing that Mr. -——— had kept Mrs. Windham almost up to the period of her
marriage, the only reasonable supposition under the circumstances was that they
slept together the night before she was married. He replied that he did not be-
lieve it. I then referred to another person with whom it was alleged she had
cobabited after her marringe. He had himself, indeed, volunteered the statement
that his wife had, shortly after marriage, cohabited with Mr. —— No. 2, with
whom she had been living previously to her marriage, and he said that it was in
consequence of that act of adultery with Mr. No. 2 that he had determined to
commence proceedings for a divorce. 1 made a remark to the effect that, from my
knowledge of the proceedings in the Divorce Court, I emtertained great doubts
whether such an application would be snccessful, he having married Mrs. Windham
with afull knowledge of her character and previous life. He did not see why that
should be any objection to his suit. I understood from him at the same time thas
he had lived with his wife subsequently to her adultery with Mr. —— Ne. 2, and
therefore, ns I told him, the offence had been condoned. He talked very wildly
and discursively upon this matter, and impressed me with the conviction that he
had no idea of applying to the Divorce Court. I next questioned him on the subjecs
of his debts. He said he could not state the precise amount he owed. His debts,
however, certainly amounted to £20,000; but they might be munch more. They had
been contracted, in the main, he said, by his wife. Fresh bills were coming in every
day, and he was in a state of such alarm that he was actnally afraid to open his own
letters. I had heard about the sale of his timber and spoke to him on the subject.
T said I understood that he had sold a large qunantity of timber on his estate. e
admitted the fact, stating that his income was small, and that he had sold the
timber as a means of increasing it. Iasked him the price he had got. He r&pﬁeﬂ;,
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‘1s. per fook. I inquired whether that was the real value of the timber, and he eaid
it was. I told him that I understood the timber was worth about Zs. 6d. a foot.
That, he said, was a mistake ; 1s. was ita full value. He then observed, in reply to
8 question, that it was not the most valuable portion of the timber which was to be
eut down. I told him I understood that if the large quantity of timber which he
had sold were cut down it wounld do serious injury to the estate, inasmuch as it wounld
throw the estate entirely open to the sea, the timber being upon belt land. He
replied that it was his wish to cut down only one tree in three. I asked to whom
he had sold the timber. He said, © To Messrs. Lawrence and Fry.” * Where did
the =ale take place "' “ At Fellbrigg.,” * Where was the contract signed ¥ * As
Fellbrigg.”  * Who waa present 7’ “:No one but myself and the buyer.” *Was
any one else in the house at the time?' “Mr., Roberts.”” ‘ Are you satisfied in
your own mind that Messrs. Lawrence and Fry are the bona fide pnrchaszers of the
timber, and not merely acting as agents for another party ¥ I am satislied they
are the purchasers ;” nnd he assigned as a reason for so thinking that they had
given him a check for either £300 or £1,000—1 forget which. He said that after
the contract was signed they all dined together. 1 said, “ Do yon not
believe, Mr. Windham, that the party who really purchased the timber was Mr.
Roberts, and that Messrs. Lawrence and Fry were only acting as his agents #’ He
replied that he could not believe such a thing, as Messrs. Lawrence and Fry gave
him the money. I said, * But supposing it to be proved that you are under amistake,
and that the timber was really sold to Mr. Roberts, what would you say then ?” The
only answer I could get from him was, “ I will wait till the matter comes before the
Couart" —referring, I presnume, to the present inguiry. In reply to a question whether
his feeling for Roberts would be altered if it were proved in coart that Roberts had
purchased the timber, he said, I should consider him a scamp.” A remark was
then made to the effect that such a disclosure should interfere with his friendship
for Roberts. He replied generally that he did not see that. He said be did not
know Roberts before his marriage. I asked him who Roberts was. He merely
replied that he had been staying with Roberts for some time, and that he looked
upon him as a friend; and then he remarked that he bad heard from Mr. Davis,
his solicitor, that Roberts was generally known by the name of * Bawdy-house Bob.”
I inguired whether Roberts was the owner of brothels. He said, “ I am informed
that he is the owner of a namber of brothels in Shepherd-street.” 1 asked him
where he was then residing, and he replied © In Piceadilly, with Roberts.” 1 in-
quired what he paid. He said he bad apartments, for which he was paying £10
per week. I asked him whether, in addition, he paid any portion of the expenses of the
house. He said that he and Roberts paid the expenses between them ; but upon my in-
quiring what his share was, he said he could not tell me. He presumed that £1 a day
would be a fair sum, but he had had no account rendered to him, nor had he made any
arreement with Roberts on the subject. He told me that on one occesion he had o
gquarrel with Roberts about money matters, and that Roberts in a fit of anger had
declared that he had slept with  Mrs. Windham previously to her marriage. T
expressed my surprise that, under these circumatances, he should eontinue to reside
with Roberts. The reply he made was, * Roberts is a very good fellow, and I can
see no reason why I should not consider him as my friend.” I then referred to the
placard calling a monster meeting in Hyde Park, and said it was a singular thing
for him to do to issue such a docoment. He seemed to pooh-pooh the affair. 1
gaid, ** Are you not aware that your name is at the bottom of the placard P’ He
xerled, © Yes; but 1 do not consider myself answerable for it. It was brought to
me by Koberts, with my name attached to it.” *Then you did not authorise your
mame to be printed 7' % No,” 1 then told him that a forgery had been committed
—a very serious offence; and I tried to impress him with a sensze of the gravity of
Liwe proceeding ; but he could not see it in that light. I asked him what he said when
theplacard wagshown to him. He replied, * I said, ‘Oh, take care what yon are about—

take care what what youare about.’”  During the interviews I observed no particular

‘exciteraent about him. When he told me that Hoberis was a good fellow he giggled

and laughed, and when he referred to the sobriquet under which Roberts waa

geuerally known he laughed loudly, as if he thought it a good joke. There was a

rculiarllay about liis expression and his langh. I attach no importance, however, to

is mode of langhing, though I thought it rather strange his laughing at all upon
the subject. His physiognomy impressed me with the notion that he is a man
of very weak istellect, I must eay, at the same time, that his ph}raiugrgmmy is
E
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not very strongly marked, nor is it caloulated toattrack notice unless yoor at
has been specially called to it, and you examine him with the view of ascertaini
whether there are present any of theusual physical characteristics of imbecilivy.
But having yonr attention go directed, you cannob fail to observe physical signs
which are unmistakeable. The opinion which I formed was that he is in a degree
of mental imbecility ; that he ig a person of unsound mind, incapable of managing
himself or his affairg ; the degree of mental unsoundness which I attribute to
Mr. Windham is not iuconsistent with ability to write letters, acquire a certain amount
of classical knowledge, or the ordinary rules of arithmetie, comprehend the valoe of
coins, settle small accounts, and make purchases to a limited extent. .
[Mr. Chambers proposed, in conclugion, to ask the witness whether the evidence
he had heard in court strengthened or weakened the opinion he had formed as to
the state of mind of the alleged lnnatic; but 8ir H. Cairns objected to the question,
on the ground that it invelved the further quegtion whether the evidence tendered
for the petitioner was true or false, trustworthy or the reverse, which was a matter
for the jury to decide, A discussion of some fength took place upon this point, bub
the Master eventurlly ruled that the guestion could not be put, though he suggested
to Mr. Chiambers that he might select some of the more prominent facts which had
been proved in evidence, and, putting them one by one to the witness, ask him
whether, supposing they were true, they would strengthen or confirm the opinion
he had already expressed. Mr. Chambers, however, stating that be intended to
rely, in his final address to the jury, not upon isolated acts or expreseions on the
part of Mr. Windham, but upon hiz whole. conduet and habits siace childhood,
declined to avail himself of the suggestion of the Master, and declared the examina-
tion of the witness concluded. | i
Cross-examined by Sir H, Cairns.—The first interview took place in the afternoon,
and lasted upwards of two hours. Afits eonclugion I asked Mr. Windbam to write
aletter. He did so, and the letter is in the possession of Dr. Mayo, who will be
mllid asa witnese, I was first consulted about this case at the end of the last or
the beginning of the present month. It was Mr. Nichols, of Norwich, the gentleman.
whe has been examined, who consulted me. I had seen General Windham belore,
and T have had several interviews with him since, as well as with Dr. Neil. Dr.
Bright, Dr. Mayo, Mr. Windham, and myself sat round a table. 1 have
ot a list of the affidavits which I read before the interview with Mr. Windham. I
got them from Mr. Field, the solicitor for the petitioners. T had the affidavits on
one side only, the side of the petitioners. When I gaid that I did not see the medical
afiidavits, I meant the medical affidavits against the petition. I saw the greater
portion of those for the petition. I gob the affidavits three or four days before the
first interview with Mr. Windham. 1 suggested that Dr. Mayo should be associated
with me. He also was farnished with the uffidavits for the petitioners. We had @
short consultation before seeing Mr. Windham. I made a few notes of the conversa-
tions wwith Mr, Windham. Mr. Field suggested certain questions to be put to Mr.
Windham, and T had them copied out on a sheet of paper. Beyond those guestions
and the afidavite I had no information supplied to me. I had seen General
Windham before the 11th of Necember five or six times. None of those interviews |
lasted more than ar hour. I saw him twice at his house, and sometimes at my
own. 1 do not think I have had an interview with him which exceeded . half= -
an-hotr in length, Iam perfectly satisfied that the opportunities I had of conversing :
with Mr. Windham were sufficient to enable me fto form an opinion upon the:
state of his mind. I came tc n conclusion on the first interview, but I did not;
express auy opinion until after the second. My object in having a second interview was|
to satisfy my mind on certain points. I wished to go over the ground again, Theres
were some points upon which I had not formed a conelasive opinion in the firak:
interview, and, therefore, I thonght it desirable that I should see Mr. Windham:
again, I refer particulavly to his present mode of living. [ do mot recollect secing
either My, Field or General Windham between the two interviews, or having any s
communication with them. I do not believe that Mv. Windbam is capable off
managing lhimeelf. 1 say eo, because I do not think a man is capable who couldi
contract marriage while euffering from a foul disease, and when he knew the:
paramour with whom his wife had Leen living slept in the same house with her thes
night before the marriage ; who could act as Mr. Windham admitted he had done ags
a railway-guard and engine-driver ; and who could not form a right appreciations
of the position in which he had placed himself by contracting such a marrioges
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" and by living in friendship with ‘& man who had declared be had slept with
his wife previous to her marriage. The dafa on which I formed the opinion
that Mr Windham is not capable of managing his affairs are—the way in which he
admitted Ite had, a short time after coming into possession of his property involved
himself in serious liabilities ; his quietly acquiescing in a course of proceeding which
i he had been able to reason out the comsequence of his own actions, he must
have seen would ruin his property—I mean the sale of his timber ; the fact of his
living with a person like Roberts, and his apparent indilference as to the amount
of expenditure he was inewrring; the general remarks he made in anawer to
questions relative to his affuirs; and the gift of £14,000 w&ﬂ_rh of jewellery to his
wife as a compensation for having infected her with a foul diseasé. I formed my
opinion upon the conversations I had with Mr. Windham and npon the information
given to me by Mr. Field and General Windham. I assumed that information to
be correct. I assnmed, for instance, that under the contract Fellbrigg could and
would be denuded of timber, and that £14,000 worth of jewels had been given to
Mrs. Windham by way of compensation for the injury I have mentioned. If a young
man, just come of age, were to ruin his property, by contracting gambling debts, 1
ghould not conclade from that fact alone that he was legally incapacitated from
managing his affairs. The additional circomstance of a marriage with a woman
previonsly unchaste would not prove unsoundness of mind; nor would a present
made to his wife of £6,000 worth of jewellery, supposing he were rich enongh to
afford it, make him insane. Mr. Windham told me that a medical gentleman had
informed him that the disease he was labouring under at the time of bis marriage
was not infections ; but I was not aware that he had been assured he might marry
with safety. He did not tell me it had been arranged that after the marriage no
further intercourse was to take place between his wife and the gentleman who had
previously lived with her. Marriage with a woman of such a character is
not a proof of insanity; but, in my opinion, it makes a material differ-
ence when the paramour lives with the woman np to the time of the marriage,
and actually sleeps in the same house with her the night before the marriage.
To marry under such cireomstances is an act which no man would do unless
he were drunk, drogged, or insane. I did not know that the brother of the lady
was living in the house ; that the hounse belonged to him, and that it was engaged
for the wedding. MY, Windham assnred me he did not believe that Mr. ———, No. 1,
glept with his wife the night before her marriage. Amateur engine driving would
not, if it stood alone, be a proof of insanity ; but it is one of the elements of the case,
and we must take all in combination. I regard the driving of an engine by an
a-natenr, though he may be competent, as an act of folly. The driving of a private-
four-in-hand or of a stage coach by an amateur is not an act of folly. The two
cases are different; in one the amateur endangers the lives of hundreds of uus-
conscions pagsengers, while in the other he i3 dealing with a few friends who have
placed themselves at his merey by their own voluntary act. Another distinetion is
that the driving of a railway train is a more difficult and critical ‘performance than
the driving of a stage coach or a private carriage. When talking about the timber,
Mr. Windbam did not say that it wonld have to be carried a long distance from
Fellbriggz to Norwich; but he did say somethiog about a distance of 20 or 23 miles
from the railway, as connected with the carriage of timber. He did not tell me that
the ornamental timber was not to be felled, but he said the most valnahle trees were
not to be cut. He did not tell me that Messrs. Lawrence and Fry were eminent in their
business, nor did he say that General Windham had been informed by Messrs. Law-
rence and Fry that they were the real purchasers of the timber, and not Mr. Roberts.
He himself introduced a conversation about a resettlement of the property, which
had been suggested by General Windham. He said his uncle had made a propo-
sition to him—he did not say when or where—to place his property in the hands of
trnztees, to pay a nominal rent for Fellbrigz, and to reside there until he arrived at
acertain age. He did not mention any other particulars. He told me he had re-
fused the offer becanse he thought it was to benefit General Windham and his
«children. He said his uncle cared nothing for him ; he only wanted to get his pro-
perty. I asked him about the Lewellins. He said they were excitable people, but
Mrs. Lewellin was very kind to him, Healso said that Mr. Lewellinwas a passionate
man and swora at his wife. I did net endeavour to elicit some langhter from him
in order to judge of it. One of my instructions from Mr, Field was as follows:—
* Mem.—Windham's fancy must be tickled to get him to langh”' I did not



attempt to “tickle his faney;” he was treated with great respect all throngh,
I did not find when I introduced disagreeable sabjects that Mr. Windham
was particularly anxious to change them. The interviews were nndoubtedly
of a very trying character for Mr. Windham. He showed a wry small
amount of intellizenee, and he certainly did not go through the examination
very creditably. There was no particular excitement about him, nor was there
anything in his behaviour or language inconsistent with the character of
a gentleman. His remarks were very childish. I asked him: whether he himself
had not been intimate with his wife before marriage. He said he had not. Then I
asked him, *IHave you not said so to others?” He denied that he had made any
remark of the kind. Afterwards I repeated the question pointedly to him, when he
admitted having said that he had had all he wanted out of his wife; * but,” he
added, “ I said so by way of a blind, not wishiog other parties to know what I was
going to do.”’ I learnt the fact of Mr. , No. 1, baviog slept in the same house
with Mrs. Windham the night before her marriage, from Mr. Field. I did not ask
Mr. Windham for any detaila of his debts. He seemed to be aware that he was
respongible for his wife's debts, and he told me he had advertised in the papers that
after a certain time he would not be answerable for any cbligations she might incur.
He was asked whether his feelings of friendship for Roberts would be altered if it
were proved that Roberts, and not Messrs. Lawrence and Fry, was the real pur-
chaser of the timber. IHis reply was that he did not see why that should interfere
with his friendship with Roberts. I attached great importance to that answer,
[ Here the witness, at the request of Sir Hugh Cairns, referred to the notes he had
taken on the spot; they did not containany allusion to the answer attributed to Mr.
Windham about Roberts.] I think Dr. Mayo asked Mr. Windham whether Roberts
was not called ©* Mahogany Roberts.”” 1 do not recollect the answer. I am guite posi-

tive it was mot I who referred to the nickname of “ Mahogany.” 1 was .

not aware at the time that Roberts was known by that sobriguef. [The
witness was told by Sir Hugh Cairns to look at the paper of instruction
furnished to him by Mr. Field previous to his interview with Mr. Wind-
ham. He did so, and found that one of the instroctions related to
¢ Mahogany Roberts.””] I communicated the result of my examination of Mr.

Windham to the advisers of the petitioners before the case was opened by Mr. -

Chambers. I do not think that a casual observer, judging merely from his appear-
ance, would come to the conclusion that Mr. Windham bas an unsound mind.
Such a person as I have described Mr. Windham tc be, may be capable of writing
a rational letter, and making bargains to a certain extent. Some lunatics, inmates
\ of a public establishment, are permitted to go abroad for the purpose of making
small purchases. I cannot tell you where sanity ends and insunity begins. It is
| impossible to trace the line of demarcation. Judging alone from what I saw of Mr.
 Windham in the two interviews 1 had with him, supposing I had met him with my
jmind a tabula rasa, 1 should have been loth to form the opinion which I have
- expressed to-day with respect to his imbeecility. But the truth is, that indepen-
! dently of the data supplied to me by Mr. Field, and of certain circumstances which
I assumed to be true, I had no meaus of testing Mr. Windham so as to arrive at any
eoneclusion on the subject of his mental condition. I repeat that the opinion which
I have stated is partly founded upon the assumption that certain actions which I
bave heard attributed tu him, and which formed the principal topic of conversation,
were really committed by Mr. Windham, :
The cross-examination of the witness was not concluded when the Cowurt ad-
journed.

TWELFTH DAY—WEDNSEDAY,, JAN. 1.

The adjourned inquiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed this day in the Court of Exchequer, Westminster, before
Mr. Warren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury.

Mr. M. Chambers, (.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Willinms appeared for the peti-
tioners ; Mr. Charles Rusgell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of the
alleged lunatic; Sir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward for
Mr. William Frederick Windbam ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windham.

The Master remarked that on Tnesday a question was raised whether a skilled
witness, such as Dr. Forbes Winslow, was entitled to express an opinion fonnded
upon the evidence taken in court. e had ventured to decide that question in the
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1 tive, and he would now take the liberty to read, as the matter was one of con.
gidernble importance, a terse and cogent statement of the rule of law upon which he
intended to act. In the case of Lientenant Pate, tried some years ago before Baron
Alderson, Dr. ——, one of the medical witnesses, made the following statement .—

From allI have heard to-day and from my personal observation I am satisfied that
the prisoner is of unsound mind.” Therenpon Baron Alderson made the following
observations :—* Be so good, Dr. ——,'as not to take upon yourself the functions
Tboth of judge and jury. If you can give us the results of your secientific knowledge
upon this point we shall be glad to hear it, but while Iam sitting on this bench I
will not permit any medical witness to nsurp the fanctions of both the judge and

j‘u]T'il
DE. FORBES WINSLOW—COXTINUED,

Dr. Forbes Winslow, cross-examined by Mr. Coleridge—I had not seen Mr. Wind-
ham before my interviews with him under the order of the Lords Justices. T con-
sider his a very remarkable case, and in some of its features it may be unusual.
I have had very large experience of such cases—for the last twenty years I have

confined my attention to them. I have seldom less than from seventy to eighty -

persons in various stages of lunacy under my care. I class the case of Mr. Windham
as a case of imbecility. In medical language it would be called a case of amentia
| as distinguished from dementia. 1 have constantly applications to examine persons
| mnder the Lunacy Acts, and I am in the habit of giving certificates. They are
occasionally persons whom I have never seen before they are brought to me for the
purpose of examination. If I am satisfied that they are of unsound mind I give a
certificate to thet effect. :

Re-examined by Mr. Chambers. I have seen vast numbers of cases of amentia.
Amentia is not downright idioey, but something between idiocy and lunacy. If I
were called upon to give a certificate in the case of Mr. Windham, with a view to his
confinement in a lunatic asylum, judging merely from what I have seen of him, I
ghould hesitate to do so. In my opinion, however, hia case is one which requires
eontrol, though I would not consign him to an asylum. It is an unusual case in
gome of its features. Mr. Windham might be able to conduet himself with propriety
if he had some person to take care of him. I have had several similar cases under
my supervision. In my interviews with Mr. Windham I noticed some things which
led me to the conclusion that he is a person of unsound mind. I refer, among other
things, to his insensibility to the impropriety of living with a person like Roberts.
In many cases of insanity we have what is called a paralysis of the moral sense—an
insensibility to decency and propriety. From what I saw of Mr. Windham it struck
me thnt Bé was not in a state of mind to realise his moral obligations. He had no
apparent sense of shame. I could not get him to understand that it was an act of
indecency in him to marry a woman who had been living with a paramour up to the
night before her marriage. i B ¥ ' 9

By the Master.—Insanity is a disease very difficult to define. No definition can
be framed that will be philosophically aceurate; in other words, that will be neg-
atively and positively correct, embracing within its scope all who are insane, and
excluding all who are not insane. Mental unsoundness may be appreciated ; it is
easily recognized ; but it cannot be defined. I cannot . better describe my idea of
the lezal term “ unsoundness of mind” than by repeating the words uttered by
Lord Eldon in the case of the Earl of Portsmonth—viz., “ a condition or state of in-
tellect between actnal lunacy and idiocy, or such a degree of mental deficiency as
would incapacitate a person for the management of himself and his affairs.” If I
were asked to test the sanity of a man, I am satisfied I should be able to arvive at a
aafe conclusion if I were to place before the alleged lunatic a series of designedly
fictitions facts, asking him how he would conduct himself, supposing those facts were
true. If I found that, under certain given conditions, whether those conditions were
hypothetical or not, he wounld comport himself in a manner inconsistent with sanity and
rationality, I shonld consider the conclusion that he was of unsound mind a perfectly
legitimate one. The cunning of the insane is proverbial. 1 may mention the case
in which the late Lord Erskine was engaged during an entire day in examining an
alleged lunatic withont being able, with all his wonderful skill and sagacity, to
detect the clements of his insanity. It was only when Dr. SBims, coming acci-
dentally into court, sugzgested to Lord Erskine to question the alleged lunatic
relative to a delusion under which he laboured that he was Jesus Christ that he
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emcceeded in establishing the fact of insanity. In my judgment the guestion | erex
the Court is one of evidence and of degree. Every case like the present epeaks for
itself, and laymen, men of the world, are quite as competent as professional wit-
nesges to come to a right conclusion, provided they have all the facts before them.
In cases of amentia—among which I class the case of Mr. Windham—one shonld
pay more attention to the actions and conduct of the alleged lunatie than to any-
thing which one might observe in conversation. A person like Mr. Windham may «
so condnet himself in even a lengthened examination as to convey the impression to
¢ your mind that he ig really competent to manage bis affuits, but immedistely
' afterwards he may exhibit such weakness of intellect as to prove his utter incom-
petence,

By the Jury—In my interviews with Mr, Windham I did not draw his attention
to the sinfulness of his cond: ct; in fact, we did not go into the ethics of the
matter at all. He appeared to be insensible to shame. When I am called in to
see patients I am very frequently farnished with the history of the case. The
general practice iz to be put in possession of certain facts. The opinion which I
have expressed of Mr. Windbham is formed partly upon the information I have
derived from others, and partly upon his mode of answering the questions put to
him, the difficulty in getting him to concentrate his thonghts, and his apparent
moral obligations, No right investigation conld be made withont a previons
acquaintance with the facts of the case. Those facts are the tests by which the
capacity of the patient is ascertained. 1 have patients now under my charge with
whom you might converse for s whole day without perceiving that there was any-
thing the matter with them ; whereas if I gave you the clue, you would detect their
infirmity at once.

By the Master—Inability to command the attention and incapability of sustained
thought are aymptoms of the peculiar kind of mental imbecility which I attribute
to Mr. Windham. Deadness to a sense of moral obligations is frequently observed

“ in such cases, in other words, thongh not a constant, it is a frequent concomitant.

DR. MAYO, FRESIDENT ROYAL COLLEGE OF PHYSICIANS,

Dr. Mayo, examined by AMr. Chambers:—I am President of the College of
Physicians. I have given my attention to disorders or diseases of the mind, and
early in life wrote a work on the subject. I was present when Dr. Winslow on two
occasions had interviews with Mr. Windbam. I heard the evidence given by Dr.
Winslow yesterday. Substantially be bas given a very accurate account of what
occurred in my presence. From the opportunities 1 had of having conversations
with and putting questions to BMr. Windham, I formed the opinion that he has a
very weak intellect and a very impure mind—one that I should expect to turn out
eminently unsound, if farther particulars of his conduct could be given me. Speak-
ing of his infellect, I should say he ig childish and inconsequent, particularly under
vircumstances where & man of intelligence would be serions. He makes disjointed
remarks. Speaking of the ethical part of the case, by far the most important, my
attention was most attracted by the method in whick he treated the relation of hia
wife to himself. All the phenomena of that part of the subject have been correctly
stated by Dr. Winslow. I remarked the utter and entire shamelessness he mani-
fested during the interviews. I would particularly epecify the indifference with
which he treated the question whether he had said that he had been intimate with
Tis wife before marriage, and that had satisfied him, and that, therefore, he was
not likely to marry her. Seeing that he had produced an nofavourable impression
upon us, he very conningly said he had only made that remark to blind people as
to his intenderd marriage. When asked by me whether he ever had been in bed
with three women at one time, he treated the question with great levity. He said,
“ No,” but Janghed. The adhesiveness he showed in his attachment to Roberts, in
spite of admitting a low opinion of him, was another circumnstance which indicated
an indifference to decency and decornm. Itsuggested tome his incapacity in another
sense—ineapacity in regard to the management of affairs—for such a man wonld be
sure to have bad associates and to give way to them. These were the principal pointa
which I noticed leading to the opinion I have expressed. 1alsoobserved that he had
made little progress in education, and on questioning him about mathematics, which
he said he had studied at Eton, Ifound him to possess a certain amount of intelli-
gence, but no more than would tend to deceive himself. 1 did not test him on the
subject of vanity or gelf-admiration. When 1 saw him I had not read the affi-
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davits, but had only glanced at some of them. The only information I possessed
was derived from Ur. Winslow in a short consultation we had on the morning of
the first interview. [ found my judgment almost entirely npon my own cbservation
of Mr. Windham. In my cpinion, judging from what happened at the interviews,
be is certainly not competent to manage himgelf or bis affairs. There are too many
names [or insanity. My own judgment would direct me to be satisfied with the
simple expression that Mr. Windham is of unsound mind. 1 should say, however,
that I do not differ from Dr. Winglow in his definition of the case. That condition
of mind is not inconsistent with the power of acquiring a certain amount of classical
knowledge, thongh a person so afflicted generally breaks down in his education. At
Eton, where Mr. Windham was educated, I believe promotion to a form is obtained
by something very like favour, and without examination. I was mnot at Fton my-
gelf, and I speak from what I have beard here. The power of making bargains and
doing certain sums is consistent with the unsoundness of mind which I find in Mr.
Windham. Incertain states of unsonndness the party may be kept under restraing
by the presence of persons who have a control over him ; but when the disease has
reached the point developedin Mr. Windham it becomes uncontrollable and defies
the obligations of decency and society. It may be controlled to a certain extent by
fear, or by being cowed ; but the restraint to be effectual must amount to constrainr.
If it be partial and imperfect, such as that which Mr. Cheales, Mr. Horrocks, and
even Colonel Bathurst seem to bave exercised over Mr. Windham, it will only irri-
tate and intenzify the condoect with respect to social impropriety. But, at the same
time, I wounld rather not place such an individual as Mr. Windham in a lunatic

lom. 1 would put him in the hands of a person who would prevent him
meddling with afiairs. It is guite possfble that so treated he might recover so far
a8 to be able to go about with safety to himself and others.

Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake.—He must be stationary at first. I do not
propose to pot him under the control of a keeper. His attendant shounld be himself
under the surveillance of a physician, who would see that he did not abuse his trust.
X do not think that every young man who enters npon a reckless and runinous
coarse of life should be placed under restraint. I have mentioned the defect in
hus treatment by his tutors, but I by no means say that hie would have been better
witbout them. It is probable that he did many things to annoy his tutors, but he
did them in an unsound way, and in substance they were irrational. The modes in
which boys annoy and irritate tutors whom they dislike are very numerous; but
the things done by Mr. Windham were abnormal acts, carried out in a very intense
gway. 'I'he actions to which 1 allade are those which have been described in
evidence. The idea which they suggest was thoroughly borne out by what I
observed during the interviews with Mr. Windbam. I entered upon the examination
of Mr. Windhamn with the belief that there was a large body of evidencs which would
prove that his mind was unsound. I did not read the affidavit ofeDr. Donald
Dalrymple, in which it is stated that Mr, Windham was addicted to vieious courses
of u peculiar character, until after the interviews. I did not see the paper of
instroctions which was furnished to Dr. Winslow by Mr. Field. 1 do not recollect
Dr. Winslow asking Mr. Windham whether he knew that Roberts was called
“ Mahogany Roberts.” 1 certainly did nov put that question myself. Several
of the questions asked by Dr. Winslow were new to me. My opinion
that unsoundness of the mind in Mr. Windham has reached snch a point

_ that it is uncontrollable by a sense of decency or sociul obligations is not founded
upon my own observations. I observed sofficient to convince me that he is cunning
euough to seem to be aware of gocial obligations. Assuming the statement of the
Marquis of Bristol to be correct, that Mr. Windham dined with him on two occasions
and behaved himself like a gentleman, I should attribute his condnet rather to
cuuning than t a sense of self-respect or the decencies of society. The reaszon ia
that 1 know him to be entirely destitute of any such feeling. To induce me to
attribute them toanything like a sense of decency the number of instances in which
he has behaved himself well must be enormons. When a man like Mr. Windham
commits a series of beastly and irrational acts there is a reaction, caused by fear
of the consequences, and during that interval he may behave himself well enough ;
but his condoct then must be attributed, not to a sense of propriety, but to cunning
and recollection that he had bebaved badly before. I admit, of course, that such
benaviour as that of Mr. Windham, in the presence of the Marquis of Bristol and his
family, is more consistent with soundoess of mind than with unsoundness. 1f it




conld be shown that Mr. Windham got into the fifth form at Eton by an E:m g

tion, that I admit wonld make his case an unusnal one, If I were told that he reached
without favour the remove belew the fifth form, I should say that would also make
his ecase an extraordinary one, provided that the studies, ae you say, consisted of
Virgil, Horace, Cornelius Nepos, the Greek Testament, Mathematics, and Geography.
Ungoundness of mind is not incensistent with a certain degree of efliciency in arith-
metic. A person of unsoand mind may go through the practical parts of Long
Division, the Rule of Three, and Vulgar Fractions, provided he has somebody by the
side of him to state the proposition. Mr. Windbam could not repeat the Greek
alphabet to me or recite any portion of Virgil—a cirecamstance which incresses
my suspicion that he did not get into the fifih form at Eton without favour.
Tt is possible he may have told me that he had not looked into a book since he had
left Eton. When I examined him I was not aware of the manner in which he had
been Lronght up and treated by his parents and others. The guestions I put to
him were very simple. He denied having slept with three women at once, but he
did =0 in a shamelesg manner, as if he could see nothing indecent in such a pro-
eeeding. I bad no reason to believe that he had so slept with ihree women. Many

questions of an absurd character were put to him. I have said that his remarks -

were childish and inconsistent. I cannot give you particulav instances. His talk
on many points consisted of bits of sentences tacked together withont any natural
eonnection ; and as I did not take notes on the spot I am unable to repeat his words.
He giggled during the whole of the conversation upon the subject of his wife and her
relations to himself and others. I do not remember an example of his disjointed
remarks. [t struck me that he had a good memory for events, but that is not an
extraordinary phenomenon in cases of unsoundness of mind. Upon the whole,
however, it i3 more consistent with soundness of mind than unsoundness. He conld
vot do the fivst proposition in Euclid, but he told me he had always disliked mathe-
matics. I did not test very severely his memory for events, because I did not attach
much importance to it. He knew perfectly well for what purpose he was being ex-
amined and answered the questions very readily, Some of the subjects were dis-
agreeable, but not to him; on the contrary he seemed to like them. I did not
obzerve that Dr. Winslow endeavoured to make him langh. At the conclusion of
the interview I asked him to write a letter to me. 1 said, * You know the general
purpose for which you sare here. I think it would be good for voun if you weuld
have the kinduoess to write me a letter.” He immediately took pen and paper, and
I am bound to say wrote a letter withont the slightest appearance of difficulty.
He handed it to me in the room, but said nothing. I believe I remarked it was a
very good letter, or something to that effect. The letter is as follows :—
 December 12, 1861,

' % Dear 8ir,—I hope after your examination of me this evening that you will be
able to give W favourable opinion as regards my case, which will aid to terminate
these proceedings against me; as I think I am wroongly treated in having such a
charge brought against me. I am, dear gir, yours truly,

“To Dr. Mayo. “W. F. WivpHam.”
T have not had delivered to me by General Windham or anybody eclse letters ad-
dressed to him by Mr. Windham. The letter to me is far more consistent with
sonndness of mind than with unsoundness, but it is not inconsistent with the latter.

By Mr. Coleridge.—1 am frequently called upon to certify the sanity or insanity
of individuals. I always see the patient alone. It is not usnal to supply the physi-

cian with instructions in such cases. He goes to the patient and does the best he

can to ascertain the state of his mind. I have generally received a statement of
facts to enable me o examine the patient. Unsoundness of mind is a fitter subject
for deseription than for definition. Moral obliguity, supposing it to mean perversion,
is one element in the proof of unsoundness. The violation of a ehild is not an in-
dication of moral or intellectnal perversion. It is a very vicious act, but vice is not
perversion. If the offence were committed in public, or under circumstances of
great indecency, that would make some difference, but still it would not amount to
a proof of insanity. An actof gross and shameless indecency, if frequently repeated,
wounld lead me to believe that upon inquiry I might find indications of unsoundness
of mind. There are many gross and shameless vices which are perfectly consistent
with the soundness of the mind of the person guilty of them.

Re-examined by Mr. Chambers.—If a man lying in bed, with a respectable middle-
aged woman sitting beside him, were suddenly to cast off the bedclothes and expose
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~ nie person, I think it very probable he would be found of unsound mind. Calling
the attention of yonng ladies to mules while staling, if done habitually, would be an

~element in the proof of insanity. The same observations may be applied to the act
attributed to Mr. Windham of locking bis wife in a railway carringe with a pereon
whom he knew had lived with her before her marringe. Mr. Windbam could not ,
repeat a single line of Virgil, but I draw no inference from that except that he was
a very ignorant. young man.

By the Jury.—It is not uncommon for persons who were formerly pure in conver-
sation to utter coarse and filthy langnage when they become insane. Slavering at
the mouth is an indication of the want of self-control. I did not notice anything of
that kind in My. Windham. If the whole of the facts stated in the affidavits were
untrue I should still say, from my own personal observation of him, that he is a
weak man, but I should hesitate to declare him incapable of managing himself.

MES. LEWELLIN—RECALLED.

Mrs. Lewellin was here recalled, at the instance of Sir Hugh Cairns, and
examined by him.—I bave a brother named Conway Dignam. I have not seen him
to speak to him since May or June last, when he stopped my cab in Vauxhall-bridge-
road, and eaid, “ Augusta, how do you do ¥ I merely said, in reply, * Conway, be
a good boy,” and then drove away. My mother died last year, and since then I
have seen him begging in the streets. He is a dissolute, worthless, lazy fellow, and
never earned a shilling in his life. I did not meet him and speal to him in St. James's-
street any time in September, October, November, or Decerfiber last. Idid not say
to him, ©“ Ah, Conway, how do you do 7 and inquire what he was doing. When I
saw him begging, which was in June, I was so horrified at the condition to which he
bad redoced himgelf—for he was left well off—that I endeavoured, throngh my
mother's solicitor, to obtain a gituation for him. T had no interview with him in Sg.
James s-street, and, of course, I did not say to him inany shape or form, * I know
of acapital thing you can do nicely. Did youn ever hear of young Windham ? His
uncle, the General, has begun to try to bring him in insane, and if you would swear
for the General it would be the making of you, and jou would not requirea situa-
tion.” I did not say to him, ““ The General will have the mofiey, and not his nephew.
What you will bave to swear is this—that you lived with Lewellin as clerk, and had
ample chances of hearing young Windham’'s hideous noizes and seeing his. mad
ways." My brother did not reply, “Oh, Augusia, how can you try to brisg a
younger brother into such amess ¥ You are aware that I know neither the General
nor young Mr. Windham, and I would not get myself into trouble by false swearing
for youn or twenty Generals.” I did not then say, ** You are very foclish ; you know
as much as other people that are on the General's side;" nor did I say, * Will you
go to a solicitor with me ?” He did not reply *No, I shall pot do anything
of the sort ; I would scomer etop in my present pogition than try to
ipjure & young man 1 know nothing about.” I did not say, “If yon do
not comply with my wishes I cannot do anything for you; yon are very
foolish.” . He did not say, “I would not go into any court to forswear mys:If or
injure my family's name.” I did not say, * You can take your own course. What
does it sgnify if you do bring in youflg Windham insane ? It will not injure yon,
but be the making of you. You dou't suppose I am doing this for nothing, do
you?’ No such conversation ever took place, or anything like it.

By Mr. Chambers.—When I saw my brother in May or June he was begging of
passers-by like a ragged beggarman. He never earned a ghilling in his life ; he
lived on his mother till her death. He is about twenty-two years of age. The last
time I sgaw him was the day before Christmas-day. He was standing opposite our
house, pointing at it, hooting, and getting a mob round him. Mr. Lewellin went
for the police. Two policemen came, and he went away. My mother died on the
2nd of June, 1860. I think it was in May last that I recommended him to my .
mother’s golicitor; but that gentleman wonld do nothing for him. On that occasion
he was aware that I was using my exertions to get him a sitnation. I have not
gpoken to him since he stopped me i Vauxhall-bridge road.

By the Master.—We took him to our house after my mother’s death, but Mr.
Lewellin put him away and ordered me not to speak to him. Before T came here
to-day I had not the most remote idea of the kind of questions which were to be
put to me. I solemnly swear that the conversation which has been detailed is
totally false. May I die in your presence if I do not speak the truth.
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The wilness, who said she was suffering from ill health, and who had given Lier
evidence with considerable warmth, immediately left the cours.’ %

DR, SOUTHEY.

*  Dr. Southey.—I was directed by the Lords Justice to visit Mr. Windham, T had
two interviews with him, having previonsly read the aflidavits on both sides. Each
interview lasted about an hoar. My object was to form an opinion and make a
report to the Lords Justice npon the state of his mind. I examined him at some -
length and found the case a difficult one. His conversation was better and more
sensible than his conduct had been. From his conversation alone I should not have
come to the conclusion that he is a person of nusound mind. My opinion was
formed partly upon what I saw, and partly upon what 1 read in the aflidavits, It
was that he is not competent to take care of his property.

Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake—The aflidavits were sent to me in November.
I have not a list of them. I assumed the facts stated in them to be true, and my
opinion was formed upon that assumption. Mr. Windham knew the purpose fur
which I was making the inguiry, and behaved in all respects like a gentleman.

Re-examined by Mr. Chambers—He fenced with some of the questions and
avoided giving answers to them.

By the Master.—I think his case is one of imbecility. Iis nnsoundness of mind
is consistent with a good technieal memory and with a certain degree of cunning.
1 spoke to him abont the state of his health at the time of his marringe. He said he
had eonsnlted Dr. Illingworth and Mr. Johnstone, but he denied that they had teld
him that the digeasze was of a nature unfitting him to marry. Supposing all the facts |
stated in the affidavits to be nntrue, I should still say, judging from my interviews
with him alone, that he is a person of weak intellect, thongh I shounld hesitate to
express the opinion that he i3 not capable of managing himself or hiz affairs.

The marriage settlement and the register of the marriage were then put in and
read. By the former Mr. Windham granted to his wife a perpetual rentcharze of
£800 a year, to be increased 4o £1,500 in 1869, when he should come into posses-
sion of the devised estates. It was also stipulated that the jewels shonld remain to
her separate use. The marriage took place on the 30th of Augnst at the district
church of All Saints, St. John’s-wood, and was solemnized by the Rev. Mr.
Maddock.

]HE';B, near the end of the 12th day, the case for the petitioners war declared
closed.

Sir Hugh Cairns said —It now becomes my duty to address you on behalf of Mr.
Windham, the subject of the present inguiry, and I do so under circumstances which
are to some extent almost unparalleled. The inquiry has lasted now for almosc 12
days, and during that time a demand has been made upon yonr patience and
attention which, so far as I am aware, has had no precedent in modern times. The
petitioners have raked up and paraded before the world the events of a life of 21
years. They have exposed to the public gaze, and that in no dim or hazy light—
they have piciured to the public view, and that ir no delicate touches—the yonthful
vices and folliez and frailtics of their relativa—the snbject of this inguiry. During
the whole of that exposure his connsel has sat there in constrained acquiescence,
except 20 far as by the privileze of cross-examination they kave been ennbled to
correct the errors into which the -witnesses bave fallen, and to elicit the
facts which they have withheld, and to expose the inconsistercies with whizh they
are chargeable. Now, when at Iast [ rise to address yon on behalfof Mr, Windha=,
I venturs most earnestly and respectfully to make of yon two requesta. The first is
on behalf of Mr. Windham himself. On hizs behalf I emtreat you to bring to the
consideration of the remarks which I have tooffer to von minds ealm, dispassionate,
unbiassed, and, I will add, jndicial. * Yon must remember that, short of the issue of
life or death, there is haadly any issne more momentons than that iuvolved in the
present inguiry. No mcre important issne, with one exception, can be submitted to
a jury or fall to be decided upon the fate of any fellow-creature. The second reqrest
is that yon will extend to me your indulzence while | endeavonr, however imperfectly,
to deal with the extent of the case upon which L have to address you—a duty and
task from which T might well shrink, but a duty and task in which I am sustainec

-~ _firat, by the feeling that T will not ask for yonr forbearance in vain; nod naxt, by the

/‘%nanviﬂiun that I am nbont to defend Mr, Windham trom a charge most crucl, most |

unjusk, and most unjustifiable.  (Cheers.) S e e



7

The Master intimated that, if he saw or heard any farther exhibition of feeling
on the part of the andience, he should make use of the power at his command, aud
adjourn the Court.

Sir H. Cairns resumed by saying, It may be convenient to remind you of what the
precise issue is. You are to decide whether Mr. Windham is ineapable of munaging
his affairs—not whether he is of unsonnd mind—but whether he is incapable of
managing his affairs by reason of unsoundness of mind, The ohject of making that
distinction is plain and simple. There are many cases in which o man may fairly
be said to be incapable of managing his affairs. He may be incapable by reason of
ignorance, or on account of inexperience and the want of peculiar skill, or because
of a preference for literary or other pursuits of a kind utterly unconnected with the
management of property, or in consequence of a ruinons and inveterate habit of
gambling. Such a person may justly be said, in a certain eense, to be incapable
of managing his -affairs, and, indeed, the Roman law made no distinetion
between unthrifts and idiots. But in England a man cannot be deprived of his
personal liberty or hiz property on the ground of incapacity until a jury of
his conotrymen are satisfied, first, that he is incapable of managing his affairs, and
secondly, that his incapacity arises from unsoundness of mind. The learned counsel,
having fortified his observations upon this point by quotations from Blacksione,
Shelford, and the declaration of Lord Eldon in the Portsmouth ease, proceeded to ask
the jury also to bear in mind that the presumption is in favour of sanity, and that
it lies upon those who allege unsoundness to make ount and prove their case. T eall
Your attention to the pecnliar nature of the insanity alleged in the petition against
Mr. Windham. It is not an ordinary case of insanity accompanied by delusions—a
case in which the great and critical test of sanity is the absence or presence of
hallucinations —but a case of imbecility approaching to idiocy, or amounting to
unsoundness of mind. In a case of insanity accompanied by delusions, the moda
of investizating it so as to arrive at the truth is a matter of great  diffi-
culty and doubt ; but in a case of imbecilily, where there is either no mind at all
or next to none, the task of coming to a right and just decision is comparatively
easy. It is impossible for a man who is said to have only a limited amount
of mind, or none at all, to assume at any moment or for any purpose a greater
amonnt of mind than Le really possesses. If the mind is not there, or only therein
a certain small and limited guantity, no desive on the part of the individunal to show
& greater amount of mind, or to agsume the appearance of a greater amount of mind,
can supply him with that which Nature has denied him. Henee, when a man is
eharged with imbecility, if it can be shown that for a considerable time and in
varions situations he has acted like a natural being, any acts of folly which might
be allegzed against him shonld be carefully, deliberately, and keenly investizated,
because at firat sizht it is next to impossible that a man can at certain times assame
a mind and intélligence which are wholly absent. Something has already been
said on the amount of property at stake in the present case. The only remark
I have to offer upon that point is that there is no graduate or sliding seale which
requires for a certain amouut of property a certain amount of mind; and that if [
Mr. Windham is eapable of managing his affairs, he is 8o whether his property may f
be estimated at £100, £1,000, or £20,000 a year- I mext ask you to put aside
entirely that portion of the evidence where the witnesses, not conlining themselves
tua narrative of facts which had oceurred under their observation, or to statements
made within their hearing, have gone further, and said that in their opinion, from
ﬂhﬂ-t:— they had heard, Mr. Windham is of unsound mind. Itis the province of
the jury to form and express an opinion upon the evidence, and I hope you will
not allow it to be invaded by witnesses, whether skilled or otherwise.

The learned counsel had barely commenced his speech when the court adjourned.

THIRTEENTIL DAY.—Tuvespay, Dec, 2.

The adjourned inqguiry into the state of mind of Mr. W, F. Windham, of Fellbrizg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed to-day in the Court of Exchequer, Westminster, befure
Alr. Warren, ).C., one of the Mastersin Lunacy, and a special jury.

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C.. Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams appeared for the
petitioners ; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of
the alloxed lunatic; 8ir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr,
J':‘Er {ltan.h:] for Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mra.

indham.
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EIT HIUGH CAIRNS' SPEECH—CoNTINUED.

Sir 7. Cairns resumed his speech to the jury on behalf of Mr. Windham. He
said, When the Court adjourned on Wednesday evening I was about to call yourat- ¢
tention, before proceeding to comment upon the evidence, to what I cososider
a peint well worthy of observation—viz., the very great advantage which
the petitioners have enjoycd with respect fo the evidence to be procured.
The petition was garnished with an array of names of persons of very con-
siderable '[:usit.inn and distinction in society. It will be my duty in the
course of 'my observations to comment, ﬂd,’l.nﬂ T will claim the right to
comment, with freedom upon the course cpted by the petitiomers. I may
remark at the outset that the heads of fawilies who have signed the petition must
possess, by the ramification of their connections and the weight of their
influence, considerable power in procuring from every partof the kingdom every
jot and tittle of evidence which could be obtained in their favour. Mr. Windham,
‘on. the other hand, stands alone against the family, with the exception of his mother.
We have here, for the first time in my recollection, that which seems to me ex-
tremely like the introduction into this country of the terror of domestic life abroad—
viz., the working and operation of a family conneil. The decree of the family coun-
eil has gone forth ; everything which it is in their power to do had been put in
operation, and the consequence is that members of the family who during the eatly
life of my client were in relation and conneetion wivh his tutors and other persons
who had charge of him in childheod and boyhood are able at once to go to those
totors and companions, to state their views to them, and to command everything
they can give in the shape of evidence. If the present had been a case in which
the members of the family were sincerely and fairly desirous of taking the opinion
of an English jury upon the mental state of their relative, as testified by their own
medical witnesses, there would bave been an easy and simple way of doing so.
Nothing could have been easier, without overlaying the case with the flimsy and
vidienlous evidence of railway gunards, policemen, lodging-house keepers, and other
persons, deposing to acts, some the most trivial and others the most disagreeable,
which conld be well conceived, to have said—*“We are ofopinion that the state of mind
of our relative is such that he cannot be intrusted with the management of himself
or his affairs; our medical witnesses say that his sanity. or insanity can be tested
by an examination on hypothetical cases; will you be kind enough to
gee that those tests are applied to the mind of our relative, not for the purpose of
showing unsoundness, but for the purpose of fairly ascertaining whether his mind is
sound or unsound ; and then let a jury say, having heard the results of such an
examination, whether there is or is not that unsoundness of mind which we allege
in onr petition.” That prudent and judicious course has not been adopted, but on
the contrary,. the members of the family have brought forward a mass of evidence
some of which is of the most disagreeable, not to say disgusting description, and have
not hesitated to expose to the public gaze all the boyish acts, follies, and vices of
gheir youthful relative. One obviouns and important consequence of bringing forward
such evidenceis to deter impartial and unprejudiced persons, who would have liked to
state the results of their own observation of the acts of Mr. Windham, from coming
forward inhisbehalf. Such persons might have saidto themselves, “Weknow Mr. Wind-
nam very well ; we have observed him doing varions acts in the conrse of business ; he
always scemed to us to be a man perfectly competent to manage his own affairs and
we ave willing to say so in open court.” Their friends, however, after reading the
the reports in the newspapers, might have remarked to them, *“See how his relatives
are bringing forward, day after day, instances of the most disgusting acts committed
by Mr. Windham; these acts must really have been committed by him, or his
yalatives would never have ventured to exhibit them to the public gaze; wa
hope you are not going to mix yourselves up with a case of that kind ; consider what
a disagreeable position you will be placed in when ybu find that a person whom voun
hink so decent and well behaved has, without your knowledge, committed acts of so
oross a character that his relatives would never have dreamt of attributing them to
him, far less of parading them before the world, without the best and strongest
rrounds for believing them to be true I think the petitioners ought to have con-
widered that such would be the natural and inevitable tendency of the course they
have adopted. There is another observation which I have to make at the outset—
viz., that the position of the parties in this case ig different in one most important

vespect, The petitioners have enjoyed, for the purpose of making out their case, an
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‘amonnt of time wholly disproportioned to that which has been allotted to Mr.
%ﬁnﬂhm for his defence. It will be recollected that so long ago as September Mr.
Corbellis had a consultation with General Windham with regard to this proceeding.
Daring the whole of that month, during the whole of the two following months, and
up to the middle of December, when this inquiry began, the petitioners had an
opportunity of scouring high and low—in Russia, in Scotland, in Ireland, at
Spa, and in every part, of England—for every particle of evidence which
could be procared in support of their allegations. The advisers of Mr. Windham,
on the other hand, had mo means of knowing what the petitioners were doing
antil the commencement of the proceedings in the Court of Chancery; it was not
until the end of November that an order was made by the Lords Jostices for the
issuing of a eommission de lunatieo ; and between the date of that order and the
beginning of this inquiry there was an interval of not more than three weeks.
Daring that short period Mr. Windham and his advizers had to get ap their case in
opposition to that of the petitioners, perfeetly ignorant of the evidence which the
petitioners intended to adduce, except in so far as they were enlightened by the
affidavits filed before the Lords Justices. Moreover, in a case of this kind, where
agreat number of acts and sayings were spoken to which were said to have
occurred between Mr. Windham and some other person, the only person who could
be brought forward to rebut what was alleged by the petitioners was Mr. Windham
himself; but, unfortunately, the law and practice of England do not admit of their
producing Mr. Windham as a witness before the Court. With respect to a great
many of those acts and conversations which occurred within the knowledge aply of
Mr. Windham and of some other person, examined as a witness in sapport of the
petition, I and my learned friends have been able to elicit from the witnesses many.
details which they either had forgotten or had omitted to state, and have obtained
considerable additions to the evidence which the witnesses gave by addressing
to them proper and fit inquiries for the purpose. To whom was it supposed
they could be indebted for the information which enabled them to put those ques-
tions in cross-examination? To whose shrewdnegs, intellicence, and clear and accurate
knowledgze of what really had occmrred could they be indebted except to those of
Mr. Windham himself? I will show youn in the course of my observations, the facts
which they had been thus enabled to bring before you, and the impossibility of their
having derived their knowledge from any person except Mr. Windham himeself. [t
is not my intention to complain of the order, as regarded narrative and witness, in
which the case has Leen brought before yon; but, without making any complaint,
I think a better and more convenient arrangement might have been adopted for
dicecting attention to the whole of the facts. I do not propose to follow that order,
but, on the contrary, to take an order of narrative which I think will enable you
much more usefully and conveuiently to follow the history of the case and the evi-
dence of the witnesses. There are four periods to which I will endeavonr to direct
your attention, and under each of which I will supply you with proper evidence.
The first will extend from the earliest childhood of Mr. Winduam, up to the time
when he came to lodze with the Lewellins, in Duoke-street, on the 27th of May, 1861;
the secund will be from that date up to the time of his marriage; the third will
include the time of his marriage and the events immediately and closely eonnected
with it; and, finally, the fourth will embrace the time which has passed since his
marriage, and the events which are relied upon during that period. In approaching
the counsideration of the first period, T am anxious still further to clear the
ground by stating most fairly and frankly the points a regards the character of
Mr. Windham which I am ready to concede, and upon which 1 agree with some
of the evidence which has been brought before you.  Mr. Windham has the misfortune
—for 1 callit advisably a misfortune—to be an only child. He is not only an only
ehild, but he is what is commonly called a spoilt child. He was spoiled, as Dr.
Bonald Dalrymple had very dairly told them, in the clearest and fullest sense of the
téerm, by Lis parenta—at onee indulged and irregularly and capriciously restrained.
Bis futher was a passionate man, and, as Dr. Dalrymple has said, his mother is
dleo a person of excitable temper. There can be no doubt that he was never fond of
learning.  He was pascionately fond of out-door employments. The two sometimes
| @0 together, but more frequently thiey are found separate. After he left Eton he
I Teally had nothing which counld properly be called education. There is not a sinzle
! tutor he had who ever attempted seriously and earnestly to give him any proper
kind of instruction, At Fﬂlbl‘igg—hnlj, as Dr, Dalrymple haa fairly stated, he had
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the run of the house and the stables. It was nataral for an ounly child, -with na
brothers and sisters, with no companions of his own age, with no companions what.
ever except tutors whom he disliked, eagerly to embrace the opportunity of frequent-
ing the society of those who were to be found about the honse and stables, more 4
especially of persons like grooms and stable-boys, who are at once most popular
with boys who are allowed to frequent the stables as much as they please, and
most ready to encourage and humour the whims of their young master. It was alsu
clear that he was a boy of excitable temperament—a passionate boy if they pleased.
1t was likewise evident that he was a boy of rustic manners and speech, especially
in his boyhood; that he was allowed to be so, and that there was no serions =
attempt to give him any kind of proper training. The fact that he was rustic in
manuners and speech was in some degree to be accounted for by the circumstance =
that he did not appear to have had in early life auy opportunity of mixing in the 3§
society of ladies ; that he had no sisters or female relatives of any kind to read or
converse with him ; that, in short, as an only child and-a boy, he was permitted to
run abont the house and the stables unchecked as to specch and manuers. Nor
could it be denied that in early life he was a sloven in dress. Afterwards in that
respect he became very much improved ; but that at one time he was a sloven i
dress must be fairly and frankly admitted. It was also clear that his voice
aud his langh were peculiar, and they would learn, from evidence of the moss
satisfactory kind, that the structure of his mouth was such that his voice and his
laugh could not be otherwise than peculiar. It mustlikewise be acknowledged that
he had very considerable powers of imitation, and used those powers to a very largs
and, no doubt, to a very noisy extent. He had a great power of imitating the Nor-
fulk dialect, and representations and pastomimes seen on the stage. He had a great
power of imitating the acts and conduct of other people, and he nsed it in a way
which very likely was pleasant to himself, bub sometimes not to those who were as-
sociated with bim. It mizht also be taken as a fack, which could not be disputed,
that he was a boy of boisterous animal gpirits. Iis mind upon the whole was nov
a powerful one, but little more could be said on the subject. If, indeed, we were
abie to do with the mind what we could do with the body—if we conld obtain an ac-
curate mental standard, just as we could ger a correct standard of height —I think
we might be able to show at what part of the meutal standard the mind of Mr.
Windham onght to be put. If we had sach a mental standarde—if we could show
that the highest degree of mental capacity is represented by 100, and the lowest by
#()—if the mean between 20 and 100 might be taken to represcnt the average standard
of mental capacity, very likely the mind of Mr. Windham would fall below, and not
above, the average standard ; but I think that just as we do not call a man a dwarf |
because his height might not happen to reach the average standard, so it would ba |
ridiculous to say that the mind of My, Windham, even if below the average mentak
standard, is unsound or incapable of managing affairs. You will be supplied witi
the clearest and most convincing proof that he is a person of great sensibility and
of great powers of attachment and affection. You will also find this remarkable
fact, that while, on one hand, he always evinced the greatest disposition to resist
and oppose any person who he did not think treated him fairly and properlys
g0, on the other, to any one who treated him kindly, and with judgment and
moderation applied the restraints which ought to be applied to young men of
his age, he uniformly exhibited respect and deference, obedience and at-
tachment. A word may be spoken-here about what are called his eccentric tastes-
Fecentricity is not unsoundness of mind, nor are eccentric tastes prools of mental
incapacity. Two eccentric tastes are attributed to Mr. Windham. The first is &
taste for the management of railways and the society of railway guards. Upon this
point nobody who has heard it can have failed to be struck by something whicis
cameont at a late part of the evidence. Some of the tutors, as a proof that he was
u boy of low tastes, had stated that when at Eton he was constantly about the rail {
way, and in the society of gnards, observing, at the same time, that none of the
other boys ever imitated his example in that respect. Bub it will be rememberec
that Bradley,the guard on the Eastern Counties Railway, who was called to speal =
1o something which occurred on that line, stated in cross-examination that whem
Mr. Windham was at Eton he himself was a guard on the North-Western line; t.hugﬂ
Mr. Windham was then in the habit of riding in the van, and that every
Eton boy did the same thing whenever he got the opportumity. Thera:
conld be no doubb, indeed, that if an Eton boy could get upon the enginey
[
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were allowed, under proper careand supervision to work the lever or blow
steamwhistle, that was exactly what he wonld desire to do. You will see,
ore, that the taste is one whichin Mr. Windham has been a constant taste, and
ich he has indulged from the earliest times whenever he had the opportunity of
doing so. Mr. Chambers, has asserted, in his opening speech, that Mr. Windham
bas been in the habit of acting as a railway porter. That statement has not been
fiorured. Some of the witnesses have gaid that he nsed to shut carriage doors and
eall out to the passengers to take the'rseats when the train was about to start; but
that was part of the business of a guard, and not of a porter. When coaches ran
between London and Brighton they were driven habitually by amateurs, who took
the shillings from the passengers, and acted in every re?enh like coachmen ; and
one of the sovereigns of a neighbouring country, remarkable for shrewdness and
sagncity, nsed to spend a considerable portion of his time in the making of locks,
and his fancy and delight was to associate with locksmiths. It is impossible to
account for such tastes; they are eccentric, but not proofs of unsoundness of
mind. You will have evidence placed before you, not only that Mr. Windham has
a taste for the management of railway trains, but that he has always performed his
work extremely well; not only that he was allowed to drive an engine, but that he
knew perfectly well how to do it. I venture to submit that it is no small proof of
competency, and of the power of acquiring knowledge, to find that a young man,
whether by means permitted by the railway company or not, has so informed him-
self of the working and operations of a complicated piece of machinery like a steam-
engine as to be able with precision, and to the satisfaction of skilled persons, to drivea
railway train. Mr. Windham perfectly understood how to apply the break; he has been
again and again allowed to drive the engine, and, with one exception to be noticed
in its proper place, not only has no accident ever occurred, but there never has
been the slightest appearance of an accident likely fo occar in consequence of any
incompetency on his part. The other eccentric taste attributed to Mr. Windham
was a fondness for walking about with the police and imitating their actions. Even
upon the evidence adduced by the petitioners, there is nothing serious in his
association with the police. It was evidently meant as a joke, though, perhaps, a
bad one. Owing to circumstances which are greatly to be regretted, and for which
his guardians were in no small degree responsible, Mr. Windham went through a
season of London dissipation, in the course of which he was in the habit of fre-
. z'l::nting the Haymarket, described as the noisiest part of the town. He took a
cy, not of obstructing the police in the execution of their duty, which some others
did without being called mad, but of making acquaintance with them and imitating
their airs and anthority. The joke may have been a bad one, but is it seriously to
be brought forward as a proof of insanity than a young man, under such circum-
stances as I have described, not attempting to interfere with or embarrass the
police, should choose to form an acquaintance with them, imitate their manners,
and show that he appreciated them in a high degree by comparing their superior
arts with the clumsy contrivances of the conntry police? A great deal
of evidance has been adduced in support of the petition; but there is one
kind of evidence which, I think, to use a phrase now familiar to all, is
*conspicuous by its absence.” I confess that I was much surprised to
hear Mr. Chambers say on Wednesday, “Here we close our case.”  With the
arrangements of my learned friend as to his witnesses I have no right to interfere;
but I certainly have assumed that the case against Mr. Windham would not be closed |
until you had seen in the witness-box every one of the petitioners who could by
Ehjaica.l possibility have attended the inquiry, and more especially until you had
eard the evidence of such of the petitioners as in the privacy and retirement of the
Court of Chancery made affidavits for the purpose of inducing the Lords Justices to
assue an order for this inquiry. What has happened ? Two of the petitioners have
been produced, and two only—the Marquis of Bristol and Lord Alfred Hervey. It
will be my duty to comment upon their evidence, but the Marquis of Bristol and
Lord Alfred Hervey are not petitiocers who can tell you anything of the least con-
sequence with respect to Mr. Windham, his acts, or his conduct. The petitioners
who could have told you what would have been of consequence are not produced and
fre not examined. In a ease of this kind, where, with a single exception, the whole
of a family are arrayed againgt one of its members for the purpose of trying to per-
gnzde a jory that he is of unsound mind, it is the positive obligation and duty of
every member of the family who so asserts to come forward and tell in open court
¥ a
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all that he knew—to state whether he knew anything or merely acted on hearsay, 4

Such is the bounden duty of the petitioners in ench a case as the preseat, and I ven-
ture to say that it is also the privilege and right of the jury to insiat that this shon'd
be done, or if it should not be done, to draw proper conclosions from the absenca
of these persons. Speaking of the petitioners as a body, what is che consequence of
their not being produced as witnesses? 1 give them the choice of either horn of
this dilemma—either during the fifteen or seventeen years of the life of their
relative over which this inquiry has extended, they were in the habit of seeing Lim
and observing his course of life, or they were not. Which do they choose? If
they were, why have they not been examined? Why were we to go to St. Peters-

burg, to Spa, to Edinburgh, to almost every part of the kingdom for those who,

from transitory glimpses of him at a dinner party or a ball, formed the opinion that
there wase something in his laugh, or the sound of his voice, which proved him to
be an idiot? Why are the petitioners, the members of his own family, who must
have b een the observers of his whole life, to absent themselves, and decline to
support their petition by their evidence in open court? Take the other
horn of the dilemma. Supposing the petitioners were to say, “ We never held
any intercourse with him, did not as a body recognise him, or admit him into
pur families, never associated with him, or endeavoured to improve his mind where
it was defective, or ‘his manners where they were rough.” If such is their lan-
gnage, I am not surprised at their absence. I should like to know, however,
whether the petitioners have really stayed away because they are afraid of telling
that they never saw their relative, never associated with him, never informed them-
selves about him until a time came when they thought the property was in
question. Mr. Chambers in his opening speech, referring to the subject of property,
takes credit for the motives of the petitioners, and states that General Windham is
so much older than his nephew that he could not benefit from the property. Let
them examine that point. There is an estate called Fellbrigg, which, when Lady
Sophia’s jointure falls in, will be worth £3,000 a year. The devised estates in 1869,
when the mortgages will be nearly paid off, will produce about £9,000 per anunm.
Here 18 an income of £12,000 a year in all. Supposing it could be determined that
Ar. Windham is an imbecile and incapable of taking care of his affairs, and that
his marriage is null and void, what will be the consequence? The person next in
remainder to the whole of this property of £12,000 a year is General Windham for
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his life, with the remainder again to every one of his sons. If Mr. Windham were of

imbecile mind no marriage could be contracted ; he would live and die a bachelor,

and the whole of the property of £12,000 a year would be as well and firmly secured to
General Windham, if he lived long enough, but, at all events, to his family, as if the
best conveyancer in England or the world were now to convey and settle it in that
way. It is idle to say that General Windham is free from the possibility of suspicion

becaunse, forsooth, he is older than his nephew. Here is the transfer of the entire

property to his family, whether he might himself live to enjoy his life interest or not.

But the matter does not stop there. Look at the position of the petitioners. Were

Mr. Windham to be declared insane, the authorities in lunacy would regulate the '

property. Everybody kuows that a certain sum is allowed for the maintenance of
the lanatic. Supposing that, ont of the £12,000, some £3,000 or £4,000 a-year are

allowed for the comfortable maintenance of the lunatic as a bachelor, £5,000

per annum remain. Supposing that the contingency of the lunatic living a long

time, say forty years, and the General not coming into possession, were to happen,
there would be at the death of the lunatic an accumulation of between £300,000 and
£400,000—a very pleasant thing for the next of kin. Who is the next kin ? The
otherpetitioners. Iam not going to impute motives, but those who carry on an inguiry
of this kind ought to be above not merely blame but suspicion, and they are not above
sugpicion if they shrink from the light of day and from telling everything they know.
They are not above suspicion if they shriuk from coming before the court, and allow-
- ing to be investigated the course which they have taken in getting up these procced-
ings ; and they must not think it hard if their conduct in not coming forward and
submitting to cross examination is severely eriticised. I find that there are eleven
heads of families who are petitioners before the Lords Justices. One is Mrs. Cecilia
Aunn Baring, who has made an affidavlt that she is an aunt of Mr. Windbam, Has
she offered to repeat in court what she has sworn before the Lords Justices ? Then
they have Mr. John Henry Windham, called Captain Wiodham, who has been
receiver of the whole of the estates, He is intimately acquainted with them, and
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witi everything which has been done about them. He knows all about Fellbrigg-
hall, is not & stranger to his nephew, or to the acta he has committed. He has made
an afiidavit that is part of the material before the Lords Justices, and before
the medical men. Where is Captain Windham ? Is he unable to attend ? oris it
sugzested that he cannot give valuable information 7 What is the reason he cannot
come forward and repeat in the court, in the light of day, what he has told the Lords
Justices, and give me and my learned friends an epportanity of testing the aceuracy
of his statements P Then thereis Mr. Hook, a banker in London, and one of the
guardians of this yonng man, appointed by the Court of Chancery. He could have
told the jury something about Mr. Windham's money matters, and the means that
have been taken with® regard to his education. Is it to be tolerated that such a
gentleman should be allowed to make affidavits before the Lords Justices upon
which he could not be cross-examined, and then withhold from the jury in open
court? I should have liked to ask how it came that he allowed Mr. Windham to go
to London to make his own bargaing, and to expose himself to all the vices and tempta-
tions of London life ; and whether at that time he was of opinion that Mr. Windham
was of unsound mind; and if he was, has he not neglected his duty? I
ghould have liked to ask him whether he ever sought to restrain and
rebuke him, or recommend to him a puorer and better conrse of life. Mr. Hook,
gold the alleged lunatic a horse in in the summer of 1861. He believed the horse
was worth what it was sold for, and that Mr. Windham kvew its value very
well ; bot how comes Mr. Hook to sell his ward a horse, believing him to be
of unsound mind, and not able to manage himself or his affairs ? Is it this circuom-
stance that keepsMr. Hook out of the box ? I should have liked to agk Mr. Hook what
steps he has taken to prevent the marriage of his wa rd with Agnes Willonghby, of
which he wasappriged ; or whetherhecommunicated the fact to the Court of Chancery,
who appointed him the guardian of §his young man. Now I cometo the Ceryphmas
of the petition, General Windham, who was appointed gnardian under the will of
the father, and who, from his intimate knowledge of the young man, eounld
have given the follest information. General Windham has been in Court throngh
the trial, but he dares not appear in the open light of day before an English juty,
and dares not repeat on oath what he has stated in four affidavita before the Lords
Justices. I should like to know when General Windham first entertamed the idea
that his nephew was of unsonnd mind—whether, when he allowed him to rash into
London life, he was satisfied with his mode of life—whether he remonstrated with
him and reproved him—and whether he endeavoured to restrain him—whether,
when he complained of the fendness of his nephew for low company, he (General
Windham) living in London, and in a distingnished position, took any steps to
introduce him into better society, and to enable him fto consort with better
company. I should like to know, further, what steps he took to prevent the
contemplated marriage, of which he was apprised on the 28th of August; and
why he introduced Mr. Jackson to Fellbrigg, for the purpose of bringing about
a transfer of the estate. To the evidence of the two petititioners who have
come forward I give the fullest weight, but I shall endeavour to show
the jury what is the effect of it. I will take Lord Alfred Hervey first. He
agreed with Dr. Dalrymple that Mr. Windham was an ill-trained and apoiled child,
and then gave varions details of hia after life. (The learned counsel read and com-
mented npon the witness's evidence.) The other petitioner, the Marquis of Bristol,
who has bheen examined, doss not even venture to hint that Mr. Windham is of
unsonnd mind. The learned counsel commented at groat length on the evidence of
Mr. Cheales, Mr. Windham's private tutor at Eton, which he said was inconclusive,
and did not justify the opinion at which the witneas had arrived. Adverting to the
evidence of another tutor at Eton, he observed that Mr. Hale, his mathematical
tutor, said that, thongh he had made a row when he came up first, he * funked,”
after being put into the bill, and ever after that, was very amenable to discipline,
showing that he acted like any other properly-minded boy. It was only when he
wag treated uunfairly or ecapriciously, as he had been by his private tutors, that
he attempted to resist anthority. Then, again, Mr. Whiteside, the cornet of
Hussars, said that he had never heard any one called * mad” at Eton but Mr.
Windham. I (continmed Bir H. Cairns) appeal to al who have been at the public
Bchools to know whether Mr. Whiteside's acquaintance must not have been
very limited at Eton if he has not heard that term applied to more than
one boy. The learned counsel commented on the evidence of Mr. Goodwlin,
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another tutor, as totally insufficient to justify the conclusion at wlhich he
had arrived. The next witness is Colonel Bathurst, who, no doubt, was
mortified at not finding a cultivated companion in Mr. Windham during their tone

on the Continent. Colonel Bathurst gives as a proof of the cruelty to animals |

which the petitioners wished to make ont, Mr. Windham’s on one oceasion heating
a horse he was riding until there were weals on ita sides. Of his eating, he said he
only saw him eat a little too much; while of his langhing, he observed that there
was nothing particular about it, except it was rather unrestrainable. As regards
Mr. Windham’s et lling the attention of theladies to the staling of the mules, nothing
of any consequence could have happened; or the atfention of Colonel Bathurst musgs
have been called toit, and Mr. Windham would have been obliged to leavethe party,
or to have made an apology for his conduct. Colonel Bathurst said he did not fre-
quently get into a passion, and that he did not see him get into a passion without a
canse. Asregarded the use of money, the only evidence given by that witness is
that the only injudicious use he had seen him make of money was to purchase a suif
of clothes which were not quite of so good a quality as they ought to have been
for a person in Mr. Windham's position. Mr. Horrocks, the next tutor,
wag with Mr. Windham from October, 1850, to November, 1860. There

had been a standing dispute betweegy them from the outset. Mr. Horrocks

wanted to travel on the Continent; and Mr. Windham to stay at Fell-
brigg. That established at once a casus. belli between them. As regards
the engagement. of Mr. Windham with the young lady of St. Leonard’s, and his
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wishing to turn Catholic, Mr. Horrocks would not deny that all Mr. Windham had

ever said on the subject was that he would not mind turning a Catholic to marry
that girl. Mr. Horrocks said that Mr. Windham ate like an animal ; but it must
have been like that animal called man, for Colonel Bathurst, who had been with
him for five months, had never seen anything remarkable about his eating. When
Mr. Windham was noisy and boisterons, he threatened him that General
Windham wonld put him inte a lunatic asylum when he came from India. Thongh
Mr. Horrocks appears to have been a very bad tutor, he was a very good prophet.
He justified not teaching Mr. Windham anything by saying that he was not put
there to teach him anything., That gentleman had been dismissed by the Vice.
Chancellor on account of charges made against him of his treatment of Mr.
Windham in boxing his ears. The whole narrative of the final dispute between
Mr. Windham and his tutor was one which does not reflect to the honour of Mr.
Horrocks, but it does reflect to the honour of Mr. Windham. Mr. Windham has,
with the knowledge of the Vice-Chancellor, been with his regiment of Norfolk
militia, by himself, for a whole month. The fact of his having been there entirely
annihilated the whole case up to that time as to his being of unsound mind.
It is very remarkable that no letter written by Mr. Windham has been
brought forward by the petitioners. I propose to prove in evidence some letters
written by Mr. Windham to his mother, which are very like letters written by a
young man of considerable judgment and ability. The learned counsel then read
and commented upon the following letters :—
¢ 8t. Leonard’s, Sept. 25, 1859.

¢ Dear Mama,—I have had a hard battle, but I stood my ground against going
abroad in spite of Lord Alfred's threats, which he sent to me through Horrocks,
gaying that if I did not go abroad I should not be allowed to go to Fellbrigg in the
antumn ; bnt I was more determined than ever not to go when I received these
messages from Horrocks. I told him, simply, I might have yielded and gone;
bot now, since I have been threatened and intimidated, I will not leave Eng-
land in spite of any threats. This morning, at Folkestone, he went with a friend
of his, who was going to London, to the ticket office, and wished me to come to the
station. Well, I walked down, and I saw him go to take two tickets; so I gaid,
< Where is the luggage, and where are we going?' He said, * It's on board. Here
is your ticket for Boulogme.’ I eaid simply, ‘ Then the luggage may go without me,
and go may you. I shall not touch that ticket, or set my fuot on the boat.” He then
eommenced blackgnarding me before the porters and people, called me a lunatic,
and gaid I was mad and insane, and never should come to the property. He said
to his friends, ¢ Oh, he has had a letter from his dear mother,’ with a eneer. I
must now say adien, and with best love to Emily and Constance, believe me.
yours affectionately, W, F. WispmaL

¢ Dirvect, Victoria Hotel, St. Leonard's-on-Sea.”
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“ No. 12, Grand Parade, Hastings, Tuesday, 28th,

“ Dear Mama—Alfred (Lord A. Hervey) is really too bad. He has written
again to Horrocks, telling him to tell me that I shall not be allowed to go to Fell-
brigg, as I have not gone abroad, but I shall be sent to some strict tutor’s to read
till I-am of age, in some obscure part of England. He seems to think he is above
S8ir Wood and everybody else concerned. Now I think very probably we ghall have
a war with Spain or some other country soom, by what the papers seem to say.
Now, what I want is to get our regiment embodied, and then Alfred cannot help my
being with them, and allowing me a good round sum of money. Now, if Lord
' —— and some others were to try, I think it might be managed that we should be
embodied and stationed in some jolly place like Shorneliffe or Flymonth. I think
you might ask him, or else I ghall try and get into the Life Guards, or some other
regiment, as the money is now reduced for commisgions. If I go on with this life T
shall go melancholy mad. I cannot bear it. Do look sharp and do something.
Good bye. Love to Johnson.—DBelieve me, your affectionate son,

“W. F. Winoman.”

(The Lord C—— in the above letter was understood to refer to the Earl of

¢ Pavilion, Folkestone, Monday Morning.

¢ Dearest Mama,—Horrocks has written to Alfred stating that we shall be here
for some few days, and that he hopes to be across the water some fine morning. He
is very much mistaken though as regards that. He has been writing to Lord
Belhaven and others, saying that you have tried to roin him for life. You musttry
and settle with Lord C—— at once, and lose no time when yon see him on Wedneaday
in getting him to do the thing at once. Horrocks says that he will never go back
to Fellbrigg, and that he should be very socon dead if he was to go; so we must

to get the appeal so worded that I can come and live with you altogether.

T hope Lord C will enceeed, becanse I want to have a London seaszon. If any

“Jetter comes for me from Norwich or anywhere, forward it to me here—Pavilion,

Folkestone. I must now say good bye, with love' to mama, Theodore, Emily, and
Constance.—Ever your affectionate son, “ W. F. Winpaam.”
¥ Sandgate, March 22.

“ My dear Mama,—The reason we left St. Leonard's is rather good. You will
be much amunsed how some of our friends find it rather hot for themselves. I found
some of our Torquay acquaintances there with whom I uged to amuse myself, and T
found then that Horrocks had met them abroad. Waell, I got to like the place, and
enjoyed myself. He found a lot of people he knew, but I only knew these people.
Well, we went to their house, and they and I got on very well together. Omne of
them which I liked best was a Roman Catholic. Well, I found ont that they alzo
Enew a little about Horrocks, and the moment he saw how matters stood, that
1 was generally with them, he took it into his head to leave, and almost insulted the
young lady he knew of the party, though she shut him np very quickly. Direct
Post-office, Sandgate, Kent, to me. I enclose you a note for Sir E. Lacon, which
El‘ﬂj" forward at once, and explain all which I told you fo write as well as to him.

-bye, dear mama, and believe me your affectionate son, “ WiLLie,”
. “ Baturday Morning, Sandgate.

* Dear Mama,—I told you that we moved here and the reason in my last letter.
‘Well, the adjutant has written to the Horse Guarda to get me leave ; so, at least, he
wrote to Horrocks. Now I want that stopped. You asked me in your last letter
how I was off for money, Not very well, considering that I have only 28 shillings
a week, and here that soon goes if any of the officers ask me to go with them any-
where, and it is no good to ask Horrocks, as he says, * Yon only spend it and throw
it away.” A donation of a £5 note would be exceedingly acceptable on Monday
morning next, if I could get it, but I don’t like to borrow, for there is so much row,
and one is really treated so much like a dog. Now one cannot get even £100 a year,
nor yet enough to amuse myself with, and it looks so foolish for me not to be able to
have any money, and people all seem to think so. I must now say adieu, trusting on
Monday morning to hear from you, and perhaps to get a little donation in the shap®
of a £5 note, which will be acceptable. Good bye, dear mama, and believe me
your affectionate son, “ WiLLram.'

 Bandgate, March 20.

“ Dear Mama,—I got your letter and telegraph. I have written to uncle Hook,

and shall algo write to Sir W. Wood and tell him I wish to join. I wanimy tailor to
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malke me a pair of trousers (military) for every day. He knows, if yon tell him,
what sort. Try and see uncle Hook and get me £200 a year. Now I must have a

vearly allowance, and directly, as I must join with money, like others. It ought to

be paid to Cox and Co., the rezimental agents. See to this at once. I think wa

shall go to the Isle of Wight scon. I ehall write a letter to Rir W. Wood, whom go
and see, and tell him from me ] wish to join, and also that my colonel thinks I
ought. Look sharp, go and do it, or better go with Uncle Hook, as he always sticks
up for me and mine. Good-bye. Your ever affectionate son, % WiLria.”

* April 25, Sunday.

“ Dear Mama,—Horrocks watched me so close, and besides, having no money, '

1 could not get away last Sunday. He goes up to-morrow to London, to see my
uncles Hook and Alfred about what is to be done, go look out. T write in haste.
Send me my clothes down here; that ig, my blue nniform and my white coat,
which I left, and my white waistcoat also. Try and get me two weeks’ holiday to
spend with yon while they are settling, and come down and spend them in the Isle
of Wight, and then the Vice-Chancellor will grant it—more likely so than for me
to come to Brompton. Now do as requested. Love to Johnstone, and believe me,
your ever affectionate som, “W. F. Windham.**
“ Sunday, 22nd, Victoria Hotel.
* Dearest Mama,—I am happy and contented, praised by the adjutant, and told
I march and hold myself, and learn my drill quick and well. I marched this morn-
ing at the head of my company. If they attempt to touch me, go to Cambridge
at once. That will stop all nonsense. Come down to see me when the weather
gets warmer. We are ordered to -hold ourselves in readiness for being embodied
perbaps. Good by, dear mama ; please send me a little donation, as I have nothing,
and believe me your affectionate son, “W. F. Wispaan”
Now would the jury, from what has been expressed of Mr. Windham’s youthfal
conduet, have believed without hearing them that he could have written such
letters as those? The last tutor Mr. Windham has had was Mr, Peatfield, with
whom he was when the Vice-Chancellor decided Mr. Windham was quite competent:
to determine whether he shounld go abroad or remain at home. He travelled in
Scotland, Ireland, and the Channel Islands. In Edinburgh they appeared to have
been very fond of going to the theatre, where Mr. Windham picked up a song from
a burlesque of Fra Diavolo. All that Mr. Peatfield could say of that was that Mr.
Windham in repeating it out-heroded Herod. Mr. Peatfield said that liquor excited
Mr. Windham, though Mr. Horrocks said that it only made him heavy and sleepy.
The whole evidence of that witness is strongly in favour of the perfect sanity of Mr.
Windham. The learned counsel, after commenting upon Dr. Nichola evidence,
said that the way in which his father has left hizs property to Mr. W. F,
Windham is a proof that he thought him of perfectly sound mind at the time
of his death. Commenting npon the evidence which had been offered by Mr. Johnson
and Mr, Scott, the learned counsel said nothing could be more trivial than that
which they had stated as proof of the unsoundness of Mr. Windham's mind. Coming
to the second period to which he had referred—viz., that from the period when Mr.
Windham came to Duke-street until the period of his marriage he eaid—I should
like to know how the goardians of Mr. Windham and Mr. Peatfield can justify bring-
ing him from the country and allowing him to choose the lodgings in Duke-
street, and keep the company which he did there? His bargain with
Mr. Lewellin as regzarded having wine at the wholesale price was cer-
tainly that of a rational man. His conduet, too, in allowing Mr. Lewellin
to take care of money which he did not require, was that of a capable man. He
was treated like any other lodger there, and had a lateh-key. Could any condunct
be more rational than that by which he had protected himself from an improper and
nnjust charge on the part of his groom ? 1fhe had all the objectionable qualities which
Ar. and Mrs. Llewellin now stated, how was it that they had accepted him as a
yearly tenant after having a month or six weeks’ experience of his conduct ? The only
instance of slovenly dressing which Mr. Llewellin gave was when Mr. Windham came
home after driving the train, and when he himself had stated that he was in a jolly
pickle. As regarded the alleged noise he made, the jury must test thatby the fact
that there was not a single lodger, or ueighbour, or passer by, who could be pro-
dunced, to say that they were annoyed by any one of those noises, or had felt them
to be a nunisance. The learned connsel referred to conversations of Mr. Windham
with the Llewellins as a proof of his mental capacity, more especially where ho had
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‘attempted to blind them as to his intentions in regard to marrving Agnes
Willonghby. Much of the evidence of the Llewellins was mere rubbish; such for
instance, as the runninz naked out of the bath-room, which amounted to rothing
‘more than Mr. Windham’s partially nndressing himself in the office before going into
‘the bath-room, and frequently running from one room to the other to complete his
‘toilette. There is nothing in the evidence, even assuming it all true, which indicates
‘any wilful or designed exposure. The thing is grossly incredible, and overthrowsa
the credibility of the witness, who has involved himself in numberless contradie-
tions in giving the evidence. The next piece of rubbish is the evidence of Mrs.
Llewellin, that when alone with Mr. Windham he had threatened to
rip her up. All such things as that generally happened when there was
no one present to speak to the facts. ‘Her whole evidence is full of gross
and palpable inconsistencies. His shouting could be resolved into the desire
of a boisterons young man, who desired to give utterance to his exhuberant
‘apirits by a hinting cry, wishing to do so with the least possible annoyance to those
in the house by throwing up the window and hallocing out into an enclosed buck
yard. As regards the cases of exposure, with which Mrs. Llewellin has charged
Mr. Windham, they are clearly and palpably false as regards the second and third
times of their alleged occurrence ; and if the witness can make a false statement as
regards the second and third times, she would not hesitate to invent the story al-
together. Then, again, with respect to the charge of dirtying the bed, than which
thers was not an instance in the annals of justice of a more ornel and barbarous
charge having been made as between man and man, much less as between a number
of relatives and the yonngest member of the family. It has been introduced by his
learned friend, and stated by witnesses to be habitual, the inference which it 1a
‘desired should be drawn being of course that it was that want of self-control which
frequently attends imbecility ; but cross-examination has reduced the matter to two
or three doubtful cases, when Mr. Windham had been suffering from disease.
The proceedings were here adjourned until nexv day.

FOURTEENTH DAY.—FeipAy, Jaw. 3.

The inquiry into the alleged lunacy of William Frederick Windham was continued
in the Court of Exchequer, Westminster, this being the fourteenth day of the pro-
ceedings.

SIE HUGH CAIRNS' SPRECH—CONCLUDED,

Sir H. Cairns continued his opening speech. He said, I have yesterday taken the
liberty of reading to yon some letters from Mr. Windham, written in the year 1860,
principally relating to matters which were then in dispute between himself and Mr.
Horrocks, and his own movements connected with them. Letters from Mr. Windham
will be produced in evidence, as it were by accident, because letters of that kind
will not naturally be kept. It is by the mere accident that they are relevant tothe
inquiry before the Vice-Chancellor that they have been preserved by his mother.
But since yesterday a fow more letters have been obtained, simply by accident ; for
Mr. Windham's mother, who lies onfa bed of sickness, and I fear on a bed of death,
is theonly person from whom we could obtain such letters. I willread four letters
from Mr. Windham to Lady Sophia, written while he was at Eton, in the year 1855.
Che date i8 not given ; but they written shortly before he left Eton :—

The letters arve as follows :—

“ Eton, Sunday.

“ My dear Mama,—I am very glad to hear you have written. I thought you
would have done so before now ; though I do not wish to break my promise, yet
it is very hard to find anything to do—in fact, there is nothing now, and the ice
is so thick. Now, Mr. Yonnge took some boys to skate the other day from here,
and would have taken me only the promise prevented him. But still I don’t wish
to break my promise, only, as I say, there is nothing else to do. My cold is better,
and so is my eye. Hawve you got Don (his pony) down there with yon yet, or
not 7 Will you write and answer me soon. There is very nearly a fair on the
Thames ; there are quantities of people everywhere. You can skate from King-
ston to London on the Thames. So hard is the frost that I had my sponge sud
water frozen this morning in my room, though I had a fire. Five weeks more and
1 ghall be at Torguay, I hope well and sonuud, Mr. Yonnge will write to-morrow
or the next day, as 1 am writing to you to-night. I have been vaccinated, but it
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did mot take. My cold is better. Good bye, dear mama, I must finish now.—

Believe me, ever your most affectionate son, «W. F. WaNDHAM.

¢ Faton, Sunday 15th.” s

“ My dear Mama—Saturday, the 31st, is the day, at four o'clock, if it all goes
right. I shall see —. 1 want to give two leaving books, if I may, of a gninea
each. Will you give me leave ? Mr. Younge will give mé an order. Will you write
me an answer, please, as soon as possible, becanse I have chosen them. Mr.
Younge is making me get up my eollections. May I ride Don up to the honse ?
Won't he jump, when I see the train come in ? I wish yon would let me have one
of the retrievers up. 1 want to make them accustomed to me. I shounld like
Duchess. I think the reason Goodford would not give me leave was because he
thought so many others would ask for it also. I don’t think they would, becsuse
il:hey would not know anything about it. Mr. Younge hopes you have received his
etter.

% Good bye, dear; I hope I ghall see your letter when I come on Saturday.—
Believe me ever your affectionate som, ¢ W. F. WinpHAN.

“ Kton, Sunday, 25th

¢ Please answer me immediately about the bookss”
¢ Rimpton, Friday 23rd.

¢« My dear mama,—1 am very BOITY for not having written before, but I have +

eo much to do that I have hardly any time for doing anything. May Mr. IE[:a.wl:r{'E
advance me some money—abount £3 of my next allowance, as 1 paid several bil

myself, and so I have none left # Will you write and let me know soon, pleasef
1 wish to ask yon because 1 thought it was best to do go, as I did not know whether
you had told him to give any besides my allowance. I should like a little present
of £4, becanse it is such a temptation to run into debt (if one has no money to
pay), as well as to borrow of the other fellows, and as I want things now and
then. Besides, there is my drawing lesson, which costs 6d. every time, as I must
put up at the hotel, and so it comes rather expensive. I can assure you it is only
a guinea and a half if I go there to the man, as it is a public class, but there ig
only one other person besides myself yet, but if he came here he would charge a
ereat deal more. Dutchman comes very useful for me to ride on every Wednes-
day to Sherborne for my lesson—in fact, I do not know what I shounld do withont
him, ag itis a good five miles from here. I have made my money last as long a8
ever I could, and T spent my last 2s. to get a ticket for the lecture, which we all
went to the other evening. Thackeray was the man—the celebrated man who
went to America. One heard a great deal about him in the papers. So if yon will
write soon and give me leave to ask of Mr. Hawtry for £4, or half of it, I shall be
much obliged. I should have asked to have had the little present of money which
you were unable to give me. I wish yon could do it, becanse I am sure I do notask
without reason—thai is, I like to have moneyin my pocket, and keep out of debt.

“ Good bye, dear Mama. ;

“ Trusting you are well; and, also that you will let me have what I ask for,

¢ Believe me your affectionate Son.

«P.S.—When will you come to Rimpton? ¢Gloria Deo in excelsis.’

«P.8.—1 think I shall be home about the 30th or 31stof March. Try aud learn
“Euclid, 8o as to be able to do it well during my Easter holidays.” -

* Tnesday, Dec. 2.

My dear Uncle Alfred,—Exense my writing and troubling you again for adviece ;
but I have received a letter from my uncle Charles, who wants an answer, and L
want your advice, because he now says he does not want to send Jeffy away, but to
let her live there without any pay, and to give Mary Turner a place under her; and
when I receive your apswer (or from mama will do) I ehall write to uncle Charles.
Now the first question is—Will Jeffy stay at Fellbrigg without wages or not, and, if
she will, what, then, can we give Mary Turner under her, who has only been a lady’s
maid? Theonly plan I ean think of is, that Woods shonld leave mama, becanse she
has not lived in the family except with mama, and let Mary Turner come and live

with mama as her maid. Give my best love to grondpapa and mama. I enclose |

the letter of my uncle Charlesto me for you to look at, and when I get: your answer
ghall write to him about it.

“ Good bye dear uncle Alfred. This will not trouble yon much.—Believe me, your
affectionate nephew, « W, F, Winpraw.”
I do not think, after reading these letters, that the jury will be of opinion that they
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‘have been writlen by a boy who had at Eton, according to my learned friend's
'upg;.ing speech, only digplayed the instincte of the lower animals, and who was
totally nnable to appreciate the value of money, and whose exwravagance was so
extreme as to amount to positive folly. I have geen many boys of 16 or 17 who
eould not have discussed the proposition about Fellbrigg with the acnteness, deli-
beration, and shrewdness with which it is discussed in the last letter. With regard,
also, to the handwriting of the letters, it strikes me as rather remarkable thata boy
who had lost the top joint of his thumb at that time, from the accident at Eton,
gl.ould have been able to write as well as those letters are written. The learned
counsel then proceeded to comment at great length upon the evidence of Mr. and
Mrs. Llewellin. He gaid: The partizanship they have exhibited in favour of
General Windham has been so apparent that it is scarcely necessary for me to re-
mind the jury of it. Added to that, they have contradicted themselves, and each
other ; and altogether their evidence is such as will not receive in any court of
justice in England the slightest weight or attention. I pass by the evidence of
,'?H.z-. Corballis relating to matters in Duke-street, as being of no weight; but
what has become of all the men servants 7 Why have they not been brought for-
ward to strengthen the evidence of Mr. and Mrs. Llewellin ? What has become of
the lodgers in the homse, of the two Mr. Campbells, and Colonel Broughton ?
Burely, as Colonel Broughton had dined with Mr. Windham, and had made a pilgrim
age with Mrs. Llewellin to get nup evidence against him, he might have given evi--
dence of some value to the case. The Rev. Mr. Bates has told you that his remon-
strances with Mr. Windham for ewearmg produced in him a mixture of sheepish-
ness and fear. Surely that was not to the discredit of Mr., Windham. The rev,
gentleman has also stated that Mr. Windham told objectless lies; but when
pressed to give an instance of soch a lie, he could only specily the occurrence at
the South-Western Railway terminus, which, if a lie, was certainly not an objectless
lie. Mr. Atking, the boot-meker, has formed his opinion of Mr. Windham’s state of
mind, from his having, on one occasion, ordered two get of boot-trees for one pair
of boots ; assuming that he was to supply two sets of treea for every pair of boots.
The fact was that the order bore no such construction, and that Mr. Atkins himself
admitted that two sets of trees for one pair of boots was not an unreasonable order
from a gentleman who lived sometimes in London and sometimes in the country.
He admitted, also, that the number of pairsof boots ordered was not unreasonable, and
that Mr. Windham’s mode of gettling his accounta waa most business.like, for he had
always be en referred by him to his solicitor for payment. As regards the occurrence at
Fellbrigg on the Tth and Sth of August, I was surprised that Mr. Hangell
put into the box on that matter, instead of General Windham himself, until I
und out that it was the endeavour of Mr. Hansell to put a complexion on the
matter that would lead the jury to suppose that young Mr. Windham had brought
Mr. Jackson there instead of General Windham. Mr. Hansell and Mr. Jackson,
who is the nominee of General Windham, talked over the proposal which was to
be made to young Mr. Windham on the evening of August 7. Mr: Jackson, who
i8 said to be the eolicitor of young Mr. Windham, the next morning made a
proposal which Mr. Windham had never heard of before. That proposal was that
Fellbrigg-hall should be taken from Mr. Windham, that he should be made tenant
for life only, and that it should be handed over and made a part of the devised
estate, subject to the trusts of the devised property, and in return for Fellbrigg a
certain amount of the devised property should be given over to Mr. Windham
to do what he pleased with. The object of the proposal was that Fellbrige-hall
should come at the right time into the possession of General Windham. That is a pro-
position made by one who is said to be Mr. Windham's own solicitor, to a young man
legally of age on that day (the 8thof August), though his birthday was not until the
9th, and who is now said to be insane. Mr. Hansell has said that Mr. Windham
did not understand the proposifion ; but his answer to Dr. Winglow showed that he
did fully understand it, for he had as, aceurately described the proposition as
& lawyer could have done; he had at once refused the proposition, and,
though Mr. Jackson was left alone for half an hour with Mr. Windham,
he gaid that he could do nothing with him. Mr. Jaekson, the acute London lawyer,
told him that he could cut timber from the devised estate, but Mr. Windham said it
could not be done, and the will of the late Mr. Windham showed that it could not
ba‘duna. He said that the proposition was not for his benefit, but for that of Gen.
Windhem and his sons, and, having his own interests clearly aud accurately before
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his mind, steadily refused to have anything to do with the matter. Tf Mr. Inckann. 1

had prevailed, and an agreement had been made, then you would never have heard

of these proceedings, and you would never have heard it suggested that Mr,
Windham was of unsonnd mind. I now come to the third period into which T
divided the case. With regard to the marriage, I wish to state exactly the view I
desire to present of that part ofthe case. We have had very little given to us by way
of evidence of the circumstaces which led to that marriage. There were two
witnesses present at that marriage who conld have given much information as to
the way in which the relations conducted the inquiry into the state of mind of their
nephew, excluding from the view of the jury the full history of the transactions which
were only given in such isolated instances as they thought properto give. They there-
fore have simply proved the marriage by the registrar, without calling the witnesses
to the marriage. The whole history of the marriage may be thus stated. Mr. Windham
Lad formed the acquaintance of this lady abont the time of Ascot races, in 1861,
She was at that time in the keeping of a gentleman whom they would call A.E.
She had a very handsome allowance from that gentleman. I believe of £2.000
a-year. Mr. Windham was very mnch struck with her, or, to use a commoen
expression, had fallen over head and ears in love with her. The lady at first
was not at all anxious or desirous to leave the position she was in, or to enter
into the married state. The gentleman A.B. had no objection that she should
do go, and the matter was one of negotiation for some time, the gentleman say-
ing that he was willing, if the parties themselves arranged it, to resign all
claim upon the lady, and after her marriage to discontinue any acguaintance
with her whatever. He ia a gentleman known to Mr. Windham, and known by
him to be a man of hononr. The lady was tempted by Mr. Windham with the
offer of a settlement, and she said, very candidly and fairly, what weighed in
her mind was the advantage she might derive, not so much for herself as for
the benefit of two young sisters, whom she wished to bring up and educate as
ladies, and to whom she could by marriace now give a better position in
gociety than that which she maintained. This had occurred at a time when
the subjrct of the position of ladies of this kind in the world had been very
much del atod and written about in the public newspapers. It was a subject
that Mr. Windham took some interest in, and it was the subject of conversa-
tion between him and his old, faithful, and attached friend, Mrs. Martin, the
housekeeper at Fellbrigg. He did not get any encouragement from Mrs. Martin,
to whom they could well imagine how utterly distasteful such a marriage was
and wounld be. However, the lady was tempted to enterfain the proposal by
the nﬂ?antngEs which were held out. You will find by the evidence which will be
offered that both she and Mr. Windham consulted Mr. Bowen May, a well-known
solicitor in London, who had previously been consulted by her in some small legal
affairs. You will find that Mr. Bowen May had given them both very whole-
some advice. He first suggested to the lady'that she might be doing herself
an injory by changing her state. He suoggested to the gentleman that
he was enamoured of a young lady of very expensive habits. He put it to him
whether his means were such as to support a wife of that kind. Mr. Windham
discnssed with Mr. May his means and property. He told him the extent to which
he could malke arrangement for the settlement to be made on the marriage. “Yon

will find that the lady first wished for an immediate settlement to be made of |

.£1,000 & year. You will find that Mr. Windham, enamovred as he was of the
lady, and anxions by any means to accomplish the marriage, demunrred to that,
and said that, having regard to his mother’s jointure, and taking the state of the
property into consideration, he could not in his present state of incoms, secure so
large an immediate annuity as £1,000 a year; but after some consideration the
matter was accommodated thus : After most eareful consideration by Mr. Windham
he said, “If you will take a small annuity for the present, I will agree to an
increase in 1869, when I come into the.larger income that I expect to receive
then.” It then became a guestion whether the annuity should be for life or in
perpetuity. Mr. Windham wished it to be a life annuity. The lady said, “No; I
have told youn candidly that I desire to secure a position for my sisters, and to bring
them up ag ladies. I1f I had a life annuity which might drop I do not know what
would come to them. I must have an annuity over which I can have mmmpl_l'i-
8o as, if necessary, to make provision for them.” It was an intelligible pTﬂEﬂBlhﬂn
which might either have been refused or accepted. It was accepted by Mr. Windham
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“and on that footing the settlements were prepaved. All will say that such a marriage
was to be regretted as being properly distasteful te society ; but at the same time
nobody can say that such a marriage was in the slightest degree evidence of insanity.
The medical witnesses have said nothing of the sort. It was a question of taste,
and of very bad taste; but at the same time men often get very much enamoured
and infatuated ; there have been instances of such things, and there will be again.
If Mr. Windham had married a lady of his own rank in life, and had made such a
settlement npon her, would any one have an%geat.ed that they could take the settle-
ment as a proof of unsoundness of mind ?  If the marriage was only a question of
taste, and no proof of insanity, so also the amount of settlement was no evidence of
inganity. Now, what was the course taken by the guardians in relation to this
marriage ?  Althongh it was so noised abroad as to be perfectly well known to
Mr. Hook, Mr. Chapple, and General Windham, on the 28th July, none of them
had gone to Mr. Windham and said to him, “Tell us about this affair, and let us
give you advice on the subject.”” The relatives would not interfere, although,
as Mr. Windham was then a ward in Chancery, there was an ample time to
have stopped the marriage. Even as regarded Miss Willonghby, whatever might
have been her previous life and merits, 1t was known that she was going to
rifice the position she held in order to become Mr. Windbam’s wife, and
uld it not have been right for some of those who now profess so much
distaste for the marriage to have gone to her and said, “Now, do not misunder-
stand ; let us inform you of our views on this marriage. We believe that there is
not sufficient capacity in point of mind in Mr. Windham to contract a marriage,
and if yon take any further steps you will do it at your peril” Would not that
have been a fair and reasonable course to take even as regarded Miss Willonghby ?
Byt nothing of the kind was done. Yet General Windham was in the habit of
seeing his nephew at that time. He had taken him to Mr. Jackson, in Essex-street,
to get him down to Fellbrize. As long as that little affair was to be done about
Fellbrigg Hall, there was not a word about incapacity to contract marriage, because
that would have been fatal to the little affair of the Tth August; and it was not
until General Windham had been foiled in his small negotiation, that he seemed to
think about the 26th or 27th of August that the marriage had better be stopped.
But had he then gone to his nephew or to the lady ? No. He had taken the very
mild course of eaying to Mrs. Martin, “ You have a great deal of influence with my
nephew ; don’t you think you had better go up to town and try and reason him out
of this marriage ¥’ As no interference was attempted on the part of any of the
guardians, the marriage had taken place. I now come to a disgusting subject,
which I will dispose of as rapidly as possible: that is, the state of health of Mr.
Windham at the period of hig marriage. Dr. Illingworth eaid that on the 23rd of
Aungust he found Mr. Windham zuffering from a disease which ought to have pre-
vented marriage. He failed to convince Mr. Windham of its gravity, but induced him
to go with him to Mr, Johngon., That eminent surgeon had said nothing to him about
marriage. All he told bim was that *“he must be quiet, and take great care of himself.”
We have not heard what had passed between Mr. Johneon and Miss Willoughby
when she called on him but we will show, by a witness who ought to have been
called to prove the marriage—Dr. Witburn, who knew Miss Willoughby, and who
wus sent by her before the marriage to examine the state of health of M.
Windham—we will prove that he examined him, and told him that he could observe
nothing exeept an abrasion of the skin, which could be easily remedied ; that it was -
of uo importance, and that there was no reason why the marriage should not be
consummated. On the strength of that opinion Mr. Windham concluded the
marriage, and Dr. Whitburn himeelf was one of the witnesses to it. The question
of the jewels is one which is very easily disposed of. There were two sets of jewels,
one purchased before the marriage, and one set afterwards. The set bought before
were worth £6,000 or £7,000. Is that present of jewels an unusual present for
the heir of congiderable property, and of illustrious name, to make to a lady to
whom he is going to be married, who is not anxious to marry, and to whom Mr.
Windham has to make presents to induce her to do so? The reason of the second
get of jewels being presented to Mrs. Windham, after the marriage, has been dis-
tinctlystated in the evidence of Mr. Daw, and by Mr, Windham himself to Dr. Winslow.
It was to compensate her for the injury which had been unintentionally inflicted on
her h}:‘ Mr. Windham from his ignorance of the disease under which he had been
labouring at the time of the marringe. Surely that present is no proof of callous-
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ness, inseusibility, or want of proper feeling. Mr. Daw's evidenee, continnad the fa

learned counsel, is of a character to prove distinctly and clearly that, in extending

the times of the bills of exchange, the conduct of Mr. Windham was perfectly sane
and sensible, and that he knew how to look after his own interests in business
matters. 1 will agk the jury whether in the matter of the jewels, altogether, they
consider that Mr. Windbam acted from what my learned friend calls merely the
instineta of the lower animals ? The timber contract has been much misrepresented.
When Mr. Windham came of age he had no ready money. He might have sold part
of the Fellbrige estate. He might have borrowed money on mortgagze, or he mizht
have sold timber off the estate. That was the clear and wise conrse for him to take,
and that was the course which he had taken. Now, they will prove in evidence by
Messrs. Lawrence and Fry that, in the contract made by them with Mr. Windham,
not a stick of ornamental timber was to have been cut. The contraet was for them
to take the whole of the timber which might be eut upon the estate to the
extent of £5,000 a-year if Mr. Windham insisted upon it. The point of
the contract was for the contractors to take all the timber of all kinds—
oak, beech, chestnnt, and syeam ore—which might be ent. It is a question
of the average price of all the different kinds of timber on the estate, and
not of oak timber alone, and therefore the contract was as reasonable and
proper as the wisest man in the kingdom counld make. Messrs. Lawrence and
Fry have given a copy of the contract to General Windham, and have told him that if
any one would repay them the £1,000 they have advanced on the comtract, they
. are perfectly realy to give it up. Mr. Roberts is not the contractor, althonzh en-

titled to a commission for having recommended the vendor to the contractors. Re-
ferring to the events which had ocenrred ufter the marriage, the learned counsel said
that the greatest wisdom was displayed in getting rid of Mr. Buck. In September
General-Windham visited Mr. and Mrs, Windham, and attempted to make a bargain,
which would be laid before them. Mra. Windham left Fellbrigg and came up to the
Huston Hotel, Mr. Wheeler's evidence in this case, as regards the state of mind of
Mr. Windham, is most explicit, thongh he could not remember a single word he said.
As regards the fracas, did that indicate any want of sanity on the part of Mr. Wind-
ham ? As regards the handbill, it appears that if that indicated insanity, it must be
on the part of Mr. Roberts, since acting as an injudicions friend he did it all without
Mr. Windham’s knowledge. The evidenee of the policeman in the Haymarket is
not of much value. Although Mr. Windham iz not a drunkard he evidently took a
good deal of champagne, and though according to a notion of a policeman he might
not be drunk, he was still clearly in such a condition that it was most unfair that his
conversationsin the Haymarket should be brought forward to prove his state of mind.
With respect to the evidence of the guard, who stated that he locked up Mr.
Roberts and Mrs. Windham in the same carriage, it must be kept in view that at
that time there is not the slightest suggestion that Mr. Windham was acquainted
with the statement that Mr. Roberts was intimate with Mrs. Windham before mar-
riage. As regards the medical evidence, the object in this case being merely to
establish the mental capacity of Mr. Windham, it is not fair to have supplied sng-
gestions to the medical men to drive a man into admissions of ungoundness. It is,
in this case, not like a fair examination, but like the torture and rack of the.In-
quisition. None of the medica! men ventured to say that, as the result of their
investigation alone, they could have pronounced Mr. Windham to be of unsound
mind.  That, from opposing witnesses, is a tolerable admission. They all agreed
that the conduct of Mr. Windham was respectful and gentlemanly ; and if the con-
versation was discursive, it was necessarily so from the nature of the matter nupor
which they were speaking, and from bhoth doctors interposing guestions at the same
time. I ohject to the mode in which Dr. Winslow and Dr. Mayo conducted the
examination of Mr. Windham, that the questions were not put to ascertain the
actual state of the mind, far less to elicit proofs of soundness, but to drive
Mr. Windham into admiseions of unsoundness, Next to the partisan of a
plaintiff or a defendant, the most dangerons witness i the partisan of a
theory.  Dr. Mayo is the standard-bearer nnd champion of the theory of moral in-
sanity—a theory always repudiated by the Bench and the law of England—and the
Jury cannot have fuiled to be struck by his curious and unfair reasoning. Instead
of londing the case with casnal and useless witnesses, speaking to things which
have no bearing upon the great issue before the jury, I will adduce evidence cal-
onlated to give a general view of the life and habits of Mr., Windham, and his
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'é’mpacitj- for managing affairs. In opening his case Mr. Chambers, referring to my
‘client, frequently used the words % This unfortunate young man.” I attribnte to
‘my learned friend perfect sincerity and kindness of feeling, and I accept the expres-
gion from him in all frankness. Would that the feelings of those who have in.
structed my learned friend were equally kindly! But after all, gentlemen, the
expression is a true one. The man is unfortunate who is the subject of such a
proceeding as the present. The man is unfortunate who is the subject of a pro-
ceeding conducted by his relatives as this has been conducted. The man is un.
fortunate who in three weeks has to justify himself for a lifetime of 21 years against
those who have had months to prepare their case. But have you given a thought
to the expenses of this inquiry P Suppose it were all at an end—supposa you come
to the conclusion, as I trust you will, that Mr. Windham ig of sound mind and
capable of managing his affairs—what compensation will he eive, I do not say
for the facts and events which have been exposed to the public gaze—for snch thinga
no compensation can be given—but for the mere pecuniary loss he has ineurred ?
Gentlemen, I do not believe that the hill of Mr. Emmanuel—large as it is—
would pay for the costs which Mr. Windham will be left to pay out of his own
estate for a proceeding which he has suceeeded in defeating. My client is, indeed,
an unfortunate man. Other men have passed their youth in excess, in riot, in
debauchery. They have purchased, by an expenditure of health and property, a
conviction of their folly, and they have settled down into active, mseful, if not
brilliant members of society. Other men have had youthfal vices and immoralities,
over which the kind hands of friends and relatives have gently and tenderly drawn
the veil of concealment and oblivion. Mr. Windham has been received on his
entrance into publie life by a panoramic view unfolded by his relatives to the public
eye, inwhich have been portrayed, not the events of his life, but all such isolated
acts as ingennity or perversion could twist into the appearance of that which is
hideous and obscene. And what is the object for which this has been done ? That
a young man, the heir to a considerable property and to an illustrious name, who
from his boyhood upwards has gone out and come in, who has acted and been
trezted by all about him as capable and sane, with whom his relatives have dealt
and bargained and negotiated upon a footing of perfect equality, who has been
deliberately allowed by them to go out into the world and to enter fnto contracts,
including among them the most momentous contract of life, should now be adjudged
incapable of taking care of himself, in order that his persecutors ghould be anthorized
to administer his estate. In one of the books which Mr. Windham nsed to read at
Eton there ia a story told of a tyrant in ancient days who invented for his prisoners

the terrible torture of chaining a living man to a lifeless body, leaving the living to
die, and both to decorapose together.

* Mortua quin etiam jungebat corpora vivis,
Componens manibusque manus atque oribug ora,
Tormenti genus; et sanie taboque finentes
Complexu in misero, longd sic morte necabat.”

That, in truth, was a melancholy and terrible fate; but I own that seems to me a
severer punishment, and a more eruel, becanse a more exquisite and a more enduring
torture, which would consign a warm and living soul, with all its sensibilities and
affactions, with allits hopes and aspirations, with all its powers of enjoying life and
everyihing that makes life valuable, to the icy and corpse-like embrace of lezal
incapacity and lunatic restraint. Such, gentlemen, is the torture which his
relatives have prepared for Mr., Windham, and ef that torture they ask you to be
the ministrants and agents. But, gentlemen, I appeal from them to youn. From
them, from whom I ean anticipate no merey, I appeal to yon, from whom I can
confidently expect justice. T implore of you, geutlemen, to aweep away the cobweba
which theory and prejudice, which partizanship and ignorance, which interest and
falsehood have woven around this case, and to ghow by your verdict, as often has
shown before, that, whatever gloss and whatever covering may be thrown
 @round a proceeding such as I have endeavoured fo expose, it is at once the
]_ngheﬂ‘and most grateful duty of an English jury to detect deceit and to defoat
oppreasion,
At the conclusion of the learned gentleman’s speech, a burst of cheering rose from
audience, which the officers of the court were unablo to repress.
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WITNESSES FOR THE DEFENCE.—DR. H. TUKE. !

Dr. Harrington Tuke (examined by Mr. Karslake)—I have entirely devoted my :
attention to the treatment of diseases or disorders of the mind. I have examined
Mr. Windham on several occasions in order to test the state of his mind. Those

interviews lasted altogether about 14 hours. I kad not previously received any

instructions. On the 12th of November, Mr. Windham told me what things were
alleged against him—his marriages, his purchases of jewellery, his engine-driving,

and the barring of the entail of his estates. He said the petition against him would

not suceeed, and he told me the reason why. The principal mover, he said, was

General Windham, his uncle ; but he did not think he wounld dare to pursue the
matter. *° The old general,” he added, * knows 1 am guite well.” He said hig father

had saved General Windham from the consequences of some act which he had done

years ago by pretending that he was insane. I remarked that it was a disagreeable
family quarrel, and that a compromise should be effected. We went to the office of
Mr. Coe, his solicitor, in Essex-street, and Mr. Windham there gave orders for his
defence against the suit of the petitioners. During our conversatiens I had many
opportunities of seeing his deportment with his solicitor and his counsel. He
perfectly understood the nature of the proceedings against him, and took a consider-
able part in all the discussions, showing great powers of memory and attention, and
2 thorough knowledge of the nature of his estate, and how it would be affected.

During those interviews I ascertained many facts connected with his history and

property, and I read carefully all the affidavits filed against him. It was stated in
the affidavits that he had no religion. I called his attention to that subject. He
told me he was a Protestant, had been confirmed, regularly attended chureh, and
believed in the doctrine of rewards and punishments. He seemed to me to be quite
clear on the subject of religion. . Onone occasion he said, ** This marriage of mine is all
my uncle's doing. He would not let me marry a young lady to whom I was much
attached.” He described her as the daughter of a near neighbour of his in the
country. He added, “ Things would have been very different if I had married ber.”
The next topic was his education. He told me he had been at Eton in the filth
form, and had read Homer and Virgil. There was a Cicero on the table—a volume
of the Orafions. He said he had never read Cicero at school. I asked him
whether he eonld do the first proposition in Euclid. He said he thonght he could
do it, and went through it very correctly. We spoke about the vaiue of his estates,
and he gaid Fellbrige was worth £3,000 odd a-year, but he had to pay his mother's
jointure and his wife's annuity, besides taxes and other, expenses, and go had very
little remaining for himself. He said his debis were about £25,000 or £30,000. I
agked how he proposed to pay them. He replied, * Oh! I hope Lshall live quistly at
Felibrige. My debts are principally to Emmanuel, the jeweller, and he won't
press me. I shall have £350 a month for my timber, and my mother’s jointure
must some day fall in.” On another occasion he said if he had no other
way of payingz his debts he would have to sell Lis reversion. . About his eng ne-
driving he said he was passionately fond of it, and if he were mad for that, so also
were two noblemnen whose names he mentioned. Ho gaid he conld drive a railway
train to a minute, and added, © You would hardly believe it possible that when in a
railway carringe I can time by my watch the exact rate of our progrees.” I asked
about his being called “ Captain.” He deried that he was called * Capiain ” as o
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general rule, or that he liked it ; but he said he was a senior leutenant, or acted as
genior lieutenant, sometimes even as captain, in the Norfolk Militia. I alluded to an
insinuation in the affidavits that he had threatened to shoot himself with pistols;

he replied, “ Oh, those pistols were given to me by my uncle. They are ornamental,

and 1 was fond of having them with me. My uncle told me he had shot six men .

" with one of them at Cawnpore.” He said the charge of having threatened to

PR

commit suicide was all nonsense, and he convineed me that it was so. He also told

me that the presenting of pistols at Atkins, the bootmalker, was a piece of fun.

asked him if he had or had not communicated a certain disorder to his wife, and if
he had done so knowingly. He said * I loved her too much for that. It has made
a dreadful quarrel between us; she is so dreadfully angry about it.” Ie told me he
had been ill a long time before marriage, but he did not know the disease he was
suffering from was infections. Ie said he had consulted Dr. Whitburn, the medical

attendant Miss of Willoughby, and had been informed that he was ina fit state to MAPTYs
1 spoke to him about slavering at the mouth. He said he had uearly conguered
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~the habit, but the malformation of his mouth prevented him from getting
‘rid of it altogether. 1 questioned him about his alleged dirty habits. Fe
replied that the affidavit made by Mrs. Lewellin was a < pack of lies.” He gaid that
on one occasion after eating pickled cabbage he had a severe attack of diarrhoea.
Bpeaking of the dinner parties mentioned by the Lewelling, ho said he had asked
friends to dine with him, bat the. parties were put off, and it was all untrues aboug
his ordering dinver aud forge:ting it. I drew his attention to his alleged mig.
conduct in the Norwich Theatre. [le replied, «Oh, I was rather too fast, I sn |
pose.” He denied all the allegations of the Lewelling as to indecency. He talked

about the affidavit made by Horrocks, He said, *“ Oh, Horrocks will at once say I
am a fool. I got him turned out of his place for his bebaviour to me, and I argued
the case mysell before the Vice-Chancellor.,” He told me he had been at a Roman
Catholic chapel once, and might have said that he would as soon be a Roman
Catholie as a Protestant. He treated the matter lightly, as if he did not thinlk

house of Dr. Sntherland. D, Sutherland examined him at considerable length, and
afterwards Mr. Windham gave him an outline of the allegations against him. His
~ account was an accarate one—extremely correct. The next time I saw Mr.
Windham was on the 5th of December. He came to my apartments in Albemarle-
‘street with Mr. Coe, his solieitor, who brought a placard addressed to * the people
of Great Britain,” and was very much annoyed at Mr. Windham for having,
as he thought, written it. M Windbham gave us an account of Roberts
baving written. it, and. I think he said that Roberts had signed Lis

him he had become respousible for it, and said the placard was calen-
lated to do great mischief. He replied, *Oh, as long as it was ngt libellous, T
said to Roberts he might print it.” T said to him * Don't you think it g great shame
- to publish the names’ of all these ladies who certainly do not seem to have taken

proceedings against you?” He said he had not thought of that, but would stop the
circulation as far as he conld, and after some time he went off expressing his intention
to do so. Next day I saw him again, and told him the placard had been cirenlated.,
He said “It is a great shame ; that obstinate fellow Roberts would do it. I took
them all off in a eab yesterday from Piceadilly, but he sent for them afterwards
withont my knowledge, and has distributed them all over London.” The last tima
T spoke to him before this inquiry commenced was on the 11¢h of Decertber, the day
on which he was examined by Dr. Winslow and Dy, Mayo. He said he was ve
much tired and exhausted, and gave me a general account of hia interview with Dy,
Winslow and Dr. Mayo. Dr. Connolly, who was present, thonght he wasg too tired
to undergo another examination, and then Mr. Windham left us, I never, during
the whole of the inzerview, saw the slightest indication of unsoundness of mind. [
found no inconsequence, no incoberency, no want of abtention. Hig views appeared
to me to be clear and well-defined, At the first interview we wai i
the arrival of his solicitor. Mr. Windham at last said, * We need not wait any longer
he is always drunk, and I intend baving another solicitor,”
tion was not Mr. Coe.

The inquiry was agnin adjourned.

SIXTEENTH DAY.—Moxbay, Jan, 6.

The adjonrnad inquiry into the state of mind of Me, W. Windha,m, afl Fellbrigg.
| hall, Norfolk, was resamed this day in the Court of Exchequer, Westmiuster, before
BMr. Werren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a sprcial jury,
L My M, Chambers, Q C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Home Williams appeared for the
Petitioners ; Mr, Charles Russell for Lody Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the movher of
't:j allezed lunatic; Sir Hugeh Cairns, Q.C., Mr, Karslake, Q.C., and My, Milwaxd
#

"

Mr. William Frederick W indham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs, Windham.
EXAMINATION oF MR, WINDHAR,

. At the opening of the Court this day, the Master eaid—Tt is the wnanimons
I%inirm of the jury and myself that an interview with Mr. Windham, at the cloge
t the case, shonld tale place withont the pregence of connsel,

r. Chambers said—T think thig is hardly according to the usual practice, I
8k the Master to come to no decision on the subject until the time arrives,

, One of the Jurymen remarked, that in the case of Sir Hefry Meux, in which

é
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Mr. Chambers himself was engaged, none of the counsel were present at the
examination of the alleged lunatic. i |
The Master.—The same thing happened in a case ried before me down in Devon-
ghire, when both Mr. Coleridge and Mr. Karslake appeared as counsel. ‘
Mr. Coleridge begged to remind the bMaster that the reason why neither he nor
Mr. Karslake could be present at the interview with the alleged lunatic in Devon-
shire was that they were obliged to go to the seasions at Bristol, which happened to
be held on the same day; and the learned gentleman added, with a smile, that
swhich fixes the circumstance so strongly in; my memory is that both myself and my
learned friend, and, indeed the whole Western Circuit, got into a terrible mess with
the newspapers, because we could not be in two places at one time. i
It was eventnally arranged that the question of the presence of counsel at the
interview with Mr. Windham should stand over for further consideration. -

DE. TUKE'S EXAMINATION—CONCLUDED. ‘

Dr. Tuke cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—I have seen Mr. Windham abount
ten times inall. T had 20 hours of absolnte interviews and long conversations with
him. I was alone with him only on the 12th of November. At the first inter-
view—on the 6th of November—Mrs. Windham, Mr. Gwin, Dr. Neale, and’ Dr.
‘Stevens were present. That interview took place in the drawing-room of the house -
in Piceadilly. It was Mr. Gwin who first applied to me to go there. No informa- -
tion, or next to none, was given to me beforehand. Roberts was not present ;
indeed, I have never geen him. The two medical gentlemen heard only part of the
conversation, and for 20 minutes I talked with Mr. Windham alone in the
embrasure of the window. I did not learn that Dr. Neale and Dr. Stevens had been
brought by Mrs. Windham. Mr. Berry Hutchinson, the solicitor of Mr. Windham,
was also expected. I have already given an aceurate account of the eonversation.
Mr. Windham told me, in the presence of the medical men, that his uncle, the
Greneral, would not dare to get into the witness-box ; but it was when we were :lone
that he roferred to his father having saved the General many years ago from
a serious charge under the plea that he was insane. The medical men seem=ad
to pay little attention to the conversation; bot it is possible that they may
have heard all that passed while they wera there. They left the honse in abou
half-an-hour after my arrival. Mr. Windham also told me that another uncle
swwhom he did not npame, but who he said was always drunk, who had
suffeved from delirium fremens, and who was uearly blind, would not darve
to appear in the witness-box. I think he said that the gentleman in gquestion was
his eldest uncle. I do not recollect his saying that General Windham had had
delirum tremens ; but he may have said so. I distinctly state that it was General
Windham who he said had been protected by his father nnder the plea thathe was in.
sane. [ Here Mr. Chambers handed up to the witness & few sheets of paper containing
notes which Dr. Tuke had produced while under examination by Mr. Karslake the
day before, and asked him to refresh his memory upon the point to which he had just
spoken.] Isee I have written in my notes that the words nsed by Mr. Windham
were, “ My eldest uncle has had delirum tremens, and my father saved him from
prison by pretending he was mad. Wis character will not bear investigation, and he
lknows I am quite well.”” The explanation is that I have confounded the two uncles
in my notes. When I made the notes I wrote what my impression was at thab

time, but my recollection is now quite elear that it was General Windham, and
not his eldest uncle, whom he said had been saved from prison by his father, on thes
ground of insanity. The uotes I now hold in my hand are not the original notes
but copies of the original notes and of some other notes which I made on marging
of the affidavits. I destroyed the original notes. T am aware that it is always ims
ortant to preserve original notes; but in the present instance their destraction is &
matter of little importance, because the notes befors me are correct copies of
them, with the additions I have mentioned. T am quite positive that Mr. Windham
told me that his eldest uncle had had delirium fremens. His eldest uncle is Captain
Windhan. :
Mr. Chambers.—And he never had delirivm fremens. 4
Mr. Karslake.—I object (o my learned friend giving evidence in this case, espés
cially since Captain Windham will not come into the witness-box. |
Mr. Chambers,.—He and all other petitioners will come into the witness-box if you

eall them. i
il
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Mr. Karslake.—A precions proposal, indeed!

Witness resumed.—I agree with Dr. Winslow that the sanity or insanity of Mr.
Windham will depend upon facts and facts alone. Awong the afiidavite I read
that of Dr. Buck. Iregarded it as quite immaterial, but 1 spoke to Mr. Windham
about one statement in it to the eflect that he had nearly cut off his hand. Mr.
Windham explained the oceurrence. I did not question him as to another statement
in the affidavit of Dr."Buck—viz., that when Dr. Buck was sent for to see Mr. Wind-
ham at Fellbrigg, in September, he was asked by Mrs. Windham whether he did not
think her husband was being poisoned by his relatives. I wish you to understand
that I entirely wiped out of my mind the notion that Mr. Windham was labuuring
under delusions. If he had told me that he had suggested to his wife the idea that
his relatives were trying to poison him I think I should have attributed it to a de-

lusion. It would also bave indicated very weak intellectual capacity. There are |

absolute idiots, and there are persons afilicted with deficiency of intellect and im-
becility of mind., Among the imbecile class, not qualified for the Asylum for Idiots,
there are many persons of unsound mind. Itisquite possible that some of these
persons may have admirable memories—that is, on one or two points; but the
general rule is quite the reverse. Some imbeciles may be educated, and be able to
be tanght Latin and Greek, but such cases are very rare, and where the imbecility
is congenital little or notking in the shape of educationcan beimparted. In cases
of congenital imbecility the memory deteriorates as time goes on. I told Mr.
Windham himeelf that I thought in four or five years he would be a lunatic or kill
himself if he persisted in such habits as those which were attribnted to himin the
affidavits. The habita I referred to were drinking and dissipation. I gathered from
Mr. Windham that he was addicted to drinking, though his own words were that he
sometimes got * fresh;” and unless I am greatly mistaken there is a statement in
four of the affidavits to the effect that he had been seen dronk. He told me that
he was engaged to be married to a young lady in the country—the daughter of a
near neighbour of his own—but bis uncle, the General, prevented the marriage. I
made no inguiriea to ascertain whether his statement was true or not. I did not
hear subsequently that the lady lived in one of the western counties. I never asked
him to account for his marriage with Miss Willonghby, nor did I ever speak to him
about the circumstance of a former paramour of his wife's having slept in the same
house with her the wight before her marriage. 1 always took his truthfulness for
granted, and never thought of testing it. 1 told him that he was represented in
the affidavits as being in the habit of telling objectless, caunseless, transparent lies.
He denied the allegation, and inour interviews I never detected him in telling
useless and purposeless falsehoods. It is very likely that I joined with Mr. Cole, his
solicitor, in attempting to persnade him to break off his acquaintance with Roberts,
becaunse I was at that time under the impression that Roberts was a swindler. I
have no recollection, however, of having done so. I had some conversation with
Mr. Windham abgut some person having been intimate with his wife after the
marriage. He told me that the circumstance was brought to his knowledge by iwo
letters written by Mrs. Windham having come to him from the Dead Letter-
office. He said he was very angry, and proposed never to speak to her
again, because the letters were addressed to another gentleman as “My
dear darling ——."  This conversation took place in my rooms in Albemarle-
gtreet, in the presence of his golicitor. 1 believe at that time Mrs. Windham
wus away hunting in the neighbourhood of Melton Mowbray. Mr. Windham
did mnot tell me that his wife had followed “her dear darling ——" to
Dublin, Glasgow, or the north of England. 1 was told that she had dome so be-
fore marriage. 1f I were to be told as a fact that Mr. Windham knew that his
wife had folllowed her “dear darling ——" to Glasgow after her marriage, nnd
that, nevertheless, he still continued to cohabit with her, I should say his conduet in-
dicated a weak intellect, if I were not aware that Mr. Windham was and is firmly
convinced that ihe same state of health which prevented his wife from sleeping
with him must also have prevented her from having criminal connection with any
other gentleman. On one cccasion he said, “1 know what Agnes Willoughby
was ; bnt I never will believe that Agnes Windham counld be falee to me
uDFil it ie proved.” He told me that immediately before the marriage Miss
Willonghby said to him, “ William, yon are ill; I have seen Mr. Johnstone, amd
I know you are.” He replied, “ I think I am not.” Miss Willouzhby then asked
him to allow Dr. Whitburn to examine him., He congented, and Dr. Whitburn,
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ghaking him by the hand, and almost with tears in his eyes, said, “My dear boy,
you are all right ; you need be under no alarm.” Mr. Windham also told me that

Dr. Whitburn attended the marriage and gave the bride away. I did not call his
attention to the allegation in the affidavit made by Mr. Johnstone, the surgeon,
that shortly before the marriage he was consulted by Miss Willoughby, and that he
told her Mr. Windham was most certainly not then in a marriageable condition. T
was not disposed to guestion him about the story of his having infected his wife,
bnt I spoke to Mr. Johnstone on the subject, and he told me that when he saw M.
Windham before the marriage the dizease had assumed eo virulent a shape that it
did not cecur to him to give Mr. Windham any cauntion abont it. I believe that Mr.
Windham is of perfectly sonnd mind and capable of managing his affairs. 1 have
never said that he is nofit to manage his property.

Re.examined by Mr. Karslake.—When the conversation about the letbters fo * My
dear darling——"" took place, Mr. and Mrs. Windham were living apart. M.
Windham was very angry, and he spoke to Mr. Cole, his solicitor, about the matter.
Mrs. Windham said in my presence that she would never live with ber husband
again, and I do not suppose they have lived together since. Before that Mr. Wind-
ham had said that he had made his wife ill; that she was greatly enraged at it,
and threatened notto live with him again. During the interviews I had with him
there were many statements made by Mr. Windbam which I could not have investi-
gated withont the power of calling witnesses before me; but they were all, as faras 1
could judge, perfectly comsistent with truth. Al the inmates of the Asylum for Idiots
were born idiots. I know all the characteristics of idicey. Mr. Windham is cer-
tainly not an idiot, nor could it ever enter my mind that he is an imbecile when I
consider his powers of observation, the manner in which he instructed his solicitor
about his defence, and his delicacy in conyersation when talking upon matters which
afforded opportunity for the introduction of indelicate remarks.

By the Jury.—The idea of his sanity is perfectly consistent with his getting into
debt to the amounnt of £25,000 or £30,000, and giving £14,000 worth of jewellery to
his wife. My explanation is that he was so desperately in love with his wife that
he gave her the jewels in order to secure her affections. I do mot believe that a
sane man would knowingly communicate a particular disease to a woman with
whom he was in love. Mr. Windham did not know that his malady was infections.

By the Master—I think that the fact that the jewellery was intended for the nse
of his wife, and was to be at Fellbrigg-hall, may be regarded as a justification of the
ontlay; but if that outlay had been £60,000 instead of £14,000 it would have
indicated weakness of mind. Had Mr. Windham settled the whole of his estate upon.
his wife I shonld have taken it as a proof of unsoundness of mind.

DE. BEYMOUR.

Dr. E. Seymonr examined by Mr. Milward.—I have directed my attention fo dis-
orders affecting the mind, and have written on the subject. 1 was for eight years
one of the metropolitan Commissioners in Lunacy. During thet time, I periodically
vigited every lunatic asylum within the bills of mortality, and had many opportuni-
ties of testing the minds of alleged lunatics. On the 7th November, 1 was asked to
gee Mr. Windham. On the following day he was brought to me, but he was not
alone, and I refused to examine him. Subsequently, I had a private interview with
him, and conversed with him on the subject of the charges agaiust him. After we
had talked for some time, I said to him, * Well, sir, as far as 1 can judge
from your manner and appearance, I think it is impossible for a jury to find you of
mnsound mind ; but if you will call again and farnish me with the accusations made
! against you, I will examine you more completely.” In comsequence of that Mr.
 Zole, the solicitor, sent me copies of the aflidavits. I made myself master of their
contents, and I next saw Mr. Windham on the 14th. Upon that occasion 1 entered
seriatim intd the principal allegations in the affidavits. I said, * First, you are ac-
cused of falling into most violent and irrational passions.” * Yes,” he replied, “ L
am very passionate; my father was passionate ; and I am very sorry for | Sl E
then spoke to him upon the imputation of gluttony, especially mentiomng that he
bad eaten as many as 18 eggs at breakfast. He replied, “The number is greatly

rated, and I never had anything else for breakfast.” I then spoke to him
abont his alleged cruelty to animals, He denied the accusation. 1 pext called
his attention to the charge about his singing “Old Bob Ridley,” and am_ruh
trash as that. He acquiesced, and said he had a habit of humming and beating
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#nch tunes on many occasions. T told him he was a silly fellow. I then
spoke to him abount his marriage, saying it was a very wrong thing and deeply to
‘be deplored ; but, inasmuch as the very same action had been committed by the
wisest, noblest, and richest in the land, I should not take it as a proof of insanity.
He seemed very much hurt at the way in which I characterized his marriage in
- the first instance. I then spoke about the Jewels. “You are charged,” I gaid,
* with having spentan enormous sum, in comparison with your means, upon jewels.”
He replied that he was very much in love, and that he had given far more jewellery
to his wife after marriage than before it. He added that he had given her a con-
siderable quautity after marriage because he had done her a serious injury. I then
spoke about the state of his health at the time of his marriage. I told him hLis
conduct was very vicions ; but, as vice had never been reckoned as insanity, but
the contrary with some people, and as I had had the misfortune .in & long profes-
sional life of knowing similar cases, in which men had married, being incapacitated
as hé was, I could not myself take it as a proof of insanity, He denied positively
that he had had connection with his wife before marriage. He said that the gentle-
man with whom she had lived before marriage was willing that he shonld IArry

her, and promised as a man of honour never again to have intercourse with her.
e interview lasted about an hour; his manner was gentlemanlike and proper,
and he answered directly and readily. But for the affidavits I ghould not have
fhought there was anything the matter with him. e was not incoherent. I gaw
him again on the 4th of December, and the interview lasted about an honr. He
told me that the object of the petition was to prevent him barring the entail
of the Fellbrigg property and cutting down the timber. He said General
Windham called on him after the marriage, spoke to him very kindly, and wished
to sell him a small property, which he agreed to take. He then said—and this
remark struck me very much—*If my nncle thought me mad why did he try to
make & bargain with me #” Tasked him about his education, He said he had been
at Eton, and gained his remove into the lower fifth form by examination. He also
told me that on that very morning he had done a proposition in Fuclid to the satis-
faction of Dr. SButherland. He admitted having gone with guards on the railway,
and sometimes worked the engine. He said he had purchased a complete suit like
& guard, and bonght a railway whistle. He remarked that many young men did the
#ame. I told him I bad heard so. I was with him a enflicient time to enable me to
form an opinion upon his state of mind. I saw nothing sufficient to justify me in
Baying that he is of unsound mind. He is certainly not a lonatic; he is under no
delusion. Mr. Windham, if T may uge the term, is a very yoang man for his age,
unable to judge properly, but I have seen no radical defect in his mind. He is
capable of managing himself and his affairs, and I think this inguiry will have a
considerable effect in improving him. It will have a steadying effect upon him,

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—It will make him more like & man. I think

he has mind enough to profit by the lesson. I believe that if his majority eonld have
been kept back for two years he would not have acted as he has done. I know
any young men of his age, in possession of their property, who have weaker minds.

he cross-examination of the witness was not concluded when the Conrt ad-
jnnrnad,

SIXTEENTH DAY.—Moxpay, Jax. 6.

The adjourned inquiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windbam, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed to-day in the Court of Exchequer, Westminster, before
Mr. Warren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury.

Mr. M. Chambers, (.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams appeared for the
petitioners ; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Bophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of

the alleged lubatic; Sir Hugh Cairns, (.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr.
%.i_lv;zrd for Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs.
indham,

ILLNESS OF A JURYMAN,

At the sitting of the Court an announcement was made to the effect that Colomel
Anderson, one of the jurymen, was unable to attend from illness. Dr. Ballard, the
medical attendant of Colonel Anderson, stated that the gallant gentleman was
suffering from a severe attack of congestion of the lungs, and that it would be dange-
rous to his health, perhapsto his life, to continue his attendance in court. Colonel
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Anderson, he added, had been suffering more or less for a fortnight, but he had been
much worge since Saturday, and was now confined to his bed. -

The Master said, I am extremely sorry to hear the statement of Dr. Ballard, and
I suppoee I must discharge Colonel Anderson from further attendance.

Mr. Chambers asked whether the trial could go on lawfully in the absence of one
of the jurymen. 1

Mr. Karslake considered it so essential for the interests of Mr. Windham that all
the jurymen should hear the case to the end, that he must protest against the
continuance of the inguiry in the absence of any one of them.

- Mr. Coleridge, for Mrs. Windham, joined in the protest of his learned friend.

The Master asked Mr. Chambers whether he proposed, in the face of the pro-
tests from the other side, to take upon himself the responsibility of going on with
the inguiry.

Mr. Chambers was not prepared to say what should be done, but it strack him,
although he knew of no precedent for it, that it would be perfectly legal to proceed
with the case in the absence of Colonel Anderson.

The Master gsaid, The Act of Parliament requires that there ghould be a verdict of
at least twelve jurymen. As the jary originally congisted of twenty-three gentlemen,
and the absence of Colonel Anderson will still leave twenty-two, 1 see no reason why
the ease should not be proceeded with. A lawful verdict may be returned if there
are no more than thirteen jurymen present.

Mr. Karslake did not wish to argue the question, which was one of principle, but
he might remark that in an ordinary civil or criminal case, it was indispensable
that all the jurymen sghonld be present from the beginning to the end.

The Master said, The learned gentleman is perfectly correct, but the reason is that
the verdict must be unanimous. Such is not the case here, for, ag 1 have stated,
the Act only requires that the verdict shall be concurred in by twelve jurymen.

A juror remarked that the case of Sir Henry Menx was tried before only seventeen

jurymen.
] rI:r[r. Karslake was aware of that fact, but those seventeen jurymen were the only
zentlemen sworn to hear and try the case. A larger number had been impanneled
in this case, but that made no difference with respect to the matter of principle.
His argnment was that the case could not go on in the absence of any one of the
jorymen, whatever the number might be—whether seventeen, as in the case of Sir
Henry Meux, or twenty-three, as in the present instance.

The Master said he had from the first contemplated such a contingency as the
pre:gut, and for that very remson be had secured a larger number of jurors than
usnal.

The Jury intimated, throngh their foreman, that they were very anxious to pro-
ceed with the case at once.

Mr. Chambers said the only analogy which ocenrred to him was that of a grand jury,
which, according to the ancient law of England, onght to be composed of twenty-
three gentlemen, but which frequently consisted of not more than fifteen or twenty.
The finding of & troe bill by twelve gentlemen was never disputed.

Mr. Coleridge said it was not impossible than when the jury, reduced by the
absence of Colonel Andersom to twenty-two gentlemen, retired to counsider their
verdict, they might be equally divided. Supposing, then, that Colonal Anderson
when discharged from further attendance had a strong impression in favour of Mr.
Windham, was the latter, by no fanlt of his own, and without his consent, to be de-
prived of the vote of a gentleman who had been impanneled to try the case, and
had heard all the evidence? Moreover, if the remaining jurymen were equally
divided, there could be no verdict, and the whole inguiry would end in enormous and
ungeless expense.

Mr. Chambers admitted that the difficulty stated by his learned friend on the
other gide was a very grave one, and he knew of no precedent for the present case.

The Master said—If the jury consisted of twelve gentlemen, and one had
retired, T conld not have proceeded even with the consent of parties. Baut, as the
jury is still composed of twenty-two gentlemen, and it can return a verdict according
to the Act, I think we may go on. The inquiry has already lasted fifteen days ;
faarful expense has been incurred, and I am not prepared at so late a stage to take
the responsibility of discharging the jury. It is simply a choice of evils. If I were
to be pronouneed by the Lords Justices in error in discharging the jury under exist-
ing circumstances, the consequences would be disastrous, for there would be a fresh
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inquiry, and the whole of the expenses wonld be incurred again. On the other hand,
gupposing I were to say the case might proceed, it is not likely that the expense of
finishiog the inguiry will be at all equal in amonnt to that which has already been
incurred, and which will simply be so much money wasted if the jury are now to be
discharged without returning a verdiet. When the verdict is reported to the Lords
Justices the question of its validity may be argued by the parties interested, and it
will remain for the Lords Justices to determine whether I am right or wrong in the
course I now propose to pursue. I will take a note of the protest made on behalf
of Mr.and Mre. Windham, but, under all the circumstances, I think I shall exercise
a eound discretion in ruling that Colonel Anderson ehball be discharged, and that
the case shal! be continued toits natural termination before the remaining jurymen.
—Ruled accordingly.

COMMEKTS BY THE PUBLIC PRESS,

Mr. Chambers, addressing the Master, said—Before we begin to-day I wish to
make an observation. I know that I shall be laying myself open to censure. I care
not. Ideem it my duty, in consequence of statements that have been made to me,
to suggest to the consideration of the Court, whether it should not cantion the public
press against making any comments on the case whilst it is proceeding ; also against

ing comments on the evidence that has been given on the one side or the other.
I need hardly state, because it is so pertinently obvions to all sensible men, that
nothing can be more dangerons to the impartial administration of justice and any
proceeding of law whatsoever. In the first place it may seriously injure those whom
it is intended to serve—

The Master—Are you founding your address to the Court on anything that has
actually happened ?

Mr. Chambers—Yes. Upon occurrences that have taken place move than once, I
am so instructed.

The Master—Do you mean comments on the evidence ?

Mr. Chambers—Commentaries on the evidenee of the witnesses, and on the natare
of the case as it is proceeding from day to day. 1 was about to say this—and 1
submit it to the attention of all those who have written the articles with reference
to the proceedings in this case—I say it may have the effect of injuring the parties
whom it is intended to serve, becanse there are those who are unwiee and indiscreet
enough to suppose—it would be wrong for me to imagine that any such thing can
oceur—that the prees is open to influences of a very despicable character, and the
consequence might be, if that be the supposition, that the parties intended to be
gerved might, in point of fact, be seriously injured or utterly ruined. On the other
hand, while a proceeding of this important description is going on, if ene party in
the prees, or one set of newspaperg, proceeds to take one particular view, in justice
it may be said that another party or another set of writers might take a different
view, and the result inevitably would be that, instead of the case being tried as it
ought to be, impartially and jostly, by the evidence that is presented to the jury,
the determination, ultimately, when the case comes to a conclusion, according to
the best of their ability, that a state of excitement would be got up in the public
mind which would baffle and entirely destroy the character and the great objects of
Englieh justice. Therefore, sir, with a most perfect desire that averything should
be done fairly and justly, I submit to your consideration whether it would be fit
that a caution should be made to those writers who may have inadvertently taken
this course, with a view that we may have a free and pure exercise of that impartial
Justice which belongs to this country ; the free liberty of the press being always a
trust highly prized Ly those who have enjoyed its blessings and received its advan-
tages., Bat, at the same time, it being the duty of every man that desires to
support that great liberty which we all boast of—it being the duty of every man,
eepecially when he is engaged as an advocate, to state publicly that which is bronght
to his knowledge with reference to the course taken, with a perfect convietion that,
if & caution be given, such commentaries will in future be abstained from.

Mr. Karslake—I will only say one word. I hope not a word that has fallen from
my learned friend will be taken in any way as reflecting on the character of those
who are conducting this defence. There were expressicns which fell from my learned
friend, probably inadvertently, and they were accompanied by remarks which seemed
to imply that it was in cousequence of gome eeeret agency which was at work. All
I have to say is this: I do trust that thé public and the jury, und everybody who
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is concerned in this case, will suspend their decision upon it until they have heard
the whole evidence in the case. ' i |

Mr. Coleridge—I stand also on the same side of the court as my learned friend
Mr. Karslake, and as some misconstruction might be placed on my silence, if I were
to observe silence, I beg to say that if directly or indirectly Mr. Chambers meant
to cast the smallest imputation on me or any person who instructs me, I repudiate
it with the utmest indignation. - ¢ 3

Mr. Chambers—I had not the least conception of any such thing. b |

Mr. Coleridge—And I join with Mr. Karslake in saying that as Mr. Chambers hag
made an address to the jury throngh the Court, I earnestly hupe all parties, inclod-
ing those who have to pass judgment on the case, will wait till they have heard
the whole of the evidence before either they make up their minds or express their
opinions,

Mr. Chambers.—I will say one word. I never had the remotest intention of
imputing to the highly respectable solicitors who have the conduct of this case that
they wonld lend themselves in any way to any kind of dealing with the press for
the purpose of advancing, or perhaps destroying, the interest of their clients ; for
I believe they would not. But [ venture to snggest that unfortunately there were
those who might take a different view, and imagining even the most respectable
newspaper might have been biaseed in writing the articles, then the very party
intended to be served might be seriounsly injured. Of course, as far as Mr. Karslake
and Mr. Coleridge are concerned, I de not intend to insinuate anything of the sort,
but it was an observation arising out of what I bave received information upon. 1
myself have read but one article on the subject ; the others I have not seen, for I have
been so engaged that it has been impossible for me to read the divers newspapers ;
it has been brought to my attention. Pity 'tis it was so, and I hope it will not
happen again. |

The Master.—Are you alluding to something in the papers to-day ? |

Mr. Chambers.—I believe the morning papers. |

The Master.—I1 have seen the Times this morning. !

Mr. Chambers.—The Témes has abstained most cantiously from any observations,

The Master.—The Times has reported the case fully and fairly.

Mr. Chambers.—It has abstained eautionsly from any comments on the case.

The Master.—All I can say is, I am very much concerned for the necessity that
has arisen for this serious intimation to me, and which I have not the least doubt,
from the character of counsel, is founded on knowledge justifying this application to
me. By the 45th section of the Lunacy Regulation Act it is enacted, “that any
person executing an inquiry with a jury, while so employed shall have all the right,
power, authority, and diseretion as a judge of acourt of record.” 1 think it is in my
power, under that section, to prohibit the publication of the evidence from day to day,
if I think 1t inconsistent with the course of justice to do otherwise.

Mr. Chambers.—1t was done in the case of “ King v. Clement.”

The Master.—I was alluding to that very case. The law arises ont of that very
matter, but after this public intimation by counsel I hope it will not be necessary
for me to interfere in any way. It was unnecessary for Mr. Coleridge and Mr.
Karslake to make the repudiation which they have done on the part of their respec-
tive clients. The salicitors engaged in this matter are eminent firms, whom 1 know
perfectly well, both of them, by reputation. Those disclaimers have been made
which were utterly unnecessary in my opinion, and, I believe, in that of the jury.

Beveral jurors : Yes, quite so.

The Master: I do take this opportunity of solemnly entreating the members oft

the public press for the fature, as they love the pure administration of justice, to
abstain from that which has now been imputed. '

The subject then dropped.

Mr. Karslake stated that, since the adjonrnment on Saturday, inquiries had been
for the purpose of ascertaining whether there was any® court in Westminster-hall |
which could be secured for the sittings after Thursday next. He understood that
there was none fit for the purpose, and expressed his hope and beliel that there was |
no foundation for the impression which had gone abroad, that they were going to sif
in one of the committee-rooms upstaira,

The Master.—Heaven forbid !

Mr, Chambera.—That is the only comment which the Times has made,

The Master.—It is not a comment, buta statement.

I-
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1t was then arranged that an application should be made for the use of the West-
minster Sessions-house.
. The examination of witnesses was then resumed.

DE. SETMOUR—COKTINUED.

Dr. Seymour, cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—At my second interview with
Mr. Windham I taxed him with the charge of cruelty, in having caused a horse to
be shot ina passion. He told me that the leg of the horse had been broken, and
that the animal was zhot upon the advice of the people in the stables. He did not
tell me that he was charged with cruelty tothe horse when it was suffering from the
broken leg. I made no inquiries into the truth of the charge. He told me that he
was not intemperate in either drinking or smoking. I believe that is correct. When
he told me that he was in the habit of driving a railway engine, and that he had
purchased a complete suit like a guard, he added that many young men did the same.
I told him that I had heard so. I have never heard that o‘bhu:;fyﬂnng men clothed
themselves like railway guards, but I have been told in society of three young noble-
men who arein the habit of driving the engine.

The Master—That is not very satisfactory information for the public.

. Witness resumed.—I have never heard of young nobleman being driven home
in a brongham covered with sootaund dirt, like a stoker. MMr. Windham never
spoke to me of his having been in love with or engaged to a young lady living in
the country. I did not question him about the statement in the affidarit of the
Lewellius, that he had stated to them that Miss Willonghby had been left £600
a-year by her father. I did not ask him to give an accoust of the sudden vanish-
ing of that £60,000, nor did I speak to him abt any great length abont his presents
of jewellery to the lady. The fact is that so many young men have been led into
extravagance by love that his purchases of jewellery did not strike me as important
in an inquiry into the state of his mind. You remember the hnes—

% What lost the world and make a warcier y?

- The timid tear in Cleopatra’s eye.”

I think this inguiry will improve Mr. Windhamm. So very solemn a proeess will
have a steadying effect npon him. He has reason erough to profit by the lesson
When I saw him he seemed to be impressed with the importance of cendncting
himself with propriety during these proceedings. I advised him to abstain from
boisterous or silly acts in future. Upon all occasions he expressed himself in an
extremely affectionate manner towards his wife. He never told me that she had
been unfaithful to him since the marriage. . I have never seen them together. He
did not tell me that in consequence of her infidelity he contemplated proceedings
in the Divorce Court, nor did he tell me that proceedings had actually been
commenced. If I were told that when he spoke so affectionately about his wife
he was under the impression that she had committed adultery, and that he
contemplated a suit in the Divorce Court in consequence, I shonld have regarded
his conduct as inconsistent, but should not have taken it as a proof of insanity.
It wonld have been one of those inconsistencies which are too common to

mankind.

Re-examined by Mr. Karslake.—I read the charge of cruelty to a horse in the
affidavits. He said the men in his stables wounld come forward and give evidence
on the snbject. He told me that he neither drank nor smoked., I asked him
eepecially about drinking, becaunse, in my judgment and experience, it is the most
fertile source of insanity. From what I have heard in society I believe that certain
young noblemen are in the habit of driving railway engines. I can give you on
paper the names of the young noblemen in question. One of them is now a duke.
Another is connected with the Court.

Mr. Chambers.—I can state that, although such is the public report, it i8 not
eorrect. .

Mr. Karslake.—I hope my learned friend will not persist in giving evidence.

Witness resumed.— Boys ofall ages are untruthful, and I do not accept falsehoods
a8 proofs of insanity. I think that Mr. Windham would have been very much
improved by care and kindoess. When vulgar and bad habits are once contracted,
they are not easily removed ; but my impression is thas as Mr. Windham mixes in
good society he will improve.

. By the Jury.—I am not aware that one of the noblemen to whom I have referred
was a director of the railway, and drove the engine in his ofticial capacity. 1 under-
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stood he did so for his own amusement. Mr. Windham left school much too early.

He is young for his age, as I said before, but he has mind enough to take care of
himseif and his properly. His mind is sound, thongh he is rather slower than some
other young men of his years. 1 know several persons who were much worse than

Mr. Windham, and who have improved sufficiently to manage themselves and their

property. I expect that Mr. Windham will make even greater progrees than has
been made in those cases.

By the Master.—I do not believe in moral insanity. No amount of what is called
eccentricity would, in my opinion amount to inganity. If a young nobleman were
to choose to act as a sweep, and carry a soot-bag in the streets, I should not there-
fore consider him of unsound mind.

MR HANCOCK, CHARING CROSS HOSPITAL.

Mr. Hancock, chief surgeon of the Charing-eross Hospital.—I have carefully ex-
amined Mr. Windkam’e mouth. It is a pecaliarly shaped mouth. The upper jaw is
exceedingly narrow, and drawn so much to a point in front that there is room for only
two teeth. It mensures rather less than an inch from one front molar tooth to the
other, whereas the average width ol well-developed jaws is from 1iin. to 1%in. The
roofof the mouth, or hard palate, instead of being a plano-concave is extremely lofty
and shaped like a pointed arch, so that it diminishes to a very greatdegree the cavity
of ‘the nose. The depth from the soft palate to the back of the throat is nnusaally
great. The lower jaw is also narrow, but not go much contracted as the npper one.
His tongne is fully developed—large in proportion to the size of the jaws. This
condition of the mouth would affect very materially the sound of his voice, and lead
to or favour very much the slavering that has been described, and also the noisy and
apparently disagreeable mode of eating. It would also have a considerable effect
upon the appearance of his face, and would likewise very much affect the tone of
his laugh. I should doubt whether Mr. Windham could halloa or laugh as other
people do. The relative volume of the different air passages i8 80 very much inter-
fered with by this formation of the mocth that the sound of the voice and the langh
must be materially altered. In deglutition the tongue is always pressed against
the roof of the mouth, and in the natural formation of the mouth the act of
swallowing is done almost unconsciously; but in oconsequence of the extreme
height of the roof of Mr. Windham’s mouth, that formation would require
gome unusual attention from the party himeelf; so that, while from the size
of the tongue and the contraction of the jaws, the pressure upon the
salivary glands would produce, when Mr. Windham, was excited an nnusual secre-
tion of saliva, the height of the roof of the mouth would prevent that saliva
being conducted down the throat in the usual way. The same remark applies to
the swallowing of food. The peculiar structzre of the hard palate must interfere
with the passage of air through the nose by inspiration, and it is obvious that in
Ir. Windham's case, in order to obtain the passage of the proper amount of air
into the lungs, he has fallen into the habit of keeping bis mouth open, and this habit,
added to the peculiar action of the muscles of the upper lip, gives that apparently
vacant look which appears about the lower part of Mr. Windham's face. -

By the Master.—l have geen similar mounths before, presenting similar results.

Witness resumed.—The formation of the back of his mouath would lead to snoring.
He told me that some years ago his mother tock him to Mr. Lintott, a dentist,
who extracted some of his teeth, and then introduced a plate with pegs or wedges
into his mouth for the purpose of stretehing the upper jaw. fealeo told me it was
a formation prevalent in his family on the maternal side. He referred to three
persons in particular who had a peculiarity of the same description. He told me his
mother had attributed the slavering to his having been tongue-tied as a child, and
the operation having been improperly performed. I asked him whether he
reecollected it, and he laughed and said, “I recollect a good way back, but
T don't recollect that, for I was an infant at the time” My examing-
tion was made, I think, on the 17th of December. He told me he had
nearly cured himself of the slavering. 1 saw hm first on the 1st of November.
On that occasion I was with him nearly three-gquarters of an honr. Dir. Neale waa
present. 1 had no previous knowledge of the case. When I went to Piccadilly
Mr. Windham accompanied Dr. Neale and myself into a room. 1 placed him in a
chair opposite the window that I might wateh his countenance while he was talking
to me. e told me that he wished to see me because his uncle, General Windham,



109

was endeavouring to prove him insane; that long before he eame of age the general
‘had spread reports that he was an idiot and squandered his money; that it was
very foolish of the general to treat him so, because he had over and over azain told
him that it would be the worse for him and for his sons. * But it was no use,” he
added, ** and therefore, as my father left me power by his will to cut off the entail,
I have done so.” He also told me that npon a more recent oceasion the general
had sent him word that if he married he would be —— if he wounldn’t have him
locked up. I asked him whether he had any evidence to that effect, and he replied
that his uncle sent the message throngh his bailiff. He then continued, *He
accused me of keeping improper company, alluding to Mr. Roberts. Mr. Roberts
has been a good friend to me, for you must know that I have only come into a
portion of my property—£3,000 a year. Of this I have to pay my mother £1,500
a year, aud 1 leave you to judge whether I can support a wife and keep up a large
place in ths country, besides having apartments in London, upon the remainder. I,
therefore, was in want of money. My father had always cautioned me against getting
into the hands of the Jews, and I was determined not to do so. Now, Mr. Roberts
was with me at my estate in the country, when ene day outriding he said, * Why should
you borrow money, paying inferest upon interest, when you have the money here
upon your estate? You have so many trees; they are being spoilt, and I can intro-
duce you to a timber merchant who would not attempt to cheat you by taking the
timber in a lump, bub would pay you somnch a foot for it Of course I consented,
and he accordingly introdnced me to Messrs. Lawrence and Fry, who are very
respectable timber merchants, and who paid me £1,000 down, agreeing to give me
some £350 a month up to £5,000 a year for four years, or £20,000 in all.” He said,
“ The trees have not been cat for so many years that, so far from the estate being
injured, it wculd be much benefitted by having the timber eut down ;" and he added,
% You way depend npon it I shall take care that they don’t cub down anything that
will icjure the estate.” He told me that after his marriage, on coming to town, he
would not nfford to take a hoase, and therefore his wife advised him to take apart-
ments in Mr. Roberts's house, he being her trustee. He declined telling me what
rent he paid, but he assured me it was not exorbitant. I asked bim whether they
could bring any accusation of intemperance or extreme extravagance against him.
He said, * No;" he lived well, but was vob intemperate, and he was very fond of
driving horses, but there was nothing in that. I agked him how may horses
he kept. He replied that before his marriage he kept only two, but that
gince then, as his wife was fond of riding on horseback, he had bought
a rviding horse for her, another for himself, and two carriage horses. [ =aid,
“ You have six in all;” to which he replied, « No, only the two riding horses and
the two carriaze horses.” 1 then asked him how much food he gave his horses.
He said, *“1 keep them down at my estate in the country, and I am very particular
that the grooms don’t cheat me. 1 ailow the horses as much as they can eat, and
each has funr feeds of corn a day. You eun casily tell how muclk it has in the
course of the weak.” I said, © But how much do you make it yourself?” And he
answered, “ We calculate differently in Norfolk from what youn do in London. You
caleulate by the bushel or quarter, we calenlate by the boll; but it is somewhere
about a sack of corn per week for two horses.” 1 said, “ You have not mentioned
the straw.” * Oh,” he replied, ¢ that doesn't coet me anything, my tenants are
obliged to supply me with that.” I then gaid, * As insanity has oeen alleged against
you, have yon ever been examined by any medical man on the part of General
Windham P He replied, “I don’t know whether it was a medical man or no, bubt
somebody called me upon a short time ago precending that he came abont a debt
which he said was owing to him by my mother. [ therefore began to snspect, and
very quietly bowed him cut of the room, gaying he muosy know as well as I did thab
T had nothing to do with my mother’s debts.” I chen said [ was sorry to hear
that his wife had left him. He said very ealmly, ¢ Yes, she has; but T know whers
ghe is. I have employed a detective to trace her, and [ am going to Beotland this
e7ening 4o bring her back.” I cauntioned him against using any violence,
Jest it should be brought forward sgainst him; and he said “Yon need
not be afraid. I oan be firm withoat being violent. SBhe knows that 1
have right on my side. I shall tell her that I am acting under my lawyey's advice.
and that the law gives me great power as a husband, and I shall, therefore, tell her
to come home without making any picoe of work.” He then added, * fHere aguin
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they are spreading all mannerof reports abont my wife; among others, thag
when I married her she owed Emmanuel, the jeweller, several hundred pounds ; but,
in faet, ehe owed him somewhere about £60, which she paid out of her own money.”
I think that was the whole of the conversation I had with him. I told Mr. Bury
Hutchinson, the solicitor of Mr. Windham, that T was only a consulting surgeon,
and did not pay special attention to mental diseases. I therefore advised that he
shonld send for Dr. Sutherland, Dr. Tuke, Mr. Connolly, and Mr. Lawrence, who
were congidered firgt-rate authorities on such subjeets. Dr. Winslow's name wag
mentioned ;. but Dr. Neale had previonsly informed me that when he called on Pr
Winslow in the morning for the purpose of obtaining his services he found General
Windham sitting in the waiting room, and, consequently, nothing farther was said
about Dr. Winslow. I frequently in the conrse of my practice meet with cases of
insanity. During my interview with Mr. Windham I neither saw nor Leard any-
thing which would justify me in arriving at any other coneclusion than that he is of
sonnd mind. His demeancur was characterized by perfeet self-possession, perfeet
calmness, and total absence of levity, especially when he referred to his father. I
observed no signs of elavering. I should say that Mr. Windham, as far as his
physical appearance goes, iz a well developed young man. He seems to me to
have plenty of animal spirits, and is the kind of man who would be fond of athletic
exercises.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—The formation of Mr. Windham’s mouth
would not lessen the space filled by the brain. There are the two orbits, and the
whole cavity of the nose between the eraminm and the roof of the mouth. The
peculiar formatien of Mr. Windham’s mouth is not confined to idiots, nor are idiots
restricted to that formation. It may be observed in idiots, but it occurs in other
cases ag well. Mr. Windham did not tell me bow long he had worn the plate in-
troduced into his mouth by Mr. Lintock, the dentist, for the purpose of shielding
the upper jaw. I made an affidavit in this case, but I have gone more into detail
in my evidence to-day. I did not ask Mr. Windham how it happened that his wife
had gone to Scotland.

Re-examined.—In my opinion the formaiion of Mr. Windham’s mounth has no rela-
tion at all to the question of his sanity or insanity.

DE. GWIN, HAMMERSMITH.

Dr. Gwin, examined by Mr. Karslake.—I am % medical man, praetising in
Hammersmith. I am a native of Norfolk, and it was my uncle who proposed
General Windham at the last alection, Early in September I saw Mr. Windham
i Norwich, and upon his invitation I went to Fellbrigg-ball on the 23rd. Mrs.
Windham and Mr. Roberts were there. Mr. Windham consnlted me professionally
about his throat. I attended him for some time, going down from town for the
purpose. He made a pecuniary arrangement with me himself. I went out shooting
with him. He proved a capital shot and a good driver. His demeanour was that
of an ordinary person. I never saw him do anything that could not be done with
propriety by a person of sound mind,

By Mr. Coleridge.—I had never seen nor heard of Mrs. Windham before I went.
to Fellbrigg-hall, near the end of September. On the 23rd of September I know
she was perfectly well; since the Sth of October she has suffered very severely.

Croes-examined by Mr. Chambers,— My, Windham never told me of certain letters
which had been returned to him from the Dead Letter-office. I accompanied him
down to Scotland on Sunday, the 3rd of November. He told me that he wanted me
to go with him to Glasgow, and mentioned something about a paramour or lover of
Mrs. Windham. He said he suspected that she had been unfaitbful to him with
Ahat person and had ran away with him to Glasgow, where he was then living as a
member of an operatic company. I told him that owing to the illness she was
suflering from, it was not likely she could be unfaithful to him at that time. e
did not. tell me, as far as I recollect, that he had received information that they were
sleeping in the same bedroom in the hotel. He did not tell me that Mrs. Windham
had been in Dublin with the same individual after her marringe. He informed me
that he had received a letter from his wife saying she was staying in Dablin. Mrs.
Windham left-Fellbrigg owing to her husband's illness on the 29th of September,
and she r8turned from Dublin on the Sth of October. I was not aware that the
opera singer wag in Dublin at the same time, I slept all the way to Glasgow,
aud have no idea how Mr. Windbam got on. During the jowrney I did not hear
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him shout out the name of the person whom he suspected of cohabiting in Glasgow
| with his wife. We did not succeed in finding Mrs. Windbam. After staying only
forty miontesin Glasgow we returned to Londom, and Mrs. Windham was found
in the Euston Hotel. In Glasgow we were told by the landlord of the hotel in which
Mrs. Windham had lived that while there she conducted herself with perfect pro.
priety. Mr, ——, I think, was still in Glasgow, for I saw his name in a playbill in
the hall of the hotel, but we took no steps to find him out. Mr. Windham sat in
the earriage all the way to London.

The cross-examination of the witness was not econcluded when the Cour
adjonrned.

SEVENTEENTH DAY.—Tugspay, Jaw. 7.

The adjourned inguiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed on this day, in the Court of Exchequer, Westminster,
before Mr. Warren, Q.C., one ofthe Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury.

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Home Williams appeared for the
petitionera; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of
the alleged lunatic; Sir Hugh Cairns, .C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward for
Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windham,

DR. GWIN—CONTINUED.

Dr. Gwin, cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—After Mr. Windham and T re-
turned from Glasgow we found Mrs. Windham at the Enston Hotel, and remained
there with her till late at night. Mr. Windham has complained to me that his wife
had deceived him in her statement that she had known only one man before her
marriage, Mr. He never mentioned to me that he had discovered that she
had been connected with a young gentleman in a dragoon regiment. I have not
the least recollection of his saying that she had rnined a young man. He told me
that Mrs. Windham disliked Roberts; but he did not say that the reason was that
she bad slept with Roberts in Wilton-place, or anywhere else. He has men.
tioned to me lately that Roberts told him he had slept with his wife before
her marriage. He did not say that Roberts stated he had slept with her after
as well as before marriage. I do not remember whether he said he believed
Eoberts or not. He told me that Mr. ——, No. 1, with whom she acknowledged
having lived with before marriage, slept in the same house with her on the eve of
the marriage. He never said that she had cobabited or gone to Paris with Mr.
——, No. 2. T have no recollection of his telling me that she had left his house,
gone to Dublin, and committed adultery with a foreigner. He did not tel] me that
ghe had grossly deceived him abount the marriage. I have attended him up to the
present time, and am now attending him. T ceased to attend Mrs. Windham on the
20th of November, but she had a consultation with me about the state of her health
last Friday. I bave seen Mr. Windham from time to time when he came down to
this court. I saw him speaking to his wife last Friday. Mr, Windham and I got
into her brougham, and we put him down at Morley's Hotel. She set me down in
Regent-street, and she went her way and I went mine. I do not know where she
i8 living. Mr. Windham has told me that he has seen her occasionally daring the
-inquiry, bat he did not say that he has lunched with her,

By the Master.—When they were in the brougham together they were respeectful
to each other, and conducted themselves calmly and quietly, as any other man and
wile wonld do.

Re-examined.—I told Mr. Cole, the solicitor, confidentially what took place in
Beotland when Mr. Windham and I went down there, but I told nobody else. I have
been questioned about many conversations which I had with Mr. Windham about
his wife. T repeated those conversations to Mr. Cole confidentially, but to nobody
elee. Mr. Cole ceased to act as solicitor for Mr, Windham on the Gth of December,
shortly before the commencement of the present proceedings. I saw Mrs. Windliam
professionally on Friday last for an hour. She was stil] suffering from the same
disease which she was labouring under on the 8tk of October. On the ?3rd of
Beptember I examined Mr. Windham at Fellbrigg-hall, and found him suffering
from the disease. 1 made a communication to Mes. Windham on the subject, and
asked her whether she had received any warning, In consequence of what passed

tween us I examined her, but could detect no active disease. She left Fellbrigg
on the 26th of September, and returned on the Sth of October. I examined her on
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that day, and discovered that she must have been gnffering from the disense for
geveral days. Sbe continued at Fellbrigg, till the 12th of October. 1 went down on
the 13th and found her gone. During our journey to and from Scotland there was .
nothing in the demeanour of Mr. Windham which at all attracted my attention. I did
not notice anyhody in the train who seemed to he watching our motions. %
By the Jury.—Mrs. Windbam left Fellbrige on the 26th of September with her
husband’s consent and upon my advice. Mr. Windham received a letter from her,
gaying she was staying in Dublin. He did not seem to be surprised at the receipt
or contents of the letter, and I suppose he knew she had gone to Dublin, thongh T
eannot speak with certainty. I have had no conversations with Mr. Windham about
the jewels, nor do I know what has become of them. I never found anything
incoherent or anconnected in his talk. During the journey to Glasgow I found bim
a pleasant companion. He described the country and the different breeds of sheep as
we went along. I believe he has broken off acquaintance with Roberts. '

MISS RAUSCHEN, NURSERY GOTERNESS.

Miss Rauschen said—I was formerly in the late Lady Bristol's family as nursery-
governess, Afterwards I went to Fellbrigg-hall to take charge of young Mr. Wind-
bam, who was not quite four years of age at that time. I left when he was about
his sixth year, I found him a very high-spirited child, requiring a great deal of
chastisement at his lessons, which, however, he did pretty well—much better than
the child I had charge of previously. I considered him sharp and intelligent in
his lessops. His father and mother treated him very indulgently. T have seen him
imitating the butler and waiting at table in their presence. His father seemed
pleased at it, and had a suit of clothee made for his son for the express purpose of
enabling him to wait at table. After I left Fellbrigg I met young Mr. Windham
occasionally in London with his father. The last time I saw him was in 1850; he

was then in his tenth year. I mever saw in him any signs of any went of intel-
lect ; he was just ke other boys, and appeared to be of gound mind, competent to
learn his lessons and conduct himself properly.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—He used to be punished by getting an extra
lesson. I mever saw a whip nsed to him. He waited at table frequently, but I never
heard of him going to the kitchen and washing up dishes. He had a pony, and was
very fond of it. He rode generally very glewly. He spoke plainly, but thickly.
When I saw him in Loundon with his father I believed he was still fond of waiting at
table. On these oceasiona the Windhams were on @ visit to the Bristol family in
]E)t. g?mea’s-aquam. I never heard of Lady Alfred Hervey baving been frightened

y him. :

Cross-examined.—When I saw bim in London his voice was much improved. H&l
behaved himeelf, as far I know, very well in 8t. James's-square.

By the Master.—The peculiar formation of his mouth was observable in childhood.
1 never saw the saliva running from the corners.

MES. MARTIN, BAILIFF'S WIFE AT FELLBRIGG.

Mre. Martin, wife of the bailiff at Fellbrigg, said, My husband now ho-ds the home
farm. From 1832 recently, I was cook and housekeeper at Fellbrigg. Lady Sophia
and Mr. Windham alwnayg treated me as a confidential servant. 1 recollect young
Mr. Windham being born. He was an only child. Old Mr. Windham was quiclk,
hasty, and passionate at times. He was always properin conversation, but 1 was not
much in his way. As yonng Mr. Windham grew up I saw a great deal of him. He
wag, and is very fond of me. He was about eight years of age when he went to
gchool first. He came home for his holidays from time to time. In1854 he went to,
Eton. While at home he spent a good deal of his time with me in my room of an
evening. When a child he used to amuse himself in the kitchen. He was nof|
checked at all in that habit. Old Mr. Windham farmed himself, and was a great|
deal ont of doors. When the boy came home he very frequently accompanied his|
father about the estate, and he learned to ride at a very early age. When he was|
about seven years of sage he began to play whist. The party usually consisted,
when there was no company in the house, of Lady Sophia, Mr. Windbam, the boys,
and myself. That went on till the death of old Mr. Windham. When the boy went
down to the kitchen there were many old servants in the house, and he nsed to be|
with them a good deal. His amusement of a morning in the kitchen coneisted of|
playing at railways, opening and ehutting doors, and calling ont the names of |
the statiops. The servants petted him, and the father used to say, * Poor little]
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had no companions of his own age. He was fond of imitating people. At times
 be waited at table in the presence of his parents. His father had a livery made for
hin —bloe coat, red waistcoat, red plush breeches, and dress buttons. It was the
| Windham livery. He wore the livery both before and after he went to school. He
i msed to come into the kitchen to carry up the dishes with the other servants. In
| doing so he imitated the airs and manners of the servants. After dinner he helped
 the servants in the pantry. All this was well known to his parents. "He did not act
' thus when there were strangers in the house, He continued working with the ser-
| yants until the death of his father, and wore the livery until it became too small for
' him. The family were a good deal alone. After dinner old Mr. Windham generally
' fell asleep. Semetimes the parents were very indulgent to the boy ; at others they
were very severs, Their treatment of him was irregular and capricious. T at-
tended old Mr. Windham on his deathbed. The son came home from Eton in time
$o see his father die. He used to enter the bedroom, shake his father by the hand
and kiss him. His conduct at the fuoneral was becoming. On his return from the
church he eried very much, kissed me, and asked me net to leave him. I replied,
%] promised your father, and I will not leave you until you are twenty-one." 'He
said, “ I am very glad of it,” and then went off with Lord Alfred Hervey. His man.-
ner towards me had always been very kind and affectionate. He was quick and hasty,
resembling his father in many respects—in making a noise, langhing, singing, and
whistling about the house; but hewas generally kind to all the servants. He did not
Jike to lose at cards, and used to become pettish when the game was going against him.
He played whist very well. When young Mr. Windham and his tutors were at Fell-
brige ; there was very little company in the house. Mr. Martin and mysell’ used
#0 play whist of an evening with Mr. Horrocks and Mr. Windham. Mr. Windham,
who was at that time about eighteen or nineteen years of age, was quite able to hold
hisown at eards. He had horses, and spent the greater part of his time in the open
air. His father was not a reading man. Both father and son were regalar church-
%ora. The church is in the park, and the whole of the parish belongs to the
indhams, The conduct of young]Mr. Windham in church was always unobjection-
able. 1 saw liitle difference between the way he went on, and the ordinary
demeanonr of his father in the house ; both made a good deal of noise, and noise of
the same kind—laughing, singing and whistling. Young Mr. Windham: was as
¢leanly in his habits as vther boys, and never misused his bed. In 1856 there was
something said of me leaving. I wrote to Mr. Windham that I had been discharged,
and in consequence of his interference an arrangement was made by which I
remained. His manner on all occasions was that of a rational and sound man. I
was a good deal distressed at his marriage. Two days before it tock place General
Windham sent for me and my husband to Hanworth-hall, and told ns he had been
telegraphed for to stop the marrisge. That was the first time I Dbelieved
the report. The general requested us to go at once to London, as he believed
we could do more to stop the marriage than he could, and he gaid he would
follow ns next morning. Myself and husband went off directly, and
arrived at Duke-street about five o'clock in the morning. We saw ‘Mr.
Windham, and did all we could to preveut the marriage. He said that he would
not marry, but would go down to Fellbrigg with us. He did not keep his promise,
and the next thing I heard of him was that he was married. Mr. Windham came
to Fellbrigcg about a week afterwards, accompanied by his wife and two of her
gisters—young girls about sixteen years of age. I was nob disposed to live in the
house any longer, and mysell and husband went to the Home-farm. Subsequently
T saw General Windham at Fellbrigg-ball, while Mr. and Mrs. Windham were
there. 1 believe he saw his mephew. During the absence of old Mr. Windham
Lady Sophia used to have the servants up into the dining-rocom to dance and
romp about to amuse the child, while she played the piano in the drawing-room.
Cross-examined by Mr, Chambers.—1 think that young Mr. Windham waited ab
table when he came home from Eton for the holidays. After he finally lef Eton I
‘saw him wipe glasses in the pantry, but I do not think he waited at table. When

ihﬂ#' let him amuse himself; he has no playfellows.” That is a fact. He

not wash up the dishes. He wiped the glasses and romped with the maids. He
‘did not tnck up his shivt-slecves. He discontinned amusing himself iv the kitchen

by playing at railways some time before bis father's death, After he lel'l-ﬁEtun ho
2

Mr. Horrocks was at Fellbrigg Mr. Windham used to go to the pantry, but he did -
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had a railway whistle, and used to blow it. I am not aware tkat, when Mr. Horrocks
or Mr. Peatfield was at Fellbrigg, Mr. Windham was in the habit of slamming doors
to imitate the opening and shotting of carriage doors on the railway, but he con-
tinued to blow the railway whistle. The noises he made were not different from
those which his father made; they might be a little louder, but that was all. I did
not know that they were sometimes made during the night. T have cbserved him
slavering, and have told him to use his handkerchief more. Sometimes he wonld
do g0, and sometimes not. His manner of speaking and his habit of slavering have
greatly improved during the last three or four years. He continued his holloaings.
Old Mr. Windham seldom swore in the house before the servants, but I have heard
him swear ont of the house. I have also heard young Mr. Windham swear, buf !
very little. It was long before his death that his father eaid, * Poor
little fellow; let him amuse himself; he has no playfellows.” There
viere some young children belonging to the families in the neighbourhood, 4
but I never sawany of them at the hall. The other members of the Windham
family lived a good distance off, I did not think that young Mr.Windham was &
troublesome boy, or that Mr. Horrocks had considerable difficulty in keeping him
in order. Mr, Horrocks had not a tedious task. [Here, at the request of Mr.
Chambers, a letter addressed by the witness to Mr, Horrocks in June, 1840, wasa
read by the clerk. *Iam gorry,” it said, *“that you have had so much trouble and
annoyance with Mr. Windham, and think you are relieved from a very tedious task."]
T cannot state precisely what I meant by the words “ tedious task” in that letter.
Mr. Horrocks nsed to want his pupil to read more than he was disposed to do; bub
they went out a great deal together, and on the whole, I think, got on very well. Some-
times Mr, Horrocks chid him for making a noise. Before I got the information from
General Windham I did not believe that Mr. Windham was going to be married. A
yamour had reached my ears that the lady was mot of good character. - Shortly
O T s Mr, Wndham in London, snd I told him what I had heard. - He |
said it was not true that he was going to marry a person of bad character. WhenI |
ghowed him a portrait of Miss Willoughby which he had sent down to Fellbrigg, and |
asked him whether that was the lady he intended to marry, he laughed, and said,
« Don’t believe half you hear” On the 28th of August Mr. Windham agreed to
meet me and my husband at the Shoreditch Station and go down with us to
fnriblk, but he did ndt keep his promise, although his things were all packed up by
ia groom.

Re-cxamined.—Mr. Horrocks and Mr. Windham rode out a greatdeal at Fellbrigg. |
What I mean by saying that Mr. Horrocks chid his pupil was that he would call him
a eilly fellow and try to imitate him. Colonel Bathurst was at Fellbrigg on [a visib
while Mr. Horrocks was there. He stayed about a week. In the evening Mr.
Horrocks nsed to allow Mr, Windham to fall asleep, and then amuased himself in his
OWD Way.

‘By the Jary.—Young Mr. Windham did not always speak the truth, but he did
not tell more f{alsshoods than other boys. He and his uncle, the General, were
always on good terms. She had never been asked to give evidence for the petitioners.

By the Master.—Witness saw very little of Mrs, Windham at Fellbrigg. When I
gaw Mr. Windham in London, on the 28th of August, I told him that his uncle would
get, & commission of lunacy against him. T wanted to frighten him more than
anything else. He said, *“He is up to that, is he? On what grounds ?’ 1 think
Mr. Windham quite able to manage himself and to give orders in his own house, bat
I can say nothing about the management of his property.

CHARLES MEERING, HEAD GAMEKEER AT FELLBRIGG.

Charles Meering, head gamekeeper at Fellbrigg, said—I have known Mr. Windham
from his earliest years. He has carried a gun for the last five or six years, and has
always conducted himself very well in the field. He loaded his own gun when he
thought proper, and when he did not, he gave it to his servant, like other geutlemen.
He gave orders himself to witneas about everything connected with the game and
shooting parties, and interested himself a good deal in the prevention of poaching.
Ha ig a good master, and always behaved well to me. Sometimes he recalled to me
old shooting events which occurred when he was very young ; witness himself could |
hardly recollect them. 0ld Mr. Windham was hot and passionate, and when he was |
¢ put up”’ used to swear a great deal. Young Mr. Windham conducted himgelf while |
out quite as well as hia father. Witness thought his mind was perfectly goundj |
nobody would ever get bim to helieve anything clse, ;
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* Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Mr. Windham was pretty much like other
young men. His manners were not more odd than those of other people. I have
mever said I was not surprised at their attempting to make Mr. Windham a
lanatic. I have never said, * Windham is an idiot, and always will be ; and what
else conld be expected but that they should attempt to make him a lunatie?” Mr.
Windham was sometimes in a passion, and on those occasions 1 observed a little
gpittle about his mouth, but I have never seen it running down upon his clothes. I
have never seen him crying. His laugh is very loud, and he occasionally shouts
to amuse himself. I never heard him yelping like a dog, or imitating a cat, or
blowing a railway whistle. I am not aware that Mr. Windham on one occasion
ghot directly at two men loading turnips in a cart. I never heard anything of it.
T do not remember saying to Mr. Peatfield that Mr. Windham was careless with
his gun. A Major Smith never complained to me, or in my hearing, that Mr. Wind-
ham was careless with his gun. When I was getting over a fence, or helping
guntlamen’ over, Mr. Windham has more than once said to me, “Be careful of

James Catton, a bricklayer at Fellbrigg, said—I have been employed on the
estate for more than 30 years. I have frequently talked with the present Mr.
Windham about business, and have received orders from him to spare no expense
in reason to make the cottages on the estate comfortable. There is no difference
between his mode of doing business and that of his father and grandfather before
him. I believe him to be a gentleman of sound mind.

Cross-examined.—There was nothing odd in his manner or his voice,

ROBERT CAWSTON, CARFPENTER AT FELLBRIGG.

Robert Cawston, the carpenter on the Fellbrigg estate, said I have been there for
38 years, and have received orders from the young squire about the fitting up of a,
cottage. Mr. Windham told me to make two apartments, becanse one was not
decent. I believed him to be of sound mind, and capable of managing hia affairs.

Cross-examined,—Mr. Windham slavered when a child, but of late years he has
almost got rid of the habit. He sometimes got into a passion, but not oftener
than his father, 3

MARY BADCOCE, HOUSEMATD AT PFLLBRIGG,.

Mrs. Mary Badeock, housemaid at Fellbrigg during the last fonr months, said—I
have known Mr. Windham for four years. Since I entered his service he has con-
duocted himself like a gentleman. He has never given inconsistent orders. He ig
hasty in temper, but his passion is soon over. There ia nothing at all strange in
the management of his house. He is most domesticated, and, I believe, perfectly
Bane.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Mr. Windham gave a dinner to his tenantry
on Christmas-day. He sat at the head of the table and the butler at the bottom.
The dinner took place in the servants’ hall. All the servants were present, and
gome tradespeople. BMany of the witnesses were there. The company drank Mr.
Windham's health and snecess to his canse. Mr. Windham was the only gentleman
present. Since October Mr. Windham has had three or four dinner parties—not
.gnﬂemen, but farmers and others of that class. I believe they are all witnesses.

y husband was formerly a railway gunard, and Mr. Windham used to call and see
him at his house in Norwich. It was there that I became acguainted with Mr.
Windham. My husband is now his valet. When me and my husband lived in
Norwich I sometimes saw Mr. Windham coming off the railway in a dirty state-
There is nothing peculiarin his voice. He is fond of singing about the house, but he
is not particnlarly noisy. His room is kept in an orderly state.

Re-examined.—There is nothing in Mr. Windham’s conduct in the house which
renders it disagreeable to serve there.

By the Master.—At the Christmas dinner Mr. Windham proposed the health of
Mrs. Windham, and hoped the company would drink it with him. He said nothing
more.

The inquiry was again adjourned.

EIGHTEENTH DAY.—WebxEspAY, JAN. 8.
The adjourned inquiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fell-
brigg-hall, Norfolk, was resumed in the Court of Exchequer, Westmiuster, before
Mr. Warren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury.
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. Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams appeared for the
petitioners; Mr, Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of
the alleged lunatic ; 8ir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milw

for Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs, Windham,

THE REY. ME. BICKMORE.

The Rev. Mr. Bickmore, Rector of Cranwich and Tidlington, in Norfolk, said—I
knew the late Mr. Windham ; I also knew the Barings, of Cromer-hall. Inl1847 1
went with Mr. Baring to Fellbrigg to dinner, In 1848 Mr. Windham applied to me
to take his son as a pupil. Some of the young Barings were pupils of mine at that
time. I was then living was Eagle-hall, near Norwich, and prepared boys for public
schools. I had a conversation at Fellbrigg with Mr. Windham and Lady Sophia
about theirson, and I also talked with the boy himself. I understood that young
Mr. Windbam was to be prepared for Eton. I ascertained his character from hisg
pavents, and likewise judged for myself. The boy came to me in September, 1848,
and stayed till Christmas, 1850. During that time he said his lessons sometimes to
me, and sometimes to Mrs. Bickmore. His studies were those pursued by boys of
his age. He was certainly not studions, but if he chose to apply himself he had
not the shightest difficulty in learning his lessons. When he came to me he could
read, write, do some arithmetic, and bhad commenced Latin. He was known as
“ Gila,” which was the name of his childhood. Witness prepared him in the usual
gystem for Eton, and had every reason to believe that he did Greek and Latin.
There wus no mental incapacity whatever about him. He was rode and boisterous
in manner, and not very tidy in his dress, but he was amenable to anthority. I
observed a peculiarity about his mouth. During one vacation young Windham was
taken to a dentist, and had an ivory plate introduced into his mouth. At the end
of 1850 1 suggested to old Mr. Windham that his son should be sent somewhere else,
in order that he might have the society of bigger boys. When about eight years of
age young Mr. Windham wrote the following letter to his mother :—

“My dear Mama,—I am very much pleased with what papa has given me, and I
hope he will receive this simple present in return to his great one, and, as I have

" told him, I am so thankful to him I really cannot express myself for his kindness
to me, and I hope you are stronger than you were. But I can almost guess by
what Sir John Boileau told Mr. Bickmore, who dined there on Friday night, and
I am sorry to say, very indeed, that Sir Jokn fell down, I think, and has hurt
himself very much indeed, and is very ill indeed, the day before to dine there, and
Lady Catherine was very kind to us indeed to us, and played with us as if she
was a little girl. Tom and Mina are quite well, except that Mina has a little cold,
and send their love to you. Dear Mama, I shall soon be home now; it is only &
week now and Mr. Bickmore has written to papa to say I am to come home on the
14th, but do ask to have me home on the 13th ; by-the-bye I never received that
little present I asked you to give me for Mr. Bickmore.

“Good bye, dear Mama, your most affectionate son,

|
i
1
{
4
|

“ Gra."”
I recollect Sir John Boilean meeting with an accident.
Uross-examined by Mr, Chambers.—The present he sent to his father was a
walentine inscribed with the following lines :—
‘¢ Accept this token of my love,
And let your heart ineline
To chase away all doubts and fears,
And be my Valentine. ]
He was not more than eight years of age at that time. I had no doubt that Wind- 1
+ ham did Greek while under my care, and I might go farther and say that the book
he used was driold's Introduction. 1 had nine pupils—all young gentlemen—when
Windbam came to me« The number fluctuated while he was there. Two boys slept
in one room. Windham had no particular chum; they were all as one family. The
boys came to me young, and left when they were about thirteen or fourteen. Wind-
ham left when he was about ten. Some of the new boys who came when Windham
left might be ten, eleven, or twelve years of age, but I think they were younger than
Windbam. Windham had the ivory plate in his mouth when he left school. I
endeavoured to checkhis habit of slavering,but I did not succeed altogether. At times,
when the boy was speaking fast, there was a certain amount of moisture about his
mouth. It did not * dribble.”

:
P
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" By the Jory.—I didnot “ dismiss” young Windham ; I simply advised his father
‘“to remove him to gome school where he would have the society of bigger boys.
ther reason for my wishing the boy to be removed was, that I had heard young
“Windham used violent language and oaths, and I did not thinkit desirable to expose
other boys, fresh from home, to the influence of such an example. I myself never
heard Windham swearing. He pursued the same studies as the other boys of his
age, and I did not pay any particnlar attention to him. Tnstances of violent passion
on the part of Windham were not brought to my knowledge. Windham required to
‘be treated with firmmess, for he was a spoilt child, and I was occasionally obliged to
punish him rather severely. When he left me he was not sufficiently advanced for
Eton, but I refused to keep him any longer.

MRS, BICEMORE.

~ Mrs. Bickmore corroborated the evidence of her husband, and stated that Wind-
ham did his lessons in the same way as the other boys. She had mo trouble in
managing him, and never heard him use bad language. He was not neat in his
dress, and sometimes, owing to the slavering caunsed by the defect in his mouth,
His face was rather dirty. Otherwise she never had reason to complain of his habits,
It never entered her head thaé he was not as sound in his mind as other boys.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers,—In play he sometimes made his face dirtier
‘than other boys, but witness attributed that to the escape of saliva from his mouth.

; Cross-examined.—The boys often played at soldiers, and Windham acted as &

among them. Bome boys were tidier than others.

! . SIR EDMUND LACON, COLONEL EAST NORFOLK MILITIA.

. ‘Bir Edmund Lacon.—TI am colonel of the East Norfolk Militia. I remember re-
ceiving a letter from Mr. Windham applying for a commission. It was written
somewhere in Belgium, and was dated December, 1859. The letter was forwarded
to the Lord-Lieutenant, and the application was granted. Mr. Windham joined the
regiment in 1860. He wrote a letter to the adjutant from Sandgate, Kent, on the
29th of March, in which he said:—

“ I have to inform you that I have just received a letter from Sir Edmund Lacon,
in which he eays it rests with myself entirely whether I come or not. Since T de-
sire it, [ certainly shall join on the 9th; and perhaps you will be kind enough to
write and inform me whether I am to appear in undress uniform or not. I should
feel obliged also if you could inform me where 1 can get good lodgings near the sea,
as it will be cheaper fur me to live there than at an hotel.”

.When Mr. Windbam joined, the regiment was out for a month’s training. Assoon
a8 he joined he commenced to learn his drill, and took his part in all the business of
the regiment. He got on very well with his drill—more gquickly, indeed, than others,
becanse he told me he had learnt his drill at Shorneliffe.” He waa in all respects as
competent a8 the other young officers, and did all the duties required of a lientenant.
There was a regimental mess at the hotel. I dined at the mess every day. Mr.
Windham was generally present, and many of the other officers. 1 saw nothing in
his conduct to attract my attention. He behaved like an officer and a gentleman.
In my eonversations with him I never noticed any deficiency of intellect. He
talked like the other officers, and was always rational and sensible in everything
e said or did. :

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—He left Yarmouth when the training was
over. I saw Mr. Horrocks in Yarmonth. Mr. Windham never told me how he had
managed to come and join the regiment. Officers on joining have to learn the sword
and musket exereise and marching. Mr. Windham could do the manual and platoon
exercise. I mever had any complaints made to me about his condunct in Yarmouth.
One day, when the regiment was marching on to the parade-ground, Mr. Windham
called out, *“Shall T double up # I thought that expression so strange coming from
a recruit that I spoke to him on the subject, and it was then he told me that he had
learned his drill at Shorncliffe.  He was not reported to me for riding about with a
woman during the training.

He-examined.—It was after the training wos over that I saw Mr. Horrocks in
Yarmouth. I had then no authority over Mr. Windham. s

By the jury.—I never gaw Mr. Wmdham at a ball or in the society of ladies at
Yarmouth. He conducted himself like a gentleman at mess. He applied in the

first instance for an ensigney, but there was several lientenancies vacant at the time
and he got one of them.
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ANTHONY HANLON, SERGEANT-MAJOR, BAST NORFOLKE MILITIA.

Anthony Hanlon, sergeant-major of the East Norfolk Militia, said Mr, Windhamy
when he joined came into his hands to be drilled. He attended regularly to his
drill, and learnt it faster than others—so fast, indeed, that I often allowed him
to stand at ease while the rest were going on with their drill. He was very atten.
tive, and gave not the slightest trouble. I thought him a very smart officer, and
was sorry when he left the regiment. -

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Mr. Windham commenced the drill from the

heginning, but he conld march well when he joined the regiment, and he was con-

sequently put into an advanced squad. He went through both the manunal and platoon
exercises, but witness conld not say whether he liked it or not. He was af, drill five
hours a-day. He held a lieutenancy in No. 3 Company, Captain Ensor; there werse
noother officersin the company. He was either junior lieutenant or Jjunior but one.
Captain Ensor was generally with his company. None of the lieutenants had
been long in the service,

Re-examined.—At an inspection of the regiment Mr. Windham carried the colours,
and did all his work properly on the oceasion.

By the Jury.—I never saw him command the company in the captain’s absence.

MEB. HOLMES, ADJUTANT EAST NORFOLE MILITIA,

Mr. Holmes.—I was formerly in the Hussars, and served in India and the
Crimea. I am adjutant of the East Norfolk Militia, and remember Mr. Windham
Joining in 1860. I saw him the whole time he was with the regiment. He-drilled
under my directions, and was quicker at it than most other officers, 1T occasionally
dined at the mess ; Mr. Windbam was always present when I was there, and his
conduct was that of an officer and a gentleman. His address and conversation
were those of a sensible man. As paymaster I had {o settle his accounts with him 3
he appeared to understand them, and he conducted the business the same as the
other officers.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—He always told me the trath, I may have
expressed an opinion about him, as other people have done, and I may have unsed
the words, “ He is an awful liar.” I live at Yarmouth, and have a family. The
officers of the regiment used to visit me. I do not think Mr. Windbam ever called
at my house. The Yarmouth people are very hospitable. I know that Mr. Wind-

ham was in aociety at Yarmonth, but I was much engaged at the time, and never

met him in the social circle. Under the commanding officer I had the superin-
tendence of the whole of the drill, The whole of the regimental business passed
through my hands. I do not remember any report being made of young Windbham

going abont in his regimentals with improper characters. It was his duty as one-

of the junior lieutenants to carry the eolours on parade. I heard that he had
joined the regiment without the knowledge of his tutor, Mr. Horrocks, but I do not
remember whether he told me so himself or not. I was not aware that he was in
the habit of driving railway engines.

Re-examined.—Mr. Windham was a good officer. During the training I never
went into society. Mr. Windham always told me the truth, and I said he was * an
awful liar” on hearsay.

MR, SMITH, SURGEON, BAST NORFOLK MILITIA.

Myr. Bmith, surgeon of the East Norfolk Militia.—I dined ab the mess several times
during the training in 1860. Mr. Windbham was always there, and conducted him-
self very well indeed. I have had conversations with him. He was uniformly
gentlemanly in his behaviour, and appeared to be a man of sense, quite aware of
what he was about. I saw no difference between him and the other officers.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers,—I have met Mr. Windham in society. I
recollect seeing him at a musical party in Yarmouth. He conducted himgelf with
propriety in the drawing-room. I never had ocecasion to make any complaint about
him. We weore not on very intimate terms. The musical party was given by Mr.
Harcourt, who at one time was member for Bucks,

By the Jury.—I did not see a great deal of My, Windham.

NICHOLAS CAWSTON, CARPENTER.

Nicholas Cawston, carpenter, said—I have lived at Fellbrigg pretty nearly all my
life, and 1 am now seventy-seven years of age. I knew the great Mr. Windham.

E—
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The late Mr. Windham was a clever sort of a man, but hasty sometimes, and when
in # passion he wounld swear a little. He had great confidence in me, and left mo
£5 when he died, I bhave known the present sqnire since his childhood. I am
elerk of the parish, and have nd hesitation in saying that ne man in Eopgland could
conduct himself better in church than Mr. Windham did. Mr. Windbham has alwaya
| bebaved well to me. He is perfectly sound in his mind, *and,” to Mr. Karslake,
* if he h;ld your wig on hia head he would make a very good counsellor.”
A langh.

: Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Four or five weeks ago Mr. Windham sent
his servant to church to invite me to diomer. I accepted the invitation, and
have dined once or twice at Fellbrigz-hall since. I dined with the servanta. DMe.
Windham did not sit down at table with us. I was discharged by Captain Windham,
the receiver, when the estate was put into Chancery, but I did not make a song
abont the gallant gentleman in consequence, or sing it at the Hall at Christmas
in 1860.

Re-examined.—Captain Windham told me that the workhouse was the best place
for me. He is a good sort, heis, I don’t think! (A laugh.) I have managed to
keep out of the workhouse.

JANE MOREIS, CHAMBERMAID AT VICTORIA HOTEL, YARMOUTH.

Jane Morris, chambermaid at the Victoria Hotel, Yarmouth, said—TI remember Mr,
Windham staying at the Vietoria Hotel when the militia were out for training. It
was my daty to attend to his bedroom. I never noticed anything out of the nsual
way about his clothes or his bed. He always behaved like a gentleman, and it never
gtruck me that there was anything wrong in his head.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—I'had nothing to do with Mr. Windham exceptin
the way of business, and never received a farthing from him in my life. I have not
had much conversation with him at any time.

JAMES REYNOLDS, A WAGGONER AT PELLERIGG.

James Reynolds, a waggoner at Fellbrige, had known Mr. Windham all his lifetime
had often talked with him about ploughing and farming operations generally,
and had never heard or seen him do anything which was ununsual, or which would
lead him to suppose that he was not right in his mind.

Cross-examined.—Mr. Windham was very fond of horges, and drove a team pretty
well. There was nothing pecuoliar in hiz langh, and I never heard him sghouting
He was always very quiet when with me.

ANNE THURSTON,; SERVANT AT FELLERIGG.

Anne Thurston said—I was in the service of old Mr. Windham at Fellbrigg at the
time of his death. The household was then reduced, but I returned to Fellbrigg about
three years ago. Since then I have seen young Mr. Windham from time to time. I
left with Mrs. Martin. Mr. Windham was always gentlemanly and cleanly in his
habits ; there was no difference between him and other gentlemen.

Cross-Examined by Mr. Chambers.—I have often seen him in the pantry, but
never wiping glasses. He would sometimes go into the kitchen, but he wonld not
stop long. His object was to speak to Mrs. Martin. His hands and face were
alwaya remarkably clean, and his clothes were particularly neat and tidy, while in
. his linen he was aa particular as a lady. I have seen a little slaver at his mouth, but
he always used his poeket-handkerchief. I never noticed anything peculiar about
his voice or his langh. He langhed loudly, but not very much—just like other
young men. I never heard him swear. He was fond of joking with the servants
but he was not particularly rough or noisy.

THOMAS SCOTT, LABOURER, YELLRRIGG.

Thomas Secott, a labourer at Fellbrigg, had often talked with Mr. Windham about
the dairy business, and believed hin to be of perfectly sound mind.

ALLAN SHEPHERD, BLACKSMITH, FELLBRIGG.

Allan Shepherd, blacksmith on the estate, gave similar evidence. He denied in
eross-examination that after making an affidavit, he had said, *I'm not going to
lose my bread.” He did all the iron work on the Fellbrigg estate.

By the Jury.—Had heard old Mr. Windham holloa when he was alone in the par-
lour. The son sometimes did the same,



JONATHAN LINES, FELLBRIGG. _

Jonathan Lines, who attended Mr. Windham when ot shooting, said he waa
very careful with his gun, and always condueted himself like the other gentlemen.

Cross-examined.—Mr. Windham had cauntioned other gentlemen to be careful with
their gans, and he had given a &imilar warning to the gamekeeper. When [ have
been at his side,I have heard him ery out to the other gentlemen not to fire, or they
would ghoot me.

JAMES KNOWLES, BUTLER, FELLBRIGG. B

James Knowles, butler at Fellbrigg, gaid he entered the service in 1843, and
stayed till 1847. I went back again a few months age, and am there now. In the
interval 1 served in the Bristol family, and in the Army and Navy Clob. Mr.
Windham told me years age that when he came of age he would have me for his
butler. He has carried out his promise. MMr. Windham when a boy was very high-

" gpirited, and was indulged by his parents. He now gave all the orders in hishouse,
and presided at table. His conduct towards the servants was very kind. He is
passionate at times, but his father was the same, and worse. The fits do not last
long. I believe him to be a man of sound mind. . _

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Everything in the house is left to me.
Mr. Windham never told me, though I was a confidential servant, that he was
going to be married. I do not know whether Lady Sophia had a whip to keep her
gon in order; if she had I never saw it. I was not present when Mr. Windham
tucked up his sleeves and helped the servants to clear the table at the Marquis of
Bristol’s, in St. James's-square. Mr. Windham, when in a passion, was nobk more
violent than other young gentlemen. I have observed a little galiva abount his
mouth, bot nothing very particular; I have certainly never seen it running down
upen his clothes. 1 was engaged to go down as butler to Fellbrigz by Mr. Lewellin,
who over and over again told me that I would find Mr. Windham a good master.
I was present at the Christmas drink. There were 45 persons present. The dinner
consisted of wine and beer. There were half-a-dozen of champagne, half-a-dozen
-of claret, and some port and sherry. In the evening the carpet was taken np in
the dining-room, and the company anga%'ed in daneing. I heard Mr. Windham in
the room, but T did not notice that his face was blacked, and that he was dressed
something like a clown. Mr. Windham did not kick the candlesticks ounf of my
hands. I dropped a candlestick, and Mr. Windham kicked it—perhaps aocei-
dentally—in pussing, and told me to bring another. I did not see Mr. Windham
throw himself upon the floor and imitate the action of swimming. There were
some people at the dinner who were not tenants of Mr. Windham., Many of the
witnesses were present. When I saw Mr, Windham the following morning he did
niot speak to me about what he had heard of his conduct the night before. Mr.
Windham was at Fellbrigg for several days at Christmas. He dined dt home every
day. Once or twice he had a guest, but I do not remember the name, though I
have seen the same gentieman some years ago. I do not kmow whether Mr.
‘i‘?i:;ﬂhum was away on the Monday before Christmas, but he was away on the

nesday.

Re.examined.—In his boyhood Mr. Windham was allowed to wait at table from the
soup to the dessert. He used to go throngh the work with the ntmost gravitv, and
his parents never interfered with him. In old Mr. Windham’s time all the servants |
about the house, and the principal people employed on the estate, dined at the hall =
on Christmas-day, and had a dance in the evening. I have no idea in the world who
has given all the information about the dinner last Christmas.

By the Jury.—Mr. Windham was merry on Christmas night, but he was not 3
¢ fregh.” I was never told anything about Mr. Windham having his faece blackened.
There is a regular wine account kept in the house. Mr, Windham allowed me to
xeep the key of the wine cellar.

EDWARD 8MITH, CLERK T0O ME. BUCEMASTER, TAILOR.

Ednta.rd Smith, travelling clerk to Mr. Buckmaster, tailor, New Burlington-streets
gaid—in March 1861, I was staying at the Yacht Hotel, Guernsey, aad saw Mr-
Windham there. Mr. Windham told me that he expected in May to get a commission
in the 2nd Life Guoards, and gave me an order for some clothes. He conducted him-
gelf like a gentleman, and T had not the slightest suspicion that there was anything
wrong in his mind., He taiked sensibly enough,
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- Cross-examined.—There were many young officers who were not particularly wise
o . young _
in cenveryation, Mr. Buckmaster’s bill had not been paid.

- The inquiry was again adjourned. ;

NINETEENTH DAY.—THURSDAY, Jax. 9.
« The adjonrned inquiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed yesterday in the Court of Exchequer, Westminster,
before Mr. Warren, Q.(C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury.
. Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Home Williams appeared for the
petitioners; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophis Giubilei, the mother of the alleged
lunatic ; Bir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr., Milward for Mr. William
Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windham. :
~ Mr. Karslake, in reply to a question from the Master, stated that he hoped to
finish the evidence for Mr. Windham by Monday or Tuesday next.
. Mr. Robinson, surgeon, stated that Lady Sophia Giubilei, the mother of Mr.
Windham, was unable from illness to attend and be re-examined as a witness in
this case.

CAPTATIN ENSOR, 38TH REGIMENT.

. Captain Ensor.—I was at one time in the 38th Rogiment. After I left the army
I obtained a commission in the East Norfolk Militia. I hold it now. When Mr.
Windham joined the regiment he was posted to my company. I was in daily com-
munication with him duringz the training of 1860, Isaw him at mess, as well as else-
where, almost every day. He was constant in his duty on parade, and perfurmed
his duty exceedingly well—very zealously indeed. He proved himself an unusnally
efficient snbaltern to me. At mess his conduct was unobjectionable. From first to
last, as far as my observation went, he behaved like an officer and a gentleman.
After the training I saw nothing of him till the end of September, 1851. At that
time I was on a visit to a brother officer in the neighbourhood of Fellbrigg. I
called on Mr. Windham, and I fonnd him with his wife and two of her sisters.  Hig
manner was very friendly. He introduced me to the ladies. After some conversa-
tion, he told me that he and his wife were going to ride, and asked me to accompany
them. We rode through the park to a eottage, which he said he wished to look a,
with a view to necessary repairs. He got off his horse and inspected the cottage,
both outside and inside. We then rode to a farmhonse, when he introduced Mrs.
Windham in the nsual way to the farmer’s wife. When we returned to the hall he
asked m> to stay to dinner. He said he wished to dine early, as he had to attend
an agricultnral meeting at South-house. 1 dsclined the invitation, in consequence
of an engagement elsewhere, and after taking a glass of wine I left the hall, I
believe him to be of perfeetly sound mind.

- Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—As his captain I was very intimate with him
but I do not know how he passed his evenings after mess. He did not tell me how
he had managed to join the regiment, nor did he make me acquainted with his
passion for driving railway engines, or with his habit of acting as a policeman. I
do not know with what persons he associated at reviews. [was present at a review
in Norwich, but I did not see Mr. Windham there. I cannot give you the name of
any young officer with whom he was in the habit of associating ag a friend. He had
just joined the regiment; he was friendly with ns all; but I do not know that he
had any particalar companion. As the youngest officer it was his duty to carry the
colours when the regiment was paraded, and, as far as I recollect, he always did sos
I associated with him at my own lodgings and at mess, but I had no time to walk
with him arm-in-arm about the town. I do not think he was in the habit of leaving
the mess before it broke up. I have seen him associating with ladies at parties. I
Eaw him at a ball. I did not see him making a great noise on the stairs; he was in
the room dancing. I saw him at a musical party given by Mr. Harcourt. He
behaved himself in a becoming manner. He used to talk a good deal, and there
was a peculiarity in the sound of his voice. I had neither seen nor heard of Mrs,
Windham before I was introduced to her by her husband.

Re-examined.—The peculiarity in his voice arose, I think, from a difficnlty in
articulation. There was nothing in his conduct at mess which at all attracted my
attention. Any miseondut wounld have been noticed at once. e unsed to visit me
at my lodgings. Onee or twice I sent him to march my company up from the
Private parade to the general parade. ,

By the Master.—He seemed to have a great liking for military service.
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By the Jury.—He performed his duties as a subaltern fo my satisfaction. Wa
had no field days, bot we had an inspection. His conversation was consequent and
coherent.

. MR, BINGHAM, TATLOR, NORWICH,
" Mr. Thomas Bingham, tailor in Norwich, said he had known Mr. Windham since

October, 1859. He had supplied him with clothes; his orders were always sensibla
and moderate, and he showed great ghrewdness in selecting the different articles
which I made np forhim. In August, 1861, just after he came of age, he gave an
order to me for for clothes for his servants, and also for an overcoat for himself.
His orders, both then and at other times, were exactly similar to those which I was
in the habit of receiving from other gentlemen. He waa very particular about the
fit of his clothes, especially his trousers, Thad a conversation with him in November
last, On that occasion he said his education had been neglected, and he had nothing
to thank his family for in that respect. I never suspected that there was anything
wrong in his head. - J

Crosg-examined by Mr. Chambers.—His conversation with witness was always
extremely sensible. It was mot superior, but was equal to that of other young
gentlemen in the neighbourhood of Norwich. Witness never heard that an
ebjection was made to the payment of one of his bills against Mr. Windham. Tha
amount of a bill which witness rendered to Mr. Martin, the bailiff, and which still
remained unpaid, was a little over £57. It was all due for clothes for Mr. Windham
himself. Mr. Windham showed great shrewdness in choosing the patterns and
examining the quality of the cloth. He never ordered a railway suit. Witness
never heard of his propensity for driving engines and acting as a gnard. When
he told witness that his education had been neglected, and that he had nothing to

thank his family for in that respect, he spoke seriously, like a man who really

believed what he said.,

Mr. Charles Howlitt, an ironmonger in Norwich, said he had tramsactions in

business with Mr. Windham, extending over three years. Mr. Windham gave his
orders himself, and they were always sensible, moderate, and proper. At various
times he ordered cast-iron mangers for the stables, a hot and cold water bath,
powder, and shot, and other things. His conduct and conversation were always
those of a sensible man. He inscructed witness from time to time to send in his
account, and managed his business like other gentlemen.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers—When Mr. Windham came to the shop in
Norwich he wore the dress of a gentleman, and was clean and neat in his appears
ance. I do not know where the Fellbrigg gamekeeper got his powder and shot.
Tt was not at his shop. Mr. Windham was always alone when he came to the shop,
On one occasion he ordered a tea wrn and an_electro-plated tea service, and took
them away in & cab. I understood that Mr. Windham was at Fellbrigg at that time.
Once he gave me a £50 note for a £5 note, and a govereign in payment of a bill. He
appeared to have three or four other notes in his pocket-book at the time. I once
saw Mr. Windham in the theatre in Norwich. He was in one of the upper boxes, and
conducted himself properly. A week or two ago I accompanied Mr. Windham and
a party to Drury-lane Theatre. We occnpied & box. We went o the theatre from
Brett's Hotel, in Holborn, where I was staying. Mr. Windham did not dine there.
The party met him by appointment ontside the theatre. He treated us all, We stayed
till the end of the pantomime. Mr. Windham drove off from the theatre ina caby
and T went to the Haymarket, where I had a glass of ale. I thought I saw another
witness in the Haymarket. After I had the glass of ale I went straight home. I had the
ale in Barnes'sa public-house inthe Haymarket, on the left hand going up. Ihad twice
geen Mr. Windham there at night since the commencement of this inquiry. The
first time was about ten o'clock, and Mr. Windham was talking to the landlord in
front of the bar. The second time was about the same hour, and Mr. Windhamt
was speaking to a gentleman with a moustache. He had a glass of ale. I did nok
think it necessary to caution him about frequenting the Haymarket during the pro-
aress of these proceedings. I was not presumptuons enongh to offer advice to 8
gentleman like Mr. Windham. Mr. Windham conducted himself properly, but I
did not think it was right for him, under present circumstances, to go to a gin-sh
in the Haymarket, though he declined to say whether it was the act of a ratio
man or not. At that time Mr. Windham was staying with Roberts in P_incnﬂlui'l
and T had dined with him there along with others. Roberts did not dine with thems



125

-"_I‘.'hey had sherry and ale, but no ehampagme. After dinmer Mr. Windham went
‘away in a cab, and I proceeded to the Alhambra, where I saw General Windham.
T dined a second time with Mr. Windham at Piccadilly. On that occasion he told

* Mr. Windham that be ought not to live with Roberte. What he said was, that it
was diggracefal to live with such a fellow. Mr. Windham said Roberts was a bad
gort, and he intended to leave him. After dinner they separated, but later 1 found
Mr. Windham in Barmes’s. Inthe interval, I had visited the Princess’'s Theatre.
I did not stay till the end of the performance. Mr. Windham did not tell me that
night, or on any other oceasion, that he intended to give a grand ball to the women
in the Haymarket, nor did he tell me that he was still in the habit of going almost
nightly to the Haymarket. I presumed, however, from seeing him twice in the
Haymarket that he was still in the habit of going there. I saw Mr. Windham
talking to a woman in the Haymarket, but did not hear what he said. He was not
laughing or making a noise, nor was there a crowd of women standing about him.
‘It was last Thursday night I wentto the Alhambra. I never said, “They have got
up young Windham very well ; he really looks a clever young fellow.” At Norwich
I never associated with Mr. Windham, except in the way of business. -

Re-examined.—All the persons who went to Drury-lane Theatre with Mr.
‘Windham, and ‘who dined 'with him in Piceadilly, were witnesses from Norfolk,
staying in London at his expense. I believe that Mr. Windham had broken off. his
acquaintance with Roberts, and was now living at Morley's Hotel. When he saw
General Windham in the Alhambra, he was accompanied by Mr. Hansell, his
‘solicitor ; they left early, and I could not say whether or not he met them afterwards
in the Haymarket.

By the Master.—When I dined with Mr. Windham, and went with him to the
theatre, he did not seem caat down or dejected ; on the contrary, he was in excellent
gpirits. :

By the Jury.—I gave Mrs, Windham a stamped receipt for the money given to
‘him in payment of his account.

ME. COLMAN, FISHMONGER, NORWICH,

- Mr. Charles Colman, fishmonger and dealer in game in Norwich, said—I have
“transacted business with Mr. Windham. The prices I gave to Mr. Windham for his
extra game were—58. a brace for pheasants, 2s. for partridges, hares 2s. each, and
"9, a dozen for rabbits. Mr. Windham diseussed the prices, and seemed to under-
stand perfectly what he was about. He came for the money himself, and gave a
‘ stamped receipt ; in fact, he conducted the business just like any other gentleman.
Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—It was usual for gentlemen themselves,
and not their gamekeepers, to bargain for the sale of their extra game. Mr.
Windham was alone when he agreed upon terms with me. :
Re-examined.—My account with Mr. Windham was kept precigely in the same
way as those with other gentlemen.

ME, H. W. BURR; BERKS.

Mr. H. W. Burr, of Wokingham, Berke, said I have been in the habit for some
vears of preparing young pgentlemen for the army. In November, 1858, Mr.
Windbam came to me, and stayed till February, 1859, During that time he was
away on a short vacation. He came to me to read for the army examination.
His studies were history, geography, mathematics, classics, French, and fortifi-
‘cations. I had other pupils at the same time. I consider Mr. Windham rather
auick at learning than otherwise. He was not assiduous, but if he chose he conld
learn more than some others. He had two horses, and occasionally went out

~ ghooting. I was occupied with him, more orless, daily. Mr. Windham, when he
came to me, knew gsomething of the classics, but his education in common things—
apelling, grammar, and the modern languages—had been neglected. His manner
was uniformly regular and gentlemanly ; he behaved in the house quite as well as
the majority of pupils. There was nothing dirty or unbecoming in his dress, and
he was as dainty as others about his linen. At times he was rather particular
than otherwise about his personal appearance. There was nothing at all in his
eonduct to find fault with. He did not work eo hard as some other boys, but he
had sufficient ability to pass the army examination. Indeed, if he had chosen to
apply himself, he could have passed better than some who bave passed gince. I
believe him to be a man of perfectly sound mind, y

¥
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‘Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—His rules were as strict as they wéll conld lie

in such an establishment. Mr, Windham' was ﬁnem]l}r very punctual at his meals
and made no peculiar noise while eating.. . I observed the unusal formation of his
mouth, and occagionally noticed the saliva: running from the corners, but not to any
great extent. He had seen him rather exeited from drink, but never heard him
awear. Mr. Windham was not in the habit of drinking more than was good for
him. He had a good appetite, but he did not eat voraciously. I taught him
# Buelid” He got about half way through the first book. He had a very good
knowledge of geography and history. Mr. Windbam came to me to be crammed,
and he would have been crammed well if he had remained for six weeks or two
months longer. 1 was under the impression that he left because he had got into
debt in the neighbourhood. His debts altogether amounted to abont £70. I heard
of his fondness for driving railway engines, but ‘could not say that I had seen him
comipg home covered with dirt and soot. He had not an idiotic laugh, nor was he
iﬁt the habit of langhing more than others. ' He was taken away by Lord Alfred

Ervey. : { [ | i |

Re-examined.—I got in Mr. Windham’s bills and paid them. There was nothing
out of the way in them. : [LA-— .bonigrn xa.a

By the Master,—Mr. Windham was grounded in many branches before he came to
me. : i

MRS, BURR.

Mra. Burr corroborated the evidence of her husband as to the gantlemanly conduct
and manner of Mr. Windham. His habits, she said, were cleanly. He was rather
acticular about his linen, and his langnage was never offensive.  From first to last
e behaved himself decently and rationally. He was kind to the servants. .~
Cross-examined.—I have observed a little saliva at the eorners of his mouth while
eating, but not much.
REV. MR. HURST, OF WOKINGHAN.

The Rev. Mr. Hurst, carate of Wokingham, said he became acquainied with Mr.
Windham when he was staying at Mr. Borr's, and gave him lessons in mathematics.
Mr. Windham had the average ability in learning mathematics, and there was
nothing about him to lead to the conglusion that his mind was impaired. I believe
him to be perfectly sane. _

Cross-examined,—What he taught Mr. Windham wasarithmetic—addition, sub-
traction, and vulgar fractiona.

By the Master—]I considered him the brightest youth in mathematics at Mr. Buw’s.

ME. CODE, SOLICITOR, WORKINGEAM,

Mr. Cook, solicitor at Wokingham, said—I knew Mr. Windham when he was at
Mr. Burr's. Mr. Windham rode and drove about a good deal, and on one occasion
he drove me himself. After the Reading Steeple-chase in February, 1859, Mr.
Windham told me that somebody had run into and broken his dog-cart, and wished
me to find out who it was, becaunse he wanted to make the person pay the coach-
maker's bill. I made inguiries, found out the person, and obtained the amount of
the bill—£1, 10s. I met Mr. Windham at the opening of the Wellington College,
and on many other oceasions, and believed him to be a man of sound mind.

Crosa-examined.—Never saw him do anything strange.

ELIZABETH CROSSLEY, NORWICH.

Elizabeth Crossley, chambermaid and barmaid at the Duke’s Palace Hotel, Nor-
wich, said Mr. Windham was in the habit of staying there occasionally as well as
his two uncles, Captain and General Windham, Young Mr. Windham had slept at
the hotel. He always conducted himself like a geuntleman, and she never observed
anything peculiar in his room.

Cross-examined by Mr, Chambers.—Mr. Windham was last at the hotel on the
Saturday before Christmas. I do not recoilect whether there was anybody with
him exceph his servant, ;

By the Jury.—Mr. Windham was owing money at the hotel. 1 did not know the
amount, but it was over £100. ; i

By the Master.—The bill began in September, 1860, and was principally for things
supplied to Mr. Windham and the keep of his horses.

MES. ANKN WARNER, BEDFOED HOTEL, COVEXT GARDEN.

Mrs, Ann Warner, landlady of the Bedford Hotel, Covent Garden, said—Mr.

s i s e oy S i
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Windham staged with her in May last for a fortnight.  During that time she had
constant communication with him; he conducted himself like a gentleman, and she
did not notice anything peculiar about him. _ :
Cross-examined.—Mr. Peatfield, his tator, was with him, -
By the Master.—He paid the bill himself. There was nothing in his appcarance

or conversation to lead her to suppose that he was deficieut in understanding.

MIl. SEELEY, STATIONMASTER, E.U. LINE.

~ Mr. W. Seeley, stationmaster on the Eastern Union line at Norwich, had ssen
Mr. Windham at the station as an occasional traveller. He took out bhis ticket in
the nsual way, and conducted himself in all respects like an erdinary passenger.
Mr. Chambers,—I have no guestion to put to the witness, who has cost much and
told us little.
ME. PARKER, INSPECTOR, THORPE STATION.

Mr. Parker, passenger inspector, at the Thorpe Station, near Norwich, pave
similar evidence, and stated that Mr. Windham, in his undress militia uniform, might
easily have been mistaken for a railway gnard. * _ :

Cross-examined.—A belt and pouch formed no part of the Militia uniform,

MR. CHAPMAN, RELIEVING OFFICER, FELLBRIGG.

Mr. Chapman, relieving officer of the union in which Fellbrigg is included, said—
I have known Mr. Windham for many years, and have negotiated the taking of a
farm with him. The uegotiation took place about this time last year, and I took
possession of the farm, in the presence of Mr. Windham, at Michaelmas. I believe
the squire to be & man of sense. i

Other evidence of a similar character was given, and the inguiry was adjourned.

TWENTIETH DAY.—Fripay, Jax. 10.

The adjourned inquiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed in the Westmiuster Sessions-house, before Mr.
Wearren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury. '

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williama appeared for the
petitioners ; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Ginbilei, the mother of
the alleged lunatic; Bir Hogh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karalake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward
for Mr. Willinm Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windham.

It was arranged this morning that counsel shonld be present at the interview
which the Master and jury proposed to have with Mr. Windham at the close
of the case. i !

Carraiy Ives oF NORFOLK.

Captain Ives, examined by Mr. Karslake.—I am a county magistrate and depnty-
lientenant of Norfolk, and have known the Windham family for many years. 1 first
met young Mr. Windham about two years ago at a dinner party in Norwich. At
that time Mr. Horrocks was living with him. Mr. Windham acted like any other
gentleman in the room. Shortly after he invited me to Fellbrige to meet the hounds
and asked me to send my horses. I accepted the invitation, which was given
through Mr. Horrecks, and went to Fellbrigg on the 10th of Janunary, 1860. There
was nobody in the honse except Mr. Horrocks. I stayed three days and four nights.
On one of the evenings Mr., Mra., and Miss Scott and Captain Windham dived thera.
One day Mr. Windham went out to dine with Lord Suffield ; Mr. Horrocks remained
with me. I went out with the hoonds twice; Mr. Windham accompanied me. He
rode a horse belonging to Lord Suffield. He dined at my house at the end of
January. During my stay at Fellbrigz he behaved like a gentleman, as fur as I
could judge, and he rode very well with the hounds. TLord Suffield lent him a
horse on two occasions while I was there. 1 went into the ‘stables with Mr. Wind-
bam., Neither there nor in the hunting-field did I ever see any cruelty on his part.
towards the horses.  Last summer I met him frequently in London.' DMes. Ives
was in London at the time, and was in the habit of riding with me in the Park.
We used to see Mr. Windham frequently in the Park, riding. He joined us once
or twice. I liked the look of the horse he was riding one day, and asked him
whether he would sell it. He said he had jost bought it for £40, and seemed
disinclined to part with it. As an inducement I offered him £50 for the animal,
;hiuking he would easily get another for himself, for I considered him to be a good
udge of horses. I have seen him driving once since he married. 1 was going
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through Aylsham, and I saw him driving a four-in-hand down the Norwich road.
1 overtook him very scon. He pilled on one side and I drove up alongside of him,
1 asked him about the horse I had fancied in London, and he told me it had mek
with an accident and I could not have it at all. He drove very steadily on that
cccasion, 1 believe him to be a pergon of sound mind.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—I had an impression that he was a fast driver
and thought he might try to pass me on the Norwich road, but he made no attempt
to do go. T had heard that he had driven the mail cart once from Cromer to
Aylsham, and that eircumstance may have given me the notion that he was a fast
driver. I was invited to Fellbrigg by Mr. Horroeks at the request of Mr. Windham.

"1 had gone to bed when Mr. Windham returned from the dinner at Lord Suffield’s.

When I overtook him on the Norwich road he was by himself. 1 have mot seen
him since that day. When I met him in the park last snmmer he was generally
riding alone. He joined Mrs. Ives and me once or twice, but generally, if I wanted
to speak to him, I turned and rode with him. He rode rather faster than we did. I
saw him riding once with a lady who breaks in horses. It was not Miss Gilbert,
but I think it was a lady of good character. That was the only time I saw him
riding with a lady. Mr. Horrocks and he did not seem to be on very good terms.
Mr. Windham did not appear to like his tutor. At the dinner party of which I
have spoken Mr. Horrocks sat opposite Mr. Windham.

Re-examined.—I formed the opinion that Mr, Windham and Mr, Horrocks were
not very good friends from what the latter told me.

By the jury.—Mr. Horrocks told me that Mr. Windham was difficult to manage.

Major Glover, examined by Mr. Karslake.—I reside near Fellbrigg, and am Major
in the East Norfolk Militia. I was out with the regiment for training in 1860.
1 had known Mr. Windham for -a short time before that. I dined with him at
Fellbrigg in December, 1859. During the training in 1860 he learnt his drill very
quickly, performed all his dnties in an efficient manner, and his conduct at
mess was that of an officer and a gentleman. - I did not observe in him any
indication of want of intellect. - When I dined with him at Fellbrigg he behaved
himself properly. I have notseen him since the training in 1860.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Colonel Sir Edward Lacon dined every day
at mess and kept very good order. I saw very little of Mr. Windham. except ab-
mess and had no means of judging of his truthfulness.. 1. never saw him in the
streots after mess. - At drill, as far as I saw, he was obedient, and seemed to like it
1 saw no difference between his conduct and that-of the other young officers. I
am nob aware that he had any particular companion in the regiment.

Re.examined.—Mr. Windham did not require to be kept in order at mess. He
was the youngest officer in the corpe.

By the Master.—1 saw Mr. Windham at a ball in Yarmouth, but observed
nothing particular in his behaviour. Any misconduct on his part would have been
noticed at once. When I dined at Fellbrigg the guests wers Mr., Mrs., and Misa
Scott ; Mr. Pears, Captain King, Mr. Baring, and Mr. Horrocks. Mr. Windham
and Mr. Horrocks seemed to get on very well together a dinner.

REV. ME. DOLPHIN, OF ANTINGHAM,

The Rev. Mr. Dolphin, rector of Antingham, in Worfolk.—I knew the late Mr
Windham very well, and have known the present Mr. Windham since his child-
hood, His father was a passionate man. I made the remark more than once that
I did not think the present Mr. Windham would turn out well in consequence
the then contradictory and inconsistent control he received from his parents. In
December, 1860, he and Mr. Peatfield dined with me. There were ladies as well
as gentlemen at table. Mr. Windbam talked in a loud tome of voice, but there
was nothing particular in Lis conduct. 1 am chairman of the Board of Guardians.
On one oceasion Mr. Windham came and spoke to me gbout o pauper in one of hig
parishes. He gaid it was a case deserving of relief; the mun had been out of
work for two or three weeks, but as he was a gingle man Mr. Windham thonght
he had not been attended to. I told him that his statements would receive every
attention. An inquiry was made into the case. Mr. Windham’s representations
turned out to be perfectly correct, and the man was relieved. Last spring 1 heard
that Mr. Windham was about to be married to a lady of good family. About thab
time I met him near my own house, and congratulated him upon the propose
warriage. He replied, Thauk you,” and upon my mentioning the name of the
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Mady, he =aid, *“Yes, that is the lady.” Last summer—in July—I saw Mr
‘Windham at Lord Suffield’'s. Fe stayed and dined. Before dinner Lord
‘Suffield, Mr. Windham, and I walked through the grounds to the dairy farm. On
that occasion I was with him an hour. His remarks were perfectly sensible and

“1ational, and he seemed to understand the subjects of conversation. Irom what I
Jhave seen of him I believe him to be a person of sound mind.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—And as capable of managing his estate as
.many others who come into their property without knowing the value of money.
- Qld Mr, Windham was a passionate man, and on two occasions he exhibited his

passion at the board of guardians. I think he swore. I have seen him angry with '
~myself about politics. Young Mr. Windham, as I predicted, has not turned out
overy well. I never saw his parents severe to him. He was an affectionate boy, and

I never saw him in a passion. His parents treated him irregularly and capriciously.
. When he came down after dinner his father would tell him one thing, and the next
minute his mother would tell him the very reverse. I have not heard at different
“times that he was about to be married to different ladies. Besides the oceasion I
‘have mentioned, there was some talk of his going to be married to a young lady at
.-']T;:ir‘quay. I have not heard that he was in the habit of falling in love with young
-ladies.

By the Master.—I never saw him waiting at table in the dress of a page.

Re-examined.—I should eall old Mr. Windham a hasty man.

By the Jary.—I know General Windham very well. He has never expressed
‘himsell in an unkindly manner towards his nephew in my hearing.

BIR HENRY ROBINSON.

_Bir Henry Robinson.—1I live near Fellbrigg, and made Mr. Windham’s acquaintance
‘about a year ago at a dinner given by the last witness. I spoke to him about
shooting and other matters. His conduct daring the evening was that of a gentle-
‘man. I was present at a review near Cromer. Mr. Windham was mounted and
dcted as aide-de-camp. He rode rather fast, and was not quite careful enough of
‘the spectators, but otherwise his conduct was quite proper. In August last I gave
an archery ball; Mr. Windham was invited, but did not come in consequence of his
marriage.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Mr. Windham talked rather loudly at dinner,
but not go as to attract attention. The review near Cromer was not an important
affair. The mounted force consisted of abous half-a-score of irregular eavalry. (A
langh.) Mr. Windham was aide-de-camp to the commander, Mr. Charles Buxton,
and carried his orders from one part of the field to another. (A langh.) He did
not wear a cocked hat and feathers, but he had a sword by his side. He rode ata
‘brisk trot, and when the coast was elear he broke into a gallop. I believe the troops
‘ultimately made a charge. (A laugh.)

MRS, VOYSEY, BOARDING-HOUSE KEEPER, ETON.

Mre. Voysey said she had kept a boarding-honse at Eton for eight years. Mr.
‘Windham came to my house in the Easter quarter of 1855, and stayed till J uly,
1856. I had from fifteen to twenty boys in my house when he was there. I saw
‘them daily, aud was always present with them at dinner atd supper. Windham
was a decidedly noisy boy, but he was always obedient to me and treated me with
respect. No complaint of his condoet was made to me personally. He associated
with the other boys in the house on equal terms. I heard of his being ecalled
““mad Windham.” That is a very common thing at Bton. At the present
moment there are several boys called “mad.” He was not extravagant, rather
the contrary. After he left my house I saw him from time to time in the street,
and I have seen him once since he left Eton, On that occasion his manner was
perfectly gentlemanly and proper. I coneidered him to be peculiar, but he was .
decidedly a hq_-,r of gound mind. I have appeared as a witness much against-my will.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Windham was noisy and rackety in the
house, but he was not in the habit of slamming doors and shouting about the
passages. He was once rude to one of the servants, and was punished for it. I
do not think he swore at the servant. The epithet “mad” was not one which they
paid much attention toat Eton. 1 do not remember receiving a complaint wbout
his doing injury to his bed. When he wae in my house he could take care of
himeelf, but I might have gaid that it would be advis:ible to have some one: to look
after and gunide Lim,

12
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Re-examined.—I have read a good deal about him in the newspapers. When T

last saw him he was quite able to manage himself.

By the jury.—Windham left my house in consequence of a misunderstanding

between Lady Sophia and herself. I thought he was a boy who would be
easily led. .

MRS, SO0PHIA GIBSON, ETON,

Brs. Sophia Gibson, examined by Sir H. Cairns, said—I was head boys’ maid at Mr.
Balston's one of the masters at Eton, when Mr. Windbam lodged there. - I never
saw him at all extravagant—indeed, guite the reverse; and I heard him say he had
been warned by bis father not to get into debt at BEton. Lord Marsham was his
most intimate friend. On one occasion Lord Marsham fell upon a knife which Mr.
Windham held in his hand, but that made no differenee in their friendship ; it waa
always considered an accident. Windham was rough and rude, but nobody brought
his best behaviour to school. I consider him to be of perfectly sound mind.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Windham was not particnlarly noisy. I

never heard him called ** mad.”” Many boys were called “mad’ at Eton, and it

was generally the more clever boys who were termed so. (A langh.) Windham was
not the cleanest boy at Eton, but he was not particalarly dirty in his habits. There
was gomething peculiar in the sound of his voice, but I do not reco llect seeing the
saliva ranning from his mouth. Ihave seen him often with a dirty face and hands,
but Eton boys are very often dirty.

Re-examined.—It often happened that the ringleader at Eton was called * mad.”™

MRES. COCKEURN, ETON.

Mrs. Cockburn, head boys” maid at Mrs. Drury’s, in Eton, when Mr. Windham
was there, said—I attended to him and looked after his linen. He played with the
other boys, and always behaved like a gentleman. Many have been called “mad ™ ag
well as he. He did not get into more scrapes than the other boys. He was always
full of spirits, but did not give unusual trouble. He has visited me several timea
sinee he left Eton, and always appeared like a gentleman. I believe he was as sound
in his mind as I am my=elf. (A langh.)

Cross-examined by Mr. Field.—Mr. Cheales, the tutor, lived in the honse with
Windham The latter was not particnlarly rough and rude, and I never heard him
speak strangely. There was nothing particular in his voice; in fact, he was in all
respects like other young gentlemen.

MISS KATE ARCHEZ.

Miss Kate Archer, the 100th witness, examined by Mr. Karslake.—I live in George-
street, Portman-square. At the beginning of the summer of 1860, contrary to my
nsual practice in town, I was riding in the park one morning withont a servant. My
horse became restive.  Mr. Windham rode up, and assisted me, as any gentleman
would have done, and he has often since visited me as a friend. On the 28ch of Sep-
;:ﬁrnbar last General Windham called at my honse, and I had a conversation with

im.

Mr. Karslake.—What did he say ?

Mr. Chambers did ot know what was coming, but he submitted that a conver-
sation between General Windham and Miss Archer conld not be accepted as evidence
in this case. _

Sir H. Cairns maintained that he was entitled to place before the jury evidence
of the conduct pursued by General Windham, one of the petitioners, during the
getting up of the case against his nephew. Supposing he conld prove that General
Windham had either tampered with witnesses, or declared that he thought his
nephew to be perfectly sane, surely that would be strictly revelant to the present-
inquiry.

Mr Karslake and Mr. Milward were heard on the same side.

Mr. Chambers contended that as they were not trying General Windham, bub
the sanity or insanity of Lis nephew, the evidence was not admissable.

The Master said that if he were trying Genersl Windham for maliciously obtain-
ing a commission of lunacy against his nephew he would admit the evidence, but as
the question. before the Court was the state of mind of Mr. Windham he was bound
to reject it, because it would raise a collateral iszue, and lead them beyond the
limits of the present inquiry. b

Sir II. Cairns stated that the question put to the witness was the beginning of
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geveral which were meant to show, first, that General Windham, beinr one of the
petitioners, had actively interfered in getting up the case and evidenae to support
it ; secondly, that he had attempted to induce a witness, against her opinion avowed
to him, to give evidence in favour of the petitioners ; thirdly, that he had stated that,
whatever might be the real facts as to the sanity or insanity of his nephew, he was
determined to prosecute these proceedings in order to prove his nephew insane, and
to ebtain control of the property; and, fourthly, that Mr. Windham having stated,
as appeared from Dr. Tuke’s evidence, that he believed General Windham would nof;
venture to go into the witness-box, the evidenee of Miss Archer wonld have shown
that the facts stated by her were communicated to Mr. Windham, and among other
matters, naturally inflnenced him to make that statement to Dr. Tuke.

The Master asked Mr. Chambers whether he was prepared to take a decision
in his favour, and thereby risk the ultimate issue of the inquiry ?

Mr, Chambers replied in the affirmative.

The Master then decided that the evidence was inadmissible on the ground that
the conduct of General Windham whether good or bad, was not the qu estion before
the Court.

ME. HENRY DRAKE, BARRISTER.

Mr. Henry Drake, examined by Mr. Milward, said I am a barrister and belong to
the Norwich family of Drakes. I was with Mr. Windham at Dr. Badham’s school
at Blackheath. Tam much older than Windham, who was about rten or eleven

ears of age. I saw Windham every day at meals and cther times, and I thought
iﬂ behaved himself much like other boys. I saw nothing to induce me to believe
that he was an idict. At that time Windham was quite as capable of taking care
of himself as other boys of his age. T have been at Bton, and have known several
“boys and one master called * mad.”

By Mr. Coleridge.—When witness was at Eton promotion was obtained by
examination, and not by favour. If at Christmas, 1856, Mr. Windham was in the
npper remove of the lower division of the fifth form, he must have been doing fifth
form work for several months.

Crosg-examined by Mr, Chambers.—Windham was a dirty boy at Blackheath,

LORD CLAUDE HAMILTON, 3.7,

Lord Claude Hamilton, M.P. examined by Sir H. Cairns.—T am colonel of the
Donegal Militia, which was quartered at Yarmouth in 1860. I made the acquain-
«tance of Mr. Windham in that year. I first met him on the railway at Norwich.
We were both going to Yarmonth. I happened to mention that I had spent a few
days shooting atFellbrige in 1856. He expressed great gratification at meeting a
friend of his parents. We talked for abont an hour and a half, and he conversed
in the most cordial, rational, and gentlemanly manner. When I knew he was young
Windham I immediately watched him, because I had heard he was irregnlar in his
conduct and fond of low company. On arriving at Yarmouth he walked with me
%o my hotel, and afterwards I met him once or twiee in the town. In september
I saw him at a full-dress ball in Yarmouth. Og that occasion he
was decidedly intoxicated. He recognized me and gpoke to me, complaining that
the young ladies would not dance with him, and I advised Him to go home. He
was not making any noise. I do not consider a taste for driving railway engines a
proof of insanity, and such is the opinion of many who hold a distiugunished rank
in society. Many years ago I joined with half-a-dozen others in studying the
great motive power of medern times. We attended a courss of lectures of the
Polytechnic, and went into the matter as tharnugh]y as we could, After a time
we were allowed, under proper supervision, to drive engines on railways. I must
‘Bay, however, that we were not permitted to experiment with passenger trains, but
were restricted to ballast and coke trains. I can assure you thatit requires a good
deal of ekill, self-possession, coolness of head, and delicacy of touch to drive a
railway engine. It is decidedly an intellectual study.

By the Jury.—I do not know that Mr. Windham has gone through the same
course of study as I did. If he can drive an engine—a point upon which I know
nothing—he must have received instraction,

MR, BADCOCK, VALET TO MRE. WINDHAM,.

William Badcock, examined by Mr. Karslake, said—I am now valet to Mr. Wind-
m. He entered his service in September, 1861. At one time he was o guard on
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the Fastern Counties Bailway, and on many occasions Mr. Windham travelled im
my van. 1 have seen him on the engine with the regnlator in his hand. Mr.
Windham generally talked about the management and working of railways, and
seemed very anxious to obtain a thorough mastery of the subject. He gave a dinner
to between 30 and 40 people on Christmas-day. There was a dance in the evening.
1, by his orders, sang negro melodies to amuse the company. During the evening,
when the fun was at its height, Mr. Windham put on a pair of hunting-breeches,
and blacked his face on the cheeks and chin, to resemble whiskers and an
imperial. He remained thus for two honrs. He was mnot noisy. The company -
were very merry ; but there was nothing like disorder. Mr. Windham retired about
a quarter past 2, and then the house was shut up.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Mr. Windham is not a queer or an odd sort of
young man. As far as conduct and bebaviour were concerned, he was like others
of his age. I never saw him in the uniform of a guard, but I have seen him with a
belt and pouch and a common dog-whistle. Mr. Windham often blew the whistle
before the train started. He did so under the directions of myself. Some of the
railway officials must have seen him. He frequently told the passengers to take
their seats, and called out the names of the stations. I could have trusted him with
the management of a train. Sometimes he sorted the parcels in the van, and he did
the work remarkably well. He never paid anything for the privilege of riding in
the van, nor did he ever take champagne or any other kind of drink intoit. Occa- |
sionally he treated me at the stations. On the oceasion of his marriage he gave |
me a silver watch and guard, with the following inseription :—* Presented to
William Badcock, by W. F. Windham, Esq., in acknowledgment of his civility
and attention.” 1 never saw him covered with dirt and scot like a stoker.
Stoking would be a strange occupation for a young gentleman. I do not know how
my master passed his evenings when in London. He lived with Roberts, in Picca-
dilly. Sometimes he would go out after dinner, but I always fonnd him in his room
in the morning. I did not know at what hour he returned home. I never accom-
panied him to the Haymarket. I blacked my face to sing the negro melodies at
Fellbrige on Christmas-day. I had a banjo, and wore a characteristic costume—a
white shirt, knee-breeches, and low shoes, The coachman was dressed in the same
way, and laterin the evening Mr. Windham made his appearance ina similar costume |
and joined in the chorus, but he did not throw himself on the floor and imitate
the action of swimming., The refreshments consisted of champagne, sherry, ale, and '
a bowl of punch. The company were merry and applaunded the singing, but I did
not think that the applause was monopolised by Mr. Windham. (A laugh.) Mr.
Windham went to bed himself quite steadily, and rose next morning about 5 o'clocks.
He iz now at Fellbrizg, but when in town he stayed at Morley's Hotel, having
broken off his acquainlance with Roberts. I have not seen that person lately, nor
have I seen Mrs, Windham to gpeak to her since Christmas. f

Re-examined.—There is no pretence for saying that Mr. Windham was drunk cn |
Christmas-day. He used to be fond of putling on a gnard’s belt, becanse he thought |
it gave him a kind of military appearance. |

By the Jury.—I was not a valet before September last. The railway directors |
objected to my accepting the wateh and guard presented to me in August by M|
Windham, :f.md, as they made some difficulty about it, Mr. Windham agreed to take
me into his owh service. My wages were £40 a year. 1 kept a petty cash boolk,
and my master regularly looked over and checked the items. i |

Sir H. Cairns stated that there was one head of evidence which he would wish to
avoid, if possible. It would be recollected that Mr. Windham, in conversation with
Dr. Tuke, spoke of certain circumstances connected with the conduct of two of his
uncles which lad him to believe that they would not come forward as witnesses, or
prosecute their petition before a jury. Nothing counld well be more irksome than to
addnce evidence for the purpose of showing the grounds which Mr. Windham had
for_helie?ing in the truth of those statements, and he shounld gladly refrain from doing
8o if Mr. Chambers would give him an assurance that he did not intend to allege
that the assertions of Mr. Windham were altogether without foundation. "

Mr. Chambers was prepared to say that he would not nse the statements in ques-

-tion as at all militating against Mr. Windham's sanity, but, he would deal with them
as statements which might fairly come out of the mouth of a rational man.

nﬁir IL. Cairns expressed himself satisfied with the assurance of his learned friend s
a
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" The Master congratulated all pni'tiiain upon having gob rid of what might have been
a painful and embarrassing head of evidence.

s 0 Tt TWENTY-FIRST DAY.—SaturpAy, Jasuary 11,

. The adjournedinquiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed to-day, in the Westminster Sessions-house, before Mr.
Warren, Q.C., oneof the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury.

Afr. M. Chambers, (.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. H. Williams appeared for the peti-
tioners; Mr. Charles Russell, for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of
the alleged lunatic; Sir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward,
for Mr. William Frederick Wizdham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windbam.

ME. DREEW, SOMERSET HOTEL, STRAND.

Mr. H. Drew, examined by Mr. Milward, said—I am now the landlord of the
Somerset Hotel in the Strand. In 1859 and 1860 I kept the Royal Kent Hotel in
Sandgate. Young Mr. Windham came to my house in March, 1860, and stopped
about a fortnight. Mr. Horrocks was with him. 1saw Mr. Windham every morning
and evening, and observed that he associated with some of the officers at Shorneliffe.
Mr. Windham sometimes dined at the Camp, returning to the hotel about elevem
o'clock. He behaved himself very well indeed, and his conduet was not different
from that of other gentlemen. I never noticed in him any indication of want ef
intellect, and believed him to be of sound mind.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Mr. Windham was a very quiet young man,
and his spirits were not particulariy high. I never heard him shouting or blowing
a railway whistle, nor was he aware of his fondness for driving railway engines.
In the morning after breakfast, before he went out, he used to have a glass of sherry
and bitters. I never saw the saliva dropping upon his clothes, nor did I observe
the peculiar formation of his month until my attention was drawn to it.

Re-examined.—It was Mrs. Drew who called my attention to Mr. Windham's
mouth. Even then I did not see any spitfle dropping down. Mr. Windham had
sherry and bitters only oceasionally.

ME. CREMER, NOEFOLK.

MMr. W. Cremer, examined by Mr. Karslake, said—I live at Beeston, in Norfolk.
My father was a clergyman, and his property and residence are about five miles from
Fellbrize. 1 knew old Mr. Windham, and occasionally dined with him. The old
gentleman used to tell comie tales in the Norfolk dialect, for the amusement of hia
friends, and he did it very well. I saw a good deal of young Windham when he
was a boy. As the end of 1860 I dined with him at Fellbrigg. Mr. Peatfield was
there at the time. Captain Windham and Captain Brereton were also of the party.
Mr. Windham sat at the head of the table and behaved like a gentleman. The party
played whist in the evening, and Mr. Windham seemed able to held his own. 1
visited Fellbrigg after Mr. Windham came of age, but before his marriage—be-
tween the 10th and the 30th of August. After dinner we walked round the stables
to look at the horses. Mr. Windham seemed to be quite conversant with all sub-
jects connected with horses, and his remarks upon them were sensible and rational.
I shot with him in September 1859, and on other occasions. He was a rather bad
uh_uté but managed his gnn properly and carefully. I believe him to be a man of sound
mind.,

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Windham had a peculiarly-formed mouth,
but I cannot say that when a boy he had a particularly dirty face. He was always
very noisy, and used to halloo and laugh in a loud tone. There was nothing other-
wise to attract notice in his laugh. I have heard that he was in the habit of
waiting at table, but never saw him doing so. I am not aware whether Windham
in his boyhood had a companion of his own age. I have been told that he was in
the habit of acting as a guard on railways, but thought it perfectly consistent with
#anity in a gentleman of rank and property, after coming of age, to dress himself up
a8 a guard and perform the duties of a guard on a railway. Pointing the attention
of ladies to mules while staling is not gentlemaaly couduct, but 1 cannot accept it as
a proof of insanity. Windham was generally boisterous in his manner. When 1
was at Fellbrigg in Aupust lastk Windham did not tell me that he was about to
marry Agnes Willoughby ; if he had, I wonld have advised him not to marry such a
person. Old Mr. Windham could imitate the sing-song Norfolk dialect very well.
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By the Jury.—Attrvitnted Mr. Windham’s boisterousness to his high spirits, and
not to unsoundness of mind. '

MRS, BROWN, VAUXHALL-ROAD, LONDON.

Mrs. Brown, examined by Mr. Karslake, said—I am alaundress, living in the
‘Vauxhall-road, and washed for the Lewellins for four months from the beginning of
July last. I washed Mr. Windham's things, and ascertained, from the stains upon
his linen, that he was snffering from a particular disease. In consequence of that T
asked Mrs. Lewellin for a larger price. I washed all Mr. Windham’s things, aa far
as I know, and never observed his linen stained in any other way. I also washed
the household linen, but did not wash any sheets stained ag a child would stain
them. On Christmas-day General Windham called at my house, and spoke about
my having acted as laundress for the Lewellina.

The learned gentleman was proceeding to put questions to the witness for the
purpose of eliciting from her the purport of her conversation with General Windham
when he was interrupted by Mr. Chambers, who submitted that the questions were
not such ag counld be asked after the decision of the Master on Friday, that matters
relating to the conduct of General Windham were not relevant to the present
inguiry. The objection was sustained by the Master, and the examination in chief
of the witness was declared closed. ,

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—I keep washerwomen, and wash for a good
many families; some of them very large. In the summer there are sometimes |
pairs of sheets washed in my establishment in a week. Mrs. Lewellin refused to
pay extra far Mr. Windham's linen. I, at that time, washed for a good many
gentlemen, and was occasionally required to do the things very quickly.

By the Jury.—Nobody besides witness. washed for the Lewellins from the begin.
ning of July to the end of October, with the exception of the second week in July,
when I was unable to do the work.

}JR.S. PRITCHARD, ME, LTEWELLIN'S SERVANT.

' Mrs. Pritchard, examined by Mr. Milward.—I went to live with Lewellins as a
servant on the 21st of June last, and stayed abont seven weeks. I did the work
of a honsemaid. Mr. Windham wasg in the hounsge at the time; but sometimes he
went into the country for a day or two. I had charge of his bedroom, and I
never saw, either in the room or in the bed, anything peculiar or unusunal. I oceca-
sionally gave him his breakfast, which generally consisted of poached eegs, with
sometimes a little bacon, The quantity was not greater than that served up to
other gentlemen. I also eollected his linen' for the wash. He always behaved likea
gentleman. When tipsy he talked rather loudly and langhed a good deal. I have
seen him drinking after luneh, at half-past two ; I have also seen him occasionally
take something in the morning. He usually lunched with Mr. Peatfield, Mr.
Lewellin, and sometimes Mr. Partridge. 1 have known them having a dozen of
champagne at one lunch, and sometimes they sat till 7 in the evening. Mr.
- Lewellin occasionally got tipsy and abusive. On such occasions 1 used to hear
- them all laughing together. 1 have heard Mr. Windbam imitating a cat when he
was tipsy, bnt not when he wassober. I never saw or heard of him running along
the passage naked, though I was always about the homse. I have very ofien
seen General Windham in Duke-street. He used to see Mr. and Mrs. Lewellin
alone, and oceasionally he saw his nephew, He generally talked with Mr. and Mrs.
Lewellin in the bar-parlour or office. I have seen Mr. Lewellin giving Mr . Windham
his account-book. On one oeccasion I heard Mr. Windham cry out to Mr. Lewellin,
¢ Come here, old fellow, what is this? Youn are sticking it on too strong.” Mr.
Lewellin took the book, and, I suppose, rectified it. During all the time Mr.
Windbham was in the house he conducted himself in the same way as other gentle-
men, and I believe him to be a person of sound mind. About ten weeks
ago Mrs. Lewellin came to me in a cab by herself. 1 was then at work in
Eccleston-place. Mrs. Leowellin said to me, * Yon know that Mr. Windham
used to dirty his bed and run about the honse mnaked when you were with
us.”” BShe then asked me to go to her honse and see the General and tell
him so, in return for which she said he would do something good for me and my
husband. I refused, whereupon she said she would bring a gentleman down
on Friday and make me go. Nothing more passed then, and she went away.

returned with Colonel Broughton, whom she used to call her * baby,” a few days
« afterwards, They came in a cab. Mrs. Lewellin said, *You must come tomy
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house to see the General, for Mr. Windham has been and married a bad woman and
squandered all his fortune, and we want to do what we can in it for the General.”
She also said that the bad woman was going to bring Mr. Windham a child, and the
thing must be done quickly. I told her I would not go to the house, and she
went away. Colonel Broughton heard the conversation. Mrs. Lewellin called
again, but [ did not see her. She came a fourth time with another gentleman and
wished me to go to her house and see the General and tell him that I had seen his
nephew running naked about the house. I told her that I bad neverseen or heard
of such a thing, and that I would not go. She then said it would be the making of
me and my husband, as the General had a great many offices into which he could
put us, if I would go. I still refused. Nothing more passed, 1 have not seen Mra.
Lewellin since. 1 never told her that I had seen Mr. Windham running naked
down the passage. On one occcasion, I heard Mrs. Lewellin say to her husband,
¢ You are sucking the poor boy dry, and while he has any money left you will stick
to him.” That was after I had been in Duke-street, about a month. When Colonel
Broughton was in the cab, Mrs. Lewellin wished me to tell the General that Mr.
Windham was a great gorger and had eaten 17 eges for breakfast. I told her that
was not troe, and refused to say anything of the kind.
i Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Mr, Windham’s linen when sent to the wash
was as clean as any other gentleman’s. His sheets were changed once a fortnight.
I was first examived on Mr. Windham’s side about three weeks ago. The gentle-
man who came to me was Mr. Hunt, a solicitor; he saw me in Ececleston-place,
where I was working as a charwoman. Iy husband is a bookbinder, but he is in
ill-health and does not work at his trade. He does porter’s work, and is an anxiliary
in the Post-office. Mrs. Lewellin had not employed me before July last, I was re-
commended to her by the lady in Eccleston-place. Mr. Windham and Mr. Peatfield
were in Duke-street when I first went. Except when he was drunk I never saw
in Mr. Windham anything different frem other gentlemen. He was sober in the
morning, but generally tipsy in the evening, and then he would langh and talk
svith Mr. Peatfield, Mr. Lewellin, and occasionally with Mr. Partridge. Sometimea
he went out in the evening, and I do not know at what hour he returned. I heard
caterwauling several times, and was told it was Mr. Windham, but I did not see
him. Mr. Peatfield was alwaya yery quiet over his drink, but Mr. Partridge showed
‘he was tipsy by langhing and makipng fun. I was never in the room when they
‘were in this state, but I heard them. BSuch junketings took place three or four
times a week, I do not remember the precise day on which they drank a dozen of
champagne at lunch. I assisted to carry the empty bottles down stairs. The party on
that occasion consisted of Mr. Windham, Mr. Lewellin, Mr. Peatfield, Mr. Partridge,
‘and a clergyman named Baty. The clergyman talked a good deal and was as
as the rest. I saw them through an open door as I passed up and down
stairs. When the same gentlemen came together at lunch they generally indulged
in this way, and they would not separate until five, six, or seven o'clock in the
evening. The imitation of the cat was done very well. I have heard My, Windham
shounting in the room with the window open. I never heard him singing * Old Bob
Ridlay,” but I have heard him cry out to Mr. Lewellin, * Well, old fellow, we have
*been very jolly together.” I never heard him even allude to **Old Bob Ridley,” nor
did I ever hear him sing something abouta  haughty ruffian,” ending with “ Pop
%oes his Weasand ! Mr. Windham did not eat more eggs at breakfast than Mr.
eatfield. He generally breakfasted in his dressing-gown and took his bath after
breakfast. Mr. Lewellin prepared the bath, and then Mr. Windham would go in
and lock the door, like other gentlemen. I last saw him tipsy about the end of
July. He got tipsy in the honse. He langhed rather loundly, but I never saw him
‘blowing & railway whistle. I never heard that he had a gnard’s dress and was fond
of driving railway engines; nor did I ever hear him yelping like a dog. He had a
peculiar voice, and when he was talking quickly he would slobber at the mouth, but
he always used his pocket hankerchief. When I told Mrs. Lewellin that Mr. Wind-
ham was not in the habit of dirtying his bed she said, *Oh, I used to change the
sheets before you went up to make the bed.” I replied, * You never did anything
of the sort; you never helped me or meddled with any of the gentlemen's beds;”
and I refused to go and see the General. Colonel Broughton was present and must
have heard the conversation. All the conversations which Mrs, Lewellin had with
me, whether in the presence of Colonel Broughton or alone, were pretty much alike.
The last time I saw her she was accompanied by Mr, Wood, clerk to Messrs, Field
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and Roscoe, the solicitora for the petitioners. She said, *1 have brought a gentle-
man, as I said I wounld, about Mr. Windham dirtying his bed and eating 17 eggs for
breakfast. You know he used to dirty his bed, ran aboat naked, and go down inte
the kitchen and it on the table.” I replied, “ He did not go into the kitchen without
Mr. Lewellin persuading him to go” 1 was then called away to my work, and
Mrs. Lewellin, referring, I suppose, to the lady who had called me, said, * Yon are |
the most uncivilised lot of people I ever knew.” I do not recollect at the presemt
moment anything more that passed. Mr. Wood took notes of the conversation. Mr.
Windham has made an attempt to kiss me more than once when be was tipsy. He
always did go in the ball, and never in a bedroom. He laughed when he attempted :1
to kiss me, and would run away quickly. I tried to slap his face, but he was too
swift for me, He did not handle me roughly, nor was he boisterous.. 2

Re-examined.—There was almost always champagne at lanch. Mr. Peatfield .
was generally present, and his friends, Mr. Partridge and Mr. Baty, when they
came. .

By the Jury.—I never found Mr. Windham’s bed made as far as the under sheet.
While I was in Duke-street Mr. Windham's linen, when it went to the wash, was
1ot stained in such a way as to warrant an extra charge by the laundress.

By the Master.—When Mr. Windham ordered dinner he was very punctual to the
time. I never knew of an instance of Mr. Windham ordering a dinner for a party
of guests and nobody coming. Mrs. Lewellin never touched the beds. She said o
me in Eccleston-place, “ You must keep all this very quiet.” On one occasion L
heard Mrs. Lewellin say to her husband, “It's a shame for you to encourage that

to drink ; you are old enongh to be his father.” It was then she said he wonld
atick to Mr. Windham as long as he had any money left. Mr. and Mrs. Lewellin
uz\:id to quarrel and use bad language to each other, and they did not care who
h them.

MES. BROWN, RE-CALLED.

Mrs. Brown, the lanndress, was re-called.—She stated that she applied to
Mr. Lewellin for an extra price for washing Mr. Windham's linen in Auguost last,
and not before.

SARAF BROWN, LEWELLIN'S COOK.

Sarah Brown, examined by Mr. Milward, said: I went to the Lewellin's as cook
on the 24th of June last, and stayed till the 26th of July. M. Windham was there |
ot that time. His breakfast commonly consisted of two poached eggs, with brown *l
bread and butter. He sometimes had a little bacon. I mever cooked for him
geventeen eggs or anything like it. He was in all respects like other gentlemen. |
Once on returning from the country he presented a tea urn and a croet-stand to |
Mrs. Lewellin, At other times he brought up game, fruit, vegetables, and flowers.
They used to have a good deal of wine at lunch, generally champagne.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Mr. Windham sometimes went down to the
kitchen, but not often, chiefly for the purpose of asking me to be punectual with his
Junch. He was fond of joking, but I do not recollect any of his jokes. He was
not @ very loud laugher. I would not say that Mr. Windham has not kissed me,
but he never did so more than ence. 1 neither slapped his face mor threw the
dripping over him. On one oceasion Mrs. Pritchard told me that Mr, Windham
had taken hold of me and kissed me. I do not believe that T ever sent more than|
two eggs vp to Mr, Windham or Mr. Peatfield for breakfast. I do not kunow |
whether Mr. Windham is a large or a small eater, nor can I say whether, when he
had gentlemen to lunch or dine with him, they all got drunk together. I was never
in the dining-room, but if they had made a very great noise I think 1 must have
heard it. 1 mever saw Mr. Peatfield drunk, but on one oceasion I was told that
My. Windham was tipay. :

Re-examined.—I do not know what went on upstairs ab lanch ; my work was in
the kitchen, and I seldom left it,

By the Jury.—DMr. Windham could not have been drunk three or four times &
week and made a noise in the house with his friends without me knowing it
Sueh, at least, is my opinion ; but all I can say for certainty was thab I never saw
him drunk. .

By the Master,—I have seen as many as a dozen champagne bottles coming
down from one lanch. I never cooked a dinmer for Mr. Windham when nobody
came, During my time Ay, Windham never gave an order for a dinner party-
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T left Duke-street becanse the place did not smib her, and also because I had a
 quarrel with Mr. Lewellin, who was most abnsive and insulting in his language.
\ CATHABINE BABBAGE.

Catharine Babbage, examired by Mr. Earslake, said—I went to the Lewellins’ as
housemaid on the 1st of April, 1861, and stayed till the latter end of June. 1t was
my duty to make up the beds and clean the apartments every day. I never found
Mr. Windham’s bed in a dirty state. Mr. Windham, as far as I saw, was always
gentlemanly and respectful to every one. He used to laugh and talk merrily, like
other young gentlemen of his age, but beyond that I never heard any noise which he
made.. He was always very clean and particular about his linen and dress. He
went out on horseback from 12 till 2 o’elock every day, and he sometimes drove a
phaeton. Mrs. Lewellin used to try to be familiar with Mr. Windham, but he always
repulsed her, and, therefore, it is not surprising that she should always speak ill ot
him. I saw General Windham in Duke-street once. He spoke to his nephew, and I
heard Lim tell him in & loud voice that if he was not home by 11 o’clock every night
he would get the police to follow him. That was about three weeks before I left.
1 left of my own accord, and gave Mrs. Lewellin notice three times before she would
allow me to go sway. It is not true, npon my oath, that Mr. Windham or auy
other gentleman ever took indecent liberties with me.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Mr, Windham kissed me once in tha

ence of Mrs. Lewellin, who seemed pleased at it. DMrs. Lewellin was mot
jealons of me with Mr. Windham, but I believe she was jealous of me with Colonel
Broughton, thongh there was not the slightest foundation for it. I have seen
Mr. Windham stupid from drink on many oceasions, and once I saw him much
intoxicated. It was about the middle of the day ; I do not think he had slept at
home the night before. He was not noisy, but merry, singing I wish I was with
Nancy.” I never heard him try ** Old Bob Ridley.” He had not a muasical voice,
but liked to hum about the honse. I did not find that he was a good mimic. He
langhed merrily, just as if he enjoyed the laugh, but there was nothing particular
in it. Mrs. Lewellin never complained that I was teo familar with Mr. Windham.
Oue afternoon, when Mrs. Lewellin and Colonel Broughton had, as usual, zone for
an airing in a cab, Mr. Lewellin sent me upstairs with two pairs of slippers for Dr.
Windham. I did not go into Mr, Windbam's room, but knocked at the door, and
told him what I had for him. He said he did not want two pairs of slippers ;
one would do. At that moment Mr. Lewellin came upstairs in a great rage,
charged me with being too familar with the gentlemen in the house, and called me
by the grossest names. I left in consequence shortly afterwards. I have a distant
relation named Yates now in the service of Mr. Windham ; but he was not recom-
mended by me.

Re-examined.—There was no pretence whatever for saying that T was too
familiar with the gentlemen in the house. Mr. Lewellin frequently abused me, and
‘his Janguage to every person in the house, his wife ncluded, was of the most dis-
‘@nsting deseription.  When I lefy Duke-street I returned to a former situation, and
am there now.

MRE. H. SHAFPPIS, BERVANT TO LEWELLIN.

Henry Shappis, a Frenchman, examined by Sir H. Cairns, said I was servant at
the Lewellin’s from Angust last till a few days ago. 1 waited upon Mr. Windham
at breakfast, lunch, and dinner, and slept in the hodse. Mr. Windham was very
‘polite, and his mannér at meals and at other times were those of a gentleman. He
did not make more noise than other people.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—I left Duke.street in consequence of a quarrel
with Mr. Lewellin. About a fortnight ago Mr. Lewellin asked me to give evidenco
against Mr. Windham, and told me I should be a good witness. I replied that 1 had
nothing to say against Mr. Windbam. Mr. Lewellin then asked me whether I thought
*Mr. Windbam could manage the affairs of his own house. I replied that in my
country gentlemen of fortune did not manage the affairs of their own houses, but
had men of business for the purpose. I stated, however, that in my opinion Mr.
Windham was able to manage his affairs, and that [ had never observed anything
. Btrange abount that gentleman.

Re-examined.—Mr. Lewellin asked me again whether I thonght Mr. Windham
~was mad. I replied that [ did not think he was. Mrs. Lewellin then whispered
something in a low voice to her husband, and mothing more was said at the time,
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but Mr. Lewellin abused me every day afterwards, calling me a French thief, and

other names too bad to be repeated, and at last struck me and turned me out of
the house. I have since applied for a summons against’ Mr. Lewellin, but the

magistrate has refused to grant it until the Windham case has been concluded.
The inquiry was again adjourned.

TWENTY-SECOND DAY.—Moxpay, Jan. 13.

The adjourned inguiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolls, was resumed Jan. 13th, in the Westminster Sessions-house, before Mr.
Warren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury.

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams appeared for the
petitioners ; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of
the alleged lunatic ; Sir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C.,, and Mr. Milward
for Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windham.

MR, G. YONGE, PRIVATE TUTOR.

Mr. G. Yonge, examined by Mr. Karslake, gaid—I was Mr. Windham’s private
tutor at BEton from January to March, 1855, and lived in the same house with him.
Windham was in the middle remove of the fourth form, and did Ovid and Cornelius
Nepos in Latin, @Esop and Faraaby in Greek, and a few verses every week. He
did hia work like the average of boys, but was not very studious. I saw nothing in
him which indnced me to think he was not of sonnd mind.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Windham, though not particularly cleanly,
was not dirtier than the boys in the fourth form generally. I never noticed the
galiva flowing out of the sides of his mouth, or heard that he was treated as a buffoon
by the other boys. I knew, however, that he was called * Mad Windham,” but I
do not know how he came by that name.

By the Master.—1 did not see much of Windham, except in the evening, when I
agsisted him with his lessons for school.

By the Jury.—Windham was always well supplied with money. I was not aware
that he ever got into debt.

MR. INGRAM, TEACHER.

" Mr. Ingram, examined by Mr. Milward.—I was the French and mathematical
master ab Mr. Westmacott's school, in Feltham. Mr. Windham was there for-about
three years, beginning in 1850 or 1851. I taught him French, arithmetic,
and English. He did the same lessons as other boys of his age, and he had an
average capacity.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Windham was rather good atFrench. He did
not speak the language fluently, but he was well up in Ollendorff, and counld translate
like the other boys. He did arithmetic very well, as far as fractions and decimals.
‘He was not the most briiliant boy in school, but there were several worse. He was nof
passionately fond of study, buthe did as much work as he was obliged todo. Upon
the whole, however, he did not profit so much by the instruction he received as
gome of the other boys, becanse hé was not so assiduous as they were. I have
checked other boys as well as Windham for the same reason.

MR. BARNES, WINE-MERCIANT.

Mr. Barnes, examined by Mr. Karslake.—I am a wine-merchant in Lincoln's-inn-
ﬁelda£ I know Lewellin. That person was never ponnected with me as a commission

ant.

A discnssion here took place as to whether evidence coutd be adduced for the
mere purpose of discrediting a previous witness. Counsel were heard on both
gides, but eventually the Master, without deeciding the question one way or the
other, induced Mr. Karslake not to press the matter farther. Mr. Barnes was
accordingly told to stand down.

AR, CHOARD, SOLICITOR'S CLERK.

Mr. J. Choard, examined by Mr. Milward.—I am a clerk in the office of M&
Chappel, solicitor, Golden-square. Last summer a suit was brought in the County
Oourt against Mr. Windham by his groom. Mr. Windham was examined for
twenty minntes, and gave his evidence reasonably and intelligently. The decision
wag in his favour. The suit involved the question of accounts. Mr. Windham
discussed the items one by one, and those he objected to were disallowed.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers,—I have written no letters for Mr, Chappel in
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‘the matter of the petition, but I attended before the Lords Justices on behalf of
Lady Sophia. I never made a proposal ‘that Lady Sophia sheuld join in the petition.
“Mr. Lewellin accompanied Mr, Windham to the County Court, and took some part
‘in the proceedings. A A
Eliza Sophia Dignam, examined by Mr. Karslake.—I am a sister of Mrs. Lewellin,
and was in the habit of visited her in Duke-street at the time Mr. Windham was
living there. The first visit I made was in March, 1861, nnf.l I stayed t}ll the 4th of
June. I returned two days before Mr. Windham was married. (Juc_agmnally I‘ha-:l
gone in the interval and stayed for the night. Afterwards I usually visited my sister
two or three times a week. While T stayed with her I assisted in making the beds
every day, and I have waited upon Mr. Windham at breakfast and luncheon. Hig
conduct towards me was most gentlemanly. I never saw anything wrong with him,
nor did I ever notice anything unusual or peculiar in his bedroom. Mr. Windham
had a good appetite, but nothing exorbitant. I have remained in the room and
geen him eat his breakfast, which eommonly consisted of a little bacon, two eggs,
or a mutton chop. At breakfast he nsed to read the Times and discuss the news
with me or any one else who happened to be in the room. I have heard Mr.
Windham sing and whistle, but you could not eall him noisy—only merry. In
October I went with Mrs. Lewellin to the office of Mr. Field, the solicitor to the
titioners. I did not know the nature of her business. A gentleman took
wn my sister's evidence. General Windham came in three minutes after we
had arrived, and remained the whole time. I had seen him in Duke-street
—onee before his nephew's marriage, but a dozen times after. The last
time I saw him thers was on Colonel Broughton’s birthday, the 25th of October.
Colonel Broughton gave a dinner, and his guests were General Windbam, Mr.
Liberty, the wine merchant, Mr. and Mrs. Lewellin, and  mysell. We
were in Mr. Field's office for an hour and a-half or two hours. I heard the state-
ment made by my sister, and, to the best of my belief, it was entirely false. After
she had made it General Windham thanked her, said he was highly delighted with
her, and extremely oblized to her. I left the oifice with my sister. When we got
outside I gaid, * Oh, Augusta, what lies you have been telling !” She replied,
“ Windham never did like me, 1 wonder what he will think of me now. I have
given it him pretty strong, I think, and his lady-love too.” Nobody asked me to
give evidence when I was in the office. Mr. Field did not say in my presence that
he would not trouble me for my evidence—one witness would be enongh. General
Windham said, referring to me, ¢ This little woman would say what she knows, but
I have never asked her what it is; she is also very nervous, and I am afraid she
would break down in cross-examination.” I have not slept in the houde in Duke-
street since that occasion, Up to that time I do not remember having any quarrel
with my sister.
Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—One evening last summer I went to Cremorne-
ens, accompanied by two little girls, and a gentleman who said his name was
oberts, and he lived in Piceadilly, offered to drive me home in his brougham. He
gaid, “Oh! what pretty eyes you have; I could see them balf a mile off.” I replied,
“ What a pity Simpson does not know it; he might save his gas.” (A langh.)
Roberts stayed with me about five minutes and then went away. 1 have
geen him with his brougham in the street, but 1 never called at his house in
Piccadilly except once, when Mrs. Lewellin took me there on business of her
own. One of the girls I had at Cremorne was about eight years of age and the other
about 14. The former was staying with me on a visit at the time, and the latter
was the daughter of a neighbour. I was then and am mnow living in apartments in
m Pimlico, which had been taken for me by my sister. She paid the rent for
wome time, but she has long ceased to do so. I have no income of my own and am
supported by kind friends. I had a quarrel with the Lewelling in 1860 about an
10U for £30. I sued him in the County Court and got the money. BSome time
ﬁter I wrote a letter to Mr. Lewellin asking forgiveness. 1 was then living with my
other Conway in Fulham-fields, and was very ill-off. It was after that letter was
- written that my sister took apartments for me and sent me to a finishing school.
Conway and I have never made a distorbance in the house in Duke-street. My
brother often visits me. I knew that he was very ill-off last antumn, but I was not
aware that he begged in the streets. Ho came to the conrt with me to-day, for I
am to frightened to walk alone, as the Lewellins are always after me.
Re-examined,—They have followed me ever since this trial began, I asked
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orgiveness from Mr. Lewellin in 1860, because I had eaid things to him in & :
passion which I ought not to have said, and I w_'antad to be friendsagain. My sister
{:a.a addressed many affectionate letters te me since. ) .

Mr. Karslake wished to put in those letters, but Mr. Chambers objected, and, ag
they turned out to be the same letters which the Court refused to allow Mrs.
Lewellin to be examined upon some few weeks ago, on the ground that they were
guite irrelevant to this inquiry, the objection was sustained. ,

CONWAY DIGKAM, BROTHER OF MRA. LEWELLIN.

Conway Dignam, examined by Mr. Milward.—I am a hrobhar of Mrs. Lewellin,
Bome time ago I met her in St. James's-street. BShe said to me, “Ah! Conway, ?
what are you doing ?” I replied, *Nothing at present.”” Bhe gaid, “ I know of a
capital thing for you. Did ever you hear of young Windham ' I replied, ‘fI ha.va '
a faint recollection of the name.” She said, “ Well, his uncle the General is going
to bring him in mad, and if you would come forward on the General's side and state
this, it would be the making of you, and you would not require a sitmation.” I
rep'ied, * How can yon ask me to state such a thing when you know that I know
nothing of young Mr. Windham or the General either #' She said, “Youn know as
much as most people, WhatI ghall want you to gay is this, that youn lived in Duke-street
asg clerk, and waited upon Mr. Windham, and had ample opportunities of seeing his
wonduct.” I replied, *I shall do no such thing. How can you ask me to come
acainst & young man and put him in a mad-house when I know nothingat all about
him ?” She said, “ You are very foolish. It is the General will have the money,
not young Windham. Yon don’t think that I am working for nothing do you?” I
replied, “ I shan’t come and forswear myself in any court for you, or twenty Generals.
I would sooner remain in my present pesition than injure a young man I know
nothing about.” She said, “If yon don't comply with my wishes you may do
what you like. What does it signify if yon do bring in young Windham insane? I&
will not injure you, but it will be the making of you.” I then left her. I have seen
Mr. Windham walking, riding, and driving, but I do not think I bave ever spoken
to him in my life. My sister did not know whether I was scquainted with Mr,
Windham or not. I have never been in her house in Duke-street in my life, and,
of course, I never acted as clerk there.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—I have been living for about a week inthe
Westminster road, but do not know the momber. I am supported by my friends.
1 am out of a situation, bat am endeavonring to get one every day. I have been ont
of a situation ever since my mother's death about two years ago. Before that event
I was in stveral situations. The last place I had was in Lime street, where I was
head clerk to a general merchant, with a ealary of 15s. a week. (A langh.) My
mother was a lady of independent means, and being the youngest child I was
selected as the one to stay at home with her. I read, wrote, and rode with her up
to the time of her death. I have lately earred some money by writing and copying,
for I am a moderate scholar, but not enengh to keep me. I have not worked upon
any of the papers in this case. Nobody asked me to give evidence. I went myself
to Mr. Gregory, the solicitor for Mr. Windham. The conversation with my sister
in 3t. James's street took place in October. I have corresponded with her Bince,
asking her to say to the police that I had lived with her for six months, in order
that I might be enmabled to get a conductor’s license. I mever lived for six
months with her, but she had told me she would do what she could to get me a
situation, and would recommend me anywhere for honesty, sobriety, and industry.
BShe has not spoken to the police.

Jte-examined.—I have beer o reduced that I wonld be glad to accept the place of
a condnotor. I haye tried everything I could to get a situation, but have failed.
My sister did not answer my letter. I went to Mr. Gregory voluntarily, in conse-
quence of a false statement made by Mrs. Lewellin about Eliza Sophia, whom I
know to be a good, virbuouns, young woman. I wasnot in Duke-street on Chﬁttm&t
day, and did not make a disturbance. I was at Brixvon the whole of the day.

DBy the Jury.—I got £60 at my mother's death, and I have a sister in America
who sends me a little money occasionally. I got £3 from her by the last mail. My
mother had ample meaug, but they died with her. 1 was in court when DMrs.
Lewellin said she had met me in the streets ragged and begging. She gave me
gome clothes afterwards, including those I now wear.

By the Master.—The statement made by Mrs. Lewellin when she was examined
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about the conversation in 8t. James’s-street was totally false. I have taken out a
summons against Mr. Lewellin for an assault committed upon me in the Burlington-
arcade. i

MR, HILL, BANKER, NORWICH.

Mr. Hill, examined by Mr. Milward.—I am the manager of the Crown Bank in
Norwich, and know the Windham family. In 1860 Mr. Windham borrowed £20
from the bank, and in August last year he opened an account. The first sum paid
into his credit was £908 14s., and the second and last £1,000. From time to time
he drew checks against the amounts paid to his credit. Sometimes he drew them
in the banking-house. There is still a small sum to his credit. 1 had no sas-
picion that there was anything wrong with his mind. He talked rationmally and
sensibly.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—The balance remaining to his credit was
about £17. His largest eheck was for £300. One drawn in favour of Mr. Bowen
May was for £200, and was dated the 20th of August, 1861. Another, dated the
5th of November, was drawn in favour of Mr. Barves, a publiean in the Haymarket,
and was for £15 5s. A third was dated Fellbrigg, October 27, 1861, and che
sum (£133) was payable to James Roberts. A fourth, dated October 28, was for
£300, and was drawn in favour of Mrs. Windham. On the back were written the
words, “ In exchange for money, Agnes Windham.”  Another check, drawn on
the same day, was also in favour of Mrs. Windham, the amount being £157, and
it was endorsed “J, P. Davis.” One dated November 1, 1861, for £100, waa en-
dorsed on the back * Lawrence and Fry.” There were 24 checks in all. . I have
no private acquaintance with Mr. Windham.

By Mr. Coleridge.—The check endorsed “J. P. Davis” was paid throngh the
‘Bank of England.

MR. KEMP, RYDE.

Mr. Eemp, examined by Mr. Milward : I am the proprietor of the Esplanade
Baths at Ryde, and have a house adjoining, which I let out to lodgers. Mr. Wind-
ham lodged with me in April, 1860, for three weeks ; and again in May, 1661, for
nearly a fortnight. He was in the habit of bathing every morning, and was par-
ticularly cleanly in his rooms. I believe him to be of sound mind.

Cross-examined.—Mr. Windham wasa very eober man. What I mean by his
being particularly clean in his rooms was, that he used to fold up his things and put
them on a chair. T never noticed anything particular about him.

Mre. Kemp, the wife of the last witness, corroborated his evidence. She
gaid Mr. Windham behaved like a gentleman, and gave no trouble or annoyance
whatcver. : .

By the Master.—I have heard Mr. Horrocks speak unkindly to Mr. Windham.
They did not seem to be on good terms. In 1861 the tutor was Mr. Peatfield; he
agreed very well with his pupil.

JEAN SOUNEY, WAITER, PARIS.

Jean Bouney, a waiter in the Hbtel Menrice, Rue de Rivoli, Paris. Mr. Windham
‘came to the hotel at midnight on the 31st of August last, accompanied by Mrs.
‘Windham, her sister, and a man and a maid servant. The party stayed ten or
twelve days. They had a suite of apartments on the first floor, and dined at the
table d'hote. Mr.Windham had a bath every morning. There was nothing unusunal
in the conduct of any of the family. They rode about during the day and went
to the theatre in the evening, just the same as other people.

Cross-examined.—DMr. Windham seemed to be very fond of his wife, but she did
not appear to care so much for him.

ME. CONNOER, PRIVATE TUTOR, TORQUAY,

Mr. Connor, a private tutor, Torquay :—I knew Mr. Windham and have fre-
guently eonversed with him, and [ think him to be a person of sound mind.

Crogs-examined.—I have seen Mr. Windham only once since 1858. I never
.-:.w him acting as a linkboy and lighting people to their carriages. )

By the Master.—The lagt time I saw Mr. Windham was on the 18th of lask
month. I met him accidentally in Palace-yard, snd eaid I euppored it was an
anxions time for him, and asked him how he thought the ease was going on. Mr.
Windham replied that he was not making himself very miserable, and that he
‘had no doubt about the reenlt. He seemed to be in good spirits.
" The inquiry was then adjonrned.
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The jury intimated in writing their unapimous opinion to the Court that Counsel
should mot be present at their interview with Mr. Windham, but no final decision
wag come to on the matter.

The adjourned inguiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed this day in the Westminster Sessions-hounse, before Mr.
Warren, .C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a speeial jury.

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams appeared for the
petitioners ; Mr, Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Ginbilei, the mother of
the alleged lunatic; Sir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward E
for Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windham.

TWENTY-THIRD DAY.—Tuespay, Jaw. 14. \
{

o

i

|

|

THE MASTEE.

am sorry to say that I bave been informed by several jurymen that they are
very ill, and that nothing but a strong sense of public duty wounld have induced
them to disregard the advice of their medical attendants, and to leave their homes
to-day. The present is the 23rd day of the inguiry, and the jury are naturally
anxious to know when the case will be concluded. For my own part, I can do
nothing but rely, which I do implicitly, npon the discretion of counsel, and I would
advise the jury to hear the case to the end with that tranquillity and patience
which they have manifested hitherto. If I had endeavoured to interfere with the
petitioners in any way, they would probably have said that they were not allowed
to lay their case fairly and fully before the jury. I have not so interfered, and it
appears to me that 1 would be acting most unjustly if I were to place any restric-
tions npon Mr. Windham and his advisers, who have an equal right with the peti-
tioners to a fair and ample hearing.

Mr., Chambers.—Something has been said elsewhere about the cross-examination
of the witnesses for Mr. Windham. All T have to state upon that point is that
if T were not to cross-examine the witnesses as they appeared in the box I should
probably be obliged, when the time came, to address the jury for four days. I think it
better in order to save time, to deal with the defects in the evidence as they arize.

Mr. Milward.—As the representative of Mr. Windham, I have to make only one
or two observations. _ 1t will be recollected that the case for the petitioners occupied
twelve days. Up to the present time only eight days have been devoted to the
defence of Mr. Windham. -

The Master.—More than that. ‘This is the twenty-third day of the inquiry.

Mr. Milward.—I meant to say that the evidenco for Mr. Windham has ocenpied
{n}ﬂj" eight days, the other two days having been given to the speech of Sir Hugh

AIrns.

The Master.—Yeg, but that speech was part of your defence.

Mr. Milward.—I must remind the Court that the inquiry extends over the whole
of Mr. Windham’s life, and that it is more difficult to answer a proposition than to
gtate it. However, I have much pleasure in announcing that the whole of the re-
maining proof has been carefully sifted and weeded, that every piece of evidence
has been withdrawn which can be omitted with justice to Mr. Windham, and that
in fature not a single moment of time will be wasted. I ammnot without hopes that
in a day or two the advisers of Mr, Windham will be enabled to close their evidence.

The Master.—I am glad to hear the remarks of Mr. Milward, and think the jury
cannot do better than trust to the discretion of counsel. I am sure that all parties
must be anxions to conclude the case as soon as possible.

SIGNOR CAMPANA, TEACHER OF MUSIC.

Signor Campana, interpreted by Mr. Albert.—I am a composer and teacher of
mugic, and reside in Westbonrne.place, Eaton-squnare. In 1857 I was living in
Torquay, and was on terms of intimacy with Lady Sophia Windham and her son,
the subject of the present inquiry. On one or two occasions Mr. Windham pulled | |
me gently by the whiskers by way of joke—pour g amuser—but he never pushed .
me against the wall, or did anything to give me offence.

ME. MUERRAY, TRONMASTER.

Mr. Murray, examined by Mr. Milward.—I am an ironmaster, in the neighbour-
hood of Glaszow. 1 have been for several years a director of the Gartnavel Lunatio
Asylum, near that city. In August, 18585, I was trayelling with two of my danghters i
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in the Highlands. I met Mr. Windbham during the course of the journey, and we
travelled by the same route for one or two days. 1 conversed with him upon the
ordinary topice of the day. DMr. Windham was a rollicling, thoughtless, free-and-
easy ng man, boisterous in his manner sometimes, and fond of fun, like a boy
fresh from schoel; but I saw in Lim no indieation of insanity.

' By the Master—There was a tutor with him, but they did not seem to associate
much on the jonrney.

. ME, ANDREWS, FARMER.

. Mr. Andrews, of Rimpton, Somersetshire.—I became acquainted with Mr. Wind-
bham in the summer of 1857. Mr. Windham was then a pupil with the rector of
Rimpton. I know him intimately, and have ofter had him at my honse. The ae-
guaintance continned till Mr. Windham left, in the latter part of 1858. At first I
had rather a prejudice against bim for his appearance and manners, but afterwards
I changed my opinion of him. Mr. Windham bhas high animal spirits, and is very
open and nnreserved. He is affectionate to those who treat him with kindness, and

one oceasion he acted kindly and benevolently to a poor parishioner. There

i8 nothing ungentlemanly or unbecoming in his conduct. He oceasionally drove out
Mrs. Andrews and her daughters. Before he left in 1858, he made a proposal of
marriage to one of the youug ladies. Subsequently g correspondenee took place on
the subject between Mr. Windham and myself, but the result was that the proposal
was rejected on the ground of the extreme youth of the parties. I had no other
reason for refusing my assent to the proposed marriage. Lady Sophia, when
appealed to on the subject, concurred in this decision. There were no personal
reasons, intelleetnal or otherwise, which induced me to reject the proposal. 1
thought that the obvious fanlts of Mr. Windham—openness and unguardedness—
would disappear as he advanced i life, as they were only such as were frequently
gbservable in boys of his age. It never crossed my mind that Mr. Windham showe
any indication either of imbeecility or of insanity. :

Oross-examined. —Mr. Windham did not tell me at any time that he had proposed to
wother young ladies.

SIk W. FOSTER; SOLICITOR, NORWICH.

Sir W. Foster, a solicitor in Norwich : T wae professional adviser to the late Mr.
Windham, who was rather hasty and choleric in temper. I bhad the steward-
ghip of the Windham estates for 40 years. I have known young Mr. Windham
from his birth. After that gentleman came of age I wrote to him to say that I should
be glad to be continued in the stewardship. Mr. Windbham did not reply by letter,
but he met me shortly afterwards in Norwich, and said to me, * Of course, old fellow,
T should not dream of taking the manors away from you, and I beg yon will continne
to act as usnal.” On that oceasion we talked together for a quarter of an hour
Mr. Windham spoke of his marriage, and invited me to Fellbrigg to be introduced
4o his wife. 1 did mot go. I have transacted business with Mr. Windham, and
believe him to be a person of sound mind.

- Cross-examined.— Mr. Windham wanted a good deal of assiatance, bnt he was
perfectly sonnd in mind. He knew nothing about his estate, like hundreds of other
young men, but he was perfectly competent to manage it with help. I never said
he was incompetent to manage his affaira. I absolutely declined to be introduced to
Mrs. Windham, beeanse, as I told Mr. Windham, I understood he married a person
of not very good character, and I did not want to make her acnnaintance. Mr.
"Windham replied, “I assure yon she ig a lady.” 1 said, *I must have something
more than your ipse dizil on that subject,”” and I added that if Mr. Windham could
‘refer me to any authority for satisfaction mpon the point I shomld be delighted to
do my best to set him right with the county. Mr. Windham repeated that his wife
‘was a lady, and so the subject dropped. 1 knew that Mr. Windbam did not always
‘gpeak the truth, bat I cannot say that his falsehoods were canseless or objectless.
“Mr. Windham had no idea of the value of his timber, and he required the assistance
“of a person who would mansge his estate, or teach him how to do so himself. He
“had had no edugation at all, nobody to teach him, no opportunity of learning the
value of his timber, or how to manage his estate. 1 do not recollect saying
* Windham cannot be guided ; nobody can hold him ;" but I might have said so,
‘meaning simply that Mr. Windbam was a wild boy. I do not believe that in four
tﬂrs £20,000 worth of timber could be eut down at Fellbrigz withont damaging

L}

ornamental character of the park.  Mr., Windham never consulted we about
K 2



- eut on the Windham estates, including the devised property. The marriage of Mr.
y Windham caused a strong feeling against him in the county. -
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gelling off his timber. I do not think he feels conscious of his ignorance of the
value or management of his property. '

Re.examined,—I never had any means of testing the knowledge of Mr. Windham
about the value of his timber; in fact, I never talked to him about hia property,
and the opinion which I expressed upon that point in cross-examination was formed
upon what I had read in the newspapors. I believe that Mr. Windham is quite
capable of being taught how to manage his affairs, but he wounld require more
teaching than most other young mer. He was always, a8 it seemed to me, a difficult
young man to hold together. £40,000 worth of timber might without injury be

By the Jury.—When I said that Mr. Windbam had no education, I meant in the
management of property. 0ld Mr. Windham was quite competent to manage his
affairs, Young Mr. Windbham is below par; but I do not believe him to be an idiot }
or a lunatic. His marriage has been hisruin, but if he had fallen into better hands
he would have got on very well. It is impossible to account for many things in his

‘conduet, but I belisve his marriage, #he unusual terms of the marriage settlement,
and his getting into debt to the extent of £30,000 in four months to be consistenf
with sanity. Young men do strange things in love ; and, besides, Mr. Windbam il-i
a person easily persuaded by others. t

ME. BRUCE. ' 'i

Mr. Bruce, residing in Westhourne-terrace : I met Colonel Bathurst and Mr.
Windham at Baden Baden in 1859, and travelled with them for ten days or a fort=
night in the Black Forest. I believe Mr. Windham to be a person of pﬂrfecﬂ]";
gound mind. |

Cross-examined.—Mr. Windham was uneducated, uncouth in his manners, and
more like a groom than a gentleman. On one oceasion, when he was misbehdving
himself, Colonel Bathurst knocked him down, and he blubbered like a child. Mr. .
Windham called Colonel Bathurst * a aristocratic humbug.” The Colonel told ©
him that if he repeated such language he would knock him down. Windkam did|
repest. it, and the Colonel knocked him down. He was in the habit of nsing coarses
and filthy Jangnage and of laughing rather londly. }

Re-axamined.— Windham called Colonel Bathurst “ a —— aristocratic humbug
becanse the Colonel had expressed his displeasare at Windham imitating his stylas
of walking. -

"o

MR. LAWRENCE, TIMBER BROKER.

Mr. Lawrence, examined by Mr. Karslake.—I am in partnership with Mr. Fry ]
We carry on the business of timber-brokers in the city of London. I have knowma
Mr. Roberts for many years as a person connected with the timber trade. Mr. Fry
my partuner, is a cousin of Mr. Gurney, of Gurney, Overend, and Co. I believe
Mr. Roberts has been concerned in Government contracts for timber. He int 0=
duced Mr. Windham to me in the first or second week of October last. Mr. Wind-
ham said !1& had some timber to sell, and asked me if we were in a position t0
purchase it. e said he was very short of money, and asked me to examine a paperr)
of conditions. I did so, and then told him I would go into the matter, and I had no®
doubt we would purchase the timber. I afterwards went down to Fellbrigg, buk ¢
before leaving town I had a second interview with Mr. Windham on the subject. I1
went to Fellbrigg on the 24th October. Mr. Fry accompanied me. I had pre--
viously seen _Hr. Robinson, a large timber contractor, and had mentioned the
contract to him. He anthorized us, if we found it a suitable contract, to enter
into it for him. We stayed at Fellbrigg till the morning of the 26th of chobalir
I had tll:m rough dranght of the contract, or agreement, with me. On the 25th
was driven over the estate to see the timber by Mr. Windham. 1 nscertainedd
generally wha,t._ timber thore was on the estate, and afterwards inquired into the
means of carriage. We found that we should have to take the timber by road
to Norwich, a distance of about twenty-three miles, and then by railway to London,
or by water from Yarmouth., The agreement was signed on the 25th. It rans:
aa follows :— r
i ¢ Qotober 25, 1861.

¢ WWilliam Frederick Windham, Esq., of Fellbrigg-hall, Norfolk, agrees for himselfy
his Leirs, successors, and assigns, to sell to Willinm Francis Lawrence and Walters
Jogeph Fry, of 10, New Broad-street, London, the whole of the timber which may ¥
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be cut on his Norfolk estates during the next four years, to the extent of not lesa
than £5,000 per annum, and on the following conditions :—The oak timber trees to
be paid for at the rate of 12d. per cubic foot, string measure, for all above 13 inches
square, and 8d. per cubic foot for all oak timber trees that may be under 13 inches
square, and for all other kinds of timber trees about 14 inches square at 6d. per
cubie foot. The trees to be taken by the buyers as they now are and stand, the lop
and top branches and bark to be the property of the buyers in consideration of their
paying all expenses for felling, &. . . The measurement for the girth to be -
taken (clear of the bark) at two-thirds from the butt-end of the tree, and for the
length, by two parties to be appointed, who are to choose an umpire before they
begin to work, to decide in case of dispute. Mr. Windham agrees to give free
ingress and egress to the buyers, their men, horses, &e., for the above purposes, and
to let them a piece of land of four or five acres at the rate of £1 per acre. This
contract only to be binding on the payment of £1,000 into the hands of Mr. Windham,
and the remainder in monthly payments of £350 per month, commencing from
Jannary, 1862. Timber trees which may required to be cut down, and which are
under 10 inches square, to be agreed for afterwards, as the above contract does not

contemplate any trees being cut down of small size unless absolutely necessary,

W F. Winpuax,
“Witness to the signature of W. F. Windham, Esq., —
: “ Agves WinpaAM.”
I saw a great deal of ornamental timber about the estate. It was perfoctly unders
stood that we were not to cat the ornamental timber ; it was so stated. The object
of the last clanse was that the growing timber should not be tonched—that no more
should be cut than was absolutely necessary. The £1,000, which we agreed to PAay,
was paid on the 25th. Winter-felled timber could be cut at any tims after Novem-
ber. We should not get the bark in that case. The timber of which we wanted to
E: the bark would be cot in March. I saw a good deal of overgrown timber on
estate. We were to take all sorts of timber. I calculated that before getting
any return we should have to expend between £3,000 and £4,000. Mr. Robinson
took the contract, and gave us the £1,000 to pay to Mr. Windham. We are only
the brokers, but Mr. Windham does not know Mr. Robinson, as we never give the
mames of our principals. A Mr. Freebridge went down and examined the timber
at eor request. He his & man of great experience in valuing timber. Shortly after
entering into the contract General Windham called upon me, and learnt from me
the terms of the agreement. I forget whether I gave him a copy of it, but I think
Idid. I saw him twice. We made him an offer with respect to the contract. We
posed to give it up, provided we got onr money back, and an indemnity against
uture legal proceedings. Having regard to the nature of the timber and the
distance, the contract is not particularly advantageous to us. Inall his dealinga
with ns Mr. Windham eonduncted himself like a reasonable and sane man,

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Mr. Fry attends to the financial part of the
business ; he knows nothing about timber. I got the £1,000 which I paid to Mr.
Windham from my ownbankers. On the 29th of October I received £4,250 in the
form of acceptances from Mr. Robinson. That was after I had advanced the £1,000
by way of deposit. Some of the acceptances have been discounted ; the others we
have. It is possible, indeed, that all have been discounted. I cannot say when
they were discounted, or where they are to be found now. They are all six-
months’ bills, but I do not recollect how they are divided as to amounts. Mr,
Robinson carries on his business at 14, Mark-lane; he has been there for about
two years. Before that he was a member of the Stock-Exchange. He rents a
house in the Clapham-road which I formerly lived in, but it does not belong to me.
He took it off my hands about nine months or a year ago. My eldest brother is
his partner, and has been so nearly two years. Our principals in the Fellbrige
transactions were Robinson and Company. I have known Roberts for twenty years.
He was a bankrupt about ten years ago. I was not a ereditor of his; but I have
had dealings with him in the timber trade. Roberts was a timber merchant and
Government eontractor. Our place of business is No. 10, New Broad-street. Mr.,
Windham came to our office accompanied by Roberts, who said, “ Here is a gentle-
man who has some timber to gell.”” That was the first time I heard of Mr. Wind-
bam having timber to sell. I had not had any conversation with Roberts on
the subject before. I did not recognize the handwriting of the paper of
eonditions, I told Mr. Windham that I wounld look into the matter, and
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let him kmow the result in a few days. He gave me his address at the house:
in Piceadilly., I did not go there, but Mr. Windham and Mr. Roberts called
at gur uffice a second time. I then told Mr. Windham that I would go down to Fell-
brigg myzelf, and that if the timber was there we should probably takeit from him..
My partner and I travelled to Fellbrigg alone. It was not arranged that Roberts
should meet us at Fellbrigg, but we found him there. The only other persons we
saw at Fellbrigg were Mr. and Mrs. Windham. We remained two nights and one
day. It is the habit of timber-growers to prepare their own contracts. In the pres
gent instance I copied out the paper which had been brought to me by Mr. Wiad.
ham and Mr. Roberts, and left the original at Fellbrigg. The copy was signed by

Mr. Windham before dinner on the evening of the 25th of October, in the presence
of Mrs. Windham, Mr. Fry, and myself. Br. Roberts was not present, but I think
he was in the house. Mr. Mostin, the bailiff, may also have been in the honse, but
I did not see him. No arrangement was made as to the time when we shonld coms-,
mence to cat. Not a single stick has been felled. I made the offer which I have
mentioned to General Windham the first time I saw him. After a time I became
go disgusted with the whole affair that [ may have said to Mr. Hansell, the solicitor
to General Windham, that it was so low a transaction that I would rather lose my

#1,000 than have anything to do with it ; but I do not recollect having used those
words. Roberts would have received the usual consideration of 1 per cent. upon
the gross amount of the contract, but that was all the interest he had in it. Mr.
Robinson gave us his orders about the contract verbally, and I ean show no writing
from him on the subject. We depended upon his honour for fulfilling the terms of

the contract which he had entrnsted us to conclude for him. '

Re-examined.—We enter into a great many timber contracts for Mr. Hobinson
in the course of a year. There was nothing unusual in the present case. Roberta
was entitled to 1 per cent. becanse he introduced the bunsiness. He has been paid
nothing. At one time Roberts had a large business as a mahogany merchant. I
became acquainted with him when I was a timber measurer, and I have done
busginess for him ag a broker. We have very large contracts passing through our
hands—sometimes to the amount of a quarter of a million.

By the Jury.—We never made a contract for the purchase of growing timber
before. The average price of oak, delivered in the yard of the purchaser, is about
2s. per cubic foot. Here the price was fixed at 1s. per cubic foot, but we were to
pay for the carriage, and Fellbrigg is far from the market. It was optional for Mr.
Windham to cut what quantity of timber he pleased, but we were bound, if required
by him, to take it to the extent of :£5,000 per annum. It was understood that none
of the ornamental trees were to be cut. It is not a nsual mode of measurement for
the girth to take it at two-thirds of the length from the butt-end, but here no
allowanece was to be made for defects, which ought to connt as equal to a difference
of 10 per cent. in the price. I do not comsider the contract a particularly advan-,
tageous one.

SIE HUGH CAIRNS. L]

Eefore calling the next witness I wish to refer to a conversation which took place:
on Monday with respect to the examination of Mr. Windham, and the question’
whether or not covnsel shonld be present. It is frequently desirable to examine
alleged lunatics in private, and sometimes the sex or the health of the parties:
make it necessary to do so ; but in the present instance, speaking on behalf of Mr..
Windham, I should deprecate a private examination, Thereis no reasen why my.
client should net be examined in open court, and Mr. Windham himself desires
that his examination shall take place in publie, in precisely the same way as that.

of the other witnesses. {

MR. COLERIDGE. i

Considering the manner and tone in which eertain questions have been put to
many of the witnesses called on behalf of Mr. Windham—a manner and tone whick
I have neverin my experience seen equalled—1I shall feel it my duty to be present af
the examination of Mr. Windham, wheresoever and whensoever it may take place;,
to be myself a witness of every question addressed to him, of the tone in which it
ia put, and of the person from whom it proceeded. N

MR. CHAMBERS.

1 have no opinion to offer on the subject, but I may state that the exclusion of
counsel iz not unprecedented. 5
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THE MASTER.

I have no wish to make Mr. Windham a public exhibition in open court, whether
wwith or without his consent; and, indeed, the pature of the topics upon which he
must be questioned is such as to render even a private examination extremely painful.
It would be almost inhuman to examine Mr. Windham in publie, and I have been
thinking whether even in private I ought not to exclude eertain topics. To permit
sueh topies to be gone into in open court would almost amount to a public outrage.
As far a8 I am concerned, however, I have no objection to the presence of counsel ;
but in any case Mr. Windham will find himself, God knows, in very friendly hands.
In conclogion, I have merely to say that the thought of the examination taking
place in public would exercise a paralyzing effect npon me, rendering me unable to
Tuolfil my duties.

EIR HUGH CAIRNS.

The opinion entertained and expressed by my client, is that everything which conld
canse pain has already been placed before the public. He is perfectly willing that
the examination shounld be conducted in open couart.

SIE G. ABRMYTAGE, THE FOREMAN OF THE JURY.

Our only desire is that Mr. Windham should be as much at his ease as possible
during his examination, and therefore we think a private interview will be better
and more fair to him than examination in open court.

The sgubject then dropped.

MR, FREEBEIDGE, TIMBER PURVEYOR.

Mr. Freebridge.—I have been a purveyor of timber for the Royal Navy for
thirty-five years, and am well acquainted with the value of timber and carriage
expenses. On the 17th of Nevember last, at the request of Messrs. Lawrence and
Fry, I went down to lock at the timber at Fellbrige. I made inquiries about the
expense of carriage at that place. There was no local demand for timber. While
walking over the estate I saw many trees which had been blown down by the wind,
and which had lain unsold since last spring. The value of timber depends
entirely upon the locality, and in such a place as Fellbrige timber was not worth
anything like 2s. 6d. per cubic foot. Only the best oak fetched that price, and a
large proportion of the timber marked oat for felling at Fellbrigg was very inferior,

The inguiry wag again adjourped.

TWENTY-FOURTH DAY.—Wepnespay, Jaw. 15,

The adjourned inquiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed this day, in the Westminster Sessions-house, before
Mr. Warren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury.

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams appeared for the
petitioners ; Mr. Charles Bunesell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of
the alleged lunatic; Bir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward
for Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windham.

It was definitely arranged that the examination of Mr. Windham should take
place in private, but in the presence of counsel, with the understanding that the
Master and the jury, if they thought it desirable, might have a second interview
with the alleged lunatic alone.

MRE. FREEBRIDGE.

The examination of Mr. Freebridge contimued Mr. Milward.—Much of
the timber marked for felling at Fellbrige was defﬂctli}ga and inferior in quality.
The value of the best oak at Fellbrig, when & delivered in London, would be
about Js. per eubic foot.  The inferior sorts would hardly be worth the
carriage, and were. valuable only for the bark. I saw at Fellbrige a
considerable number of beeches, chestnuts and firs, With the exception of the
chestnuts they were all of very good quality, and the average price all ronnd might be
about 6d. per foot. Perhaps the chestnuta wonld bring 9d. per foot. There was no
local market for timber near Fellbrigg ; none ab least that wounld consnme any con-
siderable quantity, The timber other than ocak would not bear the expence of the
carriage to London. There werea few sycamores at Fellbrizg, Of the best oalk I
estimate the quantity at £7,000 worth. There was a good quantity of beech, but it
was ft for nothing except firewood. There was also a good deal of Bpanish chestnut,
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which might fetch 9d. per feot. TFir was the prevailing timber, and 3d. per foot was

aa much as it was worth. I believe that the best and cheapest mode of conveyance

would be to send the timber from Fellbrigg to Norwich by road, and then to Blackwall ,
by rail. The land carriage to Norwich would be about 1s. per foot. I saw the contract

with Lawrence & Fry, and, taking into account the expense of the carriage to a market,
and also the inferior guality of partof the timber, and seeing there was no stipula.

tion asto the proportion between oak and other kinds of timber, I thought it was
a rather disadvantageous bargain to the buyer. The agreement made no allowance:
for defective timber, and that fact, together with the stipulations as to the payment
of advances to Mr. Windham, was also an ingredient in the case. .

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—I was introduced to Lawrence and Fry by
Mr. Roberts. I had not seen that person before, nor am I aware thai he has been. |
a Government contractor for timber. Lawrence and Fry wrote a note to me

enclosing a check for £20, and requesting me te call upon them. Roberts had
mentioned that T would be required to go down to the country to look at timber,
and T understood that the check for £20 was ta pay my expenses. When 1 called
on Lawrence and Fry I had a conversation with them, and they gave me verbal,
not written, directions as to what I was to do when I went to Fellbrigg. They
asked me to look over the timber and give them my opinion of it. What
they said was, ©“ We are to have :£5,000 worth; give us your opinion as io what .
there is on the estate.” These were all the verbal directions they gave to me before.
I went to Fellbrizg. They did not tell me to mark any of the timber. Nobody
met me at Norwich. At Fellbrigg I was met by the woodman and the bailiff. I
was about a week looking over the timber. It required all that time to go over the
estate, and I could not form a judgment until I had seen the whole. I did nob
make out a list of the timber, but I made notes in a book with respest io the-
guality of the trees in different localities. I stayed at Cromer, and was mnot ab
Fellbrigg at all. I did not see Roberts. It was the woodman who told me thab
the carriage from Fellbrigg to Norwich would cost 1s. per foot. As a Govermmenb
purveyor my experience had been principally in ocak. Beech is used in the
construction of breakwaters, wharves, and canals, and also in carpeatry-
work, but I had little knowledge of that kind of timber, I regarded the
contract as anything but satisfactory to the buyers. 1 was mnot com-
sultedaboutit. It was such a bargain in regard to the wording of it as a fimber-
merchant would not have made. I should always like, for my own part,
to see what I am going to buy. I have never bought £5,000 worth of timber
from a young gentleman, just come of age, withont the seller taking advice. On
my return from Fellbrigg I saw Mr. Lawrence. That gentleman never sold me
that the agreement was an imperfect one, and that he proposed te introduce another
clause; nor did he ever tell me that the object of his sending me down to Fellbrigg
was that he might frame an additional clause. I have received nothing except the :
£20, which I have already mentioned. Idid not expect any more. Ihave neither
seen nor heard from Mr. Roberts since my return from Fellbrigg.

Re-examined.—I have never bought £5,000 worth of timber from anybody. My
business is not to purchase, but to inspect timber. A man skilled in timber can
form a pretty accurate judgment by going throngh the woods. There arano docks,
breakwaters, or canals io the neighbourhood of Fellbriggz, which want a supply of
beech. I have inspected all kinds of timber for the Goverament.

By the Jury.—In many counties before the timber is sold it is usual to baveit .~
examined and valued ; but in others it is simply marked off in allotments and sold b
by auction. The more defective trees there are at Fellbrigg the greater rnamber
would have to be cut, and the more the estate would have to be denuded of its timber,
to make up £5,000 worth. Firs and beeches are more valuable tothe owner of the
estate than to anybody else. A four-horse team would draw between three and
four loads of timber from Fellbrige to Norwich., Each load consists of 40 feet of
timber, so that the carriageof one wagon-full would cost £6 or £7. When I wenb -
down to Fellbrigg at the request of Lawrence and Fry those gentlemen had already
enterad into an agreement for the purchase of the timber.

ME. ROBINSON, TIMBER MERCHANT, MARK-LANE.

Mr. Robinson, examined by Mr. Milward.—1 am a member of the firm of Bobinson
& Co., timber merchants, 14, Mark-lane. Abont the month of October Ir. Lawrence
gpoke to me about the timber at Fellbrigg, and showed me the rongh dranght of an
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nt. He told me that he thought it would be worth my while to go into it.
I replied that I wounld leave the matter entirely in his hands. When Mr. Lawrence
returned from Fellbrigz T ascettained that the contract had been entered into by
Lawrence and Fry, as brokers, on my behalf. 1 afterwards gave them acceptances
at six months for £4,250 to provide funds for working out the contract. WMr. Law-
rence told me when he came back from Fellbrigg, that it was nnderstood that the
ornamental timber was not to be cut. I do not recollect whether anything was said
about the form of the contract. Mr. Roberts was to receive some sort of commission
but I do mot know what. I am not at all acquainted with Roberts, and what I
know about that person I have heard from Mr, Lawrence. I concurred in the pro-
posal made by Mr. Lawrence, to give up the contract at any moment.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—I have been in the timber trade for nearly
%wo years. In the matter of the Fellbrigg contract I depended all through upon
Mr. Lawrence, whose judgment is far superior to my own, I was at one
time a member of the Stock Exchange. I got into mo difficulties there, but
retired of my own accord when I entered into the timber trade. The offices of
Robinson and Co., in Mark-lane, consisted of two apartments—one for myself and
my partner, and one for the elerk. The clerk was a yonth, and his wages
were £20 a-year, besides presents. Both I and iy pariner introduced
eapital into the business—as much as £1,000. In May last I removed my
private residence from Peckham to Clapham. The rent at Peckham was
£30 per annum ; I now pay £100. My house at Clapham was formerly
occupied by Mr. Lawrence. The firm of Robinson and Co. consists of myself and a »
brother of Mr. Lawrence. When Mr. Lawrence offered to give up the contract to
General Windham he communicated the fact to me. Mr. Lawrence told me that
General Windham had assured him that I wounld not lose the £1,000 which I had
paid to Mr. Windham. I understood that if the contract were given up, me and my
partner should have onr acceptances back, and we should not be losers by the
transaction ; but there was no written agreement to that effect. I have no idea
where the acceptances are now.

Re-examined.—The acceptances given to Lawrence and Fry were solely on
account of the Fellbrizg timber contract. In entering into contracts I and my
partner, as usual in the trade, left the whole management to our brokers. Our
transactions throngh Lawrence and Fry have been considerable.

MR. ROBERT LEMON, TIMBER MERCHANT, WHITWELL, NORFOLK.

“Mr. Robert Lemon, of Whitwell, Norfolk, said : I am a timber merchant, and do a
large business. I am acquainted with the Fellbrige estate, and the timber
upon it. I have occasionally been a purchaser at the sales at Fellbrigg. I have
bought Fellbriggz oak in a peeled state for from 1s. 9d. to 2s. per foof, en an
average ; some of it was as low as 1s. Tn 1859 I was offered 180 loads of cak for
£600. T refused to give more than £550. The price asked was £3 6s. 8d. a-load,
or 1s. 7id. per foot. The timber was barked. He described the Fellbrigg oak as
very inferior; it was red-hearted and seamed, and was not so good as the average
timber in Norfolk. The trees round the honse are past their prime, and are every
vear depreciating in valne. He believed it would improve the place to cut them down,
They were too near the house; some might be cuc down close to the stable wall.
There was a good deal of windfall timber on the estate. There was a very large
lot of beech, but it was short, buzk-headed stuff, and some of it was going back. At
a little distance from the house there were many well-growing plantations. The
local consumption of timber was very small. The carriage from Fellbrigg to
Yarmouth, including road and canal, was 22s. per load. Last year the average
price of bark in Norfolk was £4 a-ton. It would require four loads of timber to
produce a ton of bark. Peeling would cost 6s. a-load. It was the custom in
timber contracts to make anallowance for defects. The allowance was made in
the measurement. On the Stratton estate, near Norwich, there was a large
quantity of windfall beech which might be had for much less than 6d. per foot. If
100 loads of beech were cut for sale at Fellbrigg he should not give 3d. a foot for it.
. Cross-examined.—I went over the windfall timber at Fellbrigg in 1860, and said
it was worth £4 10s. a load, or 2a. 3d. a foot, without the bark. I was afterwards
told by Capt. Windham that it fetched £4 12s. 6d. per load, and I stated that I would
have given £500 more than the actual purchidser had given. I had a Government
contract at the time, and I was vexed at losing the timber, which I had looked upon



s my own., £500 more than the sum given by the purchaser would have made the
price upwards of £5 perload. I am not aware that the tenantson the Fellbrige
estate were bound to cart the bark ; but they have always done so.

Re-examined.—The windfall timber in 1860 was of prime quality, and rather than
loge it I wonld have given £5 a load for it, in order to supply the Government.
M 7. ROBERT STEWARD, MAYOR OF YARMOUTH.

Mr. Robert Steward, Mayor of Yarmouth.—I am a timber merchant; and know the
Fellbrigg estate. The Fellbrigg oak is the worst in Norfolk, and the same remark
applies to the beech. A great deal of it onght to have been ecut down long ago. I
wonld not take the beech for nothing, if I had toremove it to Yarmouth. The value

of the marked oak is not great. The trees are red hearted, an infallible indication of

decay, and if I was a Government inspector wouldnot allow a footof them to enter a

dockyard. If the oak were for sale I would not give more than £3 10s. a load, or

1s. 9d. per foot for it. I estimate the carriage to Yarmouth at 25s. a load. In the
case of the Fellbrigg cak an allowance of from 20 to 30 per cent. should be made
for defects. To measure the girth at two-thirds of the length from the butt-end,
instead of in the middle, wounld not make a difference of more than 15 per cent., and
no allowance was made for defects’'in the Fellbrigg contracts.

Cross-examined.—The Fellbrigg cak was defective, and the Government ounght
ot to have it at any price; bat 1 believe that if anything like a good price had
been given for it the intention would be to get the Government inspectors to passit.

COLOKEL FITZROY, STRATTON, NORWICH. .

Colonel, Fitzroy.—1I live at Stratton, near Norwich, I first met Mr. Windham at

the ovation given to hig uncle in Norwich, in 1856. I sat opposite to him at dinner,

-and saw how he conducted himself. Mr. Windham drank a good deal of wine, and

became intoxicated before the dinner was over. Until he got drunk he was
perfectly gniet, but he was afterwards rather noisy. There was a good deal of noise
in the room. The next time I saw Mr. Windham was at a_review in Norwich, in
1860. Mr. Windham was in uniform, and on horseback. I talked to him a good
deal during the day, and his observations were such as I would have expected to
hear from an officer who had learned his drill. I saw him on a similar occasion
last year. He was gitting on the box of Lady Suffield’s earriage, and his behavionr

sensible and proper. I have seen him on various othre occasions, and I have
never had the slightest notion that he was either insane or imbecile.

. MR. HOOD, OF BETHLEHEM HOSPITAL.
Mr. Hood, examined by Mr. Karslake.—I am superintendent physician of Bethle-

' hem Hospital, and was formerly connected with the Colney-hatch Asylum. I had

also at one time a large private asylum. Me. Windbam called upon me on Friday
the 13th of December. He wanted to have my opinien a8 to the state of his mind.
I eonversed with him for a considerable time for the purpose of testing his mental

-capacity, and with his econsent I took notes of the comversation. I had little pre-

vions knowledge of his case. At my request he gave me an account of his early
life. He told me that he lost his father, to whom he was much attached, when he
was 14 years of age. He described his residence at Eton, stating that he was
placed in the fourth form at entrance, and that when he left he was in the fifth
jorm, hawing gained the promotion by examination. He said that after leaving
Eton he was placed entirely under the care of tutors whom he disliked, and that
congequently his life had not been ahappy one. He told me that he came of age in
Amgust last, and that he had since married. He then went on to say that his pro-
perty at Fellbrige was worth about :£3,000 a-year, and that there were other estates
worth abont £9,000 per annum which he wonld eome into possession of in 1869, I
asked him what were his tastes and pursuits, He replied that he was very fond
of all kinds of field sports—riding, driving, hunting and shooting—and that he
should like to live always in the country. I asked him whether he was in the habit
of reading. He replied that he did not read much, that he was certainly nob
studions, that he was engaged all day, and in the evening was too tired to read. He
atated that the Lewellins were kind to him when he lodged with them, but they
had turned against him, and had put in their affidavits what he called “ a pack of
lies,” 1T askad him what they charged him with. He said they charged him with
kicking np great rows in the house, and all sorts of acensations which could be dis-
proved. ¢ Perhaps,” he. said, 1 wag rather boistercus ; but what then P’ 1 asked
him whether he had not been on familiar terms with many policemen. Yes,"

-
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he replied;, “1 knew a lot of them, but I only chaffed them, and the principal
witness against me i85 a man who can be proved te be willing to awear
anything.” I asked him whether he thought his marriage was one likely
to please his family. He replied, “Perhaps not; but my mother is the
only ene that cares for me—the others would let me go to the devil if it were not
for the property. I know I have not made a good marriage, but I had an infatua-
tion for my wife. I knew she had not led a moral or respectable life, but I hoped
that being married; we would be happy together. However, the thing is done, and
there is no use in speaking of it.” He told me that they were not living together ;
that his wife had left him for other men; and that she had spent his mouey in a
most extravagant manner. He had been greatly disappointed, he said, and hoped
never to see her again ; and he added, “ When I get out of this trouble 1 shall apply
for a divorce.” I remarked that if he got a divorce I was afraid he would do the
game thing again; to which he replied, * I am not quite such a fool as that—* Once
bit twice shy.”” He said that if he could get rid of  all this botfer” he thought he
might get on very well yet, becanse he felt perfectly able and willing to manage his
affuirs. He told me that his debts might be about £19,000, but bills due by his
wife were coming in daily, and he had that very morning reeeived one for £300, of
of which he had no previons kmowledge. He said he had advertised that he
wonld pay no more of his wife's debts. I then spoke to him about the letting
of his farms. He gaid he had not taken tha home-farm. in hand, becanse he
did not wish to engage in * fancy farming,” which was an expensive amusement,
but had let it to his bailiff at a good, rent, as he did not like to have a stranger
so near the hall. I asked him whether the railway company had made any offer to
him for the passage of the railway through his property. He said they bad not,
but he was anxiouns that the railway should pass through his estate. He was afraid,
however, that the scheme would not be carried out, because the Barings, the
Buxtong, and other families were opposed to it cn the ground that it wounld interfere
with the quietnde of Cromer. He teold me that the story of Atkins abeut boot-
trees was ““all lies,” and that what he wanted was a set of trees, not for
every pair of boots, but for every kind of boots. He appeared to me fally
to understand the value and use of money. He acknowledged that hLe had
led a noisy and rather fastlife, and regretted many of his actions, more particularly
his marriaze; and he told me that he should have avoided many of his indiscretions
if he had known that his family were anxions to make him ount a lunatic. When
patting on his overcoat he said he hoped I would help to prove him sane. I replied
that from what I had seen of him I did not believe him te be insane, and that I
would have no objection to say as much for him. I told him, however, that he had
committed many bad and vicious actions, and expressed a hope that he would lead
a better life in {foture. He gaid he was munch obliged to me, and trusted I would do
what I could for him. I saw him again for a ghort time on the 31st of December,
but nothing particular passed between us on that occasion. My chief object in the
second interview was to examine the structure of his month. His apswers were
coherent, consequent, and rational throughout. I conld not say, judging from the
interviews alone, that he is otherwise than of sound mind.

 Cross-examined.— And competent to manage his own affairs, I endeavoured to
impress upon him the desirability o mg‘iéifﬁﬁ_'nﬁ“ﬁﬁiﬁﬁ'ﬂ'ﬁ'ﬂng the course of these
proceedings. He did not seem to be much impressed with what I said ; but he may
have been so. One of his solicitors—Mr. Roweliffe—brought him to me, but I saw
him alone. I had not heard anything of the goings-on at Fellbrigg on Christmas
night when I had the second interview with him. He treated my advice with
respect, but I cannot say what effect it bad upon him. I remonstrated with him
about continuing acquaintance with Roberts. He told me on the 31st of December
that he had left Piccadilly, and intended to have nothing more to do with Roberts.

. By the Jury,—I did not examine the form of hig head, nor shonld T have paid
much attention to it if [ had, = Amenfiz is an exploded term, and I bardly know
what it means, Mz, Windham is a person of sound mind. :

e T 5 S L
MIS5 BABINGTOX, LICHFIELD. -

. Miss Babington, a niece of the late Lord Macaulay,—I live at Lichfield with my
parents. In 1859 I was travelling with them abroad. W visited Spa, where we
were introduced to Colonel Bathurst and Mrs. Wilkinson. The latfer scemed to
take a great interest in Mr. Windham and called him * Wi]ﬁnm.". Her daughter
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was with her. Mr. Windbam, as far as I saw, was always perfectly gentlemanly in
every way. At the table d'hife he was rather high-gpirited, but nothing more. I
never saw anything in him which induced me to believe that he was of unseund
mind.

Cross-examined, —He was rather unpolished in his manner.

The inquiry was again adjourned.

TWENTY-FIFTH DAY.—THURSDAY, JANUARY 16.

The adjourned inquiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed to-day in the Westminster Sessions-house, before Mr.
Warren, (.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury.

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams appeared for the peti-
tioners ; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of the
alleged lunatic; Sir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward for
Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge ).C., for Mrs. Windham.

DR. WHIDBORNE, LONDON.

Dr. Whidborne, examined“by Mr. Karslake.—I am a general practitioner in
Guildford-street, Russell-square, and in 1860 was sent for to see Miss Willonghby as
a patient. She was then living in St. John’s-wood. I have met her before in the
hunting-field in Hertfordshire. About a week before her marriage I received an
intimation to the effect that she hoped I would not refuse to be one of her trustees,
as it would be greatly for the benefit of her mother and sisters. I consented to be a
trustee, as I was informed it wounld not involve much trouble. I saw her on the
morning of the marriage at the house in St. John’s-wood. Mr. Windham sent his
brougham for me. I had never seen that gentleman before. The sisters of Mrs.
Windham were there. Mrs. Windham introduced me to her intended husband. Mr.
Windham said to me, * Doctor, I wish to speak to you a minute.” We withdrew
together into another room. I examined Mr. Windham, who said he had chafed
himself with a pair of tight trousers, and I told him it was a mers trifle and pre-
seribed an application of cold eream. About ten minutes afterwards we all went to
church, and the marriage took place. I saw Mr. Windham in London when he
returned from his marriage jaunt, and was told that Mrs. Windham was very ill.
She was saffering from a disordered stomach, and I preseribed for her. Some time
afterwards I went down to Wellbrigg with Mr. Bowen May to pay a visit to Mr.
Windham. We arrived at Fellbrigz on a Saturday, about the middle of September,
and we left on the following Wedneaday. I wished to leave on the Tuesday, but
Mr. Windham requested me to stay for another day, as he expected his uncle,
the General, to lunch, and wanted to introduce me to him, The General camé on
Tuesday, and I was introduced to him. He took a glass of wine and a bisenit. I
heard a conversakion between him and his nephew abont the exchange of a piece
of land. The General stayed nearly an hour, and the conversation about the land
lasted the greater part of the time. Mr. Windham behaved all throngh the visit
like a gentleman. He was a very early riser, took a great deal of exercise, and
talked rationally and sensibly.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—I have an Edinburgh degree and a Heidelberg
one. The date of the latter is 1848. I mever knew Mrs. Windham as Miss
Willonghby. Before her marriage she ealled herself Mra. I do not think he
spoke to her in the hunting-field. The honnds belonged to a Mr. Young. I have
known Mr. Bowen May, who is my solicitor, for about twenty years. Mr. May is
golicitor to the company for protecting medical men from quacks. Tam not a mem-
ber of the company, nor have I ever assisted Mr. May in detecting malpractices
on the part of sham doctors. At first I made up my mind not to be a trustee for
Mrs. Windham, but upon being assured by Mr. May that it would not involve any
trouble or difficulty T complied with the request of the lady. I have never known
Mrs. Windham except as a patient, and before consenting to act asa trustee I made
no inquiries into her character or antecedents. I had not seen her about town.
On the morning of the marriage I was suffering from a dislocation of the ribs, and I
went to St. John's-wood much against my will —The message I received
was that Mr. Windham wanted to consnlt me professionally. On my
arrival at the honse Mrs. Windham said to me, “I am glad you are come,
Doctor, for Mr. Windham wants to see you.” She did not tell me what Mr.
Windham wanted to see me about. There were several men and women in the
room, but the only person I knew was Mr. Bowen May. I nnderatood that Mrs.
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Windham's mother was present, but I did not speak to her. I was introduced to
her brother, who was dressed respectably, though rather common in his manners.
There were several other men in the room, but 1 had never seen them before, and
did not speak to them. They were between 30 and 40 years of age, and wera
dressed well enough, but I do not think they were gentlemen. When I examined
My, Windham I observed no taint of an infectious digeage. Mr. Windham did not
tell me that he had consulted Dr. Illingworth and Mr. Johngon. He eaid, “Is
ghere any harm in this 2" and I replied, “ No, none whatever,” and then I told him
to apply a little cold cream. I think that Mr. Windham told me that he had not
suffered from an infections disease for six months. He gsaid, “Is there any objec-
tion to my being married ' and T replied, From what I have seen, none.” I waa
sot much affected when Mr. Windham consulted me that morning; the tears did
not come into my eyes, nor did 1 shake Mr. Windham by the hand and eay, ““ My
dear boy, there i3 no harm.” The interview did not last more than five minutes,
and when it was over we returned to the room where the company was. I went to
church in a brongham with the bride and one of her gisters. 1 did not observe
how the procession was marshalled. All the company went to the altar. The
bridegroom was lively—not melancholy. I acted as father of the bride and gave
her away. I was not presented with a pair of gloves, nor did I see any of the party
wearing favours. I do not kumow whether Mr. Bowen May acted as best man.

- After the ceremony I returned to the house, but did not remain for the déjeuner.

The bride was married under the name of Agnes Rogers. I had a glass of wine
and drank the health of the happy couple. Mr. Windham seemed quiet and tranquil
—resigned to his fate. Roberts was not af the marriage ; indeed 1 have never seen
that person. I believe that after the breakfast Mr. and Mrs. Windham went off to
Paris. Upon their return to London I attended Mrs. Windham three times for
derangement of the stomach. Mr. Windham told me he was very well. Mr. Bowen
May and myself went down to Fellbrigg for a little shooting. One evening after
dinner Mr. Windham was taken suddenly ill and went to bed. He appeared to be
in a high state of fever, arising from over-exertion, but I did not discover any
symptoms of a particular disease. I guestioned him on the subject, but he replied,
* Oh, I have had nothing the matter with me since I was in Torguay.” I have not
spoken to him since that visit to Fellbrigg. I have not been paid for my profes-
gional services, but I expect to be paid.

Re-examined.—After I had examined Mr. Windham on the morning of the mar-
riage, Mrs. Wmdham did not speak to me on the subject.

MR, BOWEN MAY, SOLICITOR.

Mr. Bowen May.—I have been in practice as a golicitor for more than twenty
years. In 1859 1 became acquainted with Miss Willoughby. She was introduced
to me in the hunting field as Mrs. . Bhe was in company with two
gentlemen, neither of whom was Mr. . Bhe rode remarkably well, and was a
woman of great personal attractions. The mext time I saw her was with her
Majesty’s staghounds in Buckinghamshire. She met with an accident, and I ren-
dered her what assistance I could, and saw her to an hotel. Afterwards she called
at my office in Russell-square to consult me professionally. I acted as her solicitor
on that occasion, as well as on another subsequent one. Her action was brought
ander the name of Agnes Willoughby. She told me she was living under the pro-
tection of a gentleman. In the summer of last year—at the end of July or the
beginning of August—she called on me again. She told me she was going to be

. ynarried. I said she had better remain as she was. She went away, but returned

in a few days afterwards. On that occasion she told me she had received an offer of

. marriage from a gentleman of position and fortune, and she gave me the name of

Windham. We discussed the matter a good deal, but T thought there was nothing
in it. Bubsequently she brought Mr. Windham and introduced him to me a8 the
gentleman of whom she had spoken. She said he had made her an offer, but she
had not made up her mind whether she would accept it or not. They called
again on the 1st of August,a few days before Mr. Windham came of age. The conver-
gation was of a similar character. He said they were going to be married, for she
had accepted him. I asked him how old he was, and he replied he would not be of
age for a few days. I told him it would be quite time enough to talk of being
married when he came of age. The firet time the marriage was seriously discussed
wasg on the 20th of Augnst. They told me they were going to be married ; they firat
said it would be in October, and then they said it would bein September. Before the
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20th of Angust T had seen Mr. Windham alone and had said to him * Are you really in
earnest about being married, because I think it right totell you that the lady is a
kept mistress and she is very extravagant ? She keeps two or three horses and is nsed
to hunting.” He replied, I know all that, and am much obliged to you.” At the
interview on the 26th of Augunst, when they told ine they were going to be
married, I asked Mr. Windham what his income was. He told me it would be
£14,000 or £15,000 a-year, but he said that at the present time it was only
£3,000. DMiss Willoughby then said, “If I marry him [ must have £1,000 a-year
settled.” He replied, * At present I ean’t give that, for my incoms is so little to
what it will be.” 1 told her she onght to be content with £500. She ridiculed
that. “Well,” I said, “.£600 at any rate.” That she refused, and said, © Do you
think it is likely I will give up £2,000 a-year for such a settlement ?” Eventually
Mr. Windham said, * I will give her £800 a-year now, and £1,500 when I come
into my property.” She demurred, but I said that onght to content a most selfish
person. She said, * Mind, I am to have the allowance so that I can will it away.”
1 said the ordinary mode of settlement was to give it to the wife for life. She
replied, *“ 1 am going to marry for the benefit of my sisters, and I must have it o
that I can will it to them, or do as I like with it.” T said, * What do you say to
that, Windham ? What relatives have you?' His reply was, I have got no one
that I eare about except my mother, and she is already provided for out of the
estate.” Miss Willoughby then said, “ Let us have it put down at once.” I
replied, “ There i3 no oceasion for any writing abont it,” but Windham said, * Oh,
yes, better put it in black and white, and then she will be satisfied.” I then jotted
down in their presence these lines :—Settlement to be executed between William
Windham and Aun Agnes Rogers. Mr. Windham agrees to settle on his wife
absolutely £800 per annum, to be charged on the freehold estate at Fellbrigg-hall,
Norfolk. Trostees—Dr. Whidborne, of Guildford-street, and .’ The parties

then sigued, *“ Ann Agnes Rogers” and “ W. F, Windham.” I ultimately induced-

Miss Willoughby to accept £800 a-year without any reference to the fatore. I
asked, “ Who are to be your trustees 7’ Shereplied, * I have asked my doetor, and
you must see him for his consent.” Then I said, * Windham, whom will you
name £  He said, * Well, I don't know ; I have no friends or relations whom I eare
a straw about.” T suggested his mother. He said, “No; my mother is in very
delicate health; but I will let yon know.” I said, “To whom shall I send the
Bettlement to be perused on your bghalf?” He veplied, *I have no solicitor now ;
it doesn’t require one, does it ?” I told him it was usual and proper. He =aid he
would a.gpuiur. a solicitor at the beginming of term, for he supposed all the lawyers
were out of town then, as it was the long vacation. He added, I have heard you
highly spoken of by one or two people; surely you can do it between ns ” I said,
¢ 1 shall send this rough draught down to counsel to prepare a settlement between
you" I immediately, in their presence, called in my managing clerk and told him
to send & copy of the dranght to my conveyancing eounsel, Mr. Graham Hastings.
They then left. Within aday or two afterwards I saw Miss Willonghby alone at my
office. She eaid she did not think she should be married, as she was not pre

to give up an allowance of £2,000 a-year for £5800. On the 26th of August I saw
them together. I said, “So I understand it is not to come off; I never thoughi it
would.” Windham replied, ©“ Oh, yesit is. I have made upmy mind that it shall.”
He then told me he had agreed with the lady to give her wheh he came into his
property £1,500 a-year, as she was going to give up a large allowance to
merry him. Lsaid, ** Very well, if it is to be, who are your trustees ™ He replied,
“I have no one.” T then said, *“ Why not the gentleman I was at schaol with ?”
meaning General Windhaw, who was at Dr. Valpy's school at Reading when
I was there? He replied, “He wants to get hold of my property ; we are not
friendly, and I shan'c have him.” Miss Willoughby then snid, I have asked Mr.
Roberts if he will be a trustee, provided Windham can’t get any one to act for him.™
Mr. Windham said, * I bave no objection to Roberts. 1 understand he is a wealthy
man. He drives a four-in-hand and keeps a pack of hounds.” I told him that
Roberts nsed to keep a pack of hounds, and that I believed he drove a four-in-
hand still. It was then decided that he should be associated with De. Whidborne,
and after the dranght settlement came back from Mr. Graham Hastings his name
was pub in. I gaid to Mr. Windham, I understand you have only a life int.lareaf. in
part of your property. What do you intend doing as tothat?’ He replied, ©I
intend cutting off the entail directly, and I shall get you to do it.”” That is all that

1
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assed on that occasion. - The dranght was returned on the 2Z5th of August, ready

for ungrnaamgnt..' I had seen eocunsel in the meantime, and told him of the altera-
‘tion with respect to the remt-charge, I saw Mr. Windham the same day the
draught was returned, and asked him who the second trusiee was to ba. He said
e had not been able to select one of his own, but be did not care who the trustees
were, provided they were respectable and responsible. He then aunthorised me to.
put in the name of Mr. Roberts, though he did not then know that persom, or, in
fact, did not see him till after the marriage. The draught, as altered with respect
to the rent-charge, was copied and engrossed on the 29th. I sent it to be executed
1o Miss Willonghby’s residence, in Blenheim-place, 8t. John's-wood, and my clerk
"brounght it back signed by both parties, At the request of Mr. Windham I went to.
the wedding. The day was changed, and he asked me to go because the friends
whom he had expected conld not attend on the altered day. Miss Willoughby
;ganm—ml]y came to me in a brougham with one horse. I saw Mr. Windham
in Paris, where he executed the disentailing deeds, which had been prepared
~in England. The effect of the deeds was to bar the entail to the Fellbrigg estate After
_bis return from Paris I saw him in London, and it was arranged that Dr. Whid-
borne and I should go down together to Fellbrigg-hall on a visit to Mr. Windhawm.
1 was in the room when the General and his nephew had a_conversation of & busi-
“mess nature. It related to the sale of some property. I did not know who was to’
be the buyer. I asked Mr. Windham, after the General had gone, what the property
wag worth. “ Oh!” he said, *only about £1,000;” and I nnderstood from him that
the General wanted to sell the property to him. The bargain was not concluded.
General Windham was introduced to Mrs. Windham and her sister. He did not
take lunch with the rest of us; he said he never took lunch, but he had wine and
biscuit at the fireside. After my return from Fellbrige Mr. Windbam called on me
geveral times. He always talked most sensibly, and seemed to be a person of
perfectly sound mind. I told him that a very improper application had been made
to the Court of Chancery against me. His reply was, © You will catch it, for Viee-
Chancellor Wood is a bosom friend of my uncle, the General” T said Vice-
Chancellor Wood was a perfect gentleman, and I was sure the application would be
dismissed. I was not even in court when the case came on.

~ Cross-examined by Mr. Field.—I did not hear the remarks which the Vice-
Chancellor made in dismissing the application. I had not my costs. I do not know
what Mr. Windham owes me. The sums I have paid for him are entered in my
baok as follows :—* Aungust 29, Windham, £200; September 10, Windham, £150 ;
September 26, Windham, £100; October 9, Attenborough, £135 4s.; October 19,
Windham, £200 ; October 31, Attenborough, £226 8s.” The only entry on the other
side is a payment by Mr. Windham of £200 ; in fact, on the 20th of August, we merely
‘exchanged checks to that amount. The twoe sums paid to Mr. Attenborough were to
redeem old jewellery pledged by Mrs. Windbam before her marriage. Mr. Wind-
ham was threatened with an action if the jewellery was not redeemed, and that is the
raason why I paid the money. I held the jewellery in my possession for Mr.
Windhdm. The £200 paid on the 19th of October was given to Mrs. Windham, and
was afterwards handed over by her to her husband. I should think that £50 would
Jpay my bill of costs against Mr. Windham, exclosive of £20 which I charge for going
to Paris with the disentailing deeds. . He also owes me the price which I gave for a
horse. I knew that Mr. Windham was under age, for the first time, on the 4th of”
August. I was also informed that he was a ward of Court. Dy charges before the
29th of Aumgmst arve entered in my book against DMiss Willoughby; but, of
course, in making ont my bill of costs I shall include them in Mr. Windham’s
account. I believe Mr. Windham saw the draught of the settlement, but 1 am
mot. sure,

Re-examined.—On the 20th of Augnst the stipulation was that the settlement
ghonld be £800 a-year, On the 26th it was agreed that the amocunt should he
inereased to £1,500, in 1869. Between the two dates Miss Willonghby told me that
she would not give up her allowance of £2,000 a-year for a settlement of £800. 1
am not acguainted with Chancery proceedings, and had no idea that T was guilty of
a contempt of Court in acting for Mr. Windham with respect to his marriage after
il_; c;g;ﬁ of age. Heattained his majority on the 9th of August, and was married on

8 i .

By the Jury.—I did not ask Mr. Windham what his reason was for saying that his
mncle, the General, wanted to get hold of his property. I did not object to Roberts
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as a trustee. He has an income of £5,000 a-year, and I have always found him a
man of honour and talent. The only thing against him is his bankruptcy. I never
drew such a settlement before, bat it is often done. Mr. Windham said to me, “L
have no friends or relations on earth that I care for; all my property must goto my
wife ; why, therefore, should I refuse her £1,500 a-year ?*
The inguiry was again adjourned.

TWENTY-SIXTH DAY.—FRripay, Jax, 17.

The adjourned inquiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigs-
hall, Norfolk, was resnmed in the Lords Justices’ Court, Westminster-hall, before Mr.
Warren, (.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury.

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams appeared for the
petitioners ; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of
the alleged lunatic ; Sir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, (.C., and Mr. Milward
{for Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windham.

At the sitting of the Court the Master asked Mr. Karslake when he expected to
be able to close the evidence for Mr. Windham. Mr. Karslake declined to answer
the question, because, as he alleged, he had been charged in the public journals
with having wilfnlly deceived the Court on a previous occasion. The learned
gentleman was nnderstood to refer to a statement made in the Times of the 17th inst.

Sir H. Cairns said—DBefore the business [of the day commences I wish to enter a
protest against the decision of the Master to examine Mr. Windham in private. I
base my protest upon two grounds—first, the ground of expediency ; and, secondly,
the ground of jurisdiction. Certain statements to the effect that the conversation
of Mr. Windham was childish and inconsequential, and that his manners were not
consistent with soundness of mind, had been made in open court, and Mr.
Windham desired that he shonld be permitted to rebut those statements, so far as
they counld be rebutted in the course of an examination, in‘the face of the public.
On the guestion of jurisdiction a most important rule was laid down by Lord Eldon
in the Portsmouth case. When excluding the public from the examinationin that case,
Lord Eldon was reported by Sir G. Cowper to have said that the act was the act of the
parties, and not the act of the judge. Moreover, it was well known that the Divorce
Court, in which extremely painful disclosures were frequently made, had not the
power of sitting in private, and that a year or two ago Parliament actually refused,
when an application was made to it for the purpose, to grant such a power to that
tribunal. I am aware that alleged lunatics have sometimes been examined in
private, but those private examinations have taken place only with the implied or
expressed consent of the parties, or when an examination in open court was physi-
cally impossible. Of course, at whatever time or place the Master may appoint for
the examination of Mr. Windham, that gentleman, as in duty bound, will attend with
his advisers. If the public ghould then be excluded, Mr. Windham must bow to the
decision of the Court, but it would be understood that he did so under protest.

Mr. Field stated that the advisers of the petitioners were quite conteut to leave the
matter in the hands of the master,

The Master, after remarking that whatever fell from Sir H. Cairns was entitled to
the utmost consideration and respect, snid—I am placed in a peculiar and responsible
position, charged with the conduct of proceedings in many respects of an anomalous
character ; in some respects, indeed, gomewhat abnormal. Having regard to many cir-
cumstances into which I will not now enter, I beg to say that 1 have heard lmt-hin%' '
from Sir H. Cairns which can induce me to alter the determination at which
have already arrived, for I have no hesitation in stating thatif I were to accede to,
the proposal now made on behalf of Mr. Windham, for a public examination of a.
kind very different from any which took place in the Divorce Court—an examination |
necessarily involving topics of an extremely painful and indelicate nature—it.
would simply have the effect of rendering me incapable of discharging my duties|
judicially, and in point of fact there would be no examination at all, but a mere;
abortive and unseemly exhibition. Of course, counsel will be present at the:
examination of Mr. Windham, and there will also be a shorthand writer for the:
protection of all parties; but I think that the jury and myself may lawfully have a»
a second interview with the alleged lunatic alone, thongh I trust there will be nas
necessity for it.

MRE. MARTIN, LATE BAILIFF AT FELLBRIGG HALL.
Mr, Martin, examined by Mr. Karslake.—1I was, until lately, bailiff at Fellbrigg,
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‘and have long been connected with the Windham family. Old Mr. Windham held
the home-farm in his own hands until his death. After that event I continued to
‘live in the hall, but in 1858 the home-farm was let to me. 1t is about G610 acres in
-exient, and nutil young Mr. Windham came of age I paid the rent to the receiver,
Captain Henry Windham. Old Mr. Windham was a very passionate man, but his
‘passion was soon over, His treatment of his son was very irregular and capricions
—_sometimes he was indulgent and sometimes severe. L was present at his
fnneral. Young Mr. Windham wept bitterly, and seemed very much affected. 1
noticed nothing improper or extravagant in his conduct. I saw him from time fo
‘time during his residence at Eton. While Lady Sophia was in Torqguay, he was
with a tutor at Rimpton. I went there at the request of his mother, and was with
him for fonr honrs. From Rimpton I returned to Fellbrigg. I discussed the ordi-
nary topics with him on that occasion, but I do not remember the conversation.
He treated me with great kindness. After that I saw little of him till he came
down to Fellbrigg with Mr. Horrocks. He stayed four or five months. Mrs. Martin
‘and I used to play cards of an evening with Mr. Windham and BMr. Horrocks. 1
‘thonght Mr. Windham played whist very well. I next saw him when he came over
from Yarmouth, at the time he was in the militia. That was in 1860. My wife
‘and T went to Yarmouth, by invitation, to see a review of the militia. I saw Mi.
Windham with his regiment, and, as far as I could judge, he conducted
himself properly. He ecarried the colours as emsign. I lunched with
him after the review, and in the evening I went with him to
‘the theatre, where he joined his brother officers. When I next saw him he was
<with Mr. Peatfield. They came down to Fellbrigg together in September, 1560,
and stayed till February, 1861. During that time Mr. Windham rede about a good
deal. I drove Mr. Peatfield to Aylsham when he went to inquire about the fight
with the showman, and heard him tell Mr. Windham that he must go up to London.
Ar. Windham called him a “slink,” and said he wounld not leave Fellbrigg; but I
‘advized him to go to London, and he eventually consented. One of his eyes was
.discoloured. The next time I saw him was in town. I came to London, by in-
vitation from him, in the second week in July. Istayed in Duke-street for about a

week. I didnot see a great deal of Mr. Windham. On one oceasion I went with
him to Richmond, and I saw him at Cremorne. I also accompanied him to the
Crystal Palace, and on the same day we went to the Wimbledon wolunteer
review. Mr. Windbam ecreated no disturbance at Wimbledon. He spoke to a

policeman in the gateway, but there was no row or anything of the kind, nor did
ne use offensive language while ladies were passing in their carriages. He got upon
the gateway, but that was to see a charge of the volunteers. Ile drove me back to
town. Mr. Peatfield was living with him at that time in Doke.street. I frequently
‘Innched with him and the Lewellins, Mr. Peatfield,and Mr. Partridge. There was plenty
‘of wine on these oceasions—generally champagne. During my stay in town Mr. Wind-
ham called my attention to what he termed capital articles and letters in the Times
 about the ¢ pretty horsebreakers.” I do not remember whether I read the lettera
_of * A Mother of Seven Daunghters” and “ A Belgravian Mother,” nor do I recollect
whether he called my attention to a communication in which the writer recom-

mended an establishment in * the shady groves of the Evangelist.” He said, *1L

wonld rather marry a °pretty horsebreaker’ than T would a lady.” It is very
likely I remonstrated with him on the subject, but I can’t say. After I returned

to Fellbrigz he came down several times. He bronght down a porbrait, and told

me it was Agnes Willoughby's. He took down the General's portrait, and hung up

_Agmnes Willonghby’s in its place. I advised him not to do so. I remember him
coming dowr just before he attained his majority. Mr. Jackson and Mr. Hansell
came to Fellbrizg when he was there. General and Captain Windham came over
on the Sth of Angust. I was not present at any part of the conversation which took
place between Mr. Jackson and Mr. Windham. On the morning he came of age Mr.
Windham told me that Mr. Jackson had made a proposition to him that he should
give up the then settled property and live in the hall, paying a nominal rent for it,
and that he should have a larger income ocut of the mnsettled property. He asked
my opinion about it. I told him that I thonght, if he did not wnderstand the
matter, he had better well consider what he was doing. He admitted that he
did not understand it, and he said it was not proposed by the General, but
by Mr. Jackson. My advice to him was, not to reject it, but to pause

before accepting. Lady Sopbia was at the hall during the visit, but she
L2 .
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was an invalid. T think she left the day Mr. Windham came of age.
Thers was no fefe or anything of that sort on the occasion. The day Mr.
Windham came of age thers was a regatta at Cromer. I saw him there in
the company of Lady Suffield. I heard him say one day he would marry
Agnes Willonghby. I did not think he wgs so much of a fool as to do
anything of the kind, and told him so. Shortly before the marriage Mra, Martin
and I were sent up to London by General Windham, who was then living at Hax-
worth, and who wished us to do what we could to stop the marriage. We saw Mr.
Windham in Dulke-street, and tried to persuade him not to marry Agnes Willoughby,
I told him that if he were to do so his uncle, the General, would get a commission
of lunacy against him. Something about that had been said at Hanworth, buf
1 do not remember what it was, and I made the statement to him, because I thought
it wonld have an effect upon him. He denied stoutly that he was going to be
married, and said there was no truth in the report. He said, '* Who the devil sent
the General such a message ag that? Besides, if I think proper to marry Agnes
Willonghby, who has any business with it #” He then mentioned the names of two
noblemen who had married women of similar character. It was then I told him
that the General wonld get a commission of lunacy against him. In reply to that
he said, he wonld call the General out, or something of that kind. He promised to
o down with us to Fellbrigg, but he did not keep his promise, and the next thing I
heard of him was that he was married. I was still living in the hall when he came
down with his wife and her sisters. He spoke to me about his wife. I met him in
the park, aud he said, “Well, Martin, my wifa seems to think that she is no great
favourite of yours.,” I replied, “ [ am not surprised at that from the courss I have
taken” He said, *“ I can assure yon she is a perfect lady, and I can
bring witnesses to prove it”” 1 replied, * Nothing could give me greater
pleasure than to hear it proved that she is.” [ was very much annoyed at the
marriage, and gave notice to quit. My wife and I then removed to the dairy-house,
and I remember speaking to Mr. Windham about repairs. After inspecting the house,
alongwith acarpenterandabricklayer, heordered that it should bethoroughly repaired,
saying to me, “ Well, ald fellow, you must pay half the labonr.” That is the custom on
the estate, but I told him I would not go to any expense myself. I said that if he
would grant me a lease for twelve years I should pay four per cent. on the outlay. He
consented, and upon these terms the vargain was completed. During our connection
he has been in the habit of writing to me from time to time. He has always treated
me with great kindness. I now produce some of the letters which I received from
him :—

¥ Guernsey, April 10, 1861.

“ D¢ ar Martin,—Nothing will give me greater pleasure than to let your brother-
in-law have Melton's farm, unless he would like to have Daniell's, which Symonds
has had notice to quit. I am perfectly satisfied that he will suit me, since the
recommendation comes from you ; and it makes me only too pleased to be able to do
anything for a man who done so much, not only for my poor father but also for
me, I should like you just to let me know what state Brown's and Melton's farms
are in, if you have an opportunity. I must now say adien; and, with love to
Jeffy, and hoping you are quite well, beliave me, i

“ Yours truly,  W. F. Wixpuax,

¢ P. 8.—Direct to me, ® Fost-office, Guernsey.' ”

“ Guernsey, April 17, 1861.

% My dear Martin,—I have considered your letter, and what you say i3 very
just. However, Melton you know last year took into hia head to abscond, and
Jeave his wife, and go to some fair, and there stay neglecting his farm. When I
heard of it 1 said nothing at the time, but I thought that, after that, it was time
for him to quit. However, I will think over the matter, and see abouf it, and
let you know in a day or two. Would Park's house be two big with the farm
for your brother or not, as, if it would not, you can tell Mr. Park that if he likes
Daniell’s farm he may have it. But do yon think he wounld like to move or not,
perhaps beat not, therefore let the matter stand for the present. I must now say
adieu, and with love to Jeffy, belisve me, =

* Yours truly, W. I', Winpua.

,,Where ig Lines at work ?"
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“ Gnernsey, April 29, 1861.

“My dear Martin,—Yon may tell your brother-in-law that he may consider
Melton’s farm his next Michaelmas; so that affair is settled. I have thought
it over, and now come to a conclusion. Do you know of anybody who is in want
of a farm ? I should like to know, as I want to let Daniell's farm. Is it troe
svhat I heard from Captain Windham, that Symonds, after having notice to quit,
48 quite furnishing a room for hig eon in the farm, becanse, if so, that is just triling,
as I do not intend him to have any one there as his tenant, hut the person who is
to be there must be my tenant, and go you have my leave to tell him, if anything
ig eaid about the matter. With love to Jeffy, and hoping you are well, believe me,

“ Yours very truly, W. F. Winpuam.”
“ Paris, September 4, 1861.

*Dear Martin,—We shall be down with you on Tnesday next. Yates will be
down on Monday, and will bring further orders. I want two rooms—one for my
wife and gelf, one for her maid, and cne for her sister. Get the piano tuned; get
a man from Norwich. Good bye ; love to Jeffy. * Ever yours truly,

“W. F. Winpma.

“Have the east bedroom and dressing-room for my wife and the thoroughfare
room for her maid.”

Until Mr. Windham came of age the estate was entirely under the control of the
trustees. He has no great taste for farming, but he has been round the estate
with me geveral times, and on those occasions he has always talked rationally and
sensibly. In my judgment he is a man of perfectly sound mind.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Mr. Windham and I are still very friendly.
The last time I saw him was on Saturday evening. He was driving a four-in-hand
near Fellbrigg, and I did not speak to him. There were several people with him.
I had been at Fellbrigg all the day, and Mr. Windham had been away. He was
returning when 1 saw him. I do not know when Mr. Windham was last in town.
I was kind to him when he was a child, and he has always talked to me with
perfect familiarity and confidence. I have fancied sometimes that he told me
falsehoods ; I do not say many, but some. I do not remember ever saying to him,
“ Why, Mr. Windham, that is not true.” He has never complimented me Ly saying,
“You're aliar.” I should fancy his mind is a little below the average. I should
not call him an extraordinary clever man. Many of the letters which I have pro-
duced were written in answer to some which I had sent him. He corresponded at
the same time with Captain Windham, but the lauguage of his letters to me could
not by any possibility have been copied from those of Captain Windham to him,
When Isaw him at Rimpton he did not tell me anything abont his being in love
with a young lady there. I donot think he was in love then, for he spoke rather dis-
respectfully of Mr. Andrews, who, he said, was a gentleman who thonght a great
deal of himself. I do not remember whether he had a dirty appearance or not. I have
seen his face dirty, but I do not know whether it was done by his rubbing the saliva
over his face with his hand. He shouted a good deal, like his father, but I never
noticed that peculiarity in his voice of which so much has been said. He used to
call oat frequently in the house, but that is a very common ocenrrence in Fellbrigg-
hall. He is a very good imitator of a cat, but I never heardfhim trying
to imitate any other animal. 1 mnever heard him catawauling to amuse
the servants. I generally saw him when a boy in the housekeeper's room,
and when he came there he always behaved like a gentleman. I think I have seen
him in the livery which his father had made for him, but I am not sure. I cer-
tainly never eaw him in that dress outside the house. I have seenhim outside the hall
in a goldier’s dress, but never beyond the park. He wept bitterly at his father's
funeral. I cannot say whether he stared round the church. I did not see what he
was doing before the funeral left the house, nor did I see what he did after he
returned from church. I never accompanied him tn the Haymarket. 1 saw no
policeman interfere with himn at the Wimbledon Review. He was perfectly quiet,
and did nothing to excite the attention of anybody. Some of the policemen had
beer with him. A policeman accompanied Mr, Windbam and myself to the car-
riage, but be did so, I suppose, for his own pleasure. Mr. Windham seemed to be
pretty familiar with the police. He did not tell me that his ohject was to learn his
duties a8 a connty magistrate. I think he liked his old tenants; at least I never
heard him say anything to the contrary. I have told him sometimes that he should
not drive so fast, but I never had any complaints on the subject. T never said to
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him that some day he would be dragged ont of the dogeart for driving so fast. I
did tell him that if he persisted in calling out to people in a gruff voice to clear the-
road he would some day be pulled out of his dogeart and get a good drubbing. I
am not aware that he was in the habit of driving through droves of cattle and
sheep. He told me that he had a capital offer for his timber from Roberts. I
advised him not to sell it. He said he was to get £20,000 in four or five years. 1
thought the bargain was a foolish one to make, because, in my opinion, £20,000 of
timber conld not be eut down without injuring the appearance of the estate. After
that conversation he never mentioned the subject o me again. I saw Roberis at
Fellbrigg about that time. ;

Be-examined,—The first time I saw Mr. Windham in London was inJuly. Gen.
Windham told me that his nephew was in the habit of consorting with policemen.
I never heard Mr. Windham halloa except for a purpose.

By the jury.—If he had consulted me about the timber contract I should have
advised him not to sign it. 1 refused to go to the Christmas entertainment at the
hall beeause I did not approve it. -

By the Master.—Mr. Windham did not like to have a tutor with him at Fellbrige.
I did not altogether approve Mr. Horrock's treatment of his pupil. There are many
men on t he Norwich-road who drive az fast as Mr. Windham. I think Mr. Windham
is a very temperate drinker.

MR, T. M. GIUBILEL

Mr. Ginhilei, examined by Mr. Milward, said—On the 10th of May, 1858, 1
married Lady Sophia Windham. 1 first became acquainted with her in Torquay.
I first saw young Mr. Windham in April, 1858, and was with him a good deal. His
mother was very indulgent with him, and had a great deal of control over him. He
was more easily moved by kindness than by force. 1 have seen him resist force on
many occasions. 1 have often drivem out with him, and Mr. Windham always
conducted himself very well. I saw him twice before Vice-Chancellor Wood. On
both oceazions he made some remarks to the Vice-Chancellor, and took part in the
proceedings. During his residence in Duke-street last year, he frequently visited
his mother at Sidmouth-lodge, Brompton, and drove her out. He dined there very
often. On one oeceasion he invited his mother and myself to dine with him in
Duke-street; but he afterwards sent usa letter to say that he was obliged togo
down to Norwich on pressing business, and that he wished us to put the dinner
off till the following week. We never dined at his lodgings. He accompanied
Lady Sophia and I on a shorb visit to the Continent, and he spoke French pretty
well. I have had many conversations about Mr. Windham with General Windham,
and also with Mr. Hook. Mr. Windham is a person of sound mind.

Mr. Milward.—What did General Windham and Mr. Hook say to you about Mr.
Windham ?

Mr. Chambers objected to the question, as conversation which took place behind
the back of Mr. Windham was not evidence in this case.

The Master.—I have already decided this matter over and over again. We are
not lhiere to inquire into the conduct of General Windham and Mr. Hook. If these
collateral issues are to be continually raised, the inguniry may not terminate for
twelve months.

Mr. Karslake.—We have no wish to raise collateral issues, and allow to me to say
that we do not adduce any evidence which we believe to be nnimportant.

The Master.—It was far from my intention to offend Mr. Karslake, but I say

.. again, the question cannot be put.

Witness resumed.—He had received several letters from Mr. Windham. He

also produced many letters written by him to his mother. The transactions j

referred toin them were real.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—I think Mr. Windham is of gonnd mind. I
do not recollect saying that he is a young man of very weak intellect. I do moi
believe he is so.

Mr. Chambers.—Are yon aware that at one time Lady Sophia proposed to join
in this petition ¢

Witness.—No. General Windham offered Tiady Sophia and myself two bribes to—

Mr. Chambers.—Take care, Mr. Giubilei, or I will produce your own paper.

Mr. Karslake. — Let us bave no threats, please; the witness must not be
intimidated.

1l

£
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Mr. Chambera.—I ask you again, Mr. Giubilei, do you know that Lady Sophia
proposed to concur in the petition
Mr. Karalake objected to the question as irregular.
"Mr. Chambers.—Then, I ask the witness whether he was made acguainted
with the fact that Lady Sophia’s solicitor offered in her behalf to coneur in the
etition ? :
F Witness.—I was not. I am upon good terms, of course, with Lady Sophia. Mr.
Chappel was and is her solicitor. I saw him last about a week ago at his office.
At that time Ihad not given to Mr, Windham's solicitor any statement of my evidence.
I made a statement to them for the first time three or four days ago. They did
not come to me; I saw them in the Sessions-house, where I had gone becausa 1
felt interested in the case. : ;
Mr. Chambers—Do you know that Lady Sophia made an affidavit in the Court of
C P .

. Mr. Karslake.—I objeet to the gnestion.

Mr. Chambers.—Do you know Mr. Giunbilei, or do you not ?

3Mr. Karslake.—I say I object to that question.

Mr. Chambers.—Do you know Mr. Giubilei, or do you not ¢

Mr. Karslake.—I must say that when I have formally objected to the guestion it is
neither fair nor courteous to go on repeating it, and at the same time to throw a
trinmphant glance at the jury.

The Master.—I think the question is a very doubtful one, and it had better not be
pressed, or we shall never get through the case.

Witness resumed.—I was in Duke-street: twice about the end of May. I do not
recollect whether I saw Mr, Windham in July, but I did not see him in August. He
ceased to call and dine at Sidmouth-lodge at the beginning of July. I did not
inguire after him in Duke-street, but Lady Sophia wrote to him. 1 saw him with Miss
Willonghby in June last at the Lyceam. I had no suspicions of a marriage,
but I told him his income was not sufficient to justify him in keeping company
with soch a person. 1 had been informed that she was extremely extravagant, and
told him so. I think he knew himself that she was living with another gentleman
at the time, I had not heard anything else against her, and I did not say any-
thing else to Mr. Windham. I spoke to him again about Miss Willoughby at the
Hampton Races. 1 told him to take care—that was all. He made no amswer. 1
think he is equal in intellect to the generality of young men of his age. He is
rather boisterons and excitable. I have heard him abuse people sometimes in
dirty langnage. fe has never been in a passion with me.

By Mr: Russell.—Lady Sophia does not concur in these proceedings; on the
contrary, she disapproved them.

Re-examined.—I have never seen him get into a passion without canse. When he
gets into a passion he lets you know it, but it does not last long.

By the Jury.—When Mr. Windham ecame to dine at Sidmouth-lodge in May and
June he never appeared the worse for drink, as if he had taken too much wine at
lanch.

The inguiry was the nadjourned till Monday, when it was resumedin the West-
minster Sessions-house.

TWENTY.-SEVENTH DAY.—Moxpay, Jas. 20,

The adjourned inguiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed this day in the Westminster Sessions-hounse, before Mr.
Warren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury.

Mr, M. Chambers, .C., Mr, Field, and Mr. Hume Willinms appeared. for the
petitioners ; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giabilei, the mother of
the alleged lunatic; Sir Hogh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Kavslake, Q.C., and Mr, Milward
for Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windbham.

The Master wished it to be understood that the ground of his decision in favour
of a private examination of Mr. Windham was that he believed a public examination
would tend to defeat the ends of justice. He added that, in the Armstrong case, the
late Lord Camphbell refused to allow counsel to be present at the examination of the
alleged lunatie.

A juror stated, as a fact within his own knowledge, that in the Armstreng case
i.-lnrd Campbell permitted the jury to have am interview with the alleged lonatic

one.
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Mr. Chambers gaid there could be no doubt the jury had a perfect right to say
that they would have an interview with the alleged lunatic either alome or in the
presence of the Master.

Mr. Milward put in an afidavit made by Mr. Windham on the 2nd of Juae, 1860,
in connection with a Chancery suit then in progress.

THE REV. MR. DEVERE.

The Rev. Mr. Devere, examined by Mr. Milward, said : Mr, Windham was intro-
duced to me in Angust, 1858, and it was arranged that I should travel with that
gentleman for a short time. We went first into North Wales, then visited the Lake
district, and afterwards proceeded to Scotland, returning homewards through
Durham and York. I was with Mr. Windham about five weeks altogether. At
. Fellbrigg we had some shooting, both carrying guns. During the tour we mixed a

good deal with other travellers. Mr. Windham behaved on the whole sensibly, and
I believe him to be of sound mind. His manner on some occasions was boisterous
and rather blustering, but there was nothing else objectionable in his demeanour. I
had a little trouble with him twice, but not mueh.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—What I meant by a person of sound mind
was, one who could see the bearings and consequences of hig actions. Mr. Windbam
did not seem to uuderstand the consequences of his boisterous and blustering
manner until I explained them to him. He did net appear to have had them
explained to him intelligibly before. I certainly made an impression upon him at
the time, By boisterousness, I mean that Mr. Windham was rather more noisy
than other people, but I never had any complaints on the subject, or saw any one
offended. Mr. Windham talked in a boastful way, and generally to people ina
lower station than himself—waiters and ostlers abont hotels. Towards the end of
onr intercourse I observed that he took greater interest in the society of his equals
His capacity was not below par, and 1 believe that his apparent intellectual
deficiency was owing to want of eduecation.

By the Jury.—I think it likely that tke present proceedings would have a great
and good effect upon Mr. Windham. His continuing to frequent the society of bad
and immoral people shows that he has not yet acquired a full sense of his
positisn, but ultimately the trial he is now undergoing will work its effect npon him.

Mr. Milward then read the letters from Mr. Windham to his mother, which were
produced by Mr. Giubilei on Friday. The following are fair samples of the corres-
pondence, which it is impossible to give in extenso.

. ‘ Bton, Sunday.

“My dear Mama,—I hope you are quite well. T have got a bad cold. I am
8o stupid, you know. The last night Mr. Cheales went out to dinner, and told me
net to leave the room, as I was staying out; but I stupidly went to another boy’s
room ; but really it is because I get so tired of being in one room all day. He
says that he will punish me, which I know I deserve; but yet he says that the
way he ghall do it will be to keep me back for two days, or something like that,
which I don’t like. Now, if I vever am allowed to mix with other boys, I might
just as well not be at Eton. I am thought a stingy, sulky fellow if I don’t, and
therefore I did not see any harm in just going to another boy’s room for a little
Wh'!'ﬂ-. Why is it that I am not allowed to git in another room with my com-
panions ? Other private tutors don’t prevent their pupils, why should I be pre-
?Fnte:'l? MF‘ Cheales asked me why I did go. Ttold him for nothing racticular.
No more 1 did; I went to talk to the boy for a little, just for a change, not to make
4 row. ‘Thﬂ Captain was there, and we were all quiet, and talking together about
the holidays, &e. Now mind, I am perfectly in good temper, and am not in a
passion when I write this. If other boys disobey their tutors like this, they get 50
or 100 lines to write, not to stay for two days after the time, nor are they flogged
unless they don’t do the punishment. I hope you will consider this, becanse I am
at Eton, and ﬂl:l_ght- to be treated by the rules if I have done wrong. Then let Mr.
Cheales complain of me to Dr. Goodford; he purishes others for disobeying their
tutors if they don't do the punishment their tutors set them; but why am 1 to be
beaten like a dog hecayaa I ro to another ]Jﬂjl"‘ﬂ room, or ]-:EP[;. away from home two
days? You allowed him to do anything he pleases, and never object; at least, T
never have heard you. Other boys play about, but why am I kept like a prisoner ?
—for I might just as well be in a prison, for it is just like it, being ghut up in this
room all day, and if I go out of it to be punished as if I had told a lie or been
impertinent. He goes out all day and leaves me alone. Well, I get quite
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mieerable if I see nobody at all; as I say, I might just ag well be in prison. Good
bye, dear mama. ,
“ Believe me your affectionate son,

“W. F. Wixpraa”

“ My dear Mama,—The real truth is, I was tempted to go up to London again
after the lost coat, which I got, but I was only there five minutes, as the train got in
at 7.30 and left at 7.35—that is the real truth—I was sorry afterwards for what I
did—1I really was; but [ think the reason I did it was that when I got to Eton I left
my luggage at the station, and walked up with the note to Freddy, and when I got
back I did not like to join eo early, eo I thought Iwould try and get my coat, which
Idid. My dear mama, I am very ill ; I have had——, and a very near attack, in fact,
a slight one as it is, of the —. '

“] may not leave my room. Mr., Soley says I must really take care of myself,
and not get cold in my chest. I hope you will pass over this offence. 1 really have
told the ¢ whole truth and nothing but the truth.” I did a very foolish thing, and
I believe I have been punished by this attack of illness, from which I bhave not yet
recovered ; so, dear mama, I hope you will pass it over this time, as I am leaving
Eton and getting older. I trust by God’s help to do better for the future ; therefore,
dear mama, I trust you will pardon me for this fault this time, because I really see
in what a wicked way I have been going on for the fortnight I was in town. I have
done my best to keep straight here, and I hope and trust, by God’s help, to meet you
on Monday next with a cheerful heart and conscience, and to behave for the future as
& dutiful son should—a comfort to his mother.

¥ Believe me, yours very affectionately,
“W. F. Wixpuan."”
¢ Saturday.

“ My dearest Mama,—While you are in town I wish you wonld mention to the
Vice-Chancellor that I quite agree with you that uncle Henry Windham is not at all
a proper person for a receiver, I always told Mr. Lucag and Mr. Boyle that m
wish was that uncle Hook should be receiver, and I told my uncle Hook so myself.
When I wrote a little time ago to Sir W. Forster to wish for uncle Henry, I did so
in a passion. You know I told you how very drunk uncle Henry was at Betsy
Bounece's and eleewhere, and what a ridiculous row he made, rolling about, swearing,
and bellowing like a mad bull; so, of course, I cannot seriously think him a fit
pergon, besides his blindness, and it would not, I know, be at all pleasant to the
tenants, who almost .all wish him far away; besides, I know what poor papa felt
about him. 8o, dear mama, say whatI tell you to, and believe me,

“ Your aﬁ”ectioqata Bon,
“W. F. Wixpuay,”
“Baturday, June 25.

“ Dearest Mama,—We leave here on Monday for Spa, and leave it on Thursday
for Cologne, and on Friday for Coblentz. If you write before Friday I shall get the
letters at Coblentz, and, if after, write to Frankfort-on-the Maine. Old Bathurst
saye if you come out and I get travelling with you that he shall go back home;
mind yon come g0 as to join me on the 9th of August, my birthday. Cannot you
get Wood's leave through Sharpe to join me, and travel for a little with us? We
are going to Dresden soon for a month or three weeks to stay. The Cary’s are still
here; I am now going to see them. Give my love to Theodore, and tell him to
come ont as soon as he can, and then we can have a lark. I never found it so stupid
as [ do now; one cannot read here asif one was at home—it is impossible for
me to do so. I wish they were all at the Devil. Good-bye, dear mama; send me
my studs, and believe me, “Your affectionate son, € GLA

* Can you get me a nice set of waistcoat buttons P—six I want.”

The following letter is supposed to have been addressed to Vice-Chancellor Wood
in 1860 :—

* Bidmounth-lodge, Friday, 17th.

“ My dear Sir,—I am perfectly ready to go where you like in England, but I do
not wish to be any longer with Mr. Horrocks. I ehould wish to come and state
my reasons to you on SBaturday next. I have not received any letter from you aa
yet, and therefore I await your answer at my mother's house. I do not wish to be
guilty of any contempt of Court, but I refuse to go with Mr. Horrocks, as he stated,
besides other things, that he wounld leave me directly if it were not for my money.

“ ] am, dear sir, yours obediently, “W. F. Winpmay.”
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; ¢ Fellbrige-hall, Norwich, Oct. 1860,

# Dearest Mama,—Will you please send me all my things that belong to me at
Sidmonth-lodge ? There is a pouch and belt; also a pair of boots of mine, which
1 want. The weather here is wretched, and most awfully cold. Henry has nearly
killed himself, having been pitched out of his gig while driving about. The Norwich
ball is on Wednesday next, so I want my belt by Wednesday morning next. I1hope

on are better now. Uncle Hook has been very kind to me indeed, and behaves
ike an nncle to me and a friend ; he treats me like a man, and not like a baby,
which Lord Alfred did. i
¢ T musk now say adien, and believe me your affectionate son,
: “W. F. Winpuam,
% There is no game, or else I would send you some.” )
3, Hope-street, Edinburgh, July 2.

¢ Pear Mama,—I hope you are better than you were. The weather here has at
last turned ont fine. I read every morning with Mr. Peatfield for two hours or so,
and then enjoy the rest of the day ont. I find I get on betfer with him than any
other man L ever met with ag tutor; he really ia like a companion to me, which
none of the others ever were. Weshall be here another week, and then commence
our tour mpwards to the North, and so work down. te Norfolk about the
middle of September, when I expect we shall have tolerably good shooting this.
year. 1 must now say adien, with love to Johnson, and believe me

¢ Ever your affectionate son,
#W. . Wispran.™

DR. SUTHERLAND.

Dr. Sutherland, examined by Mr. Milward.—I have devoted my aitention to
cases of insanity for twenty-two years, and bave written varions works on diseases
of the brain, On November 6th, 1861, I was applied to by Dr. Neale to examine
Ar. Windham. I examined Mr. Windham on the 12th of the same month. The
interview took place in my honse in Richmond-terrace, Whitehall. I conversed
with Mr. Windham the whole time. He told me that he came of age in August
Tast, and that he married Agnes Willonghby on the 30th of the same month. He
ctated that General Windham wished to make out that he was insane because he
married her. The General did not wish him to marry, as he was next heir to the
estate, and had broken off an engagement with a young lady of Norwich to whom
he was much attached. If tae General had allowed him to marry her this would
not bhave happened, He stated the amount of his property to be £3,000 a-year, ount
of which he had to give his mother £1,500 a-year. He told me that he had settled
£800 a-year on his wife, and £1,500 a-year when he succeeded to the Hanworth
estates in 1869, I asked him why he was not to succeed before that year, and he
replied that there was a mortgage on the estate, which wouold not be paid off till
1869, and that his father borrowed the money from Mr. Gurney. He told me that
he had givenhis wife £8,000 worth of jewellery and £6,000 afterwards because he
communicated to her a particular disease. I asked him how he came to do that.
He replied that he had consulted a surgeon, Dr. Whidberoe, who told him he was
gafe and might marry. He told me that he had charged his estate with abount
£1,500 to pay the annuity. I asked him whether there was auy other reason for
his uncle thinking that he was insane. He told me that he was considered to
be insane becanse he had been in the habit of driving engines on the railway,
becanse it had been stated that he was eruel to his animals, having shot one of hia
horses ; and because he threatened to sboot himself. He admitted that he had.
driven engines on the railway. He denied that he had shot his horse, but said that
his keeper shot it on account of an injury received from an accident. He stated.
that he had never any intention of shooting himself, but that he only threatened to
do 8o to frighten his wife. I made another examination of Mr. Windham on the
13th of November. He then told me that he had been in the middle fifth at Eton,
where he did the first book of Euclid, and read the sixth book of Homer, the neid
of Virgil, and the Odes of Horace. Ie repeated that which he had previously said
abont his income. T asked him whether he had not sold his timber below its value,
He replied “that it was uncertain what the valne of the timber was at Fellbrigg,,
as it was twenty-two miles from the railway, and that he borrowed money from.
Messrs. Lawrence and Fry to escape getting into the hands of the Jews, against
which his father had always warned him.” 1 asked him whether he kepb his
accounts. He stated ®that he went over the accounts with his agents, that he
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drew his own checks, and always made them payable to order, as that was as goed
as any receipt.” I saw him again on the following day. He brought his groom and
footman to give me evidence respecting the charge of shooting a horse and attempt-
ing to shoot himself. I examined them separately, and they corroborated his
gtatement to me in the first interview. I have seen Mr. Windham gince, but have
not examined him. I have heard all the evidence which has been given in court.
I think Mr. Windham is of sound mind. There are no symptoms of congenital
imbecility or of idiocy. -

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—There is a difference between imbecility and
idiocy. In idioey there is a want of development of the mental and moral powers; in
imbecility there is only a partial development. Drawing the line between soundness
and unsonndness of mind in cases of imbecility is one of the most diffioult questiona
of medical science. I do not concur in the following passage from Dr. Copland's
work :—

« Deficiency of intellect appears in every grade and form until it amounts to
complete idiocy. ‘The slighter degrees of deficiency are manifested chiefly by weal-
ness of character and capacity, or by stupidity, or deficiency of the powers of per-
eeption or of the understanding. These grades of defect are generally not suflicient
to render an individual incompetent to the management of his affairs or to conduct
himself with propriety, and are hencenot considered sufficient to constitute unsound-
ness of mind in its legal acceptation. But as the original defect may present every
grade, from the slightest of those just mentioned to complete idiocy, it is difficult to
draw any line of demareation between what may be considered soundness or nnsound-
ness of mind. This line must still remain unfixed or be ouly conventional, for no
tandard or eriterion can possibly be established.”
5In cases of imbeecility I always go by practical tests, ard in my opinion an imbecile
®hould be incoberent in his language and inattentive to the calls of nature. As to
Imbeciles and idiots, I concur with Dr. Copland in the following passage :—

“ From what has been already stated it is obvious that all the grades and forms
of original imbecility cannot be described within moderate limits. Nor is a minute
description at all requisite. The works of Georget and Esquirel will fornish it,
and numerous illostrations of it. I may, however, briefly observe that imbecile
persons have a limited capacity for certain actions or employments, and acquire
some degree of facility in performing them. These they generally execute in a
tolerable manner, while they are quite incapable of any other modes of exertion or
occupation. Habit has a great fhfluence on all their proceedings, and gives to
many of them an appearance of regularity which may be mistaken for the result of
steadiness and of higher powers. All are, however, deficiont in the powers of
attention and of thought. They are generally timorous, often docile, weak, and
inconstant in purpose, and frequently iraseible. The senser of some give rise to
feeble and dunll impressions; of others to more lively perceptions. Memory is
strong in some, while in others it is weak and confused in its most ordinary
object and frequently repeated idea, or it bardly exists. They display some indica-
tions of mind, of intellectual faculties, and of feelinzs and affections, and they bave
the nee of speech and of language gemerally in a degree proportionate to the
grade of perfection of their several senses and mental powers. They show the
same varietios of character, inclination, and moral propensity as persons of
stronger understanding. Left to themselves they are careless, lazy, and filthy.
At the age of puberty they evince the animal instinets by the most offensive
gestures, habits, and solitary vice.” '

But Dr. -Copland leaves out a great deal. Imbeciles and idiots have generally
emall misshapen heads, and in idiots I have remarked thick knuckles. In some
eases, also, there is total absence of the sensual pagsions. The flow of saliva from
the mouth is common inidiocy and in senile dementin. Am attempt to control the
habit is an indication of soundness of mind.

Re-examined.—Mr. Windbam has a larzer circnmference of the head than the
average. There is mo inecherency in his conversation. He is rather below the
:;jetm%]u in point of intellect, but he does not at all approach the line where imbe-

y begips.

By the Master.—I do not think & case of lunacy should be brought into Court
unless it involves either delusion, incoherency, or fatuity. lmbeciles are capable
sometimes of a certain degree of cunning, bat they have mot mind enough to
deceive & man of ordinary shrewdness. Lunatics are far more cunning than
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imbeciles. No amount of eccentricity will evidence insanity unless it is accow- -

panied by some unmistakeable proof of ungoundness.
By the Jury.—I have heard the letters read to-day. I never knew a person of
unsound mind who would have been capable of writing such letters.
DR, CONNOLLY.

|

Dr. Connolly, examined by Mr. Karslake.—I have had three interviews with Mr.
Windham for the purpose of testing the state of his mind. They took place on the

6th, the 12th, and the 13th of December, 1861. At the first interview there was
nobody present except Mr. Windham and myself. I was surprised by his manner,
in which there was not the slightest peculiarity. He was not in the least embar-
rassed, but was perfectly cheerful, frank, and gentlemanly. I asked him whether
he was not rather tired of being continually examined by medical men. He an-
swered good-humouredly that it was somewhat fatiguing, but that he was fully
aware of the necesgity of it, inagmuch as his family wanted to make him out insane
and incapable of managing his affairs. I then asked him upon what grounds he was
accused of being of unsound mind. He replied by enumerating the various circum-
stances which have been so frequently mentioned here—his having lived rather fast
and spent a good deal of money and having made an imprudent marriage. I asked
him what were his general habits of life. He told me that he had sometimes drank
more wine than was good for him, but that he was not in the habit of drinking to
excess ; that he was not fond of gambling, and that he had never committed any
acts of violence which conld be taken as indications of insanity. He acknowledged
that his marriage was an injudicious step. Throughout the whole conversation he
talked rationally and sensibly, and did not utter a sitgle expression indicative of in-
sanity. I thinkitisa great mistake in such cases to put minute and special questions,
and in my interviews with Mr. Windham I conversed with him as I would with
any other gentleman. He appeared to me to be of a somewhat hasty and impul-
sive character. I did not imagine that he was a very intellectnal man, but a man
accustomed to rongh and active exercise, such as the driving of railway engines.
I did not observe the slightest trace of any delusion, or the least confusion upon
any subject whatever; in fact, if I had not been informed of the charges made
against him I should not have dreamt that there was anything the matter with him.
He expressed a natural desire not to be deprived of his property or pronounced a

_ lonatic and unfit to take care of himself. He seemed perfectly aware that he had

not managed his property prudently, and told me that he had “dipped” his estate
rather deeply. When I saw him the second time he had just come from a long
interview with Dr. Mayo and Dr. Winslow, and appeared to be rather fatigued. He
zave me a good-humoured account of the examination he had undergone, and said
that one of the doctors had put a series of questions to him from a paper which,
judging from its appearance, he thought must have been drawn up by a lawyer.
After telling me about the letter which he had written to Dr. Mayo at the close of
the examination—and which, by the way, I thought a very severe test—he said he
was anxious to geb away to the shooting, but he saw the necessity of remaining
in town, and was ready to submit with all due deference and complacency
to 1:.!“3 examination of medical men. He did not utter one foolish word or
one irritable expression, nor did he show the least embarrassment or desire in any
way to make an impression. He was perfectly natural, simply himeself, nothing
more. I saw him again the following day. He admitted that the placard was a
foolish thing, said it was written and sigued for him by Roberts, and told me he had
tried to stop its cireulation, I spoke to him about the jewellery. He said he had
been rather extravagant in that particular, and had given his wife a good deal of
jewellery as compensation for an injury he had done her. He told me that he had
Jjust come from Dr. Mayo and Dr. Winslow, and that he was to undergo avother
examination the following day. He spoke with much good humour, but seemed
to think that he was getting rather too much of the doctors. I told him that I had
come from Hanwell that morning ; that the train was full of Eton boys, and that I
was snrpriged to see a great number of women of the town waiting for them at the
gtation. * Yes,” he said, *it iz always so; and those only can avoid them whao,
having to go home with the down trains, do not require to leave the station, but
have merely to pass from one gide to the other.” That appeared to me a very
gensible observation. I believe he is of perfectly sound mind. No medical man
could sign a certificate ¢ ifiEanity in his case, and no keeper of an asylum would
think of taking him as an inmate. There was no inecherency in his statements
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to me. I found nothing inconsequential in his ideas; literally and truly, T saw
not a single indication of unsoundness of mind. Amenfia is an obsolete term, but
when it was nsed it meant extreme imbecility. DMr. Windham is assuredly not in
‘an imbecile state. t

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Idiots do write sensible letters, but no
frequently, and they can be taught different avocations; but they have allgenerally
a marked defet in their personal appearance, arising from an imperfect physical
devclopment. Slavering is seldom seen unconnected with mental weaknesa,

Ro-examined.—I have heard-the letters read this morning. I never knew an
imbecile who conld have written such lettera. Idiots never attempt to get rid of
the habit of slavering.

By the Jury.—I believe that if Mr. Windham had one good, kind, virtuous friend,
he would get throngh the world very well. His mind is not of a superior order,
and his misfortune has been since childhood to have been surrounded by improper
persons. He has the capacity to manage his affairs, but that is a different thing
from the will to do so.

By the Master.—I do not knnw a case in which a person is rightlully confined in
a private asylum whose unsoundness of mind could not be recognised by a non-
medical man. An originally low degree of mental power is capable of great im-
provement by education. A taste for bad company is perfectly compatible with
sonndness of mind. The present is & most instroctive case, as showing the ill
‘effects of improper treatment and neglect in yonth. It is impossible to judge of Mr.
Windham correctly without knowing how he was brought up and to what influences
he was exposed.

Dr. Babington was called, at his own request, to state that he was not the * family
physician” of Agnes Willonghby.

ME. BOWEN MAY, RECALLED.

Mr. Bowen May, recalled and examined by Mr. Chambers.—The documents T pre-
pared for Mr. Windham were his marriage settlement, the disentailing deed, and sub-
sequently his will. I took down the will to Fellbrigg-hall. He execnted itin my
presence, but he has since destroyed it, in consequence, as I infer, of the misconduct
of his wife. I have noted down the contents of the will, as follows :—* To the wife for
life, with remainder to children; remainder again to his mother for life; remainder
over to his sister-in-law ; the one who married first, with consent of guardians, to take
the name and arms of Windham.” There weresome trifling legacies. The executors
I think, were the trustees under the marriage settlement—Dr. Whidborne and Mr.
Eoberts. Mr. Windham told me he had destroyed the will about the time when the
application was made to the Lords Justices for a commission of lunacy against him.
I had delivered up the will to him a few days before, having declined to act as his
golicitor. He gave me no reason for the destruction of the will, but I inferred that
it was in consequence of Mrs. Windham having left him. I told him that he had
done perfectly right.

The inquiry was then adjourned,

It was incidentally stated that Mr. Roberts, whose name has so often
been mentioned, has commenced proceedings against Mr, Field, one of the solicitors
for the petitioners, for words spoken during the course of these proceedings.

TWENTY-EIGHTH DAY.—TuEespay, Jaxvary 21.

The adjonrned inguiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed to-day in the Westminster Sessions-house, before Mr,
Warren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury.

Mr. M. Chambers, (.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams appeared for the peti-
tioners ; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of the
alleged lunatic; Sir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward for
Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, ).C., for Mrs. Windham.

Mr. Jackson, a solicitor, produced several letters addressed to him by Mr.
Windham,

This closed the evidence for the defence.

Mr. Russell then addressed the jury for Lady Sophia Giubilei, the mother of the
alleged lunatic. His client, he said, had uvo personal interest in this case dpart
from the interest of her son, but the Lords Justices had thought that in an inguiry
into the mental sanity of her own child she should not be doomed to be a mere
passive spectator, and he thought it would be admitted that her counsel had not
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hitherto abused the power granted to her to be present and take part in the prn-
ceedings. Mr. Chambers, in his able opening speech, had stated that Lady Sophia
was to be taken as concurring in the petition against her son. That statement was
not correct. Lady Sophia had never concurred—she did not now conenr—in these
proceedings ; but, on the contrary, all her sympathies, interesis, and wishes were
with her son. It would be unnatural, indeed, for a mother, except upon
the clearest grounds and for the most incontestible reasons, to assist in
branding her own child with the stamp of mental incapacity. Perhaps the
only gratifying feature in this case was that Mr. ‘Windham—of whom it had
been said that his heart was not capable of good and that he bad mo moral
feeling—had during his whole life, beginning from his earliest youth, com-
stantly expressed the deep and earnest affection which he entertained for his
mother. It was not surprising, therefore, that Lady Sophia, instead of concorring
in the petition against her son, should disprove and condemn it. Bhe regretted
and grieved over the faults which undoubtedly had stained his youth; but those
features of the case had been greatly softened by the evidence for the defence, and
Lady Sophia looked forward with confidence to the result of the interview which
the Master and the jury promised to have with her gon. The jury had to congider
‘a case surrounded by prejadice and falsehood, but he trusted they would rivet their
aftention npon its real merits. He hoped they would pause long before they fixed
apon Mr. Windham the stain of insanity—hefore they took from him on the very
threshold of manhood that which made manhood a thing to be prized—the sense of
personal freedom and personal independence. They had been told that this ingquiry
would have a sobering effect upon him, enabling him to distingunish real from pre-
tended friends, and, if so, it would serve a great and beneficial end. By a verdict
in his favour, they wonld give him an opportunity of retrieving the follies of his
youth—the follies of a raw, riotous, unrestrained, and untutored youth—and of
Playinga part which, thongh not conspicuons by great deeds, might not be alto-
gether unworthy of the name which he bore, and of the secial position into which
he was born. '
Mr. Karslake was then heard for My, Windham. He said : I rejoice to hear from
Mr. Russell that there is atleast one of the relatives of Mr. Windbam who does
not appear in the ranks of the petitioners against him. 1 thonght nntil a
recent period that there were two parties in this inquiry—the accuser and the
accused : but the jury hasbeen told that, in addition to the other azomalies which
surrounds the case, there is mo recognised accuser at all, and that Mr. Cham-
bers appears here as a friend of the Court, for the purpose of assisting it in
ascertaining whether Mr. Windham is insane or not. The result of the inquiry,
whether favonrable or the reverse to Mr. Windham, will be to saddle him with
a charge of some £15,000 or £20,000, and for that enormons burden he will have
to thank the petitioners, because they have chosen to bring forward a case which
ean not be proved in evidence, and because they have acted throughont, not in a
fair, honest, and judicial spivit, but as partisans for the purpose of depriving Mr.
Windham of his property, which iz the only thing they care a straw about. It
must be admitted that, besides the prejudice excited by the petitioners against Mr.
Windham, the prejudice which the alleged lunatic has created by his own acts
weighs heavily upon him now. Even in contracting his marriage Mr. Windham
has done an act which is calenlated to disgust society. I should have thonght,
however, that when it had been proved that General Windham, Mr. Hook, and the
other petitioners had made numerons affidavits in the Court of Chancery for the
purpoge of inducing the Lords Justices to issme a commission of lunacy
against their youthful relative, and afterwards had refosed to pledge
their oaths hefore the public to the trath of those statements, the
case ought at once to have been bronght to anend. No donbt T shall hear some
specious reasons from Mr. Chambers for not calling General Windham and the
other petitioners as witnesses; but I submit that if the jury are eatisfied that
the motives of General Windham ar: not so disinterested as they have been repre-
gented to be, and that he had declined to appear in the witness-box and to submit
himzelf to a eross-examination in the face of the pnblic from a well-gronnded indis-
position to repeat in open court the statements which he has made to the Lorda
Justices, there i# no reascn, however specions, which can remove the impression
from their minds that General Windham has acted incautionsly and unfairly. 1t is
not my intention to contest the right of the petitioners to institute a proeecding |
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which they honestly believe to be necessary and likely to be justified by the result.
I General Windbham and the rest of the band of petitioners are recally of opinion
that their statements in the Court of Chancery amount to proof of insamity—if
they are satisfied that their allegations can be -confirmed by unimpeachable
evidenee in open conrt—no fanlt can be fonnd with them for the convse they have
adopted, even thongh they may saddle Mr. Windham with an enormons debt,
and expose to the public gaze every vice and folly of his early years. But, I repeat,
the petitioners have acted throughout, not as judges of the cause but as partisans,
and have done everything in their power to excite a prejudice in the public
mind - against their young relative.  Instead of going to Mr. and Mrs. Martin,
who, above all other }e-sons, knew the early history of Mr. Windham, they have
produced in the Court of Chancery a series of statements upon which they do mot
venture to rely before a jury, and they have been guilty of a deliberate concealment
of evidence, becanse they know it would not suit theirr purpose. It will be recol-
lected, moreover, that they have carefally kept out of sight the character and peculi-
arities of old Mr. Windham ; and yet the jury have heard from Dr. Conolly that it
is impossible to jadge of young Mr. Windham without knowing something of his
treatment in early life and the influences to which he was then exposed. The trath
is, T believe, that young Mr. Windham is in many respeets a counterpart of
his father, all whose frailties and foibles are perfectly well known to the peti-
tioners, who, nevertheless, acting in the spirit of partisans, had done everything
they can to conceal them from the jury. During the course of the case for the
petitioners, two pietures, one of which must necessarily be untrue, have been drawn
of Mr. Windham. According to Mr. Chambers, in his opening speech, backed by a
number of policemen, Mr. Windham is a congenital imbecile, continually slaver-
ing at the month, talking incoherently, and sereeching and howling like a madman.
That picture has been usterly wiped out by Dr. Winslow, Dr. Mayo, and Lord Alfred
Hervey, who have favoured the eourt with another portrait of Mr. Windbam, equally
inconsistent with the first and with trath. Mr. Windham, according to the two
doctors and his uncle, although of unsound mind and incapable of managing his
affairs, ie so little of an imbecile that any person might converse with him
for hours without perceiving that there was anything the matter with him at all.
But the real issme before the jury is not whether Mr. Windham is of unsound
mind, or whether he is incapable of managing his affairs, but whether he is
incompetent to the conduct of his affairs by reason of unsonndness of mind. Tt
may be true that many of his acls have been profligate and wicions; but what the
juory has to consider is, mot whether Mr. Windham has spent his youth in
excesses of various kinds and has done many foolish and objectionable things, but
whether the actsand events which have been proved in evidence are the clear and
indisputable result of insanity. I admit that there are defects in the character
of Mr. Windham, but those defects are attributable to the example of his father
and to the treatment he received in childhood. Mr. Windham secma to have been
allowed to do whet he liked in childhood ; his education, such as it was, ceased at
too early an age, and he never was wisely or prudently directed. The evidence of
the witnesses shows that when at school he was not a boy of dirty habits, while the
slavering is completely accounted for by the peculinr formation of his mouth,
which has nothing whatever to do with his mental capacity. At school he was
somewhat riotous and boisterons in his manners, and that circomstance, coupled
with his fondness for rongh out-door sports, satisfactorily explains his sowbriquet of
“ Mad Windham.” The learned counsel reflected with severity npon the conduct
of eome of the tutors, and argued that, though apt to resent and resist force when
nsed by those whom he disliked, Mr. Windham was always amenable to anthority
properly and fairly exercised, while his letters to his mother showed that he

an affectionate dispoeition. I ask the jury, he continued, whether
it is likely, if Mr. Windham is the sort of wild beast he is repre-
sented to be by the petitioners—if he is a creature who spent his
time in howling and ecatealling, a person who never by any chance indulged
in coherent and consequential conversation, he would have been kept so long at
Eton, or could have induced gentlemen of education, ability, and position to live and
travel with him? Mr. Burr, the tutor at Wokingham, has distinetly stated that
in point of intellect Mr. Windbam is not inferior to the other young men under
his charge, and that if he had continued his studies & short time longer he would
have passed the army examination without the smallest diffienlty. On the other
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“hand, the evidence of Mr. Cook and others shows conclusively that Mr. Windha
transacted his business like any other gentleman, while the conduct of Mr. &
Andrews, of Rimpton, when he expressed his willingness to allow his danghter®
under certain conditions, to enter into an engagement with BMr. Windbam is clear
and convincing proof that in the opinion of a gentleman of great intelligence and
position there is not the slightest taint of insanity about the alleged lunatie,
The education of Mr. Windham may be said to have closed when he
left Eton, for none of his subsequent tutors, or rather companions,
ever read with him or ever wished to read with him. Colonel Bathurst
bhas given his evidence with more fairness than the other totors, butb
he ought to have stated before leaving the witness-box that, after his con-
nection with the alleged imbecile had altogether ceased, he did not secruple to
vigit him as a friend. The historv of his conuection with the East Norfolk militia
at Great Yarmouth, abundantly proves that Mr. Windham, though quick to resent
an injury, is always ready to show respect where respect is due, and
capable of discharging his duties satisfactorily and properly when he
chooses to perform them. Mr. Scott, the metaphysician and solicitor,
of Aylsham, has formed and expressed the opinion that Mr. Windham
is insane, but the same gentleman has om several occasions gome to Fellbrigz-
hall and dined with the alleged lunatic, and has taken his wife and daughter with
him, exposing them to the insults which a man who could not talk rationally or
coherently might be expected at any moment to heap upon them. The way in
which Mr. Windham was treated by the gentlemen of his own neighbourhood—the
visits paid to him by Captain Ives, a deputy-lientenant of the connty, and his
terms of intimaey with Lord and Lady Suffield, ought to have greater weight with
the jury than opinions formed upon such flimsey and worthless grounds as those
stated by Mr. Scott and others. No person can doubt for a moment that if Ar.
Windham had been insane he would neither have been permitted to remain in the
EBast Norfolk Militia, received as a gnest by Lord Suffield, nor visited as a friend by
Captain Ives. In an evil hour Mr. Windham went to lodge with the Lewellins, in
Duke-street. The affidavits of the Lewellina to the Lords Justices were to the effect
that Mr. Windham was more like a wild beast than a homan being. That he was
either unable or unwilling to wash himself, unless compelled to do so. That he was
taken out of his room and put into a bath every morning by Mr. Lewellin. - That he
habitually threw away his money. That he was in the habit of rnnning about the
house in a state of nakedness. That he repeatedly exposed his person in a disgraceful
manner to Mra. Lewellin, and that his bed was frequently found in a filthy coundi-
tion. Can anybody doubt that the Lewellins are mere creatures of General
Windham ? General Windham has been called a distinguished man. All my
information of General Windham has been derived from public report. I care
nothing for what his conduct may have been in the field. I judge him by his
actions alone, and I beg to tell General Windham that he is a mere carpet
knight if he can attack his nephew with affidavits in the retirement of the Court
of Chancery, and then decline to repeat his statements in open Court. General
Windham has blown his trumpet rather loudly ; he has challenged his kinsman to
the combat; he has exposed his life to the public gaze with every circumstance of °
exageeration and falsehood, but, with a moral cowardice almost nnexampled, when
his nephew enters the lists to meet him in fair fight, he had left his hired and
perjured witnesses to make what stand they can, and has meanly skulked and
hid himself in the seat beside his counsel. Here is a man who the day before
Mr. Windham came of age treated him as sane and competent, and who, long after
his marriage, attempted to sell him a property worth £1,000. The last thing we heard
of General Windham was that when Elizabeth Moore had proved the perjury of ©
Mrs. Lewellin in connection with one of the most disgusting features of his case,,
he left his home in Belgravia on Christmas morning and sought out the humbles
dwelling of Mrs. Brown, the laundress, for the purpose of seeing whether he could!
not bolster up the evidence of a baffled and discredited witness. General Windham
has not the courage to come torward in open court and support the charge whiﬂh;l
he has dared to make against his nephew. In the privacy of the Court of Chancerys
he has ventured to defame and blacken the character of his youthful relative, bubs
he has proved himself craven, recreant, and coward enough to decline to sanctioni
by his oath in the face of the public a story which he has foisted upon the Lufﬂﬂl
Justices, and which he has not hesitated to support by the evidence of hirelings




-

Wil

L)

4

|

/

!

a
¢ 1
f: ¥

-__‘____. ”___.;._._ {

MASTER IN LUNACY.

Q.Cy

|

EZ

WARLREN,

SAMUEL







179

witnesses. " It'is a remarkable fact that, after he -had retained the Lewelling as
this prinvipal witnesses, General Windham, of whose distinction we have heard sp
snuch, did not seraple to dine with @ retired valet and his wife to celebrate the
birthday of a-brother soldier. ' The house 'in Duke-street is, indeed, a mysterions
establishment. Generals, eolonels, clergymen, and distinguished scholars wero
there, in the habit of dining with a common lodging-house keeper, who one day
waited like a footman -and the next eat down at table, while hie wife took daily
airings in a cab with 'a gentleman whom she called “her baby,” and sometimes
travelled with him as far as Ramsgate. . WL | . .
The learned gentleman had not concladed his epeech when: the Conrt adjourned.

L S OTWENTY-NINTH DAY.—WEDNESDAY, JANUARY 22, .

' The adjonrned inguiry into the state of mind of Myr. W. ¥. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed to-day in the Westminster Sessions-house, before Mr.
YWarren, Q.C., oneof the Masters in Lunacy, and a special Jury. ks
 Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C.; Mr, Field, and Mr. Hume Williams, appeared. for the
_petitioners ; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Flizabeth Giubilei, the mother
_of the alleged lomatic ; Bir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr, Milward,
for Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and ‘Mr., Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windham.
' The Master—Before Mr. Karslake resnmes his address for Mr. Windham, I wish
‘to express the hope, in eonsequence of what T have read and seen elsewhere, that
there will be no attempt to interfere with the discharge by the jury and myself of
the most momentous and difficult duties swhich we have to perform. Every one

must be aware of ‘the extremely painful circumstances under which I am sitting
“here, and I am bound to acknowledge that hitherto I have received the sympathy

of counsel on both sides. I trust that nothing will be done to add to the difficulty
‘of my position, bearing in mind how critical and important are the duties which I
have to discharge.

Mr. Karslake resumed his speceh, * Hesaid: I wish to direct the attention of the
jury to the evidence of the Lewellins, which I contend is full of inconsistencies and
“contradictions, one ntterly unworthy of credit. I charge Mrs. Lewellin with having
nsed all her efforts to induce several persons to come into court and assert that
whith she knows to be false. She has repeatedly attempted to suborn the witness
Pritchard, and thronghout the whole proceedings has betrayed the zeal of a partizan
on behalf of a gentleman whom, in one of her lettera, she calls “ the dear General.”
Her evidence has been disproved by her own servants, whom she has traduced and
maligned, as well as by other witnesses of irreproachable character. The portrait
of Mr. Lewellin has been painted by his own wife. He has been represented as a
‘coarse, brutal, passionate man, constantly abusing and bullying his wife, and as
‘constantly nsing filthy and blasphemons language to his servants. Such are the
couple upon whom ‘ the dear General” relied as his principal witnesses, and by
‘whose help he hoped to be able to prove his nephew insane, and to get hold of the
Fellbrigg estates. ' Eliza Dignam, the sister of Mra. Lewellin has deposed upon oath
‘that the statements made by that person in her affidavit, and repeated in open court
are entirely false from first to last. Gentlemen of the jury, you may believe Eliza

Dignam, or yon may not, but1 maintain that she iz a ten thonsand times better
witness than either her sister or her respectable brother-in-law, who tried to cheat
her out of her miserable pittance of £30. Nor should it be forgotten that the
_general effect of her evidence has been eonfirmed by her brother, Conway Dignam,
mpon whom g systematic attack was made by Mrs. Lewellin for the purpose of
inducing him to give false evidence against Mr. Windbam. It is true thai Mrs,

%wellin has denied npon oath that she has ever talked to her brother about Mr.

indham ; but in my judgment there is a great deal more blasphemy than
‘golemnity in ber appeal to God to strike her dead in the witness-box if what she
has said is false.  After all, however, the acts of the Lewellins are a complete
answer to their words, whether true or untrne. Is it likely that the Lewellins,
having had experience of Mr. Windham in their house for one month, believing
him to be a noisy, filthy, howling lunatic and imbecile, wonld have disregarded

heir own interests as lodging-house keepers so far ag to let him apartments for a
_whole year? Mr. 'Windham has been charged over and over again with
keeping low company. To that charge I must to a certain extent plead
_guilty. There is nothing to be regretted in his association with railway guards and

railway porters, but all must admit that be kept the company of t.ha;nweat of the

M,
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low when he 'nnngﬂrba:! with the retired valet, the would-be wine merchant, the un-
licensed retailer of epirits in his own house, the respectable David Lewellin, of 53,
Duke-street, St. James’s. It is rather hard, however, that General Windham, who
himself had sanctioned the residence of his mephew.in Duke-street, and that Mr.
Peatfield, who, with his friends, has repeatedly dined at the expense of his pupil in
the compan of the Lewelling, should now come forward and charge Mr. Windham
with a fondness for the soeciety of his inferiors in station. The evidence of the
policemen i8 altogether unworthy of notice. Some of it is false, as in the case of
the alleged misconduct of Mr. Windham at the Wimbledon review, and the rest ia
utterly trivial and unimportant. Mr. Windham may have been in the habit at one
period of his life of frequenting the Haymarket ; he may have made noises there;
he may even haye imitated the police, and told the peopleto *move on M but
surely he is not to be declared insene, and deprived of his personal liberty and
his property, for ~doing that which is dome by hundreds of young
men . with perfect impunity and withont any imputation wpon their
mental capacity P The learned counsel then passing on to the proceedings at Fell-
brig-hall the day before Mr. Windham came of age, When, at the instigation of
General Windham, a proposal was made by a London attorney for the resettlement of
the property, said:—Here we have General Windham endeavouring with legal
assistance to draw hig mephew into @ bargain which, if it kad been carried out,
would have deprived Mr. Windham of the power of disposing of his property, Still
later the same General Windham bargained and negutiated with his nephew for
his own advantage, and yet he now alleges, and attempts with hired and prejudiced
witnesses to prove, that from his infancy upwards his kinsman was. & lunatic and
an imbecile, incapable ~of managing himself and his affairs. At Fellbrigz-
hall Mr. Windham saw the snare 80 cunningly  set for him by General
Windham and his henchman, Mr. Jackson, nor could he be persuaded on a sub-
gequent occasion to purchase the property worth £1,000 which his uncle wanted to
sell to a person whom he believed to be an idiot. The marriage contracted by Mr.
Windham is an unfortunate event, but if every man who has made a similar marriage
s to be placed in & Innatic asvlum, then the sooner lunatic asylums are enlarged
the better. It is mot imposeible that if. we were to search the pages of a Peerage
we might discover the names of illustrions ladies, the mothera or grandmothers of
some of the proudest noblémen now living, oyer "whose unmarried life it would be
" as well, perhaps, to draw the veil of concealment and oblivion. Miss Willoughby
has been repregented as a person of great personal attractions, and if is not very
wonderful that Mr. Windham, who cares for no member of his family except bis
mother, npon whom all his relations have turned their backs, and who has read and
admired letters in the newspapers showiniz the advautages of an establishment in
¢ the shady groves of the Evangelist,” and defending connections not sanctioned
by the Church, should have resolved to marry such a lady. The learned connsel
next examined ‘the terms of the marriage settlement, and referred to the evidence
of Mr. Bowen May as showiog that Me. Windham, however enamoured of Dliss
Willoughby and anxious 1o accomplish the marriage, discnssed the conditions
in a business-lilke manner; and, in fact, acted throughout as any other gentle-
man would have done. He mext roviewed at considevable length the charge
against Mr. Windham of having iufected his wife with a particular disease, and
criticised minutely all the ‘evidence bearing upon it, contending, first, that many
married men had done the same thing ; secondly, that Mr. Windham was not aware
of the state of his bodily health when he married ; and, thirdly, thak the injury he
inflicted upon his wife eansed him to contract a heavy debt with Mr. Emmanuel,
the jeweller, and to overlook many circumstances in her subsequent conduct which
he might otherwise have deplored and blamed. A great deal has been said, he
continned, of his connection with Reberts. It is to be hoped the jury will not judge
of the character of that person from what they have heard in this cage. Roberts, L
believe, has taken steps for the purpose of testing the statements which have been
made against him, and meanwhile'it i only necessary to say that up fo a very
recent period Mr. Windham knew nothing of the accusations against Roberts, what-
ever they may be worth, but, on the contrary, had every reason to regird
him as a friend. I citethe evidence of the tradesmen and others from Norfolk
aud of the servants from Fellbriggthall, as proving that Mr. Windham talks
rationally and coherently, and transacts his buginess as & private gentlemau and
landed proprietor with equal sense, prudence, and intelligence. Among other charzes
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against Mr.Windham three have been presented inglowingcolours tothe Lords Justices
—first, that he has been guilty of great cruelty in shooting a horse without eanse ;
secondly, that he has fired his gun directly at three men loading hay in a cart ;
thirdly, that he has attempted to shoot himself. DMeerins, the gamekeeper at Fell-
brigg, has completely disproved the first and second charges, and it now appears
that the horse was shot by Meerins because it was a vicions brute and had so in-
nred itsell that it was fit only to be shot, and that thereia no ground whatever for
saying that Mr. Windham ever fired his gun at three men loading hay ; while the
act of homicidal mania, as it was represented to be to the Lords Justices, turned
gut to have been committed by a rusty revolver, taken to pieces, and locked upin a
pistol-case. Sunch are fair samples of the accusations laid before the Lords Jus-
tices, for the purpose of inducing them to issue a commission of lunacy. The jury
now see what they are worth; but is it not intolerable that by means of such
groundless statements, made in the privacy and retirement of the Counrt of Chan-
cery, the relatives of Mr. Windham are enabled to saddle him with a charge of
something like £20,0007 It has been established that np, at least, till the 17th of
September the principal petitioner did not consider his nephew to be insane. But
after the 17th of September Mr. Windham committed an act whichin all probability
induced his uncle to apply for a commission of lunacy against him. He entered
into a timber contract. That cortract naturally arose out of his marriage.  In con-
sequence of his marriage Mr. Windham became involved in enormous debt, for it is
a remarkable fact that he, the heir of a property which in 1869 would realize a rental
of between £12,000 and £15,000, ended his minority without a single shilling of
his own in his pocket. A supply of money was absolutely necessary, and there were
only two modes by which it could be obtained—either a sum must be borrowed
upon the estate, or the timber must be scld. Mr. Windham chose the latter alter-
native, and the persons with whom he made the contract are highly respectable
timber brokers in the city of London. Supposing for a moment that the contract
is & bad contract, and that Mr. Windham has been defraunded, is every person who
has been defranded to be declared insane and confined in a lunatic asylum? Mr.
Windham seems to have been under no delusion about the contract; clanse after
clanse was discussed by him and Mr. Lawrence, and there is not the slightest
pretence for saying that he either acted or was treated during any part of the
negotiations as a person of unsound mind, incapable of managing his own
affairs.  Whether the contract is frandulent or mot is a question for the Court
of Chancery to decide; it has obvionsly nothing to do with the samity or in-
sanity of Mr. Windham ; nor ought it to have the smallest weight with the jury
in coming to a decision upon the issue before them.. I contend, however, that the
contract bas been grossly misrepresented, that its terms are fair and rea-
sonable, and that, according to the evidence of skilled witnesses, it is rather disad-
vantageous than otherwise to the purchasers, If Mr. Windham had gone upon the
turf, or been enticed into one of the * hells” of London, he might have been obliged,
not only to sell the timber, bub to part with the whole estate, which he had the
g’?wer to do, and have gone forth a rnined and disgraced man. In Ogtober General

indham called upon Messrs. Lawrence and Fry to get the history of the contract,
and then he proceeded secretly to gather information for his petition. From
that time forward he was in daily communiecation with Dr. Forbes Winalow
and others, concocting his scheme, and preparing those blunted weapons which
he afterwards used before the Lords Justices, but which he has not
ventured to wield in open court. Mr. Windham thenceforth was followed by spies
and informers, his every action was watched and scanned, and the grossest treason
was practised against him by persons who pretended to be his friends. Something
has been said about his eonduct during these procesdings, The truth is that Mr.
Windham has ridiculed them from the first. He believes himself to be perfectly
sane ; he regards the petition as the result of acruel and wicked congpiracy got np
by General Windham for the purpose of depriving him of hia property; and
he shared the opinion of many others, that if General Windham, Captain
Henry Windbam, and Mr. Hook did not venture to show themselves in the
witness-box they would at omce withdraw their petition, and so save an
enormons amount of unnecessary expense. He has been disappeinted in that
respect, but even Mr. Chambers has admitted that he has reasonable grounds
for saying that his uncles wounld never dare to appear against bim in open
court. 1 direct attention to the faet that before he examined Mr. Windham
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Dr. Winslow had his mind poisoned by the affidavits filed in'the Court of Chancery.
T also object to the mode-in which the examination was conducted, and' complai
that Dr. ‘Winslow, instead of talking with Mr, Windham as he would ' have done to
any other gentleman, confined his questions: to the Afilthy and® frivolons charzes
which he found set forth in the affidavits. But Dr. Winslow bas'admitted that no
extravagance or vice could be accepted as insanity, though his friend and’ col-
leagne in the examination of Mr. Windham, Dr. Mayo, holds the very contrary
opinion. - Yet it is' essential to the case for the petitioners that profligacy should
be treated as evidence of insanity. Where is the line to be drawn? If profligacy
and vice isinsanity, the Divorce Court ought to be abolished, and lunatic asylums to
be built for adultérers and adalteresses. Why should Newgate not be pulled down,
and 2 lunatic asylum erected on its site? The doctrine of the petitionersis mon-
strons. Which is worse—the proflizacy attributed to Mr. Windham by his relatives,
orthe conduet of a man who, having separated from his wife, flaunts in publie
places with a rouged smd' shanieless courtesan ? Much indignation has been
expressed against Mr. Windham, but if he isto be restrained us a lunatie on account
of his vice, what ought to be done with the man who sells his daughter to some
hoary lecher, compelling her to commit the heinous sin of praying at the altar for
herspeedy widowhood ? I trust the jury will give no countenance to the theory of
moral insanity, which, though dear to Dr. Mayo and the petitioners, has always
been scouted 'and repudiated by the law and the bench of England. Mr. Windham
has committed many bad actions, but he is not therefore insane; and of all people
inv the world General Windham and the clan’ Bristol onght to be the last to complain
of his miseonduct, which is in'a great measure the result of their own neglect and
ill-treatment. An allusion has been made to the deingsat Fellbrigg:hall on Christ-
mas night, when Mr. Windham put on & pair of hunting breeches, ‘blacked his face,
and joined in the singing of negro songs. Tadmit that Mr. Windham did a foolish
thing on' that occasion, but I submit that it' canmot be magnified into anything
more than & want of taste, such as that evinced in going to the Haymarket during
the course of the present inquiry. But® whatever may have been the conduct
of Mr. Windham on Christmas wnight, nobody, I thmk, can envy fhe man
ar-woman who had played the part ofa apy in Fellbrigg-hall, and given information
to thie other side. There is treason at work against Mr. Windham. His steéps have
been dogged for months, his confidential agents have been canvassed, and everything
filthy ‘and foul has been raked up against him for the purpese of sastaining a case
founded npon falsehood and prejudice. = Dr. Winslow in his own' subtle way, has
thrown out a bait to the jury in the shape of a suggestion that Mr. Windham,
instead of being confined in a lunatic asylum for- life, might merely be placed under
gurveillance for a fow years. Let the jury beware of fulling into the snare thus set
for them. They may depend upen it that® the object of  the petitioners,
however it may be disguised, is to immure Mr Windham in a madhouse for
life. Let General Windhiam once get his nephew within his: clutches, and he will
take care that the estates are seeured to lis‘own family, andthat the person-
alby is' ina veryifew years divided between himself and the other petitioners.
Mr, Windham, said theléarned gentleman inconclugion, mayhave been profligate and
nnfortunate, butthat isthe most that can be allegedlagainsthim. The petitioners have
no right to-expose kiis life to the public gaze, mutil, by something like a judieial
inquiry instituted among themselves, they had. mude up their minds that every
one of their positions eould be maintained in the open court, and’ that all their -
witnesses could stand unsenthed the test of a oross-examivation. I leave the
jury to say whether the inquiry has been conducted in this gpirvit. If Mr. Windham
had been penniless he might hive roamed through the world without one ofhis rela-
tives reaching out-a hand to save him ; but because heis the owner of Fellbrigg-
hall, becanse he has entered into w contract for the sale of his timber, and because
General Windham fears that the property may be lest to himsell and his sons
for ever, an imquiry has been instituted inte the state of ‘his mind, and he is’
threatened with' the severest punishment whicl can be inflicted upon a lhuman
being. Let the jury recollect that they were once yonug themselves, and let them
consider for a moment with what feelings they would regard the man who shoald
rake up'and publish to the world all the follies, and possibly even viees, of which
they have been guilty in their youth, but which they new sincerely repent and de-
plore. Is it not the partof afriend ruther to coverwith a veil the foibles of early life
than to expose them to a‘onrious and gaping publio? How far General Windhamand
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the other relatives of my client have acted npon this principle I will leave them to
judge. How far, even if they thought themselves justified in proceeding with their
petition, it was worth their while to go into many of the filthy and disgusting
details with which they have overloaded their case, I will likewise leave them to
. 1 am eertain that I shall not appeal to them in vain to draw the line between
folly and insanity, between profligacy, however great and lamentable, and unsound-
of mind. I am sure that I shall not again have to remind yon that you are hound
to believemy client sane until the contrary is proved by unimpeachable evidence.
On behalf of Mr. Windham I have no necessity to appeal for mercy. ILask simply
for justice ; and, if T can judgeof the effect which the evidence will produce upon
you, I think T may safely predict that your unanimous verdict will be that Mr.
Windham is of sound mind, and onght not to be deprived of his liberty, which
i8'dedrer to him than life itself. _ )
. The learned gentleman sat down amid some applause, and the Court immediately
-adjourned.

: THIRTIETH DAY.—THURSDAY, JANUARY 23.

" The adjourned inquiry into. the state of mind of Me. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
Yiall, Norfolk, was resumed to-day in the Westminster Sessions-house, before Mr.
Warren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special Jury.

Mr. M. Chambers; Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams, appeared for the
petitioners ; Mr. Charlea Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Ginbilei, the mother
of the alleged lunatic; Sir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, .C.,and Mr. Ib:'[ﬁwmﬂ,
for My, William Frederick Windham ; and . Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windham.
' Mr. Coleridge said :—T have the honour to appear before you on bebalf of Mrs.
Windham, and althoungh I could well be content to leave the case of that lady
where it has been put by the speech of Mr. Karslake, yet, inasmuch as she has in-
frusted me with the defence of her interests, it is only fit and proper that I
shionld address a few words to you on her part. I heartily rejoice that, at the end
of more than a calendar month, during nearly every day of which obloguy and
invective, insult and reproach has been heaped upon Mrs. Windham with vigorous
assiduity by Mr. Chambers, the voice of her connsel should be heard. Miserably
feeble as' I kunow that voice to be, utterly nnable as L am to grapple as I could
wich with the mountain of prejudice: which has. been suffered to accumulate over
this part'of the case, it iz yet some consolation to me to be able at last in open court
to hurl back with indignation many portions at least of the filthy imputations which
have been cast upon my client, and to appeal to the honour and manliness of the

tlemen whom 1 address to dojustice, even in spite of prejudice, to a. woman who

aa been cruelly treated and wickedly aspersed. 1 do not forget that Mrzs. Windham
and her characier have in themselves and for themselves nothing at all to do with
this ease; but, at the same time, I cannot be blind to the faet that Mrs. Windham, her
-character, her marriage, her settlement, her whole life up to the present moment,
have been the chief weapons of attack mpon her husband’s sanity. The main.
charge against Mr. Windham is his marriage with Agnes Willoughby. I do not
complain of that—uay, more, it is to my mind most just and right that it should
be so. Much as 1 feel the oppression of the prejudice. which has Leen
ereated, I can say with the ufmost sincerity that I should be sorry if
such a marriage could be regarded with favour or approval. For any miserable
hypocrite, indeed, who,living in open disregard of the laws of God, chooses to affect

4 sanctimonions horror of the conduct of Mr. and Mrs. Windham, I have nothing
but burning contempt and disdain ; but, sofar ag a detestation of impurity and viee
is shown by men who themselves live pure, moral, conscientious lives, guiding
themselves aceording to the law of responsibility, and endeavouring to walk right
with God, T must, with my whole heart and soul, honour and admire it. Although,
however, that may be perfectly true, yet there is mone the less a tremendous
prejudice excited in the case with which it is my duty to deal. It will be recollected
that some days ago I expressed my determination to be present at every examina-
tion which might take place of Mr. Windham, and that one gemtleman of the jury
was pleased to say that he considered that statement an imputation, while another,
to whom ! the remark had not the remotest application, thought it would be more
dignified to take no notice of it. - I bez now to eay that L intended no imputation
upon any human being beyond this, that I was afraid the disgusting and filthy
storics which had been told against Mr. and Mrs. Windham must bave raised very
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gtrong feelings of dislike and almost horror against them both, and that the persons
who entertained sueh feelings might show and express them. Although that
wonld be a thing that no man of fairness and of upright mind could object to, it
wonld still be an act of great injustice to Mr. Windham and to the woman who,
after all, is his wife, to whom he is still deeply attached, and from whom no
human power, save in the case of adultery, can pub him asunder. So far, then,
as, thus explained, my observation was an imputation npon any human being, I am
afraid it must rest as I made it; but I cannot imagine that gentlemen of intel-
ligence, such as those whom I address, will blame me because, in the discharge
of a diffienlt and disagreeable task, I felt it my dubty to’ speak the fruth.
It is hardly necessary that 1 should say to persons of common human feel-
ing that Mr. and Mrs. Windham, whatever faulta they may have com-
mitted, stand now in a sitoation; if not to bespeak pity, at least to command
forbearance. Everything prized by Mrs. Windham is at stake. Her marriage,
her sesttlement, her position, her prospects in life, the welfare of those two
gisters of whom we have heard so much, and upon whom even Mr. Chambers,
though prolific in imputation, has not ventured to cast a slur—all hang upon the
verdict which the jary may give. Not directly, it is true, because their
verdict, even if unfavourable to Mr. Windham, cannot set aside the marriage
and disannul the settlement, but certainly indirectly; because everybody must
foel that a verdict of twenty two gentlemen, after so lengthened an investigation,
must, in any court in which the matter came hereafter to be litigated, have a
strong and, indeed, overwhelming weight in the decision at which that court
might arrive. More than that, no man can have watched this inguiry from the
beginning without seeing that the object of the petitioners—those affectionate
ancles and aunts of Mr, Windham—is to get rid of the marriage with Agnes Wil-
Joughby. If there had been no marriage—if General Windham had been successful
in obtaining a re-settlement of the Fellbrigg estate on the 8th and 9th of August last
—ean any man of common sense doubt for one moment that we should never have
heard one single syllable of this inquiry? His marriage and his marriage
only, or chiefly, has brought the whole of this distress upon Mr. Windham.
The marriage, from the beginning to the end, has been  treated as the
crowning act of his insanity, and, in consequence, no imputation has been
too gross, no sneer has. been too bitter, no story has been too filthy for Mr.
Chambers to bring forward in the hope of aspersing and crushing Mra.
Windham, and with Mrs. Windbam her hosband. You will recollect the
manner in which the case was opened by Mr. Chambers. At that time Mr.
Chambers believed that Mrs. Windhanr would not be represented in Court, and yet
he did not feel himself 1estrained by any professional rules—not to speak of higher
considerations—from canvassing her whole life and endeavouring to asperse in the
strongest langnuage a woman whom he thought could never be heard, and whom
he therefore regarded as safe game. It may be admitted that when a body of
persons had got a large estate in prospect and a disagreeable marriage in their
family, they are entitled to make an sppeal to the law, but I ask the jory whether
they have ever heard in the whole course of their lives of such remorseless cruelty
as an endeavonr to make out a man to be mad, to take away the property in which
lie was interested, to separate him from his wife, to deny him the hope of children
and all the sweetest pleasures of existence for the sole purpose of getting rid of a
diatasteful marriage and an abhorred sottlement ? Look at the position of Mr.
Windham with his affectionate uncles, From the cradle to the age of twenty-one
years, utterly neglected by all his family, with a set of gecond-rate
tutors about him who did not understand and were incapable of deal-
ing with their puopil, allowed to come up to London and to run loose
about the streets uncontrolled by those attached relatives who, when he went to the
devil, flew at him and attacked him with a charge of insanity.—such was the posi-
tion of this unhappy gentleman in the bosom of his affectionate family when he
married Agnes Willonghby. Looking at it apart from prejudice, and unmindfol of
any of those stories which have not been proved, and never sught to have been stated
was there anything in the marringe so excecdingly improbable, so exceedingly con-
trary to the ordinary working of the human heart, that the person who had entered
into it must, therefore, be supposed insane? Here was Mr. Windham, in the first
place, not well bronght up, with none of the tastes which educated men had, exces-
gively fond of out-doov pursunits, rough, boisterons, and riotous in his manner, pro-
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bably exceedingly ill at ease with elegant and refined Iadies of his own rank of life,
probably not exceedingly fond of the society of ladies of the Hervey elevation, and
mnot at all rich in presenti, and, therefore, not able to make such an immediate
gettlement as would induce persons of the Bristol rank to give him their danghters ;
bat, at the same time, a young man of an affectionate disposition, with strong
passions, very desirous of marrying, and anxious to retire to the country with his wife,
there to enjoy himself in the way most to his liking. Who, on the other haud, was
Mrs. Windham ? She was not yet twenty-two years of age; she was a very pretty
and attractive person ; she had ladylike, manners ; she was a celebrity in certain
circles in London. Mr, Windham was neither the first nor the last, neither the
youngest nor the oldest, neither the wisest nor the most foolish person who had
been fascinated by Agnes Willoughby. Ifall the gossip I have heard is true, my
elient is a woman whom to captivate and make his wife might naturally enough be
an object of ambition to a person brought up like Mr. Windham. 3Men cannot be
expected to become all at once old, wise, and discreet. Perhaps even in the lives of
the jury themselves there was a time when they were capable of doing foolish
things—of giving a great deal for a smile from a young, fascivating, and beloved
woman. Where in the world would be all our poetry, half our novels, the function
of some of the most celebrated writers of the present day, including even the
learned Master himself, if there was to be an end to the passion of man for woman,
and to the desire of the one sex to connect itself with the other? It is true that
the philosopher, when he saw the shade of Helen in the nether world, wondered
that for such a face a thonsand ships came from Greece, and ten thousand men
were slain on the plaina of Troy, but he was a cynic, and still the fact remains
that for the pleasure of making a beautiful woman his wife many
a man would cheerfully sacrifice all his possessions, and brave the censures of his
kind. Almost everybody is acquainted with persons who, in the matter of
marriage, have not done that which, upon reflection, either they or their friends
would justify ; and, indeed, if every man who married a pretty woman when he had
much better not do it was to be put in a lunatic asylum, we must have a special
wing added to Bedlam for such cases. DBut it is said that Mrs. Windham was
not merely a beautiful woman; she was a shameless prostitute, a person common
to the whole town. That is just one of the things of which I bitterly com-
plain of on the part of Mr. Chambers. Lord Chesterfield, when told by a famous
but frail beauty of his time—DMiss Chudleigh—that the world was so sensorious as
to say that she had had twins, made a profound bow and said he never believed more
than half the world said. If the jury were to apply that wholesome rule to the
opening statement of Mr. Chambers, they would not be doing Mrs. Windham more
than justice. That my client was a common prostitute, a perzon upon the streets,
a woman whom it was contrary to the erdinary usages of society to become
acquainted with and wish to marry, I utterly deny, and at least there is not a
tittle of evidence that she was. It is alleged, however, that the marriage was
not one of muntnal affection, and that Mrs. Windham stipulated in a mer-
cantile and mercenary manner for the purchase of the person which she
was to bestow upon BMr. Windham; sunch might be on the part of Mrs.
Windham an act of low morality, though that i3 donbtfal; but what
connection existed between the state of Mr. Windham’s mind and his willingnesa
to give a handsome eettlement to the woman whom he wished to possess for life ?
The truth is, however, that Miss Willonghby made a considerable sacrifice in
marrying My, Windbham ; her affection for Mr. Windham was not strong; she had
an allowance of something like £2,000 a year, and she occupied a high position in
her own circle. She accepted Mr. Windham, not for the settlement he made upon
her, but to obtain an aceredited position in society, and to secure the interests of
her sisters. It is ridicnlous hypoerisy to talk of the marriage as the petitioners
have instructed their connsel to speak of it. Half the marriages of our aristocracy
are made from no better motives. A beautiful girl gives herself to an old earl or
an old marquis for the sake of position; and why, I ask, is that which is
honourable, pure, and right in Lady Mary or Lady Susan to be characterised as
abominable, mercenary baseness in Agnes Willonghby ? What was the conduct of the
petitioners when they heard that the marriage was going to take place? Not a single
Windbam or Hervey among them ever told Miss Willoughby —who, above all other
persons, was entitled to a warning on the subject—that Mr. Windham was utterly
unfit to contract marriage by reason of unsoundness of mind. I3 it the doctrine of
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the aristocracy that because a woman is not what she ought to be they are to be
emancipated from the ordinary rules of honour, fairness, and justice towards her ?
1f the petitioners had told her, as they shonld have done, that their youthfnl rela-
tive was insane, Miss Willoughby would not have been such a born fool as to give
ap a good position for tlie shadow of a sbade. The Tearned counsel proceeded fo
argub that the behaviour of Mr. and Mrs. Windham after the marriage was perfectly
proper. Not a single act of treachery, he said, not a single breach of hospitality or
of professional confidence has been spared for the purpose of getting up evidence
against Mr. Windham and his wife. Mr. Cole, the solicitor in Essex-street, has
contributed information obtained in his own office when acting for Mr. Windham ;
a spy wus sent down to Fellbrigg-hall on Christmas eve to watch Mr, Windham and
see how he beliaved ; and even General Windham'himself, the affectionate uncle, the
self sacrificing tenant-in-tail, the self-denying reversioner, has not scrupled to call
at Fellbrige-liall to negotiate with his nephew the sale of a property worth £1,000.
Oh, zood, kind, considerate, generons General Windham, the gallant officer, high-
minded gentleman, tender guardizn, affectionate uncle! See him at Fellbrigg,
sntroduced to its charming mistress, sitting in a very cosy armchair at a warm
Qctober fire, sipping lis wine and munching his biscuit, but all the
while keeping bhoth' his eyes wide open for evidence against his. nephew
or Hig niece! MThe learned gentleman, after contending that the evidence did not
gustain any of the numercus imputations against his client, referred to certain
newspapers which, he said, had informed the publie that the Windham property
would be saved and the Windham marriage set aside. T hope, hie continued, that
statement is utterly without foundation. T believe, indeed, that it is utte riy
untrue, and that those who wrote'it totally mistook the character of an English
jndge, and the temper and honoar of an English jury. No English jodge, no
Bnglish gentleman, for all the great estates of all the great families in Norfolk,
wonld do such a black and base act of infamy-as to find a man mad in orderto seb
aside a marriage which was disapproved, and to get rid of a settlement which was
disliked. - On the other Land, if' it is thonght discreet to read mien lessons, T think
the enormous cost of this inquiry is lessen enough for the sins which Mr. and Mrs.
Windham have committed.  To mse the words of the late Lord 'Erskine, “ momls
come cold in the abstract from the pulpit, but men smart under them when we
lawyers are the preachers.” °Tt is meither my duty nor my inclimation to say a
single word in favour of profligacy or of vice. * Stolen waters are sweet,
and bread eaten in secret is pleasant. But he knoweth not that the dead are
there, and that her guests ave in the depths of Nell.” Far be it from me to cast a
shadow of doubt upon the truth of those sublime and tremendouns words, but nothing
ean be more absurd, and even crucl, than to take a sanctimonions view of Mr. and
Mrs. Windham's life, to confound sin and vice with insanity, and to accept immorality
and irreligion as proofs of legal incapacity. Ifreligionis to be invoked by the other
gide, T have no hesitation in saying that I would far rather be the Magdalene who
washed her Divine Master’s feet with her tears and wiped them with the hairs of
her head, than the self-complacent Pharisee who condemned the woman because
ghe was'a sinner, and who tried to plume limself before Almighty God upon the
outward regularity of his decorous life. Under any other circumstances I would
ask your verdict for Mr. Windbam with the utmost confidence and with absclute
certainty of success; and even in this case, in spite of the mountain of prejudice
which had been excited, I appeal to you, with all the earnestness and energy which
Tean command, and in the name of law, honour and justice, to acquit Mr. Windham
and his wife of the filthy and infimous chavges which have been so cruelly, so
rathlessly, and so basely pressed azainst them.

Mr. Chambers was then heard for the petitioners. It will be my anxious stody,
he said, to address you with calmnessand equanimity, with distinetness and concise-
ness. I have been sorely tempted and tried, but [ have read the Book which has
just been quoted by Mr. Coleridge, and T hope, after a life of straggles uncheered
by any of that assistance which has sometimes been accorded to others, to retire
from Tty profesvion without a blot upon my escuteheon. ‘Who dares to say that I
Have not had itnposed upon me a difficult, a trying, 'a fatizuing duty P ‘Who dares
to say that in the performauce of that duty T have done anything derogatory to the
character which every honourable barrister onght to strive to eavn for his profession
in the public mind P I have listened with attention and admiration to the speeches
of my learned friends on the other side, and I venture to say that they are fall
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topics' ‘calculated to mislead the jury, to  raise irrelevaut issmes. Tt is mow
my part to clear away the obscuvity which ignoranee or intentional misve-
Eﬂi;&:m has thrown around a very simple cage. Both in the newspapers and'
1 thie ranks of my own profession a lamentable want of knowledge has been exhi-
bited. The proposition which I am bound to establish in order to entitle me to a
verdiet is, not that Mr. Windham is' a madman o an idiot, but that he comes
within the category of persons who are not of such sound mind'as to be able to
manage themselves and their affairs. Buch was the doetrine laid down in the
Portsmouth dand other cases, and that doetrine is npheld and advoeated by all
our best and highest medical and  scientiff authorities. -~ Another popular mistake
was expressed by Sir Hugh Cairns when he spoke in such eloquent terms of the
horrible condition to which his relatizes proposed to reduce Mr. Windham. Ewery-:
body knows, or ought to know, that we bave done with the dark cells, the shackles,
the' straw, and the strait-waistcoat, and have adopted a system in our lunatie asyluma:
which is not only beautiful in theory bubt admirable in practice: Yet a great
equity lawyer, backed by two distinguished common law barristers; has endeavoured
to persuade the jury that Mr. Windbam is to be immured in & madhouse of the
old type, shut out from the world and from his friends, instead of being entrusted,
as recommended even by Dr. Conolly, to the eare of some good, kind, virtuona
friend, who would watch over him, advise him, and gradually prepare him for being
able at some time or other to manage himself and his affairs. . The object of my
learned friend is plain and obvious, It is sofficiently betrayed by tbe wild and
unjustifiable attacks which, in language rarely heard in our courts of justice, and
somewhat going beyond the wide limits of even forensic licensze, they have made
upon. the whole body of petitioners. As an advocate, I ought to rejoice ab
those attacks, for it is a rule of oratory which Mr. Coleridge, no doabt, has.
stodied in classical aunthorities, that when you are trombled with a lack of
argnment upon the real point at issue, you should abuse in the most unsparing and
virnlent langnage everybody opposed to yon. Without the slightest justification
all the petitioners had been attacked in . guccession by Sir Hugh Cairns, Mr.
Karslake, and Mr. Coleridge, and, to take the measure of time; three or four hours
have been employed in vilifying General Windham aund his friends. I have no hesita-
tion in taking upon myself the whole responsibility, of not putting unnecessary
witnesses iuto the box, and of telling General,\WWindham that, as he kmew little or
nothing of the main points at issue, it would be worse than useless to ask him to
give evidence.. But the] jury themselves, when they reflect upon the long
catalogue of guestions which Sir Hugh Cairna submitted. to their attention as
questions which he should have liked to put to General Windham, cannct fail to
see that the only and soleebject was to worry and torment an active and
influential petitioner, = Ewen, however, if General! Windbham had sobmitted
himself to the tender mercies of BSir Hugh Cairns and his colleagues the
maledictions and  objurations. hezped upon him could not well have been
stronger or more outrageous than they have Lieen already. In their ungovern-
able wrath against the petitioners, ladies as well as gentlemen, my 'learned
friends have used terms which are not unworthy of a place very near the Thames,
and not far from the Tower, They have even attacked myself, “ hut let the galled
Jade wince, my withers are unwrang,” and will the gaMant general say the same
thing. 1 have patiently bided my time, and now I venture to say that, without
eause or necessity, the %rﬂmusﬁmputationﬁ have been infrodaced into the case for
the purpose of doing that which my learned friends affect so much to deplore—
viz., creating a false and unjnst prejudice, and leading the attention of the jury
away from the real question before them. If'T had called all the petitioners into
the witness:box, Sir Hugh Cairns’ wounld have said that, as interested parties,
gpeaking for their own benefit, their evidence waa not entitled to the smallest
weight; and therefore T resolved, as a duty which I owed to Mr. Windham, to the
Jory, and to the public, not to produce unuecessary witnesses  who could say
nothing to the purpose. What has been the result of my forbearance, and what
were the epithets which a barrister has thought fit to bestow npon a kero? 1f T
had only heard the expression of Sir Hugh Caitns when he declared that General
Windham was skulking in the seat beside hiz counsel, T should’ have contented
myself with saying, “a word hastily spoken, but as quickly, as heartily, and as
bitterly repented.” Buat when, during the speech of Mr. Karslake, T leard the
words ““slink," “moral coward,” “carpet knight;” and other epithets cnlled from a
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vocabulary which, in my early days, was unknown among gentlemen, then, indeed,
T think that malignity stalks abroad,and that it is time to rouse myself and declare
how shameful, or how shameless, such language ig in a conrt of justice. Slink,
skulk, moral coward! Was Mr. Karslake, when he presnmed to talk thus of General
Windham, entirely ignorant of the anmals of his conntry ? The cheers of his
brother soldiers, his election by the gentlemen and yeomen of his own county, the
honours bestowed upon him by the State for conspicuous public services testify
to the character and ability of General Windham. k Skulk, coward, carpet knight!
General Windham bas won his fame upon the battle-field. He has songht
# __ the bubible reputation
Even in the cannon’s mouth,”
and gathered his laurels
¢ ____ § theimminent deadly breach.”
General Windham is mot a fit subject for the abuse of lawyers. His country has
acknowledgzed his services. He never skulked in the hour of peril. Sufferings
and hardships almost unexampled he has endured, like his brave comrades,
with manly fortitnde. When we were sleeping in our beds in comfort and happiness
he was at the post of danger, and it was there he won his glory. Such epithets
ag Mr. Karslake has bestowed him he could shake from him like *dewdrops from
the lion’s mane” A gnat may sting a lion, or a gadfly a horse, but it is only a
gnat or a gadfly after all, while the horse or the lion remains the same a3 before. 1t is
deeply to be regretted that General Windham should have been so rudely and
coarsely assailed, and I may be permitted to express the hope thatin a public
court of justice in future an honourable officer will be protected from attacks made
for the purpose of withdrawing attention from the real merits of a most important
and most difficult case. The learned gentleman then proceeded to analyse
the evidence for the defence, with the view of showing that, even according
to his own witnesses, Mr. Windham was no more capable of protecting
himself from cheats and sharpers than a child of twelve years of age. He ridiculed
the theory advanced on the other side, thatall the absurd, extravagant, and irrational
acts committed by Mr, Windham were to be ascribed to a neglected and defective
education and not to unsoundness of mind. No young gentleman ever had more
care and anxiety bestowed upon him; no young gentleman of his rank ever had
more money laid ont upon him. Everything had been done to train and educate
him, but trial after trial had failed, and his mind remained a barren soil, ineapabla
of cultivation. Time had made no impression upon him, and he was now what he
had always been—a noisy person, dirty in his habits, rude in his manner, incoherent,
. inconsequential and irrational in his conversation, incompetent to manage affairs
or to prevent himself from being victimised by designing sconndrels of both sexes.
The learned gentleman had not coneluded his speech when the Court adjourned.

THIRTY-FIRST DAY.—MonNnaY, JANUARY 27.

The adjourned inquiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrige-
hall, Norfolk, was resnmed to-day in the Westminster Sessions-house, before Mr.
Warren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special Jury. 1

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams, appeared for the
petitioners ; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother
of the alleged lunatic ; Sir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward,
for Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windham.

Mr. Chambers :—I resnme my reply for the petitioners by saying that with
respect to one portion of the testimony, at least, there was no absclute contradiction
or inconsistency. I refer to the evidence of what may be called the experts in
medical science. Although there is an adage that doctors often disagree, yet, in
point of snbstance, the medical men who have come forward for the purpose of
showing that Mr. Windham is not in a state of mind to take care of himself and his
affairs are not contradicted by those who hava been examiued on the part of the
alleged lunatic. The doctors who have appeared for Mr. Windham are partisans of
the strange theory, that all the weakness, all the imbecility, all the extraordinary
condnot of the alleged l]nnntir:., is to be ascribed to a defective or neglected educa-
tion ; and my learned friends on the other side, in their eloguent and impassioned
appeals to the jury, adopting a suggestion probably derived from medical consult=
ations, have dwelt upon the fact that Mr, Windham is not an imbecile, s not an
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idiot, and is not insane, There cannot be a greater fallacy than the one involved
in this argument. The doctrine laid down by Lord Eldon and Sir John Nicholl is
clear and explicit, and acting upon this doctrive the jury must inevitably come to
the conclusion that Mr. Windham is of such unsound mind as renders him incapable
to take care of himself and his property, and that it is sheir duty to protect him
from being vietimized or destroyed by those persons who are always ready to prey
upon weakness and imbecility, especially when accompanied by wealth. But Dr. Tuke
and his professional friends do not recognise any intermediante state between absolute
idiocy and lunacy, and their statements upon that point, though opposed in {oto
to the law of England as declared by Lord Eldon and Bir John Nicholls, have
formed the basis of the argument advanced on behalf of Mr. Windham, In
reality, however, some of the doctors have placed Mr. Windham ir the category the
existence of which they deny, and npon their evidence alone the jury could have
no hesitation in saying that the alleged lunnbic is clearly in that intermediate
eondition between absolute idiecy and - positive madness or lunacy, accompanied
with delosions, which eotitle him to the protection of the law. Dr. Tuke, though
acting thronghout rather in the spirit of an attorney than in that of a disinterested
gcientific witness, has admitted that if Mr. Windham had settled the whole of his
property upon his wife he wounld have regarded him as imbecile. Why, Mr.
Windham has given away more than the whole of his property, and therefore,
according to his own scientific witness, he is incompetent to manage himself and
his affuirs. Nor is it possihle for any one to read the placard addressed to *the
peaple of Great Britain” withiout coming to the same conclusion. | That outrageous
document, calling upon the people to meet in Hyde Park, and even appealing to
the Queen to exercise her prerogative on behalf of Mr. Windham, shows con-
clusively that the alleged lunatic was completely under the control and deminion
of Roberts in Piccadilly, and was consequently in a state reguiring protection. . Dr,
Edward Seymour might be called the general consoler.  The most extraordinary,
acts were no proofs of insanity to him, and he seemed to be of epinion that all the
lonatic asyloms of England might be swept away to-morrow with great advantage
to the community. Sir Hugh Cairns, without any renson or foundation for his
statement, has called Dr. Mayo the champion and standard-bearer of the theory of
moral insanity. - It is to be hoped that Dr. Seymour does not intend to put him-
self forward as the champion and standard-bearer of the theory of universal sonity.
But even Dr. S8eymour has admitted that Mr. Windham, to use his own expres-
sion, was "young for his years in other words; is in that state of childishness
which renders him inecompetent to manage himself and his affairs. The leading
error committed by Dr. Sutherland is, that he ignoves and does not recognise the
middle region between idiocy and lunacy in which Mr. Windham is placed, and
hence his evidence cannot be regarded as of the least importance in the present
case. Dr. Conolly is too good-natured. He is one of the kindest men living, and
it is not surprising to hear that he would hesitate before putting Mr. Windham
into a lunatic asylam. But even Dr. Conolly has admitted that hothing can save
Mr. Windham' except being placed under the charge of some good, kind, virtuons
friend. Why, that is all the petitioners want, and Dr. Conelly might be taken as
their witnese. I next examine the medical evidence given in support of the peti-
tion, and remark that Drs. Winslow and Mayo have not been treated with common
fairness. Dr. Winslow, in a large portion of hig evidence, merely forestalled state-
ments which were subsequently made by the medical witnesses for Mr. Windham.
One of the most important facts elicited by Dv. Winslow was that Mr. Windham
knew that the night before her marriage his wife, the immaculate Miss Willoughby,
glept in the same house with a former paramour. Sgeh was his inexpressible idiocy
that he led his bride to the altar hot from a bed of lewdness and vice. His con-
tinued intimacy with Roberts, after that person had told him that he had slept
with his wife before her marriage, was another proof of his utter want of deccncy
and honcur. When a man marries a woman of equivocal character he makes up
his mind to it, but he mever dreams, unless he is imbecile, of taking her to the
house of a person who has slept with her before marringe. Dr. Winslow,
therefore, is perfectly justified in saying  that no man would have acted as
Mr. Windham has done unless he were drunk, drugged, or insame. The medical
evideneée, in short, is complete and conclusive. It does mot prove that Mr.
Windham is an idiot or a lanatic, but it establishes beyond a shadow of doubt that
B is in a state und coundition of mind which entitles him and his property
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the protoction of the Sovercign. The learned connsel next referred to the evidenes
of Mr. Haneock, ‘the surgeon, who had, deposed that by reason of the peculiar
formation of his mouth, Mr. Windham conld not speak or laugh like other people,
while the process of deglutition must be.accompanied by an unusual sound, and
unless extraordivary power was used in ‘gontrolling it, there must be a constant
slavering at the mouth. = What happened  after Mz, Hancock left the box?
Witness after witness came forward and said that they had never cbserved anything
pecaliar or strange in My, Windham's laogh, in the sound wof his woice when
speaking, or in his manner of eating, They proved too much, for according to
them certain things never existed which 1 Mr. Hancack, an experienced anatomist,
had previously said must be. 'No donbt, he continned, Mr. Hancock has accarately
described the structure of Mr. Windham’s month; bub thab structure, if it proves
anything, shows that Mr. Windham belongs to the imbecile class. The general
evidence for Mr. Windham ecorroborates in all esseutial respects that for the
petitioners. It convincingly proves that Mr. Windham in point of mental capacity ia
now, and always has been much below the average ; that he is dirty in his habits,
untruthfal, rude, and boisterons in his manners ; that his conversation is irrational,
ineoherent and inconsequential. I ask the jury to pay noattention to the testimony
of the servants and dependants from Fellbrigg-hall, and direct your attention to the
fact that Mr. and Mrs. Martin whatever they mayhave said in court, have, from
first to last treated Mr. Windham just like a child. The evidence of the tradesmen
from Norwich, being that of interested persons, should be. received with suspicion,
but such as it is, it tends to prodnce the conviction that the allegations of the peti-
tioners ave true. It will be recollected that -during the cross-examination of Mr,
Howlett, the ironmonger of Norwich, a most important disclosure has been mada,
viz., that Mr. Windham has frequently visited the Haymarket since the commence-

menk of these proceedings, thus showing that he iz utterly unconsciots of the pinch

of the case and of the lamentable position in which he is placed. For that piece of
information I am indebted, not to a spy, but to one of those remarkable and useflul
acoidents which oconr in a court of justice for the establishment of truth and the
destruction of falsehood. It has been proved by Mr. Horrocks that when residing in
Sandgate Mr. Windham visited the camp at Shorncliffe, but the officers complained of
his conduct and requested that he might be kept away. A Mr. Drew, whoat one time
kept an inn at Sandgate, hut who is now the landlord of an hotel in the Strand, has
been produced to say that Mr. Windham associated with the officers at Shorneliffe ;
but notone of these officers have madetheir appearance. Here then is a class of
witnesses “conspicnous by their absence.” He also remarked on the absence of
Lady Sophia Giubilei and of Mr. Chappel her solicitor, and stated that it indicated
prettv clearly what their real opinion of the mental condition of the alleged lunatic
was. Sir Edmund Lacon, and the other officers in the East Norfolk Militia hava per-
haps satisfied the jury that he was guilty of no misconduct ab mess in Yarmouth,
but none of them have declared that he was ever intimate with Mr. Windham ;
while the acknowledgment made by Adjutant Holmes, that he might have said he
was “an awfal liar,” conclusively shows that he was not.a fit associate for officers.
I ridicule ‘the evidence of Lord Clande Hamilton, Sir Henry Robinson, Captain
Tves, and others, and T contend that it has nothing to do with the present case, and
is conseqnently not entitled to the smallest weight. Sir William Foster has said in
effect, 1 come here to prove Mr. Windham sane and competent, but I am bound teo
admit that he is below par and requires assistance,” whicl!qs precisely what the
petitioners allege. T now turn to the general evidence shich has been adduced on
the part of the petitioners, and I argue that it is credible, consistent, and conclusive.
Tt shows that in spite of all the attempts to cultivate his mind and improve his
manners Mr. Windham eannot be advanced beyond that state of childishness which
yenders him an easy prey to cheats and swindlera. The witnesses for the petition
have been subjected to every species of vituperation, bub their evidence remains
unshaken, and T cannot help thinking that the ecase which requires to be sup-
ported by such language as that wsed by Sir Hugh Oairns, Mr. Coleridge, and Mr.
Karslake, must be a desperate and hopeless one. MMr. Karslake has talked of the
clan Bristol, and Sir Hugh Cairns has represented the petitioners as at once cruel
and deceitful, The truth is that they have been compelled by considerations of
common humanity to interpose between Mr. Windham and destruction, and the

time will yet come when all will acknowledge that it is a baee slander to
gay that they are influenced by deceitfal, cruel, or intevested motives im
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m steps they have taken to save their vouthful relative. I am astonished
hat Mr. Coleridge, for the purpose of attacking persons of position and influence,
should have enunciated doctrines more extraordinary than any that ever fell from
Iflm lips of a profligate ﬂ_mh'nus of confounding vice with virtue and making
wickedness appear to be innocence and gooduess, and should have exposed to the
affrighted gaze of tne public a circle which is generally banished from the recollec-
tion of those who move in decont society, or which, when it is remembered at all,
is thought of with lamentation and distress. Mr. Coleridge, in fact, has spoken of
the aristocracy as if they were the most despicable race in England ; and as if the
pyramid of society rested upon its apex jnstead of its base. I mysell have been
attacked in nnsparing and virulent language. A great equity lawyer has aceused
me of condueting this inquiry as if it were a case of petby larceny; but I can bear
Buch twits as these, because I stand here as an independent man, owing nothing to
favour, and because, although I have been engaged in petty larceny cases, iu nius

rius cases, and in ranning-down cases, I have never been driven in pure despera~

ion to make an unwarrantable attack upon those opposed io me.

The learned gentleman had not concluded when the inquiry was adjourned.

THIRTY-SECOND DAY.—TuEsnay, Janvany 28,

The adjonrned inguiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg
hall, Norfolk, was resumed to-day in the Westminster Sessions- house, before Mr,
Warren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special Jary. :

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams, appeared for the
petitioners ; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Ginbilei, the mother
of the alleged lunatic ; Sir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward,
for Mr. William Frederick Windham ;: and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windham.
. Since the speeches began the proceedings have been unusually dull, but the
thirty-second day of the inguiry was marked by an incident which, in the absence
of more interesting matter, may bs worthy ﬂg note. Mr. Chambers had not pro-
ceeded far when he suddenly stopped and complained that Dr. Gwin, one of the
witnesses for Mr. Windham, was staring him in the face and grinning from ear to
ear. Such conduct, he said, was neither fair nor polite, and he requested that Dr.
Gwin, who was sitting opposite to him, should be asked to remove to another part
of the court. The Master complied with the request of the learned counsel, which
‘was backed by the foreman of the jury, and Dr. Gwin, who was now grave enough,
whatever he might have been before, changed his seat. Unfortunately, however,
in the horry of the moment, he placed himself immediately below Mr. Chambers.
who again asked him to go somewhere else. . The Master interposed a second time,
and eventually Dr. Gwin found a resting place in a dark corner out of sight, where
‘he remained for the rest of the day.

Mr. Chambers, resuming his speech for the petitioners, commenced by directing the
atteution of the jury to the general evidence against Mr. Windham, reserving for after
consideration the residence in Duke-street, the marriage with Miss Willonghby, and
ihe timber contragt. He said:—I vindicate the character and professional attainments
of Drs. Nichol and Dalrymple, of Norwich, which have been unjustly and virulently at-
tacked, and I maintain that the testimony of those gentlemen proves Mr. Windham to
be & congenital imbecile, able to protect himself from physical injury, but utterly in-
competent to the management of affairs. What gives peculiar force and value to

~ their evidence is that they have kuown the Windham family for many years, and
. have enjoyed opportunities of observing the alleged lunatie from his birth npwards.

One of them, indeed—Dr. Nichol—had examined him at the request of his futher in

« early childhood, and had even then formed and expressed the opinion that, if not
. an absolute idiot, he was a person of unsound mind and would never be enpable of

managing himself or his affairs. Evidence to the same effect has been given by Dr
Jobnstone of Nerwich, Dr. Buck, of Cromer, and Dr, Tllingworth of London, all
%eutlmen of considerable experience and eminence in their profession, and witnesses
_whose candour and truthfulness cannot for a moment be questioned. To aseail

ch men with scorn and ridienle may be very clever, but it is an unmistakeable

mptom of a desperate and hopeless case, and can have no effect upon the jury.
ﬂﬁ attempt has likewise been made to cast diseredit upon the tutors who have given
‘evidence in support of the petition. Surely, however, it will not be pretended for

1 8n instant that gentlemen of position and attainments, all of them clergvmen of the

hurch, have deliberately come forward and perjured themselves for the purpose of
. s 5
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destroying a former pupil. Mr. Cheales has minutely and graphically described the
conduct and habits of Mr. Windham at Eton—his rude and boisterous behaviour,
hia dirtiness, his blubbering, his glavering at the mouth, his fondness for low com-
y and low pursnits—and that conduct and those habits were consistent only with
the appellation of ** mad Windham,” which his acute schoolfellows bestowed upon the
alleged lunatic. I argue that if Mr. Windham was in the fifth form at all,
which has not been clearly proved, he gob there by favour and mot by
examination, and I cite the evidence of Mr. Hale, the mathematical master, to show
that he was unable to do the school work, was & boy of weak intellect, and was
kept o long at Eton out of mere charity and pity- Aftar leaving Eton Mr. Windham
regided with his mother in Torquay-. He was then about seventeen years of age,
and yet, according to the testimony *f Mr. Goodwin, his tator, he was so much of a
child that he tried to ride his mother like a horse, turned arough dog loose among
the ladies at an evening party, and ate his meala in a voracions and offensive
manner. Next came Colonel Bathurst, formerly an officer in the Guards, a gentle-
_ man against whom not a single word could be said by the most unscrupulous
advocate. The jury would recollect the kind, modest, and gentlemanly tone ic
which Colonel Bathurst gave his evidence, but that evidence, careful and measured
as it was, indicated such a want of mental power on the part of Mr. Windham as
sendered him incapable of taking care of his property. Colonel Bathurst spoke to
‘gudden, violent, and unprovoked fits of passion ; fo behaviour ir the presence of
ladies showing something more than a mere want of the manners of society ; to ab
Neast one act of cruelty to animals; to an uiterignorance of the value or the use of
‘money; and to habita and ingtinets inconsistent with mental soundness. An
jnhuman attack has been made upon Mrs. Wilkinson, and almost at the last momenk
Mr. Karslake has been instructed, contrary good feeling and to right
taste, to insinuate that she endeavoured at Spa to catch Mr. Windham
for her danghter Clara. There is not the slightest foundation for that unfair and
‘angallant insinnation, nor can it be said with any degree of trth or reason that
Mre. Wilkinson, a-lady of education and elegant manners, has either intentionally
or inadvertently made one inaccurate statement. She has made Mr. Windham out
to be a mere baby, and her testimony has nob been shaken in cross.examination
Cornet Whiteside, who travelled with Mr. Windham in Switzerland for more than
a fortnight, and whose testimony cannot be doubted, has described him as indecent,
rude, and unmannerly in his conduct, and has expressed his opinion, founded npon
personal observation, thab he was an idiot and an imbecile. Do the jury believe
{Cornet Whiteside, or do they not? He is an officer and a gentleman; he must
‘gnderstand the point of honour, and nobody has ventured to contradict his state-
ments. Mr. Horrocks. who was tutor to Mr. Windham after his return from the
- continent, has been abused and villified, but his avidence has not been touched in any
‘§mportant particular, and it entirely confirms that of his predecessor, proving that
Mr. Windham, when approaching his majority, was in reality a dirty, untruthfal,
‘noisy, and somewhat gpiteful child. So also with respect to Mr. Peatfield, who
aucceeded Mr. Horrocks, and remained with Mr. Windham until the time of his
marriage, at the end of August last. As Colonel Bathurst has attempted to
jmprove Mr. Windham by foreign travel, so Mr. Peatfield tried to improve him by
travel in Scotland and elsewhere, but with equal yant of success. He found his
pupil incapable of cultivation or improvement. In the streets of Edinburgh the
condnet of Mr. Windham was of the most ontrageous description, and attractede the
attention of crowds. The acts described by Mr. Peatfield conld have heen com-
mitted ouly by a man overcome with drink or an imbecile. It has been proved
that drunkenness wWas not one of the vicea which could be attributed to Mr.
Windham, and hence the conclusion ia inevitable that when he danced, sung,
and howled in the gtreete of Edinburgh he was guffering, not from too much wing,
but from unsoundness of mind. I deny the statement of Sir Hugh Cairns and
Mr. Karsleke, that he introduced the Marquis of Bristol and Lord Alfred Hervey
with considerable pomp and parade. He has not been guilty of any guch snobbish=
ness; but I venture to eay that no two witnesses ever gave their evidence with
more calmness, With greater propriety, or with a gtronger determination not 0
exaggerate or overstate. The Marquis of Bristol has dealt very tenderly with |
his nephew, but he ended by saying, ‘hese proceedings have my entire sanction,”
and his declaration was repeated by Lord Alfred Hervey, one of the gnardiamuf!
the alleged lunatic appoioted by the Court of Chaucery. Lord Alfred has described |




195

a scene in 8t. James's-square, when he found his nephew, with his jacket off and
hia shirt-sleeves tucked up, assisting the servants to clear away the dinner-sable,
which everybody must accept as a proof ofimbecility, Another fact mentioned by
Lord Alfred is,tthat when it was proposed to send Mr. Windham abroad, the latter
actually believed that General Windbham wanted to poison him, in order that he
might get possession of his property. Why, that almost amounted to a delusion,
and it might be taken as proving that Mr. Windham is something like a lunatic,
I will next refer to what took place as Fellbrigz-hall the day before Mr. Windham
came of age, when Mr. Jackson, a respectable solicitor, proposed, with the con-
currence of General Windham, a re-settlement of the Fellbrigg property. My
learned friends on the other side have twisted that proposal into an attempt on the
part of General Windham to benefit himself and his family at the expense ofa
person whom he believed at the time to be an idiot. Nothing of the kind. In acase
of insanity every effort is invariably made, up to the very last moment, by
the friends of the alleged lunatic, especially when he is' a youth, to keep him in
the right path and to protect his property. Suoch is precisely the course which
General Windham has followed with respect to his nephew. The proposal made by
Mr. Jackson, with his knowledge and sanction, was intended for the sole purpose
of benefitting young Mr. Windham, and its rejection by thealleged lunatic, equally
with the reasons he gave for his conduct, only showed he was incompetent to under-
stand his own interests. It is true, then, that General Windham tried to treat
his nephew as a rational agent ; perhaps he hoped he was a._ rational agent ; but it
iz eqeally true that he might as well have hammered at the head of a rhinoceroa
as attempted to make the plainest matter intelligible to his unfortunate and
afflicted relative. The only advantage which General Windbam could have
derived from the proposal, if it had been carried out, was that in the event
of his nephew dying withont issue he would have been able to continue in
the Windham family a mausion-house and an estate which had been in their
possession for 400 years. Mr. Windham—who, since he came of age, has
enjoyed the services of no fewer than seven attorneys, itself a proof of weak-
pess of mind—has now disentailed the Fellbrigg property, which might con-
sequently at any moment fall into the clutches of the bad persons by whom he is
surrounded. I now enter upon the affair of the Lewellins. I contend that the
evidence of the Lewellins, husband and wife, is subatantially true. It has been con-
firmed to a great extent by Mr. Peatfield, the Rev, Mr, Baty, and other witnesses of
unimpeachable character. No effort has been spared to destroy it, but it remains
unshaken, and I submit it to the consideration of the jury as alike important, con-
clusive, and trustworthy. The attempt to disprove it by the testimony of dig-
charged servants, and of those two anhappy creatures, Conway and Eliza Dignam,
has signally failed, and only shows how desperate and hopeless i3 the case of my:
learned friends on the other side. The learned counsel examined the evidence
of the railway witnesses at some length. He said :—I maintain that nobody
except a born idiot would have allowed his wife to travel with such a

n a8 Roberts in a first-class carriage, with the door Jocked and the
‘blinds drawn down, all the way from London to Norwich, The whole of his
conduct on the Eastern connties line—his driving the engine, his acting the part of a
guard or porter, his working as a common stoker, his blowing a whistle to start the
‘train, thereby endangering the lives of hundreds of passengers—was utterly incon-
sistent with soundness of mind, and can be attributed only to great mental
(deficiency. So with the acts and events described by the policemen from the Hay-
market and its neighbonrhood. For a considerable” period Mr. Windhar was in
the habit of frequenting the Haymarket, where the police generally saw him in the
‘company of prostitutes, screeching, singing, howling, dancing, and assaulting the
people in the street. He was ridiculed by the women more than other young
‘gentlemen, and the police invariably treated him as a person who counld not be held.
responsible for his acts. At Norwich, Yarmouth, and elsewhere, he represented
‘himself to be a detective from London, and seemed to harbour the delusive idea
‘that he actually was in the police force. The learned counsel was proceeding to
comment upon the marriage, when :

inquiry was again adjourned,

————— ol
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THIRTY-THIRD DAY.—WEeDNESDAY, JANUARY 29.

The adjonrned inquiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed to-day in the Westminster Sessiona-homse, before Mr.
Warren, ().C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special Jury. k

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams, appeared for the
petitioners ; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of
the alleged lnnatic ; Sir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward, for
Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mra. Windham.

Mr. Chambers, in continning his speech, said he now approached one of the most
extraordinary scenes ever exhibited in a court of justice—I speak of the marriage
of Mr. Windham. If thatstood alone, and the matters connected with it, no man
who zave his impartial and cool consideration to the case would hesitate to say that
it was the marriage of an imbecile, and not the marriage of a sane man. I will begin
almost at tbe beginning. How did this marriage arise ? Mr. Karslake, in the
course of his specch, has alluded {o certain letters which appeared in the news-
papers referring to a class of persons called * pretty horsebreakers.” That con-
troversy amused the public for a considerable time, although I cannot say it has
any tendency to benefit public morals, The object of the letters appears to be to
gatisty people who lived in decent society that those persons deserved the epithet of
‘pretty horsebreakers, although they were not horsebreakers, and could assuredly
not be pretty., Mr. Windham's feeble mind seemed to bave been attracted either
by what he had read in the newspapers, or by the idle conversation he had heard
in the Haymarket or other places of respectable reeort, and he remarked to his good
housekeeper and friend, Mrs. Martins, that he wonld rather marry a pretty horse-
breaker than a lady. In that circumstance, gentlemen of the jury, you will
goe in Mr. Windham a desire to mix with low society rather than with society
of his own station. That taste for low and disreputable society which was
found in him in his childhood, continued from his youth, when he was fond of asso-
ciating with waiters and servants, and of helping them in the discharge of their
‘duties. Such being the facts with regard to Mr. Windham, I will now come to the
history of Miss Agnes Willonghby née Rogers. Shein the first instance had described
" s a clergyman’s daughter, her father having left her £600 a-year, her two

herselt
sisters having also been liberally provided for by this beneficed clergyman. By
“Miss Willonghby this child Windham, whom she called * her boy,” was introduced
to Mr. Bowen May, upon whose professional conduct connected with this matter I
regret to say I cannot pass any compliments, for such a marriage settlement has
been drawn up as I believe has never been drawn up in any respectable office. Mr.
Windham was lured on to this by the statement of Agnes Willoughby, who stated
that by her marriage she should be giving up an annuity of £2,000, which was jusé
as questionable as that she was a_clergyman’s daughter, and that her father

left £600 a.year. It was no doubt an excellent and delicate device, and
none but an idiot could for a moment have believed it. The learned counsel
‘haviog commented on Mr. Bowen May's further conneetion with the prelimi
transacticns, and the consultations which Mr., Windham had with Mr. E
Tllingworth and Mr, Johnston, the surgeons, and with Dr. Whidborna on the
marriage morning, on the same subject, at the request of Miss Willoughby herself
came to the * deseeration of the marriage ceremony on that aupspicious marriage
morning.” The poor dupe, who had been caged op all night, was taken to the
drawing-room of a honse in Blenheim-terrace, St. John’s-wood, where there were
three dresged-up clowns (I do not include Mr. Bowen May, who is always the pink
of elegance) consisting of Mies Willoughby’s brother and two other persons. It is
represented that they had zood clothes on, but they did not look like gentlemen.
Probably they had gone to the establishment of Moses and Son, for it is well known
that a man may go into that establishment a clown and come out a perfect nobleman,
star and garter and all.  (Loud langhter.) Then there were the mother of Agnes
Willonghby, the widow of the Rev. Mr. Rogers, and Agnes Willoughby's twa
‘sisters, who acted as bridesmaids. They went all together to the retired church ab
‘the corner of Grove-road, where the solemn ceremony of marriage was degraded
and disgraced. None buta madman could have taker part in such a procession.
follow them to Paris where they were to pass the happy honeymoon. I shouldlike |
to see the man servant who accompanied them to Paris ; where he was whipped up i
is impossible to say, for he is one of the Rogers’ appointments. There a quarrel arosej |
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the lady—not the gentleman—wished to go to the Jardin Mabille, a place not
distinguished for the choicest manners or the purity of its morals. Probably it had
been whispered to Mr. Windham, that it wonld not he exactly the thing for a newly.
married man to take his bride to such a place, particularly as the gentleman was
fond of telling everybody he met that he was the great Mr, Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall. At length they left Paris and returved to Fellbrigg. While stopping on the
way, at Norwich, Mr. Windham was met by Mr. Gwyn, the surgeon, in
a puoblic-honsa yard. Mr. Gwyn, who was a perfect stranger, went up to
Mr. Windham, and asked to give him some shooting. Mr. Windham said,
“O0h, yes, come upstairs, and I will introdnce you to my wife.” After
that Mr. Gwyn went to Fellbrigg-hall, and became installed as the medical
attendant of this poor simpleton. It was during Mr. Gwyn's stay at Fellbrigg
that Mrs. Windham went away. When she returned the family doctor was there,
- and the poor idiot was persuaded that he had inflicted upon his wife a frightful
disorder. For this he was induced to make compensation to her of many thousand
" pounds. Meanwhile every attempt had been made to sweep aAWay every sixpence
that this youngz man counld get at by the sacrifice of any portion of his property.
The learned counsel proceeded to examine Mr. Windham's banking account,
showing that he had reduced his account to £17, a large sum being drawn
in favour of Mrs. Windham and Mr. Roberts, without making the slightest provision
for meeting any one of Emmanuel's bills. He said if he had been a free man he
would have been unable to meet them, and would have been entirely begzared.
He was a poor idiot to accept those bills in favour of people who wers plunging
bim into inevitable ruin. The next point touched upon by Mr. Chambers was the
timber contract, relying upon the jury to say that this was the most extraordinary
dealing with timber which was growing that was ever engaged in by any timber-
broker since they had known anything of the commercial world—a fransaction by
which a poor idiot had been duped and cheated. In concluding his speech Mr.
Chambers said that during these proceedings Mr. Windham had been reconciled to
his wife, throngh the instrumentality of Mr. Gwyn, the family doctor, who
introdaced himself by asking for two days’ shooting. He said 1 hope that I have
eonvinced you gentlemen of the jury that Mr., Windham is labouring under such a
state of mind as renders & man incompetent to manage his affairs. As crimes are
mow punished, property protected, so does the law protect the imbecile and the
insane who ave likely to be injured in wealth, health, character, and life. That is
the spiris of the English law. Sir Hugh Cairns has referred to a very admirable
guotation from Virgil, setting forth the horrible condition of a man who,

the command of an ancient tyrant, was chained to dead corruption.
I refer to one who by modern craft and cunning will be fettered to
modern corruption unless you gentlemen of the jury will say that at
the time he was so lured he was not competent to manage himself. Do you
not think the quotation would be more referrible to Mr. Windham if he shonld be
released ? If you find him of sound mind the whole of the property of the poo.
young Mr. Windham will be seized upon by those ugly birda who will soon fly into
the'portals of Fellbrigg. Mr. Windham will be turned from the doors, and hecome
an outcast in the world. Where is he to go? Will he go to the ancient haunts ?
Will these ancient haunts receive him? The portals of the hospitable shop of Mr.
Barnes, in the Haymarket, receive him? No; they will be closed agaiust his
entrance. Within a year, or within a shorter period, he will he deprived of even s
sixpence with which to pay for a glass of ale at any of these night hounses at which
in times past he has spent his money so freely. Bnt what will be his cendition
even hefore he comes to that? Do you think that when he goes to the park, or to
those clegant resorts of refined society which Mr. Coleridge had so eloguently
described, there will be ladies riding without grooms, and with vestive
horses, ready to ncoept his kind offices, and, in consideration of his kind
offices, inviting him to call npon them as often as he pleased? No, no! It wonid
| be—‘ Begone rags and wretchedness.” Mr, Windham mnst be saved. Am
I going too far in saying he shall be saved? But if he is to be saved—
\#aved from ruin of health and character, from disease and wretchedness of
| life, from disgrace, from scorn, from repulsion—from repulsion from the doors of
|his own wife, who will be living in luxary upon her £800 or £1,500 a-year—he
must be saved throngh the instrumentality of those relatives who have come
forward to do their duty, through evil report and gross abuse; and I feel confident
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thmt he will be saved by the law of the land, and by the verdict which the jury pro-
nonnces.
The Master having stated his intention to sum up before examining the alleged
lanatie, the court adjourned for a few minutes for refreshment. On re-assembling,
Master Warren proceeded to sum up. He said, gentlemen of the jury, at last this
digions, and, in point of time, unprecedented case has come into the hands of
myself and the jury, to be dealt with calmly and justly, as became men acting
nnder a solemn sense of sworn responsibility. As has been obzerved, the case
involves issnes the most momentous of any mot involving life and death—
momentons also to a reflecting and enlightened public,” as to the
principles upon which it has to be determined. The excitement exist-
ing out of doors in this case must be sternly excluded from this
court, of justice with reference to the question now before us. If what has occurred
in this court has excited feelings of irritation and impatience in those who have
only read the details of the proceedings, what must have been the case with us
who have been compelled by a sense of duty to sit there and listen, often with
a shudder of loathing and of deep disgust? We have listened patiently, but our
eyes have been fixed all the while exclusively, unwearingly, on the one great
painful and difficult question which the constitation of the country placed in your
hands, and in your hands alone. No one is entitled or justified at this stage of the
roceedings in pronouncing an opinion upon them, as to their final determination,
who has not been here from first to last, and seen what we have seen, and without
hearing every witness from first to last, and judging for themselves under the pres-
sure of their respective oaths. So much has been said by the learned counsel
on both siles as to the .character of the proceedings that I shall only give a
very brief account of what is the true position of the matters before you, and
how they have come before you. From first to last they have been conducted
with exemplary regularity and with vigorous adherence to the law of the
land. In November an application was made to the Lords Justices for a commission
in lunacy. A vast body of contradictory evidence being brought before them by
affidavit, there was no other course for them but to do as they had done, and to
gend the matter to be determined by a jury. On the face of the order by virtue of
which yon are here, it appears that there are fifteen petitioners, including the wives
of the respective male petitioners. It appears also, that the proceedings were con-
enrred in by the entire family of Mr. William Frederick Windham, with the exception
of his mother, Lady Sophia Giubilei. For a time I and yourselves had been under
the impression that she concurred in the proceedings ; but by the lips of her counsel
ghe has repudiated any sanction, and her husband has sworn that she disapproved
of them. The order was dated Nov. 3, 1861, and the gquestion which the Lords
TJustices had sent you to decide is, whether “ Mr. W. F. Windham is lunatic or
enjoying lucid intervals, so that he is sufficient for the government of himself, his lands,
munors, &e.” These are the words of the order. But I will call your attention for
a moment to the interpretation of the word * lunatie,” as given in the second section
of the Lunacy Regulation Act. In the interpretation clause occurred these
words - The word lunatic shall be considered to mean any person found by inqui-
gition to be idiot, lunatie, or of unsound mind and incapable of managing himself or
his affairs”’ The case for the petitioners was opened by Mr. Chambers by putting
a mass of facts before you which undoubtedly are of a very serious nature. Thet
medical testimony is precise and pointed, and from very eminent men. From Dz
Mayo, the President of the Royal College of Physicians, from Dr. Forbes Winslow,
and from Dr. Sonthey, yon have heard evidence which you have not forgotren. A
great body of facts also has been brought forward by Mr. Chambers, who let falia fe
woris, onthe conclusion of his case, which has convinced me that thecase will be one of
extraordinary difficulty. The case for the petitioners was concluded on the 1st of
January 49 or 50 witnesses having been called who had given most important
testimony. Sir Hugh Cairns had then proceeded, in n speech of uncommon
brilliancy and power, to address himself to the case which had been established by
the petitioners, and to the case he was about to open, and then proceeded to call &
body of 90 witnesses on the part of Mr. Windham. I believe that this is the thirtys
| third day of the proceedings, and/we have(had cne hundred and forty witnesses, who
. had been examimed and cross-examined by counsel, and examined a little
| by us. I have taken 600 pages of closely-written notes, which il
go over if yon require. (Several of the jury intimated that this lansﬂ'g’
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proceeding on the part of the learned Master was quite unnecessary.)
- I am guite prepared to find—from seeing the extraordinary care and at-
tention youn have paid to the ease—that you do not reguire me either to go over the
evidence or to give an analysis of the case. I will briefly explain what we have
not to do in this inquiry. You are not to try the validity or the invalidity of the
acts of Mr. Windham. You are not to try the validity of the marriage, of the
marriage settlement, of the disentailing deeds, of the timber contract, of the sales
‘of jewellery, or of any other instrument which has been put in. You have to deal
with them as media of proof only of the issue which alome, in its solitary and
* ‘golemn incidence, is before you. You are not here to try the motives and conduct
. of the petitioners. I will explain to you what is the question whick you have to
‘determine, and what is the law, which you are bound to take from me on my re-
-sponsibility ; and how yon are to deal in fairness with the two great bodies of
‘evidence which have been brought before yon. The Master quoted a case tried
before Lord Cottenham, in which a petitioner in lunacy had moved to have the
-werdiet of the jury quashed, on the ground of their having been influenced by an

opinion of his motives. He said you will see the importance, from that case,
‘of not allowing yourselves to be biassed by any condsideration of the motives
of the petitioners. With regard to General Windham, whese name has been
‘80 freely mentioned in these proceedings, and whose condnct has been subjected to
#uch severe criticism, but who has received, at the hands of his counsel, so splendid
a vindication, as far as eloquence could go, you are not to decide upon his motives.
Even if youn assume them to be ever so selfish, the gumestion for you to try is,
~whether yon have got unimpeachable evidence on which you can go, even though
the hand might be polluted which has bronght it. The connsel for the defence
kns adverted to the fact that none of the petitioners have appeared, except Lord
Bristol and Lord Alfred Hervey. If the others could have given satisfactory
evidence, it was a pity they had not been called ; but neither of us know that they
“could have given satisfactory evidence. That was a matter which had to be decided
by counsel in the exercise of that discretion which belonged to them. The gues-
‘tion, and the only question, which yon have to try is, whether Mr. W. F. Windham
was of sound mind enough to be able to manage himself and his affairs; or if he
-were not of such sound mind as to be able to manage himself and his affairs.
That there might be no misunderstanding on this point, I will guote
Lord Eldon in the case of Ridgway and Darwin, decided in 1802, to
point out what is the state of the law as to whom the protection of the
law was applicable. Lord Eldon says, “I have reason to believe that the Court
‘did not in Lord Hardwicke's time grant commissions of lunaey in cases in which
it has gince been granted. The question is not now whether the party is absolutely
: e, as in the time of Lord Hardwicke, but the Court has thought itself authorised
—thongh certainly many difficult and dangerous questions with regard to the liberty
of the subject turned on that—the Court has thought itself anthoriged to issue a
‘commisgion, provided it could be made out that the party is unable to act with any
JPproper and provident discretion, and is liable to be robbed by any one, under that
imb:eacﬂ:ty of mind, which is not strictly insanity ; but, as to the mischief it produces,
calling for as much protection as actnal insanity.” That is the opinion of Lord
_El_d?n. In 1806, Lord Erskine endorsed that view. In 1827, Lord Lyndhurst im-
plicitly adopted the rule of Lord Eldon, which has eversince been judicially recognised
as defining a condition of mind which justified and called for the protective inter-
pozition of the law. Tlie legislature had not interposed to alter that legal view, 80
that you must take that to be the coudition of the law which must govern
the present case. For these reasons, we must regard the case before you
to be ﬂf a A pr-a-eminantly Pmtiﬂﬂl characler. The hbroad qmt,ion you have
to decide is, whether, upon the view of the whole of the vast body of
evidence, Mr. Windham is at the present time of sufficiently sound mind
to be entrusted with the management of himself and his affairs. You
Wwill remember that the whole of the medieal witnesses on both sides, when
questioned by me, have acquiesced in the correctness of my proposition — thab
.-thﬂ.. question before me is a matter of evidence and a guestion of degree, om
which laymen were quite as competent to come to a right conclusion, having all
the facts before them, as expertes. Itis an inguiry, not of a scientific, but of &
practical character. This beiug so, it is for you to determine, baving the evidence
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and the statements pl counsel on both sides before you, whether yon found the
state of mind of Mr, Windham to be such as to bring him within the scope of the
protection of the law on the principles which haye been laid before yon as defined
| by supreme judicial anthority. Here I will again remark, that mere weakness of
character, mere liability to impulse, good or bad, mere imprudent, reckless
eccentricity, to which I will add immorality — no, not all of these
constitute unsoundness, unless we believe onrselves Ju:_r.tlﬁeﬂ, _lqﬂhug at
the whole evidence fairly, in referring them to a morbid condition of the
intellect. They wmight evidence unsoundness, but they did not copstitnte
it. There is a difference between lawyers and meﬂm&l_men as to the existence
of that intermediate condition of mentalunsoundness which 18 recognised by supreme
judicial anthority. Many of the medical men who Igavﬂ _bean examined ha?u
exeluded it. But yon must remember that Dr. Taylor, in his able worla_c, _has diz-
tinetly recognised the three kinds of insanity, imbecility, and absolute idiocy. If
you keep these three conditions elearly in mind, it will enable you to discard many
irrelevant issues. Coming to the evidence which has been adduced, you must "“_’m’
in mind that, as Mr. Windham cannot be heard as a witness, you must weigh with
serupulous and jealous attention all the evidence bearing on his acts mr:d condact
before you come to a decision. In reference to that great division of evidence, l:'.ha
medical evidence, I must remark that a person is mnot necessarily of unaound :r_mnd
because Dr. A, says he is, or of sound mind becanse Dr. B. says so. You must listen
to and weigh such evidence; but it ought to have no greater weight with you than
the other evidence. The general body of the evidence which has bEﬁIl brought
forward presents a marvellous conflict and contradiction. It is utterly impossible
that you can determine on each fact or on the testimony of each witnesa.
The case must be decided on the general value of the whole mass of evidence on
either side, weighed and balanced together in such a way as to enable you to form
a correct judgment. You must not attach too much weight to the evidence of
those who have only casually met Mr. Windham, and who spoke to his condition of
mind, as such temporary communication with him is not sufficient to enable them
to come to a sound comelusion. We shall have to decide between the theory of
the petitioners that Mr. Windham’s is a case of congenital deficiency of intellect,
and that of the defence, that h]j?_g;_g_um]_gonﬁiﬁun iz simply the result of
neglected education. I have-carefnlly abstained from allowing any intimation of my
opinion on this case to escape me, but I will observe that you must not lightly affix
upon the father and mother the imputation of having neglected the education of this
young man. With the vast mass of correspondence which has been put in you
must deal as yon think fit; but with respect to the two letters written by Mr.
Windbam to Mr. Jackson, and put in as evidence on behalf of Mrs. Windham,
I feel bound to say that better letters counld not be written by any of
the gentlemen in this court. I have called your attention to those
letters on account of the argument of Sir Huogh Cairns, that the theory
of the petitionera of the low intellectual condition of Mr. Windham from
his birth wounld be disposed of, if it counld be shown that he had acted intelli-
gently once, and only once. One great test of the opinionof people is thefooting npon
whichthey have delt with Mr Windham, Now thereisone fact which does not appear to
be challenged. That is, General Windham’s having negotiated with his nephew for

. the sale of a piece of land of the value of £1,000. General Windham must either

| have thonght his nephew of sound mind, or, if he did no, why did he offer to deal

, with a man who could not be a contracting party ? You will have to consider how
+ far that is evidence that General Windham considered his nephew to be of sound

 mind. You must decide whether Mr Windham is at this moment the great boy he

has been represented, or whether he has the m%mmﬂy which will
enable him to manage his property without beifg in with, and whether every-
body has treated him on that footing, Yon must not, however, apply too highsa
etandard to the young man, for you are not trying whether he is a consummate man
of business. I do not intend to go into the question of the evidence of the
Llewellyns farther than to observe that it was clear that either Mra. Llewellyn or her
‘brother and sister have deliberately perjured themselves. [t will be for yon to decide to
whom you give credence. The marriage will have to ba considered by the jury with
reference to its bearing on thestate of Mr. Windham's mind. Al that I will say abou
this marriage, itsinception, ita completion, and what took place afterwards, is what
appears to me a perfectly frightfal transaction: There has been frightful vice and

o

-



201

L
weakness; bot the cardinal question for you is, does that warriage or any of
its incidents and consequences throw light upon the condition of Mr. Windham’s
mind, with regard to his sanity in the eye of the law. Knowing the terms
of the timber contract, you, as men of businese, will have to decide whether
the entering into such a contract without professional assistance was the act of
& sane man. Though cautioned by Dr. Hood and Dr. Seymour to conduct himself
with propriety during the course of these proceedings, it appears certain that Mr.
Windbam has been seen in his old haunts in the Haymarket, and on one occasion
talking to a prostitute. I do not wish youn to attach too much importance to this fact,
but I do not wish yon to lose sightof it. The solution of that conduct given by
| * Mr, Karslake is that Mr. Windham despised the proceedings, and thought them
unjust, monstrous, and outrageous, and therefore laughed at them. It will be for
n to decide how much of the evidence is8 to be accepted as relevant, and
ow much is to be discarded as not bearing on the issme. You must look
broadly at both masses of evidence, and give your verdict on the principles
which have been laid down. You have yet a duty to perform, namely,
to have an interview with Mr. Windham, in order that you may see him,
talk to him, and hear what he eays, in order to apply what you see and kear to
what you have heard in open court. I see no reason to alter the decision I have
come to, that the interview should take place privately in the presence of counsel,
and with a short-hand writer in attendance. My objection to the examination
taking place in open court is, that the exhibition would not be in the interest of the
public, and that Mr. Windham might utter against third parties what will involve
us in hostile actions for slander. Further than that, it is your unanimous wish
that the examination should be in private, and it is also in accordance with every
precedent on the subject. As soon as the interview with Mr. Windham has taken
place, you will be left to yourselves to comsider the verdict. The verdict, I am
sure, will be founded injustice, whatever it may be. If adverse to Mr. Windham,
its effect will be to place him under the benignant protection of the law as to his
property and person, but not to incarcerate him in the way which has been
guggested as the result of finding him to be of unsound mind.
The Court then adjourned until eleven o'clock on the following day.
The jury will this (Thursday) morning have an interview with Mr. Windham, and
after consultation will deliver a verdict, which will terminate the proceedings.

TEIRTY-FOURTH DAY.—THURSDAY, JANUARY, 28,

The adjonrned inquiry into the gtate of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed to-day in the Westminster Session-house, before Mr.
Warren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury.

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams, appeared for the
petitioners ; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Bophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother
of the alleged lanatic; Sir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward,
for Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windham.

This morning the Master took his seat in court at 11 o’clock, at which time there
were pregent Sir Hugh Cairns and Mr. Karslake in their robes, and Mr. Chambers
in his private clothes.

The Master announced that he was very poorly, the result of his great exertions
in the case.

_8ir G. Armytage, the Foreman, said that the jury had assembled in the room
assigned to them, and they were ready to proceed.

The Master said he wounld be with them in a minute.

Sir Hugh Cairns gaid he wished once more to renew his protest against Mr. Wind-
ham being examined in a closed court. His deaire was that Mr. Windham should be
examined in open court.

The Master said thatin the case of Armstrong—

Sir H. Cairns said he did not want to discnss the case of Armstrong, which had
frequently been mentioned, but which had no bearing on the case of Mr. Windham.
Allhe desired wasto renew his protest. He presumed that, according to previons
arrangement, the jury would not be allowed toask Mr. Windham any queslions, but
that all questions would be put throngh thre Master: :

The Master said that last night he had informed the jury that they would be
allowed to put questions to Mr. Windham in a friendly way. It would be mervely a

friendly interview.






